Aquaporin regulation in poplar and spruce trees under environmental change

by

Joan Laur

A thesis submitted in partial fulfillment of the requirements for the degree of

Doctor of Philosophy

Forest Biology and Management

Department of Renewable Resources University of Alberta

© Joan Laur, 2014

ABSTRACT

This dissertation describes a series of experiments that examined: 1) hydraulic responses of *Populus trichocarpa* x *deltoides*, *Populus trichocarpa* and *Picea glauca* plants to change in their surrounding environment; 2) Changes of aquaporin expression in response to such changes.

In the first study, we demonstrated that changes of the transpirational demand is related to fine adjustment of root water uptake that is associated with upregulation of plasma membrane intrinsic proteins isoforms (PIPs) in hybrid poplar saplings. PIP1 proteins are mostly localized in the endodermis where they may facilitate water movement to the stele. In the second study, we investigated the dynamics of leaf hydraulics in *P. trichocarpa* saplings exposed to a dehydrationrewatering episode. Fast leaf recovery was associated with an increase in expression of several tonoplast intrinsic proteins isoforms (TIPs) localized in xylem parenchyma. In the third study, we considered the physiological importance of foliar water uptake in *P. glauca* plants exposed to drought. In order to study the role of aquaporin in needle water uptake, we characterized the aquaporin family in white spruce. Our findings are consistent with the hypothesis that aquaporins facilitate radial water movement from the atmosphere towards the needle vascular tissue, therefore providing an alternate water source for embolism repair in conifers.

These results suggest the several roles of aquaporin regulation in the dynamic and fine adjustment of tree-water relations.

PREFACE

This thesis is an original work by Joan Laur.

Chapter 2 of this thesis has been published as J. Laur and U. G. Hacke, "Transpirational demand affects aquaporin expression in poplar roots." Journal of Experimental Botany, vol. 64, 2283-2293. I equally shared with my supervisor, Uwe G. Hacke, the responsibility for conceiving, designing and writing the paper. I performed the experiments.

Chapter 3 of this thesis has been submitted to PLOS ONE as J. Laur and U. G. Hacke, "The role of water channel proteins in facilitating recovery of leaf hydraulic conductance from water stress in *Populus trichocarpa*". I equally shared with my supervisor, Uwe G. Hacke, the responsibility for conceiving, designing and writing the paper. I performed the experiment.

Chapter 4 of this thesis has been published as J. Laur and U. G. Hacke, "Exploring *Picea glauca* aquaporins in the context of needle water uptake and xylem refilling." New Phytologist, vol. 203, 388-400. I equally shared with my supervisor, Uwe G. Hacke, the responsibility for conceiving, designing and writing the paper. I performed the experiment. "As the water reappeared, so there reappeared willows, rushes, meadows, gardens, flowers, and a certain purpose in being alive"

The man who planted trees, Jean Giono

"En même temps que l'eau réapparut réapparaissaient les saules, les osiers, les prés, les jardins, les fleurs et une certaine raison de vivre." *L'homme qui plantait des arbres*, Jean Giono

ACKNOWLEDGEMENTS

Firstly, I would like to thank my supervisor, Dr. Uwe Hacke, for mentoring my PhD research. Uwe, I am very grateful for your constant guidance and support over the last four years. This work would not have been possible without your help.

I want to thank Pr. Janusz Zwiazek and Dr. Enrico Scarpella, the members of my supervisory committee, for their assistance and feedback along those years. I also extend my thanks to Pr. Phil Comeau and Dr. Christophe Maurel for acting as thesis examiners.

The completion of my research would not have been possible without the help of several collaborators (in alphabetical order): Julie Gravel-Grenier, Dr. Krystyna Klimaszewska, Pr. Stefan Mayr, Arlene Oatway and of course my colleagues in the lab: Cayla Brocious, Sabrina Chamberland, Rachel Hillabrand, Lenka Plavcova, Stefan Schreiber. I would also like to express my gratitude to Gail Rankin, Gabor Botar and Kelley Dunfield who made my teaching assistantship such a rewarding experience.

I thank Clémentine. Despite the geographical distance, she was the best labmate ever!

Finally I thank my growing family: Louise and Nicolas.

TABLE OF CONTENTS

List of Figures	X
List of Tables	xii
List of abbreviations and symbols	xiii

I.	General Introduction and literature review	1
1	Water movement through the plant	5
	a. Water uptake in root	6
	b. Water flow through the leaves	8
	c. Water pathway through the stem xylem	10
	d. Regulation of water movement	13
2	Aquaporins	15
	a. Significance of MIP family in Plant-Water relations	15
	b. AQP structure	19
	c . Translational and post translational regulation of plant AQP prote	eins
		21
3	Summary	24
4	Research aim	25
5	References	27

II. Transpirational demand affects aquaporin expression in poplar

roots	
1 Introduction	
2 Materials and methods	
a. Plant material and growing conditions	

b. Experimental treatments	49
c. Plant morphology	50
d. Stomatal parameters	50
e. Water potential, stomatal conductance, and transpiration	51
f. Root water flow	52
g. Gene transcript measurements by quantitative real-time PCR	52
h. Immunolocalization	54
i. Statistical analysis	57
3 Results	57
a. Morphology and stomatal characteristics	57
b. Water potential and stomatal conductance	58
c. Root water flow and aquaporin expression patterns in light-exp	osed plants 58
d. Root water flow and aquaporin expression patterns in plant exp sudden drop in humidity	eriencing a 63
e. Immunolabelling	65
4 Discussion	65
a. Aquaporin gene expression and root hydraulics are affected by transpirational demand	changes in 66
b. Differences between plants grown in shade and in high humidit	y.68
c. An increase in light level is not required to trigger changes in ge expression and root hydraulics	ne 69
5 References	71

1 Introduction	79
2 Materials and methods	
a. Plant material and growing conditions	
b. Leaf hydraulic conductance measurements	
c. Testing the recovery of leaf hydraulic conductance after d	ehydration

d. Dye uptake experiments
e. Gene transcript measurements by quantitative real-time PCR
f. Immunolocalization
g. Statistical analysis
3 Results and discussion
a. Leaf hydraulic conductance is highly sensitive to drought
b. Leaves of intact plants quickly recover from drought
c. AQP expression in leaves collected from intact plants
d. Recovery of K_{leaf} in detached leaves is impaired by inhibitors
e. AQP expression in detached leaves95
4 Conclusions
5 References

1 Introduction110
2 Materials and methods114
a. Plant material and growing conditions114
b. Relative water content (RWC)115
c. Needle anatomy116
d. Water potential and stomatal conductance117
e. Hydraulic measurements117
f. Analysis of spruce AQP sequences118
g. Gene transcript measurements by quantitative real-time PCR119
h. Gene transcript localization by <i>in situ</i> hybridization120
i. Immunolocalization121
j. Statistical analysis121
3 Results
a. Needle water uptake and anatomy123
b. Distribution of PIP1 and PIP2 AQPs in needle cross-sections126
c. Spruce AQP family127

	d. Expression of selected AQP genes in needles	.129
	e. Tissue localization of expression	.132
	f. Linking foliar uptake with embolism repair in stems	.133
4	Discussion	.136
5	References	.142

V.	General discussion and conclusions	151
1	Outcomes of this study	.151
2	Possible applications and persperctives	.153

References	
Appendices	

LIST OF FIGURES

Chapter 1:

Figure 1-1 Daily consumption of water in human and plant	2
Figure 1-2 Schematic representation of a water molecules column	2
Figure 1-3 Water movement within the plant body	4
Figure 1-4 Water movement in root	7
Figure 1-5 Water flow in leaf	9
Figure 1-6 Tangential section and cells of angiosperm wood	11
Figure 1-7 Phylogenetic analysis of MIPs. Figure slightly modified from	Danielson
and Johanson, 2010	14
Figure 1-8 Transmembrane structure of an aquaporin protein	20
Figure 1-9 Summary of the regulatory mechanisms of plant AQPs	22
Figure 1-10 Thesis outline	

Chapter 2:

Figure 2-1 Light microscope images of stomata from poplar leaves growing in	n moderate
and high relative humidity	56
Figure 2-2 Effect of sudden change in transpirational demand on stem water p	otential
	59
Figure 2-3 Effect of a sudden change in transpirational demand on stomatal co	onductance
	60
Figure 2-4 Effect of a sudden change in transpirational demand on root water	flow
(scaled by leaf area)	61
Figure 2-5 Effect of a sudden change in transpirational demand on AQP transp	eript
amounts in poplar roots	62
Figure 2-6 Immunolocalization of PIP1 proteins in root cross-sections	64

Chapter 3:

Figure 3-1 Effect of a change in water availability on leaf hydraulic conducta	nce
(Kleaf) in Populus trichocarpa saplings	37
Figure 3-2 Relative expression of aquaporin genes in leaves of plants exposed to	а
drying-rewatering cycle	19
Figure 3-3 Response of leaf hydraulic conductance (K_{leaf}) to different perfusion s	solutions.
)1

Figure 3-4 Typical images of transpiring P. trichocarpa leaves that were allowed	ed to take
up safranin solution	94
Figure 3-5 Relative expression of aquaporin genes in detached leaves during a	
dehydration-rehydration experiment	96
Figure 3-6 Relative expression of aquaporin genes in response to dehydration (y-axis)
and dehydration + perfusion with abscisic acid (x-axis)	97
Figure 3-7 Immunolocalization of AQP proteins in leaves of <i>P. trichocarpa</i> s	aplings
	98

Chapter 4:

Figure 4-1 Light microscopy images of Picea glauca needle cross-sections	124
Figure 4-2 Confocal laser scanning micrographs showing the localization of	AQP
proteins in Picea glauca needle cross-sections	125
Figure 4-3 Phylogenetic analysis of 30 AQPs expressed in Picea glauca	128
Figure 4-4 AQP transcript amounts in needles of well-watered and drought-s	tressed
white spruce plants	130
Figure 4-5 In situ mRNA hybridization of four aquaporin genes in needle cro	oss-sections
of Picea glauca	131
Figure 4-6 Ψ_s , g_s and xylem embolism in white spruce saplings	134
Figure 4-7 Effect of a change in water availability on xylem embolism in wh	ite spruce
saplings	135
Figure 4-8 Putative chain of events linking needle water uptake to xylem refi	lling in
stems	140

Chapter 5:

-			
Figure 5-1	Thesis outline	 	152

LIST OF TABLES

Chapter 2:

Table 2-1 Morphological traits of hybrid poplar saplings grown under con	trol,
shade, and high humidity conditions	55
Table 2-2 Stomatal characteristics of hybrid poplar saplings grown under	control,
shade, and high humidity conditions	55

Chapter 3:

Table 3-1 Transo	cript abundance of	f 12 aquaporin	genes exp	ressed in lea	ves of well-
watered control	plants				

Chapter 4:

Table 4-1 Features of spruce (Picea glauca) major intrinsic proteins	122
Table 4-2 Relative water content (RWC) of white spruce needles	124

LIST OF ABBREVIATIONS AND SYMBOLS

aa	<u>a</u> mino <u>a</u> cid
ABA	<u>a</u> bscissic <u>a</u> cid
AQP	<u>aq</u> ua <u>p</u> orin
$A_{ m L}$	<u>l</u> eaf <u>a</u> rea
ANOVA	<u>an</u> alysis <u>of va</u> riance
ar	aromatic
AXS	<u>A</u> rtificial <u>x</u> ylem <u>s</u> ap
BS	Blocking solution
BSA	<u>b</u> ovin <u>s</u> erum <u>a</u> lbumin
cDNA	<u>c</u> omplementary DNA
CTAB	<u>C</u> etyl <u>t</u> rimethyl <u>a</u> mmonium <u>b</u> romide
DEPC	<u>die</u> thyl <u>p</u> yro <u>c</u> arbonate
DNA	<u>d</u> eoxyribo <u>n</u> ucleic <u>a</u> cid
DTT	<u>dit</u> hio <u>t</u> hreitol
<i>DW</i> _r	root dry weight
ER	<u>e</u> ndoplasmic <u>r</u> eticulum
EST	expressed sequence tag
FAA	<u>f</u> ormalin <u>a</u> cetic acid <u>a</u> lcohol
GMO	genetically modified organism

g _m	mesophyll conductance
gs	stomatal conductance
ISH	<u>i</u> n <u>s</u> itu <u>h</u> ybridization
K _{flush}	stem hydraulic conductivity after flushing
K _h	stem hydraulic conductivity
K _L	leaf-specific hydraulic conductivity
K _{max}	maximal hydraulic conductivity
K _{native}	native hydraulic conductivity
K _R	root hydraulic conductivity
K _S	xylem-specific hydraulic conductivity
MIP	<u>m</u> ajor <u>i</u> ntrinsic <u>p</u> rotein
mRNA	<u>m</u> essenger RNA
NIP	<u>N</u> OD-26 like <u>intrinsic protein</u>
NJ	<u>N</u> eighbor <u>J</u> oining
N:P:K	Nitrogen (<u>N</u>):phosphorus (<u>P</u>):potassium (<u>K</u>)
ns	<u>n</u> on- <u>s</u> ignificant
Р	<u>p</u> robability
P50	the pressure at 50% loss of hydraulic conductivity
PBS	<u>p</u> hosphate- <u>b</u> uffered <u>s</u> aline
pCa	potential of <u>Ca</u> lcium
PCR	polymerase chain reaction

otential of <u>H</u> ydrogen
)

- PIP <u>plasma membrane intrinsic protein</u>
- PLC <u>percent loss of conductivity</u>
- PM <u>p</u>lasma <u>m</u>embrane
- $Q_{\rm R}$ <u>root water flow</u>
- qRT-PCR <u>quantitative real-time PCR</u>
- QTL <u>quantitative trait loci</u>
- RH <u>r</u>elative <u>h</u>umidity
- RNA <u>r</u>ibo<u>n</u>ucleic <u>a</u>cid
- ROS <u>reactive oxygen species</u>
- RWC <u>relative water content</u>
- *SD* <u>standard</u> <u>d</u>eviation
- SE <u>s</u>tandard <u>e</u>rror
- SIP <u>s</u>mall <u>intrinsic protein</u>
- TIP <u>t</u>onoplast <u>i</u>ntrinsic <u>p</u>rotein
- XIP uncategorized <u>X</u> intrinsic protein
- Ψ_L <u>l</u>eaf water potential
- $\Psi_{\rm S}$ <u>s</u>tem water potential

I. General Introduction and literature review

Water is the universal solvent. It plays a fundamental role for survival, growth and the proper function of living creatures. Within the confined space of our body, water constitutes a matrix involved in every single biochemical reaction.

70% of the human body weight is composed of water; a 70 kg sedentary adult consumes 2.9 L of water on a daily basis (Kleiner, 1999): 0.04 L per kilogram. Water is essential to the maintenance of our metabolism: it regulates our temperature; flushes waste products; transports oxygen, minerals, vitamins and organic nutrients within our enclosed vascular system.

In plants, requirements are even greater (compare the two parts of Fig1-1): a plant transports up to 1000 times its dry body weight of water over its lifetime (Hsiao and Xu, 2000). For autotrophic organisms, water is also essential for leaf photosynthesis to reduce atmospheric carbon dioxide (CO₂) into organic compound. For every kilogram of organic matter a plant produces, 500 litres of water has to be transpired into the atmosphere (Black, 1973). Indeed, the vascular system of plants is not isolated from its surrounding environment; plants continuously absorb and lose a considerable amount of water. Transpiration at the stomata level is intimately linked to CO₂ uptake from the air, but it also drives the passive movement of water and minerals in a continuous column throughout the whole plant body.



Figure 1-1: Daily consumption of water in human and plant.

Water consumption is reported as relative (%) to the organism fresh body weight according to Kleiner (1999) and Hinckley et al. (1993).



Figure 1-2: Schematic representation of a water molecules column.

Atoms of oxygen are represented in red, hydrogens in white. The water column adheres to the negatively charged biological membrane (adhesion). Hydrogen bonding attracts water molecules together (cohesion) while surface tension occurs at the air-liquid interface (see the meniscus at the top of the water column). While several parameters affects transpiration rate (species, growth stage, environment), Hinckley *et al.* (1993) estimated that a four-year old poplar tree might lose 20 to 51 L of water per day: 0.53 to 0.75 L per kilogram (total fresh weight index according to Johansson and Hjelm, 2012), which is about 16 to 20 times more than the human body on a per mass basis. In his Vegetable Staticks (1727), Hales speaks about seventeen times more. Plants and—particularly—trees must move such a tremendous amount of water from the soil to the foliage several tens of meters higher, and this without the help of a heart-like pumping mechanism. How is this even possible?

The polar structure of a water molecule (Figure 1-2) gives it such unique characteristics that it is the universal solvent; the exact same physical properties allow the maintenance of the water column integrity.

The water molecule is relatively small (~ 3 ångströms): it consists of an oxygen atom covalently bonded to two hydrogen atoms. Because oxygen tends to be more electronegative, water is a dipolar molecule (partially charged) and the two O—H bonds form a distorted angle of 104.5°. Hydrogen bonding—the electrostatic Van der Waals attraction between water molecules—makes it a highly structured liquid with a high tensile strength: water molecules are attracted to each other (cohesion) and this is exacerbated at the air-liquid interface resulting in the phenomenon of surface tension. There is also the adhesion of water to the negatively charged biological membrane—or in the case of the tree's vascular system—cellulose molecules lining the wood conduit walls. However the capillary



Figure 1-3: Water movement within the plant body.

Water is transported in the vascular system as a continuous column driven by the negative pressure created by transpiration at the leaf level.

action resulting from adhesion and surface tension is not strong enough to explain how water moves up the entire plant body. The weight of the water column will limit the capillary rise to 1 meter in a typical xylem vessel that constitutes the wood inner vasculature (Koch *et al.*, 2004).

1. Water movement through the plant

The water column within the vascular system of a plant creates a connection between the soil, the plant and the atmosphere: the soil-plant atmosphere continuum in which the ascent of sap is passively pulled up under tension (or negative pressure) by a gradient of decreasing water potential generated via transpiration at the stomata level according to the well-supported cohesion-tension theory (Dixon, 1914; Zimmerman, 1983; Tyree, 1997). The cohesion-tension theory relies on the transpiration driving force, the lignified structure of the xylem conduits and the properties of water to explain its ability to remain in a metastable liquid phase within the xylem conduit system until its evaporation in the stomatal region (Baker, 1989).

The long-distance water movement occurs passively within the plant vascular system, however to get a more detailed picture of its much more complex pathway it should be broken down into the different plant organs (Figure 1-3): water uptake by roots, exit in leaves, and long distance flow through the xylem. In each of these, water movement must be finely adjusted to match the requirements

5

of the surroundings.

a. Water uptake in roots

The permeability of roots to water is variable. Its close contact with the soil is necessary for maintaining the soil-plant-atmosphere continuum but water uptake should also adjust to environmental factors and avoid the introduction of unwanted compounds. Water absorption occurs in the root hair zone. In its radial path to the stele and the xylem within the stele, water has to traverse a series of living cell layers: the epidermis, cortex and endodermis, each resisting more or less to the water flow (Figure 1-4).

- The epidermis: the root hairs arise from a single layer of epidermal cells that may surround an inner hypodermis exhibiting Casparian strips on the radial cell walls (hydrophobic suberin and cutin deposits); a hypodermis with Casparian bands is named an exodermis (Perumalla and Peterson, 1986). These materials restrict the movement of water outside the cells which is referred to as the apoplastic pathway (in intercellular spaces, in the cell walls and the lumen of dead cells). Depending on the species, the developmental stage or the environmental conditions, the exodermis could constitute a barrier of variable resistance to water flow (Ferguson and Clarkson, 1976; Peterson, 1988).

- the cortex, on the contrary, consists of a number of cell layers without suberin; water can flow across the thin cell walls with ease.



Figure 1-4: Water movement in root.

The left photograph shows water uptake through the root hair zone. The schematic transverse section on the right shows the two pathways before reaching the vascular system (i.e. xylem conduits): in black the apoplastic path across the cell walls; in green the cell-to-cell path where water moves throughout the intracellular continuum (symplastic pathway) or cross the cell membranes (transcellular pathway). The later route has to be taken in order to pass the hydrophobic barrier of the Casparian strip (red) in the endodermis and possibly the exodermis.

- the endodermis forms another apoplastic barrier, a single cell layer that surrounds the stele (Moreshet and Huck, 1991); its structure is similar to the exodermis.

To enter the inner tissues, water has to cross the cell membrane (transmembrane pathway) of those cells. The transmembrane pathway cannot be easily separated experimentally from the symplastic pathway (from cell to cell through plasmodesmata). The transmembrane and the symplastic paths are referred as the cell-to-cell pathway (Maurel, 1997). Water uses a combination of the apoplastic and the cell-to-cell pathway as it moves to the root xylem (the contribution of each is variable and stills a subject of debate (Steudle and Frensch, 1996; Murphy, 2000). The cell-to-cell pathway provides an opportunity to selectively control water uptake to match the whole plant's requirements (Almeida-Rodriguez *et al.*, 2011; Sakurai-Ishikawa *et al.*, 2011; Laur and Hacke, 2013).

b. Water flow through the leaves

Most of the water absorbed in roots is bound to the foliage where it has to leave the vasculature and, similar to the root pathway, flow through apoplastic and cell-to-cell routes until it reaches the site of transpiration in the sub-stomatal cavity located in the mesophyll (Figure 1-5). In most angiosperm species the inner vascular system is not directly surrounded by the mesophyll but by a tight bundle sheath and parenchyma cells. In conifers, this anatomical pattern is even more similar to roots: the phloem, xylem and transfusion tissues are enclosed by an endodermis-like





The blue line shows typical water flow in the leaf, from the xylem to the atmosphere via the stomata, the counter current CO_2 uptake is in red.

bundle sheath. A more or less thick waxy cuticle envelops the leaf in order to limit evaporation under stressful conditions.

The whole plant's water flux is controlled at the stomata level: by decreasing the aperture, plants tend to contain dehydration, but photosynthesis is also reduced. Plants may or may not close their stomata in order to maintain their leaf water status. But, to maximize the daily photosynthetic rate, an intermediate water-use strategy is often in use under minimal water stress. There is some evidence that both isohydric (strict control of stomata aperture) and anisohydric (little or no control of stomata aperture) behaviours occurring within plant group or species such as grapevine and poplar (Schultz, 2003; Almeida-Rodriguez *et al.*, 2010) depending on the availability of water in their natural environment (Sade *et al.*, 2012). Recovery from dehydration has been observed within hours in leaves of poplar (Laur and Hacke, unpublished), rice (Stiller *et al.*, 2005) and sunflower (Trifilo *et al.*, 2003) but is inhibited by mercuric compounds—implicating the involvement of proteins (Macey 1984; Wayne and Tazawa 1990) in this adjustment to environmental changes that occur daily in the field.

c. Water pathway through the stem xylem

Both water entry and exit points are important checkpoints of the water path. In its long distance move to the foliage, water flows apoplastically within the xylem. Xylem consists of a network of heavily lignified dead cell walls connected end to end to form the apoplastic water conducting pipelines. In trees, the wood (secondary

10



Figure 1-6: Tangential section and cells of angiosperm wood.

The picture on the left is a tangential section of angiosperm wood (*Tilia sp.*); ray cells are indicated as well as ascendant water flow (in blue) along a continuous xylem vessel. On the right, fibers and vessel elements (wood maceration) are stained with safranin.

xylem) is anatomically designed to be efficient in terms of water transport and to support the whole plant body. To do so, the wood is composed of specialized cells (Figure 1-6):

- Tracheids are narrow elongated cells (up to 3 millimetres long in *Picea glauca* (Beaulieu, 2003)) connected through porous pits in their overlapping end walls. In gymnosperms, wood is made up of as much as 95 % tracheids that also act to provide structural support to the plant body. The last 5 % are constituted of resin canals and living parenchyma cells arranged in rays that allow for storage and radial translocation of water and other compounds (Kozlowski and Pallardy, 1997). Angiosperm wood is more complex with more highly specialized cells, the vessel elements.

- Vessel elements are the chief water-conducting cells in angiosperms. They are wide and short cells forming tubular conduits through their disintegrated end walls: the vessels. Vessels walls are relatively thin; the dense fibers act as supportive elements and constitute more than 50% of poplar wood (Balatinecz and Kretschmann, 2001).

In both angiosperms and gymnosperms, living parenchyma cells play an important role in radial translocation of water and nutrients; they may be also important to maintain the integrity of the water column. Xylem is constituted of a dead hollow cell wall in which the water is in a fragile metastable state. A xylem conduit can cavitate (water phase change from liquid to vapour as the cohesive force between molecules is disrupted) because of adverse environmental conditions such as drought or freeze-thaw events (Tyree and Sperry, 1989; Schreiber *et al.*,

12

2013). Recent work has focused on the refilling mechanisms of embolized xylem in which adjacent parenchyma cells and foliar water uptake may be involved (Secchi and Zwieniecki, 2010; Mayr *et al.* 2014; Laur and Hacke, 2014).

d. Regulation of water movement

Well-designed anatomical features are responsible for the passive movement of water within the plant body but only active mechanisms can explain the dynamic adjustments to an ever-changing environment. While the plant has little control on water flow in the apoplast, the transmembrane path provides the opportunity for regulatory control since membrane permeability can be actively modulated.

Root water uptake adjustment, rapid leaf recovery and the use of foliar water uptake to facilitate xylem refilling, are the three phenomena that I examine in this thesis. All of them occur in the vicinity of different "living" parts of the plant. *A priori*, all of them can be controlled by the regulation of cell membrane permeability to water. Cell membranes consist primarily of a lipid bilayer with embedded proteins.

Peter Agre's group identified in the early 1990s the first aquaporin, a water channel protein, CHIP28 expressed constitutively in the red blood cell membrane (Smith and Agre, 1991; Preston *et al.*, 1992). These results changed the view of how water moves across the lipid bilayer of a biological membrane and led to the 2003 Nobel Prize in chemistry awarded for "the discovery of water channels" (see www.nobel.se/chemistry/laureates/2003).



Figure 1-7: Phylogenetic analysis of MIPs.

13 different subfamilies are supported by high bootstrap values in a Neighbor-Joining analysis of 44 representative MIPs from *Arabidopsis thaliana* (At), *Bacillus subtilis* (Bs), *Candida glabrata* (Cg), *Chlamydomonas reinhartii* (Cr), *Clostridium tetani* (Ct), *Escherichia coli* (Ec), *Homo sapiens* (Hs), *Methanosphaera stadtmanae* (Ms), *Nicotiana benthamiana* (Nb), *Oryza sativa* (Os), *Physcomitrella patens* (Pp), *Populus trichocarpa* (Pt), *Pseudomonas aeruginosa* (Pa), *Rattus norvegicus* (Rn), *Saccharomyces cerevisiae* (Sc), *Selaginella moellendorffii* (Sm), *Sus scrofa* (Ss), *Volvox carteri* (Vc), *Zea mays* (Zm). The shading in the middle of the tree marks the uncertainty of the positioning of the central nodes as inferred from bootstrap values \leq 52%. Plants MIPs subfamilies are indicated in green. This figure is an adaptation from Danielson & Johanson, 2010.

2. Aquaporins (AQPs)

Aquaporins are water channel proteins that belong to the ubiquitous Major Intrinsic Proteins (MIPs) family. They can constitute up to 15 % of total membrane proteins (Johansson *et al.*, 1996; Maurel *et al.*, 2008) and their active regulation influences the passive movement of water across cell membranes, tissues and organs (cell-to cell pathway).

a. Significance of the MIP family in Plant-Water relations

A remarkably large number of MIPs are expressed in plant cells. Their patterns of expression are complex, varying between species, organs and tissues. They are often expressed in tissues associated with high water permeability: some isoforms are encountered in primary roots (Hachez *et al.*, 2006); fine roots and/or main roots (Marjanovic *et al.*, 2005); epidermis, cortical cells, xylem or the root endodermis (Javot *et al.*, 2003; Suga *et al.*, 2003; Almeida *et al.*, 2010); but also leaves (Fraysse *et al.*, 2005; Flexas *et al.*, 2006; Postaire *et al.*, 2010) and wood (Secchi and Zwieniecki, 2010).

So far only 13 MIPs have been discovered in the human genome (Gonen and Walz, 2006), but 35 MIPs in *Arabidopsis thaliana* (Johanson *et al.*, 2001) and *Physcomitrella patens* (Danielson and Johanson, 2008), 33 in *Oryza sativa* (Sakurai *et al.*, 2005), more than 50 in *Populus trichocarpa* (Gupta and Sankararamakrishnan, 2009), 71 in *Gossypium hirsutum* (Park *et al.*, 2010).

Gene	Effect	Reference
AtPIP1;2	KO: ↑ root:shoot ratio	Kaldenhoff et al., 1998
	$\mathbf{\Psi}$ CO ₂ diffusion	Uehlein et al., 2012
	OE: 🛧 growth, transpiration, stomatal density	Aharon et al., 2003
	✓ drought tolerance	
AtPIP1;4	$OE: \Psi$ drought tolerance	Jang et al., 2007
	• water flow, germination under cold	
	↑ cold tolerance of root cells	Lee et al., 2012
AtPIP1;2+AtPIP2;3	KU: Troot:Shoot ratio; drought tolerance	Martre et al., 2002
Δ+ΡΙΡ2·2	\checkmark 100t and real protoplast Mi	lavot et al 2003
AtPIP2:5	$OE: \Psi$ drought tolerance	Jang et al 2007
111 H 2,0	↑ water flow, germination under cold	Jung et all, 2007
	↑ cold tolerance of root cells	Lee et al., 2012
AtPIP2;1	KO: Vleaf water transport, rosette hydraulic	Prado et al., 2013
	conductivity	
	OE: 🛧 rosette hydraulic conductivity, vein	
	protoplast conductivity (not mesophyll)	
BjPIP1	OE: drought tolerance	Zhang et al., 2008
D DID4	• water loss, transpiration, g_s	X . 1 2005
BULLET	UE: A drought tolerance	Yu et al., 2005
CcDID1,1	KO: \forall growth, germination, drought tolerance	lang at al 2007
C3I II 1,1	$\mathbf{\Psi}$ drought tolerance	Jang et al., 2007
CfPIP2:1	OE : \bigstar drought tolerance	lang et al 2007
IcPIP1	K0: $\mathbf{\Psi}$ drought tolerance	Jang et al., 2013
JcPIP2	KO: $\mathbf{\Psi}$ drought tolerance	, , , , , , , , , , , , , , , , , , , ,
GhPIP2s	KO: $\mathbf{\Psi}$ fibre elongation	Li et al., 2013
GhPIP2;7	OE: ↑ drought tolerance	Zhang et al., 2013
HvPIP2;1	OE: ↑ root <i>K</i> h;	Katsuhara et al., 2003
	♥ salt tolerance	
	$\uparrow g_s$, U_2 diffusion, U_2 assimilation	Hanba et al., 2004
LIPIPI MaDID1.1	OE: $\mathbf{\uparrow}$ An, stomatal density, stomatal aperture	Ding et al., 2004
Mar Ir 1,1 McMIPR (PIP1)	$OE: \ \ \ \ \ \ \ \ \ \ \ \ \$	Kawase et al. 2014
MusaPIP1:2	OE: \uparrow abjotic stress tolerance	Sreedharan et al., 2013
NtAOP1 (PIP1)	$OE: \uparrow$ photosynthesis. g _m	Flexas et al., 2006
	KO: ♥ □ photosynthesis, g _m	,
	OE: ↑ leaf growth, water & CO ₂ membrane	Uehlein at al., 2003
	permeability	
	OE: \uparrow photosynthesis, g _m , g _s ; under drought: L _{pr}	Sade et al., 2014
	OE: ↑ salt stress tolerance	Sade et al., 2010
	KU: Ψ Kh; drought tolerance	Siefritz et al., 2002
NTAUP1 + ATHXK1	UE: \mathbf{T} stress tolerance, productivity	Kelly et al., 2014
058181;1	OE: \uparrow urbught and salt stress tolerance OF: \blacklozenge salt and osmotic stress tolerance	1 Ju et al., 2000
OsPIP1·3	OE: \uparrow root Kh leaf Ψ	Lian et al. 2013
0.01 11,0	OE: cold tolerance	Matsumoto et al., 2009
OsPIP2;2	OE: \uparrow drought and salt stress tolerance	Guo et al., 2006
OsPIP2;7	OE: ↑ transpiration rate, cold tolerance	Li et al., 2008
RcPIP2; 1	OE: ↑ dehydration rate, leaf size, mesophyll cell	Peng et al., 2008
	size	

	↓ cold tolerance		
RcPIP2;2	OE: 🛧 dehydration rate, leaf size, mesophyll cell	Peng et al., 2008	
	size		
RhPIP2;1	KO: Ψ petal cell expansion	Ma et al., 2008	
RsPIP1s + RsPIP2s	KO: \blacklozenge growth, photosynthesis	Tsuchihira et al., 2010	
RsPIP2;1	OE: 🛧 growth, photosynthesis	Tsuchihira et al., 2010	
StPIP1	KO: Ψ cellular water transport, drought tolerance	Wu et al., 2009	
	↑ root biomass		
PtPIP1s	KO: 🛧 leaf hydraulic resistance	Secchi & Zwieniecki, 2013	
	$\mathbf{\Psi}$ CO ₂ mesophyll conductance		
	KO: 🛧 xylem vulnerability	Secchi & Zwieniecki, 2014	
	ulletembolism recovery, drought tolerance		
TaAQP8 (PIP1)	OE: ↑ salt tolerance	Hu et al., 2012	
TaAQP7 (PIP2)	OE: ↑ drought tolerance	Zhou et al., 2012	
TdPIP1;1	OE: 🛧 drought and salt tolerance	Ayadi et al., 2011	
TdPIP2;1	OE: ↑ drought and salt tolerance	Ayadi et al., 2011	
VfPIP1	OE: ↑ drought tolerance	Cui et al., 2008	
VvPIP2;4	OE: ↑ growth, root hydraulic conductance	Perrone et al., 2012	
AtTIP1;1	KO: plant death	Ma et al., 2004	
	KO: no clear effect	Beebo et al., 2009	
	KO: no clear effect	Schussler et al., 2008	
AtTIP1;1 + AtTIP1;2	KO: no clear effects	Schussler et al., 2008	
BoTIP	OE: ↑ vacuole & cell size	Reisen et al., 2003	
GsTIP2;1	OE: Ψ salt, drought tolerance	Wang et al., 2011	
NtTIP1;1	OE: ↑ cell growth	Okubo-Kurihara et al.,	
		2009	
SITIP2;2	OE: \clubsuit growth, yield, transpiration, stress	Sade et al., 2009	
	tolerance		
PgTIP	OE: ↑ growth, seed size	Lin et al., 2007	
	OE: $\mathbf{\uparrow}$ growth, salt stress tolerance, drought	Peng et al., 2007	
	tolerance		
Т-ТІРЭ Э	$\mathbf{\Psi}$ cold tolerance	V . 1 2012	
	UE: \blacksquare drought, salt stress tolerance	Xu et al., 2013	
TSTIP1;2	OE: 🛧 drought, salt, oxidative stress tolerance	Wang et al., 2014	

Table 1-1: Impact of *in planta* deregulation of PIP and TIP isoforms.

Up to date overview of *in planta* genetic modification that indicates their importance in plant-water relations. For reasons of clarity, heterologous expression and overexpression are included in the OE designation; knockout, RNAi lines and knockdown mutants are included in the KO designation.

Among the many phylogenetic subgroups that form the MIP superfamily (Figure 1-7), seven are plant specific (Gustavsson *et al.*, 2005): the GIPs (GlpF-like intrinsic proteins), HIPs (hybrid intrinsic proteins), NIPs (NOD26-like intrinsic proteins), PIPs (plasma membrane intrinsic proteins), SIPs (small basic intrinsic proteins), TIPs (tonoplast membrane intrinsic proteins) and the XIPs (uncategorized X intrinsic proteins).

MIPs can be permeable to a wide range of solutes and gases such as CO_2 , glycerol, H₂O₂, metalloids, nitrate, urea and water to name a few (reviewed in Carbrey and Agre, 2009; Wudick et al., 2009). PIP (mostly found in plasma membrane), divided into PIP1 and PIP2 subgroups, and the TIP (mostly expressed in the vacuole membrane) isoforms are true water channel proteins (Kaldenhoff and Fisher, 2006) and are the most studied (Figure 1-7). Their transcription is significantly affected by several abiotic stresses through miRNA (Zhang *et al.* 2014), hormones and transcription factors. Drought (Liu et al., 2014), flooding (Calvo-Polanco et al., 2014), low temperature (Chen and Arora, 2014) and salinity (Xu et al., 2014) have all been shown to impact aquaporin transcription. Their role in plantwater relations is elegantly demonstrated through transgenic manipulations: in *planta* gene manipulation experiments are summarized in Table 1-1. The pioneer observations of Kaldenhoff et al. (1998), as well as numerous other studies, illustrate AQPs involvement in abiotic stress response. To date, more than 50 studies have investigated the effect of AQP genetic deregulation on plant-water relations. OE (over-expression) often increased hydraulic conductivity (Lian et al., 2004), plant growth and tolerance to water stress whilst loss-of-function manipulation reduced overall plant fitness (Martre *et al.*, 2002; Ma *et al*, 2004). Similarly, antisense NtAQP1 plants showed reduced root hydraulic conductivity and lower water stress tolerance (Siefritz *et al.*, 2002), although some results do not follow this rule: for example AtPIP1;2 gain-of-function in tobacco caused plants to wilt faster under drought (Aharon *et al.*, 2003). Before AQPs can be used efficiently as a selection marker or in the development of stress-tolerant GMOs (genetically modified organism), it will be necessary to compile a more complete amount of knowledge. The diversity of plant AQP isoforms implies different functional roles. A detailed analysis of AQP properties may help to elucidate their significance in the physiology of water transport.

b. AQP structure

The continuity of the water column is maintained in the cell-to-cell component of the plant water path because of AQPs that form proteic pores in biological membranes. The pores of AQPs are believed to be narrow so that hydrogen bonds between water molecules are disrupted and the molecules can move through in single file (Murata *et al.*, 2000). The AQP polypeptide consists of six transmembrane α -helices connected by five loops and the amino (NH₂) and carboxy (COOH) termini located on the cytoplasmic side of the membrane. A number of residues are conserved in the majority of cases. Oocyte swelling assays (exogenous AQPs are expressed on the oocyte membrane, which has an intrinsically low permeability to



Figure 1-8: Schematic transmembrane structure of an aquaporin protein.

In this schema, the numerated grey cylinders represent the transmembrane α -helices domains and the grey lines the extramembrane loops. The blue double arrowed hourglass represents the water flow through the pore. The positions of the two NPA motifs responsible are indicated in white, the five ar/R residues are in the dark grey rectangles. Finally, the yellow circles indicate putative sites (Serine) of posttranslational regulation (Tornroth-Horsefield et al., 2006; Van Wilder et al., 2008).

water) and sequence analyses have led to the characterisation of several amino-acid residues for their importance in solute specificity (Bansal and Sankararamakrishnan, 2007; Hove *et al.*; 2011): the P1-P5 residues (Froger *et al.*, 1998), the aromatic/arginine (ar/R) selectivity filter, and the two asparagineproline-alanine (NPA) boxes contained in loops B and E (LB, LE). Loops B and E contain short α -helical domains and fold into the membrane forming a seventh "broken" helix that creates the symmetrical hourglass-shaped pore.

The NPA motifs are conserved in numerous MIPs from animals, fungi, yeast and plant PIPs and TIPs. Site-directed mutagenesis (Kong and Ma, 2001) established their importance in the maintenance of an adequate pore aperture through proton exclusion. Among the four residues of the ar/R filter that form a size restriction region of the pore, the highly conserved Arginine in Loop E is thought to provide hydrogen bonds important to the bidirectional trafficking of water or glycerol, while the five P1-P5 residues differ drastically between water and glycerol MIP channels.

Generally the 25-30 kDa AQPs form tetramers through interaction between different isoforms with each monomer acting as an independent water-channel (Smith and Agre, 1991; Murata *et al.*, 2000; Sui *et al.*, 2001; Törnroth-Horsefield *et al.*, 2006; Secchi *et al.*, 2009).

c. Translational and post translational regulation of plant

AQP proteins

Changes in the membrane protein density and activity are regulated through the


Figure 1-9: Summary of the regulatory mechanisms of plant AQPs.

The cellular localisations of plant aquaporins regulatory mechanisms are numerated. (1) Gene transcription may be regulated by several environmental factors. (2) Transcriptional regulation by microRNAs has been extensively described for mammals *AQPs*; recent work suggests this could also occur in plants. Transcriptional and posttranscriptional regulation of aquaporin expression can both affect the cell membrane permeability through the resulting AQPs density. AQPs density at the membrane is also affected by the regulation of protein trafficking (and/or degradation) through posttranslational modifications and heteromerization (3-4) that can also change their gating behaviour.

modulation of gene transcription (as described above; in Figure 1-9, '1' indicates transcriptional regulatory mechanisms and '2' the posttranscriptional processes) and at the protein level. Interestingly, the tetramerization of aquaporin monomers is an active regulatory mechanism of cell water permeability (indicated as '4' in Figure 1-9) (most recent reference: Jones *et al.*, 2014; reviewed in Chaumont *et al.*, 2005; Maurel 2007; Chaumont and Tyerman, 2014).

- Hetero-tetramerization positively affects the water-channel function of PIP and TIP isoforms (Harvengt *et al.*, 2000; Fetter *et al.*, 2004) and their cellular trafficking. Tetramerization is an example of post-translational regulation that affects both the protein subcellular localization and its structure. The physical interaction between isoforms can change the *conformation* of the monomers and therefore their transport properties. Notably, PIP1 relocation to the plasma membrane and its activity is enhanced when co-expressed with PIP2s (Zelazny *et al.*, 2007; Secchi and Zwieniecki, 2010); this suggested the importance of PIP1 isoforms in finely regulated mechanisms such as xylem refilling (Secchi and Zwieniecki, 2014).

AQP proteins are regulated through several post-translational modifications (indicated as '3' in Figure 1-9) that affect the protein location:

- McTIP2;1 glycosylation redistributes the protein to non-tonoplast endosomic membrane fractions (Vera-Estrella *et al.*, 2004)

- salt-dependant dephosphorylation of Ser283 induces the internalisation of AtPIP2;1 (Prak *et al.*, 2008)

23

and their gating (opening and closing of the pore):

The kinase-dependant phosphorylation of Serine residues, notably Ser115, Ser 274 in the PIP subfamily, is widely reported to enhance AQP activity through changes in the cytosolic pCa (determined by Ca²⁺ concentration) or pH (Johnson and Chrispeels, 1992; Maurel *et al.*, 1995; Johansson *et al.*, 1998; Törnroth-Horsefield *et al.*, 2006; reviewed in Chaumont *et al.*, 2005; Li *et al.*, 2013).

- Similarly the pH dependant protonation of a loop D Histidine residue (His193) of the spinach SoPIP2;1 cause the AQP to close (Tournaire-Roux *et al.*, 2003).

Possible co-translational *acetylation* or *methylation* (Santoni *et al.*, 2006) has also been reported for plant AQPs but their specific impact is not yet characterized.

Ultimately, MIP *degradation* via the proteasome can be regulated by E3 ubiquitin ligase targeting as Lee *et al.*, (2009) has shown.

3. Summary

Unlike animals, the sessile nature of plants forces them to adjust to their environment. One of the major challenges is to maintain an adequate water supply to the foliage where most of the water loss occurs through the stomatal apertures. According to the cohesion-tension theory, the water column is pulled up by transpiration within the whole plant body. To avoid hydraulic failure, water use must be constantlly adjusted. Water channel proteins, the aquaporins, discovered 25 years ago, are keycomponents of this fine-tuning. They form a remarkably large and conserved family in plants. PIPs and TIPs are the most studied subfamilies that actively control several developmental and plant hydraulic parameters through their own regulation, which occurs both at transcriptional and translational levels. Indeed, the activity of PIP proteins, mostly located in the plasma membrane, can modulate water flow through tissue and organs with high water permeability while TIPs, mostly located in the vacuole membrane, are important for cell osmotic adjustment. Their roles, in response to water stress, can range from the control of water uptake at the root endodermis level, to the facilitation of xylem refilling in stem and the overall maintenance of hydraulic functions in leaf.

4. <u>Research objectives</u>

The literature review shown above indicates that AQPs play important roles in plant-water relations. Water channel proteins are relatively well studied in model plants like Arabidopsis, but their functions in tree-water relations are much less understood. In this context, I studied how AQPs impact water transport in poplar and spruce (two dominant trees in Canada). Specifically, I assessed the possible roles of AQPs in (Figure 1-10):

- Physiological adjustment of root to changes in the above-ground environment (**Chapter 2**),

25



Figure 1-10: Thesis outline.

- the fast recovery of leaf from moderate drought stress (Chapter3),
- foliar water uptake (**Chapter4**).

In this thesis I also tried to answer the following questions:

- What is the absolute range of AQP transcript in poplar roots? Poplar leaves? Spruce needle?

- Is the protein regulation correlated with transcription in the tested conditions?

- How many AQPs are present in the spruce genome?

The present study attempts to increase our knowledge concerning the biology of trees, long-living organisms, which have to face several unfavourable environmental conditions. In the context of global warming, there is a real urge for more comprehensive management of the forest industry. The larger scope is to acquire information that will have a future impact on two economically important tree species, including a more comprehensive view of the tree-water relations and the selection of poplar and spruce genotypes with superior water stress response abilities.

5. <u>References</u>

Aharon, R., Shahak, Y., Wininoger, S., Bendov, R., and Kapulnik, Y. 2003. Overexpression of a plasma membrane aquaporin in transgenic tobacco improves plant vigor under favorable growth conditions but not under drought or salt stress. *Society*, **15**, 439–447.

- Almeida-Rodriguez, A. M., Cooke, J. E. K., Yeh, F., and Zwiazek, J. J. 2010. Functional characterization of drought-responsive aquaporins in *Populus balsamifera* and *Populus simonii×balsamifera* clones with different drought resistance strategies. *Physiol. Plant.*, **140**, 321–33.
- Almeida-Rodriguez, A. M., Hacke, U. G., and Laur, J. 2011. Influence of evaporative demand on aquaporin expression and root hydraulics of hybrid poplar. *Plant. Cell Environ.*, 34, 1318–31.
- Ayadi, M., Cavez, D., Miled, N., Chaumont, F., and Masmoudi, K. 2011. Identification and characterization of two plasma membrane aquaporins in durum wheat (*Triticum turgidum* L. subsp. durum) and their role in abiotic stress tolerance. *Plant Physiol. Biochem.*, 49, 1029–39.
- Baker, D. 1989. Water relations. In, Wilkins, M. (ed), Advanced Plant Physiology. Longman Scientific and Technical, Essex, pp. 297–318.
- Balatinecsz, J. J. and Kretschmann, D. E. 2001. Properties and utilization of poplar wood. In, Dickmann, D., Isebrands, J., Eckenwalder, J., and Richardson, J. (eds), *Poplar culture in North America*. NRC Research Press, National Research Council of Canada, Ottawa, ON, pp. 277–291.
- Bansal, A. and Sankararamakrishnan, R. 2007. Homology modeling of major intrinsic proteins in rice, maize and *Arabidopsis*: comparative analysis of transmembrane helix association and aromatic/arginine selectivity filters. *BMC Struct. Biol.*, 7, 27.
- **Beaulieu, J.** 2003. Genetic variation in tracheid length and relationships with growth and wood traits in eastern white spruce (*Picea glauca*).
- Beebo, A., Thomas, D., Der, C., Sanchez, L., Leborgne-Castel, N., Marty, F.,

Schoefs, B., and Bouhidel, K. 2009. Life with and without AtTIP1;1, an *Arabidopsis* aquaporin preferentially localized in the apposing tonoplasts of adjacent vacuoles. *Plant Mol. Biol.*, **70**, 193–209.

- Calvo-Polanco, M., Molina, S., Zamarreño, A. M., García-Mina, J. M., and Aroca, R. 2014. The Symbiosis with the arbuscular mycorrhizal fungus *Rhizophagus irregularis* drives root water transport in flooded tomato plants. *Plant Cell Physiol.*, **55**, 1017–29.
- **Carbrey, J. M. and Agre, P.** 2009. Discovery of the aquaporins and development of the field. In, Beitz, E. (ed), *Aquaporins*. Springer-Verlag, Berlin, Heidelberg, pp. 3–28.
- **Chaumont, F., Moshelion, M., and Daniels, M. J.** 2005. Regulation of plant aquaporin activity. *Biol. cell under auspices Eur. Cell Biol. Organ.*, **97**, 749–764.
- **Chaumont, F. and Tyerman, S. D.** 2014. Aquaporins: highly regulated channels controlling plant water relations. *Plant Physiol.*, **164**, 1600–1618.
- **Chen, K. and Arora, R.** 2014. Understanding the cellular mechanism of recovery from freeze-thaw injury in spinach: possible role of aquaporins, heat shock proteins, dehydrin and antioxidant system. *Physiol. Plant.*, **150**, 374–87.
- Cui, X.-H., Hao, F.-S., Chen, H., Chen, J., and Wang, X.-C. 2008. Expression of the Vicia faba VfPIP1 gene in Arabidopsis thaliana plants improves their drought resistance. J. Plant Res., 121, 207–14.
- **Danielson, J. a H. and Johanson, U.** 2008. Unexpected complexity of the aquaporin gene family in the moss *Physcomitrella patens*. *BMC Plant Biol.*, **8**, 45.
- **Ding, X., Iwasaki, I., and Kitagawa, Y.** 2004. Overexpression of a lily PIP1 gene in tobacco increased the osmotic water permeability of leaf cells. *Plant, Cell*

Environ., **27**, 177–186.

- Dixon, H. 1914. Transpiration and the ascent of sap in plants Macmillan, London.
- **Ferguson, I. B. and Clarkson, D. T.** 1976. Ion uptake in relation to the development of a root hypodermis. *New Phytol.*, **77**, 11–14.
- Fetter, K., Wilder, V. Van, Moshelion, M., Chaumont, F., and Van Wilder, V. 2004. Interactions between plasma membrane aquaporins modulate their water channel activity. *Plant Cell*, **16**, 215–228.
- Flexas, J., Ribas-Carbó, M., Hanson, D. T., Bota, J., Otto, B., Cifre, J., McDowell, N., Medrano, H., and Kaldenhoff, R. 2006. Tobacco aquaporin NtAQP1 is involved in mesophyll conductance to CO2 in vivo. *Plant J.*, 48, 427–39.
- Fraysse, L. C., Wells, B., McCann, M. C., and Kjellbom, P. 2005. Specific plasma membrane aquaporins of the PIP1 subfamily are expressed in sieve elements and guard cells. *Biol. Cell*, 97, 519–34.
- Froger, a, Tallur, B., Thomas, D., and Delamarche, C. 1998. Prediction of functional residues in water channels and related proteins. *Protein Sci.*, 7, 1458–68.
- Gonen, T. and Walz, T. 2006. The structure of aquaporins. *Q. Rev. Biophys.*, **39**, 361–396.
- Guo, L., Wang, Z. Y., Lin, H., Cui, W. E., Chen, J., Liu, M., Chen, Z. L., Qu, L. J., and Gu, H. 2006. Expression and functional analysis of the rice plasma-membrane intrinsic protein gene family. *Cell Res.*, 16, 277–86.
- Gupta, A. B. and Sankararamakrishnan, R. 2009. Genome-wide analysis of major intrinsic proteins in the tree plant *Populus trichocarpa*: characterization of XIP subfamily of aquaporins from evolutionary perspective. *BMC Plant Biol.*, 9, 134.

- Gustavsson, S., Lebrun, A., and Norde, K. 2005. A novel plant major intrinsic protein in *Physcomitrella patens* most similar to bacterial glycerol channels 1. 139, 287–295.
- Hachez, C., Moshelion, M., Zelazny, E., Cavez, D., and Chaumont, F. 2006. Localization and quantification of plasma membrane aquaporin expression in maize primary root: a clue to understanding their role as cellular plumbers. *Plant Mol. Biol.*, 62, 305–23.
- Hales, S. 1727. Vegetable staticks: or an account of some statical experiments on the sap in vegetables, etc. W. and J. Innys and T. Woodward, London.
- Hanba, Y. T., Shibasaka, M., Hayashi, Y., Hayakawa, T., Kasamo, K., Terashima, I., and Katsuhara, M. 2004. Overexpression of the barley aquaporin HvPIP2;1 increases internal CO₂ conductance and CO₂ assimilation in the leaves of transgenic rice plants. *Plant Cell Physiol.*, 45, 521–9.
- Harvengt, P., Vlerick, A., Fuks, B., Wattiez, R., Ruysschaert, J. M., and Homble, F. 2000. Lentil seed aquaporins form a hetero-oligomer which is phosphorylated by a Mg²⁺-dependent and Ca²⁺-regulated kinase. *Biochem. J.*, **190**, 183–190.
- Hinckley, T. M., Brooks, J. R., Cermák, J., Ceulemans, R., Kucera, J., Meinzer, F. C., and Roberts, D. a. 1994. Water flux in a hybrid poplar stand. *Tree Physiol.*, 14, 1005–1018.
- Hove, R. M. and Bhave, M. 2011. Plant aquaporins with non-aqua functions: deciphering the signature sequences. *Plant Mol. Biol.*, **75**, 413–30.
- Hsiao, T. C. and Xu, L. K. 2000. Sensitivity of growth of roots versus leaves to water stress: biophysical analysis and relation to water transport. *J. Exp. Bot.*, 51, 1595–616.
- Hu, W., Yuan, Q., Wang, Y., Cai, R., Deng, X., Wang, J., Zhou, S., Chen, M., Chen, L.,

Huang, C., et al. 2012. Overexpression of a wheat aquaporin gene, TaAQP8, enhances salt stress tolerance in transgenic tobacco. *Plant Cell Physiol.*, **53**, 2127–41.

- Jang, H.-Y., Yang, S.-W., Carlson, J. E., Ku, Y.-G., and Ahn, S.-J. 2013. Two aquaporins of *Jatropha* are regulated differentially during drought stress and subsequent recovery. *J. Plant Physiol.*, **170**, 1028–1038.
- Jang, J. Y., Lee, S. H., Rhee, J. Y., Chung, G. C., Ahn, S. J., and Kang, H. 2007. Transgenic *Arabidopsis* and tobacco plants overexpressing an aquaporin respond differently to various abiotic stresses. *Plant Mol. Biol.*, **64**, 621–32.
- Jang, J. Y., Rhee, J. Y., Kim, D. G., Chung, G. C., Lee, J. H., and Kang, H. 2007. Ectopic expression of a foreign aquaporin disrupts the natural expression patterns of endogenous aquaporin genes and alters plant responses to different stress conditions. *Plant Cell Physiol.*, 48, 1331–9.
- Javot, H., Lauvergeat, V., Santoni, V., Martin-Laurent, F., Güçlü, J., Vinh, J., Heyes, J., Franck, K. I., Schäffner, A. R., Bouchez, D., et al. Role of a single aquaporin isoform in root water uptake. *Society*, **15**, 509–522.
- Johanson, U., Karlsson, M., Johansson, I., Gustavsson, S., Sjövall, S., Fraysse, L., Weig, A. R., and Kjellbom, P. 2001. The complete set of genes encoding major intrinsic proteins in *Arabidopsis* provides a framework for a new nomenclature for major intrinsic proteins in plants. *Plant Physiol.*, **126**, 1358–1369.
- Johansson, I., Karlsson, M., Shukla, V. K., Chrispeels, M. J., Larsson, C., and Kjellbom, P. 1998. Water transport activity of the plasma membrane aquaporin PM28A is regulated by phosphorylation. *Plant Cell*, **10**, 451–9.
- **Johansson, I., Larsson, C., Ek, B., and Kjellbom, P.** 1996. The major integral proteins of spinach leaf plasma membranes are putative aquaporins and are phosphorylated in response to Ca²⁺ and apoplastic water potential. *Plant Cell*, **8**,

1181–1191.

- Johansson, T. and Hjelm, B. 2012. Stump and root biomass of poplar stands. *Forests*, **3**, 166–178.
- Johnson, K. D. and Chrispeels, M. J. 1992. Tonoplast-bound protein kinase phosphorylates tonoplast intrinsic protein. *Plant Physiol.*, **100**, 1787–95.
- Jones, a. M., Xuan, Y., Xu, M., Wang, R.-S., Ho, C.-H., Lalonde, S., You, C. H., Sardi, M. I., Parsa, S. a., Smith-Valle, E., et al. 2014. Border control--A membranelinked interactome of *Arabidopsis. Science (80-.).*, 344, 711–716.
- Kaldenhoff, R. and Fischer, M. 2006. Functional aquaporin diversity in plants. *Biochim. Biophys. Acta*, **1758**, 1134–1141.
- Kaldenhoff, R., Grote, K., Zhu, J. J., and Zimmermann, U. 1998. Significance of plasmalemma aquaporins for water-transport in *Arabidopsis thaliana*. *Plant J.*, 14, 121–8.
- Katsuhara, M., Koshio, K., Shibasaka, M., Hayashi, Y., Hayakawa, T., and Kasamo, K. 2003. Over-expression of a barley aquaporin increased the shoot/root ratio and raised salt sensitivity in transgenic rice plants. *Plant Cell Physiol.*, 44, 1378–83.
- Kawase, M., Hanba, Y. T., and Katsuhara, M. 2013. The photosynthetic response of tobacco plants overexpressing ice plant aquaporin McMIPB to a soil water deficit and high vapor pressure deficit. *J. Plant Res.*, **126**, 517–27.
- Kelly, G., Sade, N., Attia, Z., Secchi, F., Zwieniecki, M., Holbrook, N. M., Levi, A., Alchanatis, V., Moshelion, M., and Granot, D. 2014. Relationship between hexokinase and the aquaporin PIP1 in the regulation of photosynthesis and plant growth. *PLoS One*, 9, e87888.

- Kleiner, S. 1999. Water: An essential but overlooked nutrient. *J. Am. Diet. Assoc.*, **99**, 200–206.
- Koch, G. W., Sillett, S. C., Jennings, G. M., and Davis, S. D. 2004. The limits to tree height. *Nature*, 428, 851–4.
- Kong, Y. and Ma, J. 2001. Dynamic mechanisms of the membrane water channel aquaporin-1 (AQP1). *Proc. Natl. Acad. Sci. U. S. A.*, **98**, 14345–9.
- **Kozlowski, T. T. and Pallardy, S. G.** 1997. The woody plant body. In, Kozlowski, T. T. and Pallardy, S. G. (eds), *Physiology of woody plants*. Academic Press, San Diego.
- Laur, J. and Hacke, U. G. 2014. Exploring *Picea glauca* aquaporins in the context of needle water uptake and xylem refilling. *New Phytol.*
- Laur, J. and Hacke, U. G. 2013. Transpirational demand affects aquaporin expression in poplar roots. *J. Exp. Bot.*, **64**, 2283–93.
- Lee, H. K., Cho, S. K., Son, O., Xu, Z., Hwang, I., and Kim, W. T. 2009. Drought stress-induced Rma1H1, a RING membrane-anchor E3 ubiquitin ligase homolog, regulates aquaporin levels via ubiquitination in transgenic *Arabidopsis* plants. *Plant Cell*, 21, 622–641.
- Lee, S. H., Chung, G. C., Jang, J. Y., Ahn, S. J., and Zwiazek, J. J. 2012. Overexpression of PIP2;5 aquaporin alleviates effects of low root temperature on cell hydraulic conductivity and growth in *Arabidopsis. Plant Physiol.*, **159**, 479–88.
- Li, D.-D., Ruan, X.-M., Zhang, J., Wu, Y.-J., Wang, X.-L., and Li, X.-B. 2013. Cotton plasma membrane intrinsic protein 2s (PIP2s) selectively interact to regulate their water channel activities and are required for fibre development. *New*

Phytol., **199**, 695–707.

- Li, G., Santoni, V., and Maurel, C. 2013. Plant aquaporins: Roles in plant physiology. *Biochim. Biophys. Acta*.
- Li, G.-W., Zhang, M.-H., Cai, W.-M., Sun, W.-N., and Su, W.-A. 2008. Characterization of OsPIP2;7, a water channel protein in rice. *Plant Cell Physiol.*, 49, 1851–8.
- Lian, H.-L., Yu, X., Ye, Q., Ding, X., Kitagawa, Y., Kwak, S.-S., Su, W.-A., Tang, Z.-C., and Ding, X.-S. 2004. The role of aquaporin RWC3 in drought avoidance in rice. *Plant Cell Physiol.*, **45**, 481–9.
- Lin, W., Peng, Y., Li, G., Arora, R., Tang, Z., Su, W., and Cai, W. 2007. Isolation and functional characterization of PgTIP1, a hormone-autotrophic cells-specific tonoplast aquaporin in ginseng. *J. Exp. Bot.*, **58**, 947–56.
- Liu, C., Fukumoto, T., Matsumoto, T., Gena, P., Frascaria, D., Kaneko, T., Katsuhara, M., Zhong, S., Sun, X., Zhu, Y., et al. 2013. Aquaporin OsPIP1;1 promotes rice salt resistance and seed germination. *Plant Physiol. Biochem.*, 63, 151–8.
- Liu, Y., Liu, M., Li, X., Cao, B., and Ma, X. 2014. Identification of Differentially Expressed genes in leaf of *Reaumuria soongorica* under PEG-induced drought stress by digital gene expression profiling. *PLoS One*, **9**, e94277.
- Ma, N., Xue, J., Li, Y., Liu, X., Dai, F., Jia, W., Luo, Y., and Gao, J. 2008. Rh-PIP2;1, a rose aquaporin gene, is involved in ethylene-regulated petal expansion. *Plant Physiol.*, **148**, 894–907.
- Ma, S., Quist, T. M., Ulanov, A., Joly, R., and Bohnert, H. J. 2004. Loss of TIP1;1 aquaporin in *Arabidopsis* leads to cell and plant death. *Plant J.*, **40**, 845–59.

- Macey, R. I. 1984. Transport of water and urea in red blood cells. *Am. J. Physiol.*, 246, C195–203.
- Marjanović, Z., Uwe, N., and Hampp, R. 2005. Mycorrhiza formation enhances adaptive response of hybrid poplar to drought. *Ann. N. Y. Acad. Sci.*, **1048**, 496–9.
- Martre, P., North, G. B., Nobel, P. S., and Chrispeels, M. J. 2002. Plasma membrane aquaporins play a significant role during recovery from water deficit. **130**, 2101–2110.
- Matsumoto, T., Lian, H.-L., Su, W.-A., Tanaka, D., Liu, C. W., Iwasaki, I., and Kitagawa, Y. 2009. Role of the aquaporin PIP1 subfamily in the chilling tolerance of rice. *Plant Cell Physiol.*, 50, 216–29.
- Maurel, C. 1997. Aquaporins and water permeability of plant membranes. *Annu. Rev. Plant Physiol. Plant Mol. Biol.*, **48**, 399–429.
- Maurel, C. 2007. Plant aquaporins: novel functions and regulation properties. *FEBS Lett.*, **581**, 2227–36.
- Maurel, C., Kado, R. T., Guern, J., and Chrispeels, M. J. 1995. Phosphorylation regulates the water channel activity of the seed specific aquaporin a-TIP. *EMBO J.*, 14, 3028–3035.
- Maurel, C., Verdoucq, L., Luu, D.-T., and Santoni, V. 2008. Plant aquaporins: membrane channels with multiple integrated functions. *Annu. Rev. Plant Biol.*, 59, 595–624.
- Mayr, S., Schmid, P., Laur, J., Rosner, S., Charra-Vaskou, K., Dämon, B., and Hacke, U. G. 2014. Uptake of water via branches helps timberline conifers refill embolized xylem in late winter. *Plant Physiol.*, **164**, 1731–40.

- **Mengel, K.** 1978. Principles of plant nutritrion Institute, S. I. P. (ed) International Potash Institute.
- **Moreshet, S. and Huck, M.** 1991. Dynamics of water permeability. In, Waisel, Y., Eshel, A., and Kafkafi, U. (eds), *Plant Roots: the hidden half*. Marcel Dekker, New York, NY, pp. 605–626.
- Murata, a, Gallese, V., Luppino, G., Kaseda, M., and Sakata, H. 2000. Selectivity for the shape, size, and orientation of objects for grasping in neurons of monkey parietal area AIP. J. Neurophysiol., 83, 2580–601.
- Murata, K., Mitsuoka, K., Hirai, T., Walz, T., Agre, P., Heymann, J. B., Engel, a, and Fujiyoshi, Y. 2000. Structural determinants of water permeation through aquaporin-1. *Nature*, 407, 599–605.
- **Murphy, R.** 2000. Some compartmental models of the root: steady-state behavior. *J. Theor. Biol.*, **207**, 557–76.
- **Okubo-Kurihara, E., Sano, T., Higaki, T., Kutsuna, N., and Hasezawa, S.** 2009. Acceleration of vacuolar regeneration and cell growth by overexpression of an aquaporin NtTIP1;1 in tobacco BY-2 cells. *Plant Cell Physiol.*, **50**, 151–60.
- Park, W., Scheffler, B. E., Bauer, P. J., and Campbell, B. T. 2010. Identification of the family of aquaporin genes and their expression in upland cotton (*Gossypium hirsutum* L.). *BMC Plant Biol.*, **10**, 142.
- Peng, Y., Arora, R., Li, G., Wang, X., and Fessehaie, A. 2008. *Rhododendron catawbiense* plasma membrane intrinsic proteins are aquaporins, and their over-expression compromises constitutive freezing tolerance and cold acclimation ability of transgenic *Arabidopsis* plants. *Plant. Cell Environ.*, **31**, 1275–89.
- Peng, Y., Lin, W., Cai, W., and Arora, R. 2007. Overexpression of a Panax ginseng

tonoplast aquaporin alters salt tolerance, drought tolerance and cold acclimation ability in transgenic *Arabidopsis* plants. *Planta*, **226**, 729–40.

- Perrone, I., Pagliarani, C., Lovisolo, C., Chitarra, W., Roman, F., and Schubert, A. 2012. Recovery from water stress affects grape leaf petiole transcriptome. *Planta*, 235, 1383–96.
- Perumalla, C. J. and Peterson, C. a. 1986. Deposition of Casparian bands and suberin lamellae in the exodermis and endodermis of young corn and onion roots. *Can. J. Bot.*, 64, 1873–1878.
- **Peterson, C. A.** 1988. Exodermal Casparian bands : their significance for ion uptake by roots. *Physiol. Plant.*, **72**, 204–208.
- Postaire, O., Tournaire-Roux, C., Grondin, A., Boursiac, Y., Morillon, R., Schäffner, A. R., and Maurel, C. 2010. A PIP1 aquaporin contributes to hydrostatic pressure-induced water transport in both the root and rosette of *Arabidopsis. Plant Physiol.*, **152**, 1418–30.
- Prado, K., Boursiac, Y., Tournaire-Roux, C., Monneuse, J.-M., Postaire, O., Da Ines, O., Schäffner, A. R., Hem, S., Santoni, V., and Maurel, C. 2013. Regulation of *Arabidopsis* leaf hydraulics involves light-dependent phosphorylation of aquaporins in veins. *Plant Cell*, 25, 1029–39.
- Prak, S., Hem, S., Boudet, J., Viennois, G., Sommerer, N., Rossignol, M., Maurel, C., and Santoni, V. 2008. Multiple phosphorylations in the C-terminal tail of plant plasma membrane aquaporins: role in subcellular trafficking of AtPIP2;1 in response to salt stress. *Mol. Cell. proteomics MCP*, 7, 1019–1030.
- Preston, G. M., Carroll, T. P., Guggino, W. B., and Agre, P. 1992. Appearance of water channels in *Xenopus* oocytes expressing red cell CHIP28 protein. *Science*, 256, 385–7.

- Reisen, D., Leborgne-Castel, N., Ozalp, C., Chaumont, F., and Marty, F. 2003. Expression of a cauliflower tonoplast aquaporin tagged with GFP in tobacco suspension cells correlates with an increase in cell size. *Plant Mol. Biol.*, **52**, 387–400.
- Sade, N., Gallé, A., Flexas, J., Lerner, S., Peleg, G., Yaaran, A., and Moshelion, M. 2014. Differential tissue-specific expression of NtAQP1 in *Arabidopsis thaliana* reveals a role for this protein in stomatal and mesophyll conductance of CO₂ under standard and salt-stress conditions. *Planta*, 239, 357–66.
- Sade, N., Gebretsadik, M., Seligmann, R., Schwartz, A., Wallach, R., and Moshelion, M. 2010. The role of tobacco Aquaporin1 in improving water use efficiency, hydraulic conductivity, and yield production under salt stress. *Plant Physiol.*, **152**, 245–54.
- Sade, N., Vinocur, B. J., Diber, A., Shatil, A., Ronen, G., Nissan, H., Wallach, R., Karchi, H., and Moshelion, M. 2009. Improving plant stress tolerance and yield production: is the tonoplast aquaporin SITIP2;2 a key to isohydric to anisohydric conversion? *New Phytol.*, **181**, 651–61.
- Sakurai, J., Ishikawa, F., Yamaguchi, T., Uemura, M., and Maeshima, M. 2005. Identification of 33 rice aquaporin genes and analysis of their expression and function. *Plant Cell Physiol.*, 46, 1568–77.
- Sakurai-Ishikawa, J., Murai-Hatano, M., Hayashi, H., Ahamed, A., Fukushi, K., Matsumoto, T., and Kitagawa, Y. 2011. Transpiration from shoots triggers diurnal changes in root aquaporin expression. *Plant. Cell Environ.*, 34, 1150–63.
- Santoni, V., Verdoucq, L., Sommerer, N., Vinh, J., Pflieger, D., and Maurel, C. 2006. Methylation of aquaporins in plant plasma membrane. *Biochem. J.*, **400**, 189–197.
- Schreiber, S. G., Hamann, A., Hacke, U. G., and Thomas, B. R. 2013. Sixteen years

of winter stress: an assessment of cold hardiness, growth performance and survival of hybrid poplar clones at a boreal planting site. *Plant. Cell Environ.*, **36**, 419–28.

- Schultz, H. R. 2003. Differences in hydraulic architecture account for nearisohydric and anisohydric behaviour of two field-grown *Vitis vinifera* L . cultivars during drought. 1393–1405.
- Schüssler, M. D., Alexandersson, E., Bienert, G. P., Kichey, T., Laursen, K. H., Johanson, U., Kjellbom, P., Schjoerring, J. K., and Jahn, T. P. 2008. The effects of the loss of TIP1;1 and TIP1;2 aquaporins in *Arabidopsis* thaliana. *Plant J.*, 56, 756–67.
- Secchi, F., MacIver, B., Zeidel, M. L., and Zwieniecki, M. A. 2009. Functional analysis of putative genes encoding the PIP2 water channel subfamily in *Populus trichocarpa. Tree Physiol.*, 29, 1467–77.
- Secchi, F. and Zwieniecki, M.A. 2014. Down-regulation of plasma intrinsic protein1 aquaporin in poplar trees Is detrimental to recovery from embolism. *Plant Physiol.*, 164, 1789–1799.
- Secchi, F. and Zwieniecki, M. A. 2010. Patterns of PIP gene expression in *Populus trichocarpa* during recovery from xylem embolism suggest a major role for the PIP1 aquaporin subfamily as moderators of refilling process. *Plant. Cell Environ.*, 33, 1285–97.
- **Secchi, F. and Zwieniecki, M. A.** 2013. The physiological response of *Populus tremula* x *alba* leaves to the down-regulation of PIP1 aquaporin gene expression under no water stress. *Front. Plant Sci.*, **4**, 507.
- Siefritz, F., Tyree, M. T., Lovisolo, C., Schubert, A., and Kaldenhoff, R. 2002. PIP1 plasma membrane aquaporins in tobacco. *Plant Cell*, **14**, 869–876.

- Smith, B. L. and Agre, P. 1991. Erythrocyte Mr 28,000 transmembrane protein exists as a multisubunit oligomer similar to channel proteins. *J. Biol. Chem.*, 266, 6407–6415.
- Sreedharan, S., Shekhawat, U. K. S., and Ganapathi, T. R. 2013. Transgenic banana plants overexpressing a native plasma membrane aquaporin MusaPIP1;2 display high tolerance levels to different abiotic stresses. *Plant Biotechnol. J.*, **11**, 942–52.
- **Steudle, E. and Frensch, J.** 1996. Water transport in plants: role of the apoplast. *Plant Soil*, **187**, 67–79.
- Stiller, V., Sperry, J. S., and Lafitte, R. 2005. Embolized conduits of rice (*Oryza sativa*, Poaceae) refill despite negative xylem pressure. *Am. J. Bot.*, 92, 1970–1974.
- Suga, S., Murai, M., Kuwagata, T., and Maeshima, M. 2003. Differences in aquaporin levels among cell types of radish and measurement of osmotic water permeability of individual protoplasts. *Plant Cell Physiol.*, 44, 277–86.
- Sui, H., Han, B. G., Lee, J. K., Walian, P., and Jap, B. K. 2001. Structural basis of water-specific transport through the AQP1 water channel. *Nature*, **414**, 872–8.
- Törnroth-Horsefield, S., Wang, Y., Hedfalk, K., Johanson, U., Karlsson, M., Tajkhorshid, E., Neutze, R., and Kjellbom, P. 2006. Structural mechanism of plant aquaporin gating. *Nature*, 439, 688–694.
- Tournaire-Roux, C., Sutka, M., Javot, H., Gout, E., Gerbeau, P., Luu, D.-T. T., Bligny, R., and Maurel, C. 2003. Cytosolic pH regulates root water transport during anoic stress through gating of aquaporins. *Nature*, 425, 393–397.
- Trifilò, P., Gascó, A., Raimondo, F., Nardini, A., and Salleo, S. 2003. Kinetics of recovery of leaf hydraulic conductance and vein functionality from cavitation-

induced embolism in sunflower. J. Exp. Bot., 54, 2323–30.

- Tsuchihira, A., Hanba, Y. T., Kato, N., Doi, T., Kawazu, T., and Maeshima, M. 2010. Effect of overexpression of radish plasma membrane aquaporins on water-use efficiency, photosynthesis and growth of *Eucalyptus* trees. *Tree Physiol.*, **30**, 417–30.
- **Tyree, M. T.** 1997. The Cohesion-Tension theory of sap ascent: current controversies. *J. Exp. Bot.*, **48**, 1753–1765.
- **Tyree, M. T. and Sperry, J. S.** 1989. Vulnerability of xylem to cavitation and embolism. *Annu. Rev. Plant Physiol. Plant Mol. Biol.*, **40**, 19–36.
- **Uehlein, N., Lovisolo, C., Siefritz, F., and Kaldenhoff, R.** 2003. The tobacco aquaporin NtAQP1 is a membrane CO₂ pore with physiological functions. *Nature*, **425**, 734–7.
- **Uehlein, N., Sperling, H., Heckwolf, M., and Kaldenhoff, R.** 2012. The *Arabidopsis* aquaporin PIP1;2 rules cellular CO₂ uptake. *Plant. Cell Environ.*, **35**, 1077–83.
- Vera-estrella, R., Barkla, B. J., Bohnert, H. J., and Pantoja, O. 2004. Novel regulation of aquaporins during osmotic stress. **135**, 2318–2329.
- Wang, L.-L., Chen, A.-P., Zhong, N.-Q., Liu, N., Wu, X.-M., Wang, F., Yang, C.-L., Romero, M. F., and Xia, G.-X. 2014. The *Thellungiella salsuginea* tonoplast aquaporin TsTIP1;2 functions in protection against multiple abiotic stresses. *Plant Cell Physiol.*, 55, 148–61.
- Wang, X., Li, Y., Ji, W., Bai, X., Cai, H., Zhu, D., Sun, X.-L., Chen, L.-J., and Zhu, Y.-M. 2011. A novel *Glycine soja* tonoplast intrinsic protein gene responds to abiotic stress and depresses salt and dehydration tolerance in transgenic *Arabidopsis thaliana*. J. Plant Physiol., **168**, 1241–8.

- Wayne, R. and Tazawa, M. 1990. Nature of the water channels in the internodal cells of *Nitellopsis. J. Membrane Biol.* **39**, 31–39.
- Wu, W., Peng, X., and Wang, D. 2009. Isolation of a plasmalemma aquaporin encoding gene StPIP1 from *Solanum tuberosum* L. and its expression in transgenic tobacco. *Agric. Sci. China*, 8, 1174–1186.
- Wudick, M. M., Luu, D.-T., and Maurel, C. 2009. A look inside: localization patterns and functions of intracellular plant aquaporins. *New Phytol.*, **184**, 289–302.
- Xu, C., Wang, M., Zhou, L., Quan, T., and Xia, G. 2013. Heterologous expression of the wheat aquaporin gene TaTIP2;2 compromises the abiotic stress tolerance of *Arabidopsis thaliana*. *PLoS One*, **8**, e79618.
- Xu, Y., Hu, W., Liu, J., Zhang, J., Jia, C., Miao, H., Xu, B., and Jin, Z. 2014. A banana aquaporin gene, MaPIP1;1, is involved in tolerance to drought and salt stresses. *BMC Plant Biol.*, 14, 59.
- Yu, Q., Hu, Y., Li, J., Wu, Q., and Lin, Z. 2005. Sense and antisense expression of plasma membrane aquaporin BnPIP1 from *Brassica napus* in tobacco and its effects on plant drought resistance. *Plant Sci.*, 169, 647–656.
- Zelazny, E., Borst, J. W., Muylaert, M., Batoko, H., Hemminga, M. a, and Chaumont, F. 2007. FRET imaging in living maize cells reveals that plasma membrane aquaporins interact to regulate their subcellular localization. *Proc. Natl. Acad. Sci. U. S. A.*, **104**, 12359–64.
- **Zhang, J., Li, D., Zou, D., Luo, F., Wang, X., Zheng, Y., and Li, X.** 2013. A cotton gene encoding a plasma membrane aquaporin is involved in seedling development and in response to drought stress. 104–114.
- Zhang, N., Yang, J., Wang, Z., Wen, Y., Wang, J., He, W., Liu, B., Si, H., and Wang, D. 2014. Identification of novel and conserved microRNAs related to drought

stress in potato by deep sequencing. *PLoS One*, **9**, e95489.

- Zhang, Y., Wang, Z., Chai, T., Wen, Z., and Zhang, H. 2008. Indian mustard aquaporin improves drought and heavy-metal resistance in tobacco. *Mol. Biotechnol.*, 40, 280–92.
- Zhou, S., Hu, W., Deng, X., Ma, Z., Chen, L., Huang, C., Wang, C., Wang, J., He, Y., Yang, G., et al. 2012. Overexpression of the wheat aquaporin gene, TaAQP7, enhances drought tolerance in transgenic tobacco. *PLoS One*, 7, e52439.

Zimmermann, M. 1983. Xylem structure and the ascent of sap Springer-Verlag.

II. Transpirational demand affects aquaporin expression in poplar roots.

1. Introduction

Plants face ever-changing environmental conditions. Throughout their lifetime, trees may not only experience gradual changes in soil moisture, temperature, and other variables, but also have to respond to sudden changes in light and transpirational demand. Dynamic physiological adjustments are required to respond to sudden environmental changes, for example the opening of a gap in the canopy.

In isohydric plants, active stomatal control of water loss maintains leaf water potential relatively constant during periods of water stress (Jones and Tardieu, 1998). By dynamically controlling stomatal conductance, plants can effectively regulate long-distance water flow and water potential over the short term (Jones and Sutherland, 1991; Sperry and Pockman, 1993; Hacke and Sauter, 1995). However, plants can also modulate water uptake in a dynamic fashion. Water taken up by roots flows through living cells, and root water flow (*Q*_R) is influenced by the modulation of aquaporin abundance and regulation of aquaporin activity (Henzler *et al.*, 1999; Kamaluddin and Zwiazek, 2004; Aroca *et al.*, 2012).

Aquaporins are water channel proteins and are present in a wide range of animal, microbial, and plant membranes (Henzler *et al.*, 1999; Baiges *et al.*, 2002). Fifty-six full-length aquaporin sequences have been identified in the *Populus trichocarpa* genome (Gupta and Sankararamakrishnan, 2009; Almeida-Rodriguez *et al.*, 2010; Lopez *et al.*, 2012). The plasma membrane intrinsic protein subfamily

46

(PIPs), with their phylogenetic subgroups PIP1 and PIP2, is composed of 15 members in poplar (Supplementary Fig. 2S1). Both PIP1-type (Siefritz *et al.*, 2002; Postaire *et al.*, 2010) and PIP2-type aquaporins (Vandeleur *et al.*, 2009) show significant water transport activity *in planta*. Moreover, PIP1 and PIP2 aquaporins may interact to increase water permeability (Zelazny *et al.*, 2007; Secchi and Zwieniecki, 2010). PIPs are generally localized in organs and tissues characterized by high fluxes of water, including root tissues (Javot and Maurel, 2002; Gomes *et al.*, 2009; Secchi *et al.*, 2009). Thus, plants have the ability to adjust their water uptake capacity to changing environmental conditions by regulating aquaporins in the plasma membrane of root cells. How dynamic above-ground changes are perceived by roots and how root aquaporins are subsequently regulated is not well understood.

In rice, root-specific aquaporins, such as *OsPIP2;3*, *OsPIP2;4*, and *OsPIP2;5* were strongly induced by transpirational demand (Sakurai-Ishikawa *et al.*, 2011); these aquaporins could play important roles in the adjustment of radial water transport in rice roots. That transpirational demand can strongly affect *K*_R has also been shown in poplar (Almeida-Rodriguez *et al.*, 2011) and other woody plants (McElrone *et al.*, 2007). Almeida-Rodriguez *et al.* (2011) identified gene candidates in poplar that could play similar roles to those of the rice genes mentioned above. However, in their study, plant responses were measured 40–46h after plants were exposed to higher light levels, providing little temporal resolution of molecular and physiological changes that occurred prior to this time.

The first objective of this present study was to measure absolute transcript abundance of key *PIP1* and *PIP2* genes 4 and 28 h after hybrid poplar plants were exposed to an increase in transpirational demand, and to assess how transcriptional responses correspond with changes in *Q*_R and other parameters of water relations. The second objective was to determine whether changes in gene expression and *Q*_R would require an increase in light level *per se*, or whether such changes could also be triggered by lowering relative humidity (RH) at a constant light level.

To test this, plants were grown under contrasting irradiance and RH conditions, and were subsequently exposed to a sudden increase in transpirational demand with or without changing the light level. It was hypothesized that a step change in environmental conditions would lead to a transient perturbation of the water potential homeostasis, but that transcript accumulation of key *PIPs* and associated dynamic changes in Q_R would correspond with at least a partial recovery of water potentials.

2. <u>Materials and Methods</u>

a. Plant material and growing conditions

Saplings of hybrid poplar (*Populus trichocarpa* × *deltoides*, clone H11-11) were produced in 2 liters pots from rooted cuttings and maintained in a growth chamber under the following growing conditions: 18/6h day/night cycle; 24/18 °C day/night temperature; ~75% RH. Plants were watered daily and fertilized on a weekly basis with a 2 g L⁻¹ solution of 15:30:15 N:P:K. Plants were grown in turface calcined clay in order to facilitated the separation of roots from soil particles (Almeida-Rodriguez et al., 2011).

After a 2 month period of sapling establishment, plants were randomly assigned to one of three groups and were kept under specific growing conditions for 6 weeks. A control group (subsequently referred to as 'light control') was kept at an irradiance level of 350 μ mol m⁻² s⁻¹ (measured at plant level) under the same growing conditions as outlined above. A second group of plants (subsequently referred to as 'shaded plants') was placed in shading structures, which resulted in 80% reduction in irradiance from 350 μ mol m⁻² s⁻¹ to 70 μ mol m⁻² s⁻¹ at plant level. A third group of plants (subsequently referred to as 'high humidity plants') was placed in a humidified box. The humidified box allowed the RH to be increased to 95% while light level, temperature, and day/night cycles remained the same as in control conditions.

b. Experimental treatments

Experiments were designed to examine changes in hydraulic parameters and aquaporin gene expression in response to an increase in light (shaded plants) and a decrease in relative air humidity (high humidity plants), respectively. A subset of plants was removed from the shade and high humidity boxes at 07:00 h. This was always done at the same time to minimize any effect of time of day on the physiological and molecular measurements. Measurements (or tissue sampling in the case of gene expression and immunolocalization assays) were carried out 4 h (same day) and 28 h (next day) after shaded and high humidity plants had been removed from their respective environment. All measurements were conducted between 10:30 h and 11:30 h. Control plants were also measured at this time.

c. Plant morphology

Morphological measurements included plant height above pots, root dry weight, and total leaf area. Root dry weight was measured after washing and drying entire root systems at 70°C for 48 h. Leaf areas were determined with a LI-3100C leaf area meter (Li-Cor Inc.; Lincoln, NE, USA). The root dry weight to leaf area ratio is considered as a measure of biomass partitioning (Blake and Filho, 1988; Barigah *et al.*, 2006).

d. Stomatal parameters

The youngest fully expanded leaf of five plants per treatment was used for measurements of stomatal length, density, and pore aperture. Images were recorded in eight randomly selected fields of view of each leaf. Fields of view were located near the point of maximum leaf width on the abaxial (lower) leaf surface. Images were recorded with a digital camera (DFC420C, Leica, Wetzlar, Germany) attached to a light microscope (DM3000, Leica) at ×400 magnification. Analysis was performed with Fiji software (Schindelin *et al.*, 2012). To test if there was an effect of growing conditions on stomatal responses to abscissic acid (ABA), ABA was

applied to detached leaves as described by Nejad and van Meeteren (2007) and Arend *et al.* (2009). Leaf samples were pre-incubated for 2 h under light (~100 μ mol m⁻² s⁻¹ photosyntheic photon flux density) in a stomata-opening medium (10mM MES-KOH, pH 6.15, 50 mM KCl) to achieve stomatal opening. Stomatal closure was induced by supplementing the solution with 100 μ M ABA (Sigma-Aldrich, St Louis, MO, USA) for 1 h.

e. Water potential and stomatal conductance

Water potential of leaves (Ψ_L) and stems (Ψ_S) were measured using a Scholandertype pressure chamber (Model 1000; PMS Instruments, Albany, OR, USA). One leaf per plant was measured, from five plants per group. Stem water potential was measured after leaves had been sealed in aluminium foil and plastic bags the night before harvesting to promote equilibration of water potentials. Stomatal conductance and transpiration were measured with a steady state porometer (LI-1600, Li-Cor) on five plants per group. High humidity plants were removed from the humidity box (and kept inside the growth chamber) immediately prior to measurements. Stomatal conductance and transpiration could not be measured in the humidity box because the high RH was outside the recommended operating range of the LI-1600. To minimize potential artefacts which might be caused by water desorption from the leaf surface immediately following a transition from high to low RH, leaf surfaces were wiped with Kimwipes (laboratory tissues) prior to measurements.

f. Root water flow

The Q_R of five plants per group was measured according to the hydrostatic pressure method (Kamaluddin and Zwiazek, 2004). Entire root systems were immersed in a beaker filled with measuring solution (20 mM KCl, 1 mM CaCl₂) and placed in a pressure chamber. A constant pressure of 0.3 MPa was applied. This pressure allowed stable flow rates to be recorded within ~15 min. The protruding stem was fitted to a graduated pipette and the volume of exudate was measured. Q_R was normalized by the total leaf area of each plant. Normalizing by leaf area provides a measure of the 'sufficiency' of the roots to supply water to leaves (Lo Gullo *et al.*, 1998; Tyree *et al.*, 1998).

g. Gene transcript measurements by quantitative real time PCR

For molecular analysis, representative root samples were collected, immediately frozen in liquid nitrogen and stored at -80°C until analysed. Total RNA was extracted from root tissue of 3-4 plants per treatment using the RNeasy Plant Extraction Mini Kit (Qiagen, Valencia, CA, USA) with hexadecyltrimethylammonium bromide extraction buffer. RNA quality was assessed on an agarose gel and quantified with a spectrophotometer (Nanodrop ND-1000; Thermo Scientific; Wilmington, DE, USA). A 1 μ g aliquot of total RNA was treated with DNase I (Invitrogen, Carlsbad, CA, USA) and used as template for first-strand cDNA synthesis with SuperScript II (Invitrogen) following the manufacturer's instructions. cDNA quality was checked by PCR with intron spanning actin (POPTR_0001s45780) primers (TCCCTCAGCACTTTCCAACAG/ACAAGCCATATTACTCGGCCTCAC).

Candidate genes were selected according to their expression patterns in previous experiments (Secchi et al., 2009; Wilkins *et al.*, 2009; Almeida-Rodriguez *et al.*, 2011) and due to their close similarity to rice genes induced by transpirational demand (Sakurai-Ishikawa *et al.*, 2011) (Supplementary Table 2-S1; Supplementary Figure 2-S1). Specific primers (Supplementary Table 2-S2) were designed according to Rutledge and Stewart (2010) using the QuantPrime online tool (Arvidsson *et al.*, 2008). PCR efficiency (E) was determined from a five-point cDNA serial dilution, according to: E = 10[-1/slope]. All selected primer pairs showed correlation coefficients of R² > 0.98 and primer efficiency values ranging between 1.95 and 2.01.

Real-time qPCR was performed on a 7900 HT Fast Real-Time PCR system (Applied Biosystems, Foster City, CA, USA) using cDNA equivalent to 2.5 ng of RNA following instructions provided by Rutledge and Stewart (2008) and using lambda genomic DNA as a quantitative standard. Each reaction was carried out in triplicate using master mix containing 0.2 mM dNTPs, 0.3 U Platinum Taq polymerase, and 0.25x SYBR Green. The PCR conditions were as follows: 15 min activation at 95°C, 40 cycles of 95°C for 10 s, 65°C for 2-min and a dissociation stage including two cycles of 95°C for 15 s, 60°C for 1 min. Each run was completed with a melting curve analysis to confirm the specificity of amplification and absence of primer dimers. Data analysis was performed according to the sigmoidal method with LRE (linear regression of efficiency) analyser software (Rutledge, 2011) to assess the absolute quantity of transcripts expressed as number of molecules per ng of total RNA.

h. Immunolocalization

Root segments were fixed in formaldehyde–acetic acid medium (FAA; 10% formaldehyde, 5% acetic acid, 50% ethanol) under vacuum for 1 h and stored in FAA for 16 h at 4 °C. Next, samples were embedded, sectioned, dewaxed, and rehydrated as described before (Almeida-Rodriguez et al., 2011). Before the first immunoreaction, sections were incubated for 45 min with blocking solution [BS; 1.5% glycine, 5% (w/v) bovine serum albumin, 0.1% Tween-20 in phosphatebuffered saline (PBS)] following the protocol of Gong *et al.* (2006). Primary antibody directed against the first 42 N-terminal amino acids of AtPIP1;3 (Kammerloher et al., 1994; Henzler et al., 1999) was applied overnight at 4 °C. Slides were washed as described previously (Gong et al., 2006). DyLight 549-conjugated rabbit antichicken secondary antibody was pre-absorbed with plant tissue extract (1:500 in BS) before it was applied for 2 h at 37 °C. Slides were rinsed several times and were coverslipped with Permount. Controls with no primary and/or secondary antibody were also prepared. Images were taken with a Leica DMRXA fluorescence microscope (filter cube N2.1, excitation range 515–560 nm, suppression filter LP 590nm) equipped with a Nikon DXM1200 camera (Melville, NY, USA) at a standardized exposure time.

54

Experimental	Height (m)	$DW_{R}(g)$	<i>A</i> _L (m ²)	$A_{\rm L}:DW_{\rm R}$ (m ² g ⁻¹)
treatment				
Light control	0.98 (0.03) ^a	1.14 (0.12) ^a	0.32 (0.04) ^a	0.28 (0.01) ^a
Shade	0.73 (0.03) ^b	0.61 (0.06) ^b	0.16 (0.02) ^b	0.27 (0.02) ^a
High RH	1.21 (0.05) ^c	1.61 (0.19) ^a	0.27 (0.04) ^{a,b}	0.16 (0.01) ^b

Table 2-1: Morphological traits of hybrid poplar saplings grown under control ('Light control'), shade, and high humidity ('High RH') conditions.

The standard error of the mean is given in parentheses, n = 5. Different letters indicate significant differences between treatments (P < 0.05). Variables shown are plant height above pots, total root dry weight (DW_R), total leaf area (A_L), and leaf area to root dry weight ratio (A_L : DW_R).

Experimental	Stomatal length	Stomatal density	Pore aperture (µm)
treatment	(µm)	(no. per mm ²)	before/after application of ABA
Light control	35.18 (0.58) ^a	132.6 (4.5) ^a	6.83 (0.36) ^a / 4.20 (0.36) ^a
Shade	32.84 (0.53) ^a	118.1 (8.7) ^a	6.81 (0.30) ^a / 4.18 (0.20) ^a
High RH	39.36 (0.77) ^b	161.7 (6.1) ^b	8.55 (0.10) ^b / 7.07 (0.22) ^b

Table 2-2: Stomatal characteristics of hybrid poplar saplings grown under control('Light control'), shade, and high humidity ('High RH') conditions. All parameters weremeasured on abaxial leaf surfaces.

The standard error of the mean is given in parentheses. Values are grand means of five plants. Different letters indicate significant differences between treatments (P < 0.05). In the case of pore apertures, two separate statistical analyses were conducted; one on apertures measured before application of ABA and one after ABA application. i.e., apertures were not compared before and after ABA application.



Figure 2-1: Light microscope images of stomata from poplar leaves growing in moderate (~75% RH) (A) and high (95% RH) relative humidity (B). The images were taken from the abaxial side of the leaves. Leaves that developed under high RH had larger stomatal length and aperture. While application of 100 μ M ABA triggered stomatal closure in plants growing at moderate RH (C), the large stomata of high humidity grown plants failed to close fully (D). Bars = 10 μ m.

i. Statistical analysis

Differences due to the effect of treatments and growing conditions were analysed using a one-way analysis of variance (ANOVA) followed by a Tukey's test. Data are presented as means \pm SE. Differences were considered significantly different at $P \leq$ 0.05. All statistical analyses were carried out using SigmaPlot 12.3 (Systat, Point Richmond, CA, USA).

3. <u>Results</u>

a. Morphology and stomatal characteristics

Morphological traits of the different plant groups are shown in Table 2-1. Shaded plants had 54% lower root dry mass (DW_R) and 50% lower leaf area (A_L) than control plants. As a result of this proportional decrease, the $A_L:DW_R$ ratio did not differ between shaded and control plants. Plants growing at high humidity had the lowest $A_L:DW_R$ ratio of any plant group.

Stomatal characteristics did not differ between shaded and control plants (Table 2-2), although stomatal density of shaded plants tended to be more heterogeneous than in controls. High humidity plants had larger stomata and pore apertures as well as higher stomatal densities than other plant groups. Moreover, after application of 100 μ M ABA to leaves, the pore apertures of high humidity plants remained larger than those of other plant groups; that is, stomata of high
humidity plants exhibited incomplete closure (Fig. 2-1, Table 2-2).

b. Water potential and stomatal conductance

Control plants had a Ψ_S of -0.57 ± 0.01 MPa (Fig. 2-2A, 'Light control'). At 4 h after shaded plants were exposed to an increase in light level, their Ψ_S dropped from -0.51 ± 0.02 MPa to -0.71 ± 0.03 MPa (Fig. 2-2B). Leaf water potential showed a similar drop (data not shown). At 28 h after the increase in light level, Ψ_S recovered to -0.46 ± 0.03 MPa. Plants experiencing a sudden drop in RH showed a very similar Ψ_S pattern (Fig. 2-2C).

Shaded plants exhibited a temporary increase in stomatal conductance 4 h after the increase in light level (Fig. 2-3B). In contrast, plants that were exposed to decreasing RH maintained high stomatal conductances and transpiration rates throughout the experiment (Fig. 2-3C; Supplementary Figure 2-S2).

c. Root water flow and aquaporin expression patterns in lightexposed plants

 $Q_{\rm R}$ increased in response to increased evaporative demand. In shaded plants, this increase was significant 28 h after the increase in light level, but not after 4 h (Fig. 2-4B). The delayed increase in $Q_{\rm R}$ corresponded with aquaporin expression patterns (Fig. 2-5). The total amount of PIP transcripts and the relative proportions of transcripts remained unchanged after 4 h (Fig. 2-5A, compare 'Shade' and 'Light



Figure 2-2: Effect of a sudden change in transpirational demand on stem water potential.

(A) Stem water potential of control plants grown under full light conditions in the growth chamber ('Light control'). (B) Stem water potentials of shaded plants ('Shade'), of plants removed from shade after 4 h ('Light increase, 4h'), and of plants removed from shade after 28 h ('Light increase, 28h'). (C) Stem water potentials of plants growing at high relative humidity ('High RH'), of plants removed from high RH after 4 h ('RH decrease, 4h'), and of plants removed from high RH after 28 h ('RH decrease, 28h'). Data shows means + SE; n = 5 plants. Significant differences are indicated by unique letters (P < 0.05).



Figure 2-3: Effect of a sudden change in transpirational demand on stomatal conductance.

(A) Stomatal conductance of control plants ('Light control'). (B) Stomatal conductance of shaded plants ('Shade'), of plants removed from shade after 4 h ('Light increase, 4h'), and of plants removed from shade after 28 h ('Light increase, 28h'). (C) Stomatal conductance of plants growing at high relative humidity ('High RH'), of plants removed from high RH after 4 h ('RH decrease, 4h'), and of plants removed from high RH after 28 h ('RH decrease, 28h'). Data shows means + SE; n = 5 plants. Significant differences are indicated by unique letters (P < 0.05).



Figure 2-4: Effect of a sudden change in transpirational demand on root water flow (scaled by leaf area).

(A) Root water flow of control plants ('Light control'). (B) Root hydraulic conductance of shaded plants ('Shade'), of plants removed from shade after 4 h ('Light increase, 4h'), and of plants removed from shade after 28 h ('Light increase, 28h'). (C) Root hydraulic conductance of plants growing at high relative humidity ('High RH'), of plants removed from high RH after 4 h ('RH decrease, 4h'), and of plants removed from high RH after 28 h ('RH decrease, 28h'). Data shows means + SE; n = 5 plants. Significant differences are indicated by unique letters (P < 0.05).



Figure 2-5: Effect of a sudden change in transpirational demand on aquaporin transcript amounts in poplar roots.

(A) Cumulative aquaporin transcript amounts in roots. Individual genes are labeled with different colors. One subset of plants was grown at adequate light level in the growth chamber ('Light'). Other subsets of plants were grown in shade ('Shade') or in a humidified box at ~95% relative humidity ('High RH'). Shaded plants were exposed to a ~four-fold increase in light level. Gene expression was measured 4 h ('Light increase, 4h') and 28 h ('Light increase, 28h') after the increase in light level. Plants growing at high humidity were removed from their humidified box and were exposed to a ~four-fold increase in vapor pressure deficit while light levels remained adequate. Gene expression was measured 4 h and 28 h after the decrease in relative humidity. (B) Transcript abundance of PtPIP1;1, PtPIP1;2, PtPIP1;3, PtPIP2;3, PtPIP2;4, and PtPIP2;5. Values are means + SE from three biological samples which were tested in triplicate. Significant differences are indicated by unique letters (P < 0.05).

increase, 4h'), but increased by 60% after 28 h (Fig. 2-5A, 'Light increase, 28h'). Of the aquaporin genes studied here, *PtPIP1;3* ranked first in terms of its proportion to the total number of mRNA molecules (Fig. 2-5A, yellow portion of the bars). Moreover, this gene contributed substantially to the dynamic response shown in Fig. 2-5A. *PtPIP2;5* was also highly expressed in roots (Fig. 2-5A, dark blue portion of the bars), but did not show significant changes in expression in response to an increase in light level.

Fig. 2-5B shows the expression patterns of individual genes. All of the three *PIP1* genes exhibited a significant 52-66% increase in expression after 28 h relative to plants that remained in shade; expression of *PtPIP2;3* even increased >2-fold after 28 h (Fig. 2-5B, black bars).

d. Root water flow and aquaporin expression patterns in plants experiencing a sudden drop in humidity

In plants that were removed from the high humidity environment, Q_R increased by 35% after 4 h and remained unchanged after 28 h (Fig. 2-4C). The rapid increase in Q_R corresponded to a 75% increase in the cumulative transcript copy numbers of all six *PIPs* (Fig. 2-5A). This increase in transcripts after 4 h was mainly due to a 2-fold increase in the transcript copy numbers of the three *PIP1* genes (Fig. 2-5B, grey bars). No significant changes in the expression of *PIP2s* occurred after 4 h.

After 28 h, expression levels of *PIP1* genes had returned to values found prior to the change in RH while $Q_{\rm R}$ remained relatively high. While transcript copy



Figure 2-6. Immunolocalization of PIP1 protein in root cross-sections.

Transverse sections were taken at 25–30 mm from the root tip. PIP1 antibody is specific to all PIP1s. (A) Roots of control plants growing at full light in the growth chamber. (B–D) Roots of shaded plants before (B) and after a step change in light level (C, D). (E–G) Roots of plants growing at high relative humidity before (E) and after a step change in humidity (F, G). (H) Control with no pimary antibody indicates minimal background autofluorescence. co, cortex; ed, endodermis; ep, epidermis. Bars=100 µm

numbers of *PtPIP2;3* and *PtPIP2;4* did not change significantly in response to the change in humidity, transcript numbers of *PtPIP2;5* had decreased sharply after 28 h (Fig. 2-5B).

e. Immunolabelling

Immunofluorescence labelling was performed on cross-sections taken at 25–30mm from the root tip (Fig. 2-6). The intensity of the red colour is equivalent to the abundance of PIP1 protein. In roots of control plants, PIP1 was present in epidermis and cortex cells as well as in the endodermis and in vascular tissue (Fig. 2-6A). Weak labelling was observed in roots of shaded plants (Fig. 2-6B). In contrast, root sections taken after the increase in light level exhibited strong immunolabeling of the epidermis, endodermis, and of cells adjacent to the endodermis. Labelling was particularly abundant after 28 h when a continuous fluorescence signal occurred in the epidermis (Fig. 2-6D). A similar trend was observed in plants that were exposed to decreasing humidity (Fig. 2- 6E-G), although strong signals were already detected after 4 h (Fig. 2-6F). Controls without primary antibody exhibited minimal fluorescence (Fig.2- 6H).

4. Discussion

Although much has been learned about the possible physiological roles of aquaporins in plants, many questions remain unanswered (Baiges *et al.*, 2002; Aroca

et al., 2012). The present study was conducted to gain a better understanding of how aquaporins in roots are regulated and how their function relates to whole-plant–water relations in woody plants (Hacke *et al.*, 2012).

a. Aquaporin gene expression and root hydraulics are affected by changes in transpirational demand

The first objective of this present study was to measure absolute transcript abundance of key PIP1 and PIP2 genes 4 h and 28 h after hybrid poplar plants were exposed to an increase in transpirational demand, and to assess how transcriptional responses correspond to changes in $Q_{\rm R}$ and other parameters of water relations. To minimize the effect of a circadian rhythm (Henzler *et al.*, 1999; Clarkson *et al.*, 2000; Lopez *et al.*, 2003) on the data collected in this present study, all measurements were conducted between 10:30 and 11:30 h.

Among the 11 *PIP* gnes that were studied by Almeida-Rodriguez et al. (2011), the authors reported the differential expression of nine *PIP* genes in roots of poplars exposed to different light regimes. Based on this and on available literature data (Secchi *et al.*, 2009; Supplementary Table 2-S1), *e six PIPs* that were highly expressed in roots were chosen for gene expression analysis.

The three *PIP1* genes exhibited remarkably similar expression patterns (Fig. 2-5B). Interestingly, these genes are orthologs of the rice *OsPIP1s* whose transcription in roots increased with transpirational demand (Sakurai-Ishikawa *et al.*, 2011). Furthermore, the closely related *PtPIP1;1* and *PtPIP1;2* (95% amino-acids

identity; Supplementary Fig. 2-S1) were found to be induced in response to xylem embolism (Secchi and Zwieniecki, 2010) and by osmotic stress (Bae *et al.*, 2010). Expression changes of the studied PIP2 genes were smaller and more variable than those of the three PIP1 genes, a pattern which has also been described in droughtstressed stems of *P. trichocarpa* (Secchi and Zwieniecki, 2010).

In terms of transcript copy numbers, *PtPIP1;1* and *PtPIP1;3* ranked first among the *PIP* genes measured in this study (Fig. 2-5B). The transcripts of all three *PIP1* genes represented nearly three-quarters of the total transcript amount while *Q*_R increased. It is therefore suggested that these genes play crucial roles in modifying root water uptake in poplar in response to changes in transpirational demand. Aquaporin activity is regulated at both the transcriptional and the posttranslational levels. While the present study focused on transcriptional regulation, it is noted that responses to a change in environmental conditions can also be realized by other mechanisms, including aquaporin gating, translocation of aquaporins into the membrane, and interactions of membrane proteins (e.g., Hedfalk *et al.*, 2006; Zelazny *et al.*, 2007; Maurel *et al.*, 2008;). Nonetheless, the fact that expression patterns, particularly those of *PIP1* genes, closely corresponded with changes in *Q*_R, suggests that transcriptional control was an important mechanism involved in the regulation of root physiology.

Striking differences between trends in transcript abundance and Q_R only occurred 28 h after plants were transferred to lower humidity (compare Fig. 2-4C and Fig. 2-5A 'RH decrease, 28h'). At that time, transcript copy numbers of several

67

genes reached low levels (Fig. 2-5B, grey 'RH decrease, 28h' bars) while Q_R was still nearly as high as it was 4 h after the change in humidity (Fig. 2-4C, grey bars). It is suggested that the peak in transcription seen 4 h after the change in humidity resulted in an accumulation of water channel proteins, and that proteins were still present 24 h later. This conclusion is supported by immunolabeling experiments, which revealed that PIP1 protein remained highly abundant in root cross-sections 28 h after the transfer to lower humidity (Fig. 2-6)

b. Differences between plants grown in shade and in high humidity

The adaptive significance of aquaporin-mediated changes in whole-plant hydraulic conductance is that it would provide plants with a mechanism to maintain their water potential homeostasis despite changing environmental conditions through modifying water transport in roots. While the present study focused on roots, it is noted that whole-plant hydraulic conductance will probably also be affected by aquaporins in leaves (Heinen *et al.*, 2009). A fine-tuned balance between water loss and water uptake is especially important in plants that are vulnerable to xylem cavitation and lack efficient mechanisms to repair xylem dysfunction. The poplar clone studied here (H11-11) is very vulnerable to cavitation. In a previous study (Plavcova and Hacke, 2012) on H11-11 plants growing under similar conditions, 50% loss of hydraulic conductivity occurred at -1.14 MPa and -0.62 MPa in basal and distal stem segments, respectively. This is close to or within the range of stem

water potentials measured in the present study. It is therefore concluded that the recovery of stem water potentials 28 h after the increase in transpirational demand was necessary to prevent excessive and irreversible levels of embolism.

Shaded plants would likely have benefited from a faster increase in Q_R to take advantage of increased light levels (Almeida-Rodriguez *et al.*, 2011). The relatively slow increase of Q_R in shaded plants may be due to the stressful growing conditions that these plants experienced. Poplars are light-demanding plants, and shade-grown plants were probably energy-starved. To the degree that new expression and activation of aquaporins are energy dependent, water uptake dynamics may have been constrained by limited resources in the roots of shaded plants.

Interestingly, changes in the transcript levels of *PIP1* genes and in Q_R occurred sooner in high humidity plants than in shaded plants. This may in part be due to the fact that stomatal conductance in high humidity plants remained high throughout the experiment (Fig. 2-3; Supplementary Fig. 2-S2). Stomata of these plants were larger and more frequent than in other plant groups, and were unable to close (Fig. 2-1; see also Arve *et al.*, 2013). Hence, fast aquaporin-mediated responses of Q_R to changes in the above-ground environment may have compensated for a lack of stomatal control.

c. An increase in light level is not required to trigger changes in gene expression and root hydraulics

69

The second objective of this study was to determine whether changes in gene expression and Q_R would require an increase in light level *per se*, or whether such changes could also be triggered by lowering RH at a constant light level. Altering RH without changing irradiance had a profound effect on both *PIP* transcript levels and Q_R (see above). It was therefore concluded that an increase in light level is not required to trigger changes in *PIP* expression and Q_R in poplar. This conclusion agrees with recent work on rice (Sakurai-Ishikawa *et al.*, 2011). Levin *et al.* (2009) found that some aquaporin genes were differentially expressed in *Arabidopsis thaliana* plants subjected to low RH. How exactly changes in the above-ground environment are transmitted to and sensed by roots remains unknown. The most parsimonious hypothesis is that root cells sense xylem pressure pulses (McElrone *et al.*, 2007) or changes in water potential (Levin *et al.*, 2009), and/or cell turgor (Hill *et al.*, 2004), which all would correspond with changes in transpirational demand.

In conclusion, hybrid poplar plants were subjected to a sudden increase in transpirational demand, either by increasing light level or by reducing RH. Both treatments led to a transient perturbation of water potentials. At 28 h after plants were removed from shade or from their high humidity environment, respectively, stem water potentials recovered to their original values (measured prior to treatments). The recovery of water potentials was associated with an increase in Q_R and an increase in the transcript abundance of aquaporin genes in roots. In both experiments, transcript levels of three *PIP1* genes closely matched trends in Q_R . While stomata of plants grown in high humidity were unable to close properly, the

70

 $Q_{\rm R}$ of these plants quickly responded to increased transpirational demand. In contrast, the $Q_{\rm R}$ of shaded plants increased 28 h after the increase in light, but not 4 h after the removal from the shade environment. The fact that aquaporin gene expression and $Q_{\rm R}$ responded to a drop in RH while light levels were unchanged indicates that an unknown signal was involved in this case of shoot-root communication. Future work will probably be directed at unravelling the nature of this signalling process and will study how the signal is perceived by root aquaporins.

5. <u>References</u>

- Almeida-Rodriguez AM, Cooke JEK, Yeh F, Zwiazek JJ. 2010. Functional characterization of drought-responsive aquaporins in *Populus balsamifera* and *Populus simonii×balsamifera* clones with different drought resistance strategies. *Physiologia Plantarum* **140**, 321-333.
- Almeida-Rodriguez AM, Hacke UG, Laur J. 2011. Influence of evaporative demand on aquaporin expression and root hydraulics in hybrid poplar. *Plant, Cell & Environment* **34**, 1318-1331.
- Arend M, Schnitzler JP, Ehlting B, Hansch R, Lange T, Rennenberg H, Himmelbach A, Grill E, Fromm J. 2009. Expression of the *Arabidopsis* mutant abi1 gene alters abscisic acid sensitivity, stomatal development, and growth morphology in gray poplars. *Plant Physiology* **151**, 2110-2119.

Aroca R, Porcel R, Ruiz-Lozano JM. 2012. Regulation of root water uptake under

abiotic stress conditions. *Journal of Experimental Botany* **63**, 43-57.

- **Arve LE, Terfa MT, GislerØD HR, Olsen JE, Torre S**. 2013. High relative air humidity and continuous light reduce stomata functionality by affecting the ABA regulation in rose leaves. *Plant, Cell and Environment* **36**, 382–392.
- Arvidsson S, Kwasniewski M, Riano-Pachon DM, Mueller-Roeber B. 2008. QuantPrime - a flexible tool for reliable high-throughput primer design for quantitative PCR. *Bmc Bioinformatics* 9.
- **Bae EK, Lee H, Lee JS, Noh EW**. 2010. Isolation and characterization of osmotic stressinduced genes in poplar cells by suppression subtractive hybridization and cDNA microarray analysis. *Plant Physiology and Biochemistry* **48**, 136-141.
- Baiges I, Schäffner AR, Affenzeller MJ, Mas A. 2002. Plant aquaporins. *Physiologia Plantarum* **115**, 175-182.
- Barigah TS, Ibrahim T, Bogard A, Faivre-Vuillin B, Lagneau LA, Montpied P, Dreyer E. 2006. Irradiance-induced plasticity in the hydraulic properties of saplings of different temperate broad-leaved forest tree species. *Tree Physiology* 26, 1505-1516.
- **Blake TJ, Filho WS**. 1988. Drought tolerance, growth partitioning and vigor in eucalypt seedlings and rooted cuttings. *Tree Physiology* **4**, 325-335.
- Clarkson DT, Carvajal M, Henzler T, Waterhouse RN, Smyth AJ, Cooke DT, Steudle
 E. 2000. Root hydraulic conductance: diurnal aquaporin expression and the effects of nutrient stress. *Journal of Experimental Botany* 51, 61-70.
- Gomes D, Agasse A, Thiébaud P, Delrot S, Gerós H, Chaumont F. 2009. Aquaporins are multifunctional water and solute transporters highly divergent in living organisms. *Biochimica et Biophysica Acta (BBA) - Biomembranes* **1788**, 1213-1228.

- Gong HQ, Peng YB, Zou C, Wang DH, Xu ZH, Bai SN. 2006. A simple treatment to significantly increase signal specificity in im munohistochemistry. *Plant Molecular Biology Reporter* **24**, 93–101.
- Gupta AB, Sankararamakrishnan R. 2009. Genome-wide analysis of major intrinsic proteins in the tree plant *Populus trichocarpa*: Characterization of XIP subfamily of aquaporins from evolutionary perspective. *BMC Plant Biology* 9, 134
- Hacke UG, Jacobsen AL, Brandon Pratt R, Maurel C, Lachenbruch B, Zwiazek J. 2012. New research on plant-water relations examines the molecular, structural, and physiological mechanisms of plant responses to their environment. *New Phytologist* **196**, 345-348.
- Hacke U, Sauter JJ. 1995. Vulnerability of xylem to embolism in relation to leaf water potential and stomatal conductance in *Fagus sylvatica* f. *purpurea* and *Populus balsamifera*. *Journal of Experimental Botany* 46, 1177-1183.
- Hedfalk K, Tornroth-Horsefield S, Nyblom M, Johanson U, Kjellbom P, Neutze R. 2006. Aquaporin gating. *Current Opinion in Structural Biology* **16**, 447-456.
- Heinen RB, Ye Q, Chaumont F. 2009. Role of aquaporins in leaf physiology. *Journal of Experimental Botany* **60**, 2971–2985.
- Henzler T, Waterhouse RN, Smyth AJ, Carvajal M, Cooke DT, Schaffner AR, Steudle E, Clarkson DT. 1999. Diurnal variations in hydraulic conductivity and root pressure can be correlated with the expression of putative aquaporins in the roots of *Lotus japonicus*. *Planta* **210**, 50-60.
- Hill AE, Shachar-Hill B, Shachar-Hill Y. 2004. What are aquaporins for? *Journal of Membrane Biology* **197**, 1-32.

Javot H, Maurel C. 2002. The role of aquaporins in root water uptake. Annals of

Botany **90**, 301-313.

- Jones HG, Sutherland R. 1991. Stomatal control of xylem embolism. *Plant Cell and Environment* 14, 607-612.
- Jones HG, Tardieu F. 1998. Modelling water relations of horticultural crops: a review. *Scientia Horticulturae* **74**, 21-46.
- Kamaluddin M, Zwiazek JJ. 2004. Effects of root medium pH on water transport in paper birch (*Betula papyrifera*) seedlings in relation to root temperature and abscisic acid treatments. *Tree Physiology* 24, 1173-1180.
- **Kammerloher W, Fischer U, Piechottka GP, Schaffner AR**. 1994. Water channels in the plant plasma-membrane cloned by immunoselection from a mammalian expression system. *The Plant Journal* **6**, 187–199.
- Levin M, Resnick N, Rosianskey Y, Kolotilin I, Wininger S, Lemcoff JH, Cohen S, Galili G, Koltai H, Kapulnik Y. 2009. Transcriptional profiling of *Arabidopsis thaliana* plants' response to low relative humidity suggests a shoot-root communication. *Plant Science* 177, 450-459.
- Lo Gullo MA, Nardini A, Salleo S, Tyree MT. 1998. Changes in root hydraulic conductance (K_R) of Olea oleaster seedlings following drought stress and irrigation. New Phytologist 140, 25-31.
- Lopez D, Bronner G, Brunel N, Auguin D, Bourgerie S, Brignolas F, Carpin S, Tournaire-Roux C, Maurel C, Fumanal B, Martin F, Sakr S, Label P, Julien JL, Gousset-Dupont A, Venisse JS. 2012. Insights into *Populus* XIP aquaporins: evolutionary expansion, protein functionality, and environmental regulation. *Journal of Experimental Botany*.
- **Lopez F, Bousser A, Sissoëff I, Gaspar M, Lachaise B, Hoarau J, Mahé A**. 2003. Diurnal regulation of water transport and aquaporin gene expression in maize

roots: contribution of PIP2 proteins. *Plant and Cell Physiology* 44, 1384-1395.

- Maurel C, Verdoucq L, Luu DT, Santoni V. 2008. Plant aquaporins: Membrane channels with multiple integrated functions. *Annual Review of Plant Biology* **59**, 595-624.
- McElrone AJ, Bichler J, Pockman WT, Addington RN, Linder CR, Jackson RB. 2007. Aquaporin-mediated changes in hydraulic conductivity of deep tree roots accessed via caves. *Plant Cell and Environment* **30**, 1411-1421.
- **Nejad AR, van Meeteren U**. 2007. The role of abscisic acid in disturbed stomatal response characteristics of *Tradescantia virginiana* during growth at high relative air humidity. *Journal of Experimental Botany* **58**, 627-636.
- **Plavcova L, Hacke UG**. 2012. Phenotypic and developmental plasticity of xylem in hybrid poplar saplings subjected to experimental drought, nitrogen fertilization, and shading. *Journal of Experimental Botany* **63**, 6481–6491
- Postaire O, Tournaire-Roux C, Grondin A, Boursiac Y, Morillon R, Schaffner AR, Maurel C. 2010. A PIP1 aquaporin contributes to hydrostatic pressure-induced water transport in both the root and rosette of *Arabidopsis*. *Plant Physiology* 152, 1418-1430.
- **Rutledge RG**. 2011. A Java program for LRE-based real-time qPCR that enables largescale absolute quantification. *Plos One* **6**.
- **Rutledge RG, Stewart D**. 2008. A kinetic-based sigmoidal model for the polymerase chain reaction and its application to high-capacity absolute quantitative real-time PCR. *Bmc Biotechnology* **8**.
- **Rutledge RG, Stewart D**. 2010. Assessing the Performance Capabilities of LRE-Based Assays for Absolute Quantitative Real-Time PCR. *Plos One* **5**.

- Sakurai-Ishikawa J, Murai-Hatano M, Hayashi H, Ahamed A, Fukushi K, Matsumoto T, Kitagawa Y. 2011. Transpiration from shoots triggers diurnal changes in root aquaporin expression. *Plant Cell and Environment* 34, 1150-1163.
- Schindelin J, Arganda-Carreras I, Frise E, Kaynig V, Longair M, Pietzsch T, Preibisch S, Rueden C, Saalfeld S, Schmid B, Tinevez J-Y, White DJ, Hartenstein V, Eliceiri K, Tomancak P, Cardona A. 2012. Fiji: an open-source platform for biological-image analysis. *Nature Methods* 9, 676-682.
- Secchi F, Maciver B, Zeidel ML, Zwieniecki MA. 2009. Functional analysis of putative genes encoding the PIP2 water channel subfamily in *Populus trichocarpa*. *Tree Physiology* **29**, 1467-1477.
- Secchi F, Zwieniecki MA. 2010. Patterns of PIP gene expression in *Populus trichocarpa* during recovery from xylem embolism suggest a major role for the PIP1 aquaporin subfamily as moderators of refilling process. *Plant, Cell & Environment* 33, 1285-1297.
- Siefritz F, Tyree MT, Lovisolo C, Schubert A, Kaldenhoff R. 2002. PIP1 plasma membrane aquaporins in tobacco: from cellular effects to function in plants. *The Plant Cell* **14**, 869–876.
- Sperry JS, Pockman WT. 1993. Limitation of transpiration by hydraulic conductance and xylem cavitation in *Betula occidentalis*. *Plant, Cell and Environment* 16, 279-287.
- **Tyree MT, Velez V, Dalling JW**. 1998. Growth dynamics of root and shoot hydraulic conductance in seedlings of five neotropical tree species: Scaling to show possible adaptation to differing light regimes. *Oecologia* **114**, 293-298.
- **Vandeleur RK, Mayo G, Shelden MC, Gilliham M, Kaiser BN, Tyerman SD**. 2009. The role of plasma membrane intrinsic protein aquaporins in water transport

through roots: Diurnal and drought stress responses reveal different strategies between isohydric and anisohydric cultivars of grapevine. *Plant Physiology* **149**, 445-460.

- Wilkins O, Nahal H, Foong J, Provart NJ, Campbell MM. 2009. Expansion and diversification of the *Populus* R2R3-MYB family of transcription factors. *Plant Physiology* 149, 981-993.
- Zelazny E, Borst JW, Muylaert M, Batoko H, Hemminga MA, Chaumont F. 2007. FRET imaging in living maize cells reveals that plasma membrane aquaporins interact to regulate their subcellular localization. *Proceedings of the National Academy of Sciences of the United States of America* **104**, 12359-12364.

III. Dynamics of leaf hydraulic conductance and aquaporin expression in *Populus trichocarpa* leaves with dehydration and rehydration.

1. Introduction

High gas exchange rates can only be sustained when leaves are kept well hydrated. This, in turn, depends on the properties of the xylem pipeline and on the way in which water moves through living cells in roots and leaves (Tyree and Sperry, 1988; Sperry et al., 2002). Leaf hydraulic conductance is emerging as an important component of whole-plant hydraulic conductance (Brodribb and Holbrook, 2004; Heinen et al., 2009; Scoffoni et al., 2012; Prado and Maurel, 2013; Nardini and Luglio, 2014). Like in roots and stems, hydraulic conductance of leaves declines as the water potential becomes more negative. This loss of hydraulic conductance is due to embolism formation in leaf veins (Stiller et al., 2003; Johnson et al., 2011), collapse of xylem conduits (Brodribb and Holbrook, 2005), and/or to decline in the permeability of extra-xylary tissues (Shatil-Cohen *et al.*, 2011). Compared with stems, leaves (Brodribb et al., 2003) and roots (Hacke et al., 2000) are often more vulnerable to hydraulic dysfunction. In some cases, however, the hydraulic conductance of these plant organs may also be able to quickly recover from the effects of drought (Stiller et al., 2005; Scoffoni et al., 2012).

This recovery of hydraulic function may be facilitated by the activity of aquaporin (AQP) water channels (Martre *et al.*, 2002; North *et al.*, 2004; Galmés *et al.*, 2007; Jang *et al.*, 2013; Laur and Hacke, 2014). AQPs belong to the major intrinsic protein (MIP) superfamily, a family of protein pores present in the membranes of almost all biological cells to facilitate the diffusion of a wide range of

small uncharged solutes. Plant MIPs form a particularly large family of proteins, with 28 members in *Vitis vinifera* (Fouquet *et al.*, 2008), \geq 30 members in *Arabidopsis thaliana, Picea glauca* and *Oryza sativa* (Quigley *et al.*, 2002; Sakurai *et al.*, 2005; Laur and Hacke, 2014), and >50 members in *Populus trichocarpa* (Gupta and Sankararamakrishnan, 2009). The plant-specific plasma membrane intrinsic proteins (PIPs), with their highly conserved phylogenetic subgroups PIP1 and PIP2, and tonoplast intrinsic proteins (TIPs) show significant water transport activity *in vitro* and *in planta* (Daniels *et al.*, 1994; Vandeleur *et al.*, 2009; Postaire *et al.*, 2010). Regulation of AQPs via transcription, translation, post-translational modifications or trafficking allows plant cells and organs to respond to hydraulic changes in their surrounding environment (Chaumont and Tyerman, 2014).

In this present study, *Populus trichocarpa* plants were exposed to moderate drought and then rewatered. The objective was to study the recovery of K_{leaf} from water stress at both physiological and molecular levels. We hypothesized that leaves would quickly (i.e., within hours) recover from water stress, and that this would be associated with modulation of AQP activity. To test this hypothesis, we monitored K_{leaf} and Ψ_{leaf} during a dehydration-rehydration episode. We also explored the regulation of 12 leaf-expressed *AQP* isoforms as well as the tissue-specific location of PIP1, PIP2 and TIP2 proteins. Recovery of K_{leaf} was assessed in two ways: (i) intact plants were taken through a drying-rewatering cycle, and (ii) detached leaves were bench-dried and subsequently xylem-perfused with AQP inhibitors.

2. Materials and Methods

a. Plant material and growing conditions

All experiments were carried out with *P. trichocarpa* clone 664042 (IUFRO collection). Rooted cuttings were produced and established in the greenhouse for 2 months in 3.8 L containers with sunshine mix 4 (Sun Gro Horticulture Canada Ltd.) under semi-controlled conditions (22/20 °C day : night cycle, 18/6 h light : dark, watered daily, and fertilized ($2g L^{-1} NPK 15-30-15$) once a week).

b. Leaf hydraulic conductance measurements

Leaf hydraulic conductance was measured using the evaporative flux method (Sack and Scoffoni, 2012) on six plants per treatment. A filtered (0.2 μ m) 20 mM KCl + 1 mM CaCl₂ solution (subsequently referred to as 'artificial xylem sap', AXS) was used for these measurements. Flow rate through leaves was measured with a balance (model CP 224S, Sartorius, Göttingen, Germany), which logged data every 30 s to a computer. The air was well stirred by a fan as explained by Sack and Scoffoni (2012). Leaves were illuminated with ~1000 μ mol m⁻² s⁻¹ photosynthetically active radiation (PAR) at the leaf surface by an LED worklight (Husky, distributed by Home Depot, Atlanta, GA, USA). Leaf temperature was monitored by a thermocouple. Leaf water potential was measured using a pressure chamber (PMS Instruments, Albany, OR, USA). Leaf area was determined with a scanner. A leaf vulnerability curve was generated with plants experiencing different levels of water stress following methods of Sack and Scoffoni (2012). Fully expanded leaves corresponding to leaf plastochron index (LPI) 8 (Larson and Isebrands, 1971) were used to measure Ψ_{leaf} ; K_{leaf} was then measured on leaves corresponding to LPI 9. The curve was fitted with a Weibull function.

c. Recovery of leaf hydraulic conductance after dehydration

To study the recovery of K_{leaf} in intact plants, plants were randomly assigned to different watering regimes in the greenhouse. One group of plants was kept well watered (control). Another group of plant was subjected to a drought treatment. Water was withheld for several days until plants reached a Ψ_{leaf} of -0.77 ±0.05 MPa (mean ±SE, n=6). This Ψ_{leaf} was associated with a substantial reduction in K_{leaf} . A subset of drought-stressed plants was then rewatered, and Ψ_{leaf} and K_{leaf} were remeasured 2 h and 26 h after rewatering.

To assess the effect of AQP inhibitors and abscisic acid (ABA) on the recovery of K_{leaf} , excised leaves were bench-dried for 1h and then perfused for 2 h with AXS, AXS + 0.2 mM HgCl₂, AXS + 50 mM H₂O₂ or AXS + 50 µM ABA. Solutions were introduced into the transpiring leaf by immersing the petiole inside 50 mL containers. Leaves were placed near a fan; light was provided at a light level of ~1,000 µmol m⁻² s⁻¹ PAR. Mercury chloride and H₂O₂ have been widely used as AQP inhibitors; ABA may also reduce AQP activity in leaves (Shatil-Cohen *et al.*, 2011; reviewed in Chaumont and Tyerman, 2014). Control leaves were always kept hydrated and were perfused with pure AXS for 2 h. Immediately after perfusion with these solutions, K_{leaf} was determined using the evaporative flux method as described above. All measurements were conducted at the same time of day (10:00 – 11:30 h).

After perfusion with the different solutions, stomatal pore aperture of leaves was measured as described in Laur and Hacke (2013). Images were recorded in six randomly selected fields of view of each leaf. Fields of view were located near the point of maximum leaf width on the abaxial leaf surface.

d. Dye uptake experiments

The extent of dye uptake in excised leaves was used as an additional method to assess xylem refilling during the rehydration phase. We also used the dye uptake experiments in an attempt to study how embolism reversal in leaf veins is impacted by mercury and ABA, respectively. Excised leaves were bench-dried for 1 h and rehydrated for 2 h by immersion of the petioles in filtered safranin solutions. Transpiration during dye uptake was promoted by placing leaves near a fan at a light level of ~1,000 µmol m⁻² s⁻¹ PAR (i.e., conditions similar to the protocol used to measure K_{leaf}). Dye (0.1 % (w/v) safranin) was dissolved in pure AXS, AXS + 0.2 mM HgCl₂. Control leaves were excised from well-watered plants and then perfused for 2 h with 0.1 % safranin-containing AXS without prior dehydration treatment.

e. Gene transcript measurements by quantitative real-time

PCR

Fully expanded leaves corresponding to LPI 7-10 were collected, immediately

83

frozen in liquid nitrogen and stored at -80°C until analyzed. Samples were always collected between 10:00 h and 11:30 h to minimize any diurnal effect on AQP expression. Total RNA was extracted from 3 plants per treatment following the CTAB method of Pavy et al. (2008). RNA quality was assessed on an agarose gel and quantified with a spectrophotometer (Nanodrop ND-1000, Thermo Scientific, Wilmington, DE, USA). RNA was treated as previously described (Laur and Hacke, 2014). cDNA quality was checked by PCR with intron-spanning actin primers. Putative leaf-expressed AOP genes were selected (Wilkins *et al.*, 2009: Almeida-Rodriguez et al., 2010; Cohen et al., 2013), specific primers (Table 3-S1) were designed according to Rutledge and Stewart (2010) using the QuantPrime online tool (Arvidsson et al., 2008). PCR efficiency was 100±7% for all primer pairs and specificity was checked using melting curves. Real-time qPCR was performed on a 7900 HT Fast Real-Time PCR system (Applied Biosystems, Foster City, CA, USA) as described previously (Laur and Hacke, 2013). Relative gene expression was measured according to Livak and Schmittgen (2001) using the $2\Delta\Delta C(t)$ method. The expression values were normalized to the geometric mean of four housekeeping genes (actin (POPTR_0001s31700), cyclophilin (POPTR_0005s26170), TIP4-like (POPTR_0009s09620.1) and ubiquitin (POPTR_0005s09940)). Relative gene expression was determined as the fold change of an AQP isoform at a given condition relative to its expression under control conditions. Real-time PCR was carried out using three biological replicates each with three technical replicates.

f. Immunolocalization

Samples were fixed in formaldehyde-acetic acid and embedded in paraffin as described previously (Almeida-Rodriguez *et al.*, 2011). Transverse sections, 10 µm thick, were prepared with a microtome. Immunoreactions were performed following the protocol of Gong *et al.* (2006). Primary antibodies directed against the 42 N-terminal amino acids of AtPIP1;3 (Kammerloher *et al.*, 1994) and the conserved 10 amino acids of the C-terminal of PIP2s (Laur and Hacke, 2014) were used. In addition, we applied a commercially available anti-TIP2 antibody (Sakurai *et al.*, 2008); Agrisera AB, Sweden; alignment shown in Fig. S1). AlexaFluo 488-conjugated goat anti-chicken, anti-mouse and anti- rabbit secondary antibodies (Life Technologies Inc., Burlington, ON, Canada) were respectively applied for 2 h at 37°C. Slides were mounted with Permount. Images were taken with a Zeiss LSM 700 confocal microscope (Carl Zeiss, Oberkochen, Germany).

g. Statistical analysis

All statistical analyses were carried out using SigmaPlot 11.0 (Systat, Point Richmond, CA, USA). Differences due to the effect of treatments and growing conditions were analyzed using a one-way ANOVA followed by a Tukey's test for physiological data, and a one-way ANOVA followed by Bonferroni's post test for the gene expression analysis. For all tests, differences were considered significant at $P \leq 0.05$.

3. <u>Results and Discussion</u>

a. Leaf hydraulic conductance is highly sensitive to drought To assess how K_{leaf} declines as a function of Ψ_{leaf} , we first constructed a vulnerability curve. Water was withheld from plants in the greenhouse until plants reached different levels of water stress. Leaves were highly vulnerable with 50% and 80% loss of hydraulic conductance occurring at Ψ_{leaf} = -0.45 MPa and -0.70 MPa, respectively (Figure 3-1, insert). The drought-induced loss in K_{leaf} shown in Figure 3-1 may have been due to xylem cavitation, reduced water permeability of cell membranes and/or other factors (Heinen et al., 2009; Prado et al., 2013). The water potentials at 50% and 80% loss of hydraulic conductance (P_{50} and P_{80} , respectively) are well within the range of water potentials that trees experience under natural conditions (Pezeshki and Hinckley, 1982; Sparks and Black, 1999). It therefore appears that K_{leaf} is subject to substantial diurnal changes under natural conditions, similar to what has been observed in rice and other species (Trifilò et al., 2003; Stiller et al., 2005; Scoffoni et al., 2012). Our data also indicates that leaf hydraulic conductance is more sensitive to decreasing water potentials than the hydraulic conductance of stems (Sparks and Black, 1999). However, since we only worked with young greenhouse-grown plants, it remains to be seen whether leaves of field-grown trees are similar in their response to water stress.

b. Leaves of intact plants quickly recover from drought



Figure 3-1 Effect of a change in water availability on leaf hydraulic conductance (K_{leaf}**) in** *Populus trichocarpa* **saplings.** Kleaf and the associated leaf water potential (Deaf) were measured in 6 well-watered control plants (blue squares), 6 drought-stressed plants (red circles), and drought-stressed plants 2 and 26 h after rewatering (grey squares and diamonds, respectively). Each data point represents a single measurement of Kleaf. The solid line shows the previously established vulnerability curve for Kleaf. An overview of the complete vulnerability curve is shown in the upper right corner of the figure. Individual measurements are shown as crosses; the mean values for each group (+SE, n=6) are shown using the same symbols as explained above.

We next tested whether K_{leaf} would recover after a drought treatment when plants were left intact during the dehydration-rehydration episode. In this experiment, leaves of well-watered control plants had a Ψ_{leaf} of -0.33 ±0.03 MPa (±SE, n=6), which was associated with a K_{leaf} of 3.37 ±0.41 mmol m⁻² s⁻¹ MPa⁻¹ (±SE, n=6) (Figure 3-1, blue squares). The drought treatment resulted in a drop of Ψ_{leaf} to -0.77 ±0.05 MPa (± SE, n=6) and a six-fold drop of K_{leaf} to 0.55 ±0.12 mmol m⁻² s⁻¹ MPa⁻¹ (±SE, n=6) (Figure 3-1, red circles). These values were in good agreement with the previously established vulnerability curve (Figure 3-1, insert). Only 2 h after rewatering (Figure 3-1, grey squares), both Ψ_{leaf} and K_{leaf} reached values that were not statistically different from well-watered control plants (*t* test, *P* = 0.083 for K_{leaf}), indicating that leaves completely recovered their hydraulic function.

c. *AQP* expression in leaves collected from intact plants

To study the role of water channels in the recovery of *K*_{leaf}, AQP expression was measured in leaves at different stages during the dehydration-rehydration experiment. Three *PIP1*, three *PIP2*, and six *TIP* candidate genes were selected for analysis. Among them, *PtPIP1;1*, *PtPIP1;2*, *PtPIP1;3*; *PtPIP2;4* and *PtTIP2;1* exhibited the highest total number of mRNA molecules in leaves of control plants (Table 3-1). The drought treatment resulted in a significant reduction in the expression of all tested genes (Fig. 3-2). In leaves collected 2 h after rewatering, there were two



Figure 3-2 Relative expression of aquaporin genes in leaves of plants exposed to a drying-rewatering cycle. Gene expression was measured in leaves of well-watered control plants (C), drought-stressed plants (D), and 3 h after drought-stressed plants were rewatered (RW). The geometric mean of the expression levels of four reference genes (ACT2, CYC063, TIP41-like, UBQ7) was used to normalize the results. Asterisks denote significant differences in expression level compared to control levels (one-way ANOVA, followed by Bonferroni's post test, *P \leq 0.05; **P \leq 0.01***P \leq 0.001). Data are means ±SE of three biological replicates.

Aquaporin name	Expression (copies μg^{-1} of total RNA)
PtPIP1;1	112,960 ±9,067
PtPIP1;2	272,111 ±32,575
PtPIP1;3	229,960 ±44,252
PtPIP2;3	85,667 ±15,402
PtPIP2;4	273,655 ±33,728
PtPIP2;5	11,536 ±1,738
PtTIP1;3	23,105 ±2,540
PtTIP1;5	11,840 ±1,675
PtTIP1;6	2,330 ±121
PtTIP2;1	153,689 ±19,669
PtTIP2;2	24,863 ±3,451
PtTIP4;1	517 ±9

Table 3-1 Transcript abundance of 12 aquaporin genes expressed in leaves of wellwatered control plants.

Values are the means ±SE from three biological samples which were tested in triplicate.



Figure 3-3: Response of leaf hydraulic conductance (K_{leaf}) to different perfusion solutions.

Control conditions refer to the K_{leaf} that was measured after leaves were xylem perfused with filtered (0.2 µm) 20 mM KCl + 1 mM CaCl₂ solution (subsequently referred to as 'artificial xylem sap', AXS) for 2 h. K_{leaf} was also measured on leaves that were bench-dried for 1 h (Dehydrated) and on leaves that were bench-dried for 1 h and subsequently perfused for 2 h with AXS (RW AXS), AXS + 0.2 mM HgCl₂ (RW HgCl₂), AXS + 50 mM H₂O₂ (RW H₂O₂) or AXS + 50 µM ABA (RW ABA). Values are means ±SE (n=6). Different letters denote statistically significant differences by one-way ANOVA with Tukey's test. patterns of expression between the 12 isoforms. One group of genes (among them all *PIP1s*) remained down-regulated while the expression of a second group of genes matched or exceeded the transcript levels measured in control leaves. With the exception of *PtTIP2;1*, all tested *TIPs* were significantly up-regulated after 2 h. Among the *PIPs*, only the expression level of *PtPIP2;3* increased to match the control level.

d. Recovery of K_{leaf} in detached leaves is impaired by inhibitors Another set of experiments was conducted on leaves that were excised from the plant prior to the dehydration-rehydration treatment. Working with detached leaves allowed us to study the effect of AQP inhibitors and ABA on the recovery of K_{leaf} . Fully hydrated control leaves exhibited a K_{leaf} of 8.49 ±0.57 mmol m⁻² s⁻¹ MPa⁻¹ (±SE, n=6), which is higher than the values shown in Figure 1. One difference between the data shown in Figures 3-1 and 3-3 is that all data in Figure 3-1 was derived from leaves that were excised (petioles were cut under water) from transpiring plants immediately before K_{leaf} was measured while the control leaves in Figure 3-3 were perfused with AXS for 2 h prior to measuring K_{leaf} . Hence, the absolute K_{leaf} values shown in Figures 3-1 and 3-3 may not be readily comparable.

Bench-drying of leaves caused a ~10-fold decline in K_{leaf} relative to fully hydrated control leaves (Figure 3-3). Dehydrated leaves that were subsequently xylem-perfused for 2 h with AXS exhibited a significant recovery to 50% of the hydraulic conductance measured in control leaves. The fact that recovery remained incomplete in detached leaves is consistent with an involvement of phloem transport in embolism repair (Nardini *et al.*, 2011; Christman *et al.*, 2012).

Application of commonly used inhibitors allowed us to assess the impact of AQPs on K_{leaf} during leaf rehydration. Leaves fed with HgCl₂ and H₂O₂ did not exhibit any recovery of hydraulic conductance, indicating that AQPs were involved in the recovery of K_{leaf} after dehydration. A role of AQPs in embolism repair has also been proposed for other species and plant organs (Martre *et al.*, 2002; Secchi and Zwieniecki, 2010; Chitarra *et al.*, 2014; Mayr *et al.*, 2014; Laur and Hacke, 2014).

We also used the dye uptake experiments in an attempt to study how embolism reversal in leaf veins is impacted by mercury. Nearly all veins of wellwatered control leaves were stained and functional (Figure 3-4A). In leaves that were bench-dried and subsequently supplied with ASX + safranin for 2 h, many minor veins exhibited incomplete staining (Figure 3-4B). Staining was even less complete in leaves that were bench-dried and subsequently perfused with ASX + safranin + HgCl₂ (Figure 3-4C). These findings suggest that embolism formation in minor veins had a substantial impact on the dynamics of K_{leaf} . Studying water transport in rice leaves, Stiller *et al.* (2003) reported that the leaf xylem experienced high embolism levels, even in watered controls. Nardini *et al.* (2003) found that minor veins of *Cercis siliquastrum* leaves underwent extensive embolism at leaf water potentials <-1.5 MPa, indicating that leaf vein embolism was closely related to K_{leaf} changes. Recently, Johnson *et al.* (2012) provided evidence that reductions in K_{leaf} are directly related to vein embolism.


Figure 3-4: Typical images of transpiring *P. trichocarpa* leaves that were allowed to take up safranin solution.

(A) A control leaf was excised from a well-watered plant, and the petiole was immersed for 2 h in safranin solution. Transpiration during dye uptake was promoted by placing the leaf near a fan at ~1,000 \square mol m⁻² s⁻¹ photosynthetic active radiation. Most leaf veins were stained indicating minimal xylem embolism. (B) Dye uptake in a bench-dried leaf that was subsequently perfused with safranin solution for 2 h. Minor veins exhibited incomplete staining indicating the presence of embolized xylem conduits in minor veins. (C) Dye uptake of a bench-dried leaf subsequently perfused with safranin + HgCl₂ solution for 2 h. Mercury is an aquaporin inhibitor. Staining remained even more incomplete than in (B).

e. *AQP* expression in detached leaves

Aquaporin expression was measured in detached leaves undergoing a dehydrationrehydration cycle (Figure 3-5). Control leaves were perfused with AXS for 2 h before leaf tissue was sampled for the gene expression analysis. As previously seen in intact plants (Figure 3-2), water stress caused down-regulation of all tested *AQP*s (Figure 3-5). This agrees with several previous studies (Alexandersson *et al.*, 2005; Laur and Hacke, 2014; Secchi *et al.*, 2007).

Notably, very similar degrees of down-regulation were found in bench-dried leaves and in dried leaves that were subsequently xylem-perfused with AXS + ABA (Figure 3-6, r = 0.725, P < 0.01). Genes that were strongly down-regulated by dehydration, such as *PtTIP1;6* also exhibited strong down-regulation after perfusion with ABA solution while the expression of other genes, such as *PtPIP2;4*, changed less in response to either of these factors (Figure 3-6). Excluding *PtPIP1;1* from the analysis shown in Figure 3-6 further increased the strength of the linear relationship (r = 0.89, P < 0.001).

The lack of recovery in ABA-perfused leaves and down-regulation of AQPs in leaves supplied with AXS + ABA is consistent with the model of Shatil-Cohen *et al.* (2011). Working with *Arabidopsis*, these authors also used a 'detached leaf' approach to feed ABA to the xylem via the petiole. Feeding the leaf with ABA decreased K_{leaf} by nearly 50%. In contrast, smearing ABA on the leaf surface, while reducing transpiration, had no effect on K_{leaf} . Shatil-Cohen *et al.* (2011) proposed that the membrane water permeability of bundle sheath cells is controlled by AQPs,



Figure 3-5: Relative expression of aquaporin genes in detached leaves during a dehydration-rehydration experiment.

Data are from control leaves (C) after they were perfused with artificial xylem sap (AXS) for 2 h, leaves that were dehydrated on the bench top for 1 h (D), and leaves that were dehydrated on the bench top for 1 h and then perfused for 2 h with AXS (RW). The geometric mean of the expression levels of four reference genes (*ACT2, CYC063, TIP41-like, UBQ7*) was used to normalize the results. Asterisks denote significant differences in expression level compared to control levels (one-way ANOVA, followed by Bonferroni's post test, **P*≤0.05; ***P*≤0.01****P*≤0.001). Data are means ±SE of three biological replicates.



Figure 3-6: Relative expression of aquaporin genes in response to dehydration (yaxis) and dehydration + perfusion with abscisic acid (x-axis).

Detached leaves were either dehydrated on the bench top for 1 h or dehydrated for 1 h and subsequently perfused for 1 h with 50µ M abscisic solution (ABA). Data from fully hydrated detached leaves (perfused for 3 h with 20 mM KCl + 1 mM CaCl₂ solution) were used as the control group, and their expression refers to a value of 1. Pearson's r = 0.725; $P \le 0.01$. Data are means ±SE of three biological replicates



Figure 3-7: Immunolocalization of AQP proteins in leaves of *P. trichocarpa* saplings.

Confocal laser scanning micrographs showing the localization of PIP1, PIP2, TIP2 proteins in leaf transverse sections (A, B, C respectively). Controls with no primary antibody indicate minimal background fluorescence (D, E, F respectively). Images were taken at an identical setting and were color-coded with an intensity look-up-table (LUT; displayed in A), in which black was used to encode background, and blue, green, yellow, red and white to encode increasing signal intensities. Ph, phloem; PP, palisade parenchyma; Xyl, xylem. Scale bars = $20 \,\mu$ m.

and that the bundle sheath would act like a control center regulating K_{leaf} in response to signals from the xylem. As the concentration of ABA increases in the xylem, AQP activity in the bundle sheath would be down-regulated, reducing water flow into the leaf mesophyll. Bundle sheath cells, and perhaps xylem parenchyma cells, seem to have a specific responsiveness to ABA, which likely explains the negative effects of this hormone on K_{leaf} (for a recent review see Prado and Maurel, 2013). While our data is consistent with these observations, it is not clear yet which cells may perform the role of a 'control center' in *P. trichocarpa* leaves. While we previously observed prominent PIP1 and PIP2 labeling of the endodermis-like bundle sheath in *Picea glauca* needles (Laur and Hacke, 2014), no such pattern was found in this present study. In rehydrated leaves, four genes showed increased expression levels relative to control leaves. Three of these AQPs (*PtTIP1;3*, *PtTIP2;2*, and *PtTIP4*;1) were TIPs and were also found to be up-regulated when intact plants were rewatered after a drought (compare Figures 3-2 and 3-5). While TIPs have rarely been studied in the context of water flow through tissues and embolism repair, a recent study on grapevine plants found a striking positive correlation between K_{leaf} and the transcript abundance of VvTIP2;1 (Pou et al., 2012). Our immunolocalization experiments indicate that TIP2 protein was present in xylem parenchyma cells (Figure 3-7). This agrees with the expression pattern of *ZmTIP1* in leaves and stems of maize. *In situ* localization revealed that this tonoplast AQP was highly expressed in parenchyma cells surrounding xylem vessels, in phloem companion cells, and between the phloem and the xylem strands (Barrieu et al., 1998). Barrieu *et al.* (1998) hypothesized that the high expression of the ZmTIP1

tonoplast AQP in xylem parenchyma cells would allow these cells to control water movement in and out of the xylem vessels. Daniels *et al.* (1996) found that AtTIP2 expression in mature leaves was generally restricted to vascular tissues. In stem xylem of hybrid poplar, a TIP2 AQP was highly expressed in contact cells, suggesting a role in increasing water exchange between vessels and xylem rays (Almeida-Rodriguez and Hacke, 2012).

In this present study, we also determined the cell- and tissue-level localization of PIP1 and PIP2 proteins (Figure 3-7). All sections were taken from leaves of well-watered plants. Strong PIP1 signals were present in the palisade parenchyma (Figure 3-7A). PIP1 antibody was also detected in vein cells, including phloem and xylem parenchyma. This labeling pattern is consistent with a dual role of PIP1s in influencing permeability to water and CO₂ (Secchi and Zwieniecki, 2013). PIP2 was mostly localized in the phloem, which agrees with previous studies (Kirch *et al.*, 2000; Yamada and Bohnert, 2000; Vandeleur *et al.*, 2009; Almeida-Rodriguez and Hacke, 2012; Laur and Hacke, 2014). Weaker PIP2 labelling was evident in palisade parenchyma cells (Figure 3-7B).

4. <u>Conclusion</u>

We studied how AQPs may be involved in the recovery of water stress-induced declines in K_{leaf} . We examined how K_{leaf} responds to known AQP inhibitors and xylem-fed ABA. We also examined the expression of 12 highly expressed AQP genes

during dehydration-rehydration experiments. Hydraulic measurements and gene expression assays were complemented by dye uptake and immunolocalization experiments. This has revealed that, while *P. trichocarpa* leaves are highly sensitive to dehydration, leaf hydraulic conductance can quickly recover when water becomes available again. Recovery of K_{leaf} was absent when excised leaves were xylem-perfused with AQP inhibitors, suggesting that the recovery of leaf hydraulic function is associated with AQP activity. Among the AQPs tested, several *TIPs* showed large increases in expression in rehydrated leaves, suggesting that TIPs play an important role in reversing drought-induced reductions in K_{leaf} .

5. <u>References</u>

- Alexandersson E, Fraysse L, Sjövall-Larsen S, Gustavsson S, Fellert M, Karlsson M, Johanson U, Kjellbom P. 2005. Whole Gene Family Expression and Drought Stress Regulation of Aquaporins. *Plant Molecular Biology* 59(3), 469–484.
- Almeida-Rodriguez AM, Cooke JEK, Yeh F, Zwiazek JJ. 2010. "Functional Characterization of Drought-Responsive Aquaporins in Populus Balsamifera and Populus Simonii×balsamifera Clones with Different Drought Resistance Strategies." *Physiologia Plantarum* **140**(4), 321–33.
- **Almeida-Rodriguez AM, Hacke UG**. 2012. "Cellular Localization of Aquaporin mRNA in Hybrid Poplar Stems." *American Journal of Botany* **99** (7), 1249–54.
- **Almeida-Rodriguez AM, Hacke UG, Laur J**. 2011. "Influence of Evaporative Demand on Aquaporin Expression and Root Hydraulics of Hybrid Poplar." *Plant, Cell &*

Environment **34**(8), 1318–31.

- Arvidsson S, Kwasniewski M, Riaño-Pachón DM, Mueller-Roeber B. 2008. "QuantPrime--a Flexible Tool for Reliable High-Throughput Primer Design for Quantitative PCR." *BMC Bioinformatics* 9, 465.
- Barrieu F, Chaumont F, Chrispeels MJ. 1998. "High Expression of the Tonoplast Aquaporin ZmTIP1 in Epidermal and Conducting Tissues of Maize1." *Plant Physiology* **117**(4), 1153–1163.
- **Brodribb TJ, Holbrook NM, Edwards EJ, Gutiérrez MV**. 2003. Relations between stomatal closure, leaf turgor and xylem vulnerability in eight tropical dry forest trees. *Plant, Cell and Environment* **26**, 443–450.
- **Brodribb TJ, Holbrook NM**. 2005. Water stress deforms tracheids peripheral to the leaf vein of a tropical conifer **137**, 1139–1146.
- **Brodribb TJ, Holbrook NM.** 2004. Stomatal protection against hydraulic failure: a comparison of coexisting ferns and angiosperms. *New Phytologist* **162**(3), 663–670.
- **Chaumont F, Tyerman SD.** 2014. Aquaporins: highly regulated channels controlling plant water relations. *Plant Physiology* **164**, 1600–1618.
- **Chitarra W, Balestrini R, Vitali M, Pagliarani C, Perrone I, Schubert A, Lovisolo C**. 2014. Gene expression in vessel-associated cells upon xylem embolism repair in *Vitis vinifera* L. petioles. *Planta* **239**, 887–899.
- Christman MA, Sperry JS, Smith DD. 2012. Rare pits, large vessels and extreme vulnerability to cavitation in a ring-porous tree species. *New Phytologist* 193: 713–720.

Cohen D, Bogeat-Triboulot MB, Vialet-Chabrand S, Merret R, Courty PE, Moretti S,

Bizet F, Guilliot A, Hummel I. 2013. Developmental and environmental regulation of aquaporin gene expression across *Populus* species: divergence or redundancy? *PloS One* **8**(2), e55506.

- **Daniels MJ, Mirkov TE, Chrispeels MJ.** 1994. The plasma membrane of *Arabidopsis thaliana* contains a mercury-insensitive aquaporin that is a homolog of the tonoplast water channel protein TIP. *Plant Physiology* **106**(4), 1325–33.
- **Daniels MJ, Chaumont F, Mirkov TE, Chrispeels MJ**. 1996. Characterization of a new vacuolar membrane aquaporin sensitive to mercury at a unique site. *The Plant Cell* **8**, 587–599.
- Fouquet R, Léon C, Ollat N, Barrieu F. 2008. Identification of grapevine aquaporins and expression analysis in developing berries. *Plant Cell Reports* 27(9), 1541– 50.
- Galmés J, Pou A, Alsina MM, Tomàs M, Medrano H, Flexas J. 2007. Aquaporin expression in response to different water stress intensities and recovery in Richter-110 (*Vitis* sp.): relationship with ecophysiological status. *Planta* 226 (3), 671–81.
- Gong HQ, Peng YB, Zou C, WangDH. 2006. A simple treatment to significantly increase signal specificity in immunohistochemistry. *Plant Molecular Biology Reporter* 24, 93–101.
- **Gupta AB, Sankararamakrishnan R**. 2009. Genome-wide analysis of Major Intrinsic Proteins in the tree plant *Populus trichocarpa*: characterization of XIP subfamily of aquaporins from evolutionary perspective. *BMC Plant Biology* **9**, 134.
- Hacke UG, Sperry JS, Ewers BE, Ellsworth DS, Schäfer KVR, Oren R. 2000. Influence of soil porosity on water use in *Pinus taeda*. *Oecologia* **124**(4), 495–505.

Heinen RB, Ye Q, Chaumont F. 2009. Role of aquaporins in leaf physiology. Journal of

Experimental Botany **60**(11), 2971–85.

- Jang HY, Yang SW, Carlson JE, Ku YG, and Ahn SJ. 2013. Two aquaporins of *Jatropha* are regulated differentially during drought stress and subsequent recovery. *Journal of Plant Physiology* **170**(11), 1028–1038.
- Johnson DM, McCulloh KA, Meinzer FC, Woodruff DR, Eissenstat DM. 2011. Hydraulic patterns and safety margins, from stem to stomata, in three eastern U.S. tree species. *Tree Physiology* **31**(6), 659–68.
- Johnson DM, Mcculloh KA, Woodruff DR, Meinzer FC. 2012. Evidence for xylem embolism as a primary factor in dehydration-induced declines in leaf hydraulic Conductance. *Plant, Cell and Environment* **35**, 760–769.
- **Kammerloher W, Fischer U, Piechottka GP, Schäffner AR**. 1994. Water channels in the plant plasma membrane cloned by immunoselection from a mammalian expression system. *Plant Journal* **6**, 187–199.
- Kirch HH, Vera-estrella R, Golldack D, Quigley F, Michalowski CB, Barkla BJ, Bohnert HJ. 2000. Expression of water channel proteins in Mesembryanthemum crystallinum. Plant Physiology 123, 111–124.
- **Larson PR, Isebrands JG**. 1971. The plastochron index as applied to developmental studies of cottonwood. *Canadian Journal of Forest Research* **1**(1), 1–11.
- **Laur J, Hacke UG.** 2013. Transpirational demand affects aquaporin expression in poplar roots. *Journal of Experimental Botany* **64**(8), 2283–2293.
- **Laur J, Hacke UG**. 2014. Exploring *Picea glauca* aquaporins in the context of needle water uptake and xylem refilling. *The New Phytologist* in press.
- **Livak KJ, Schmittgen TD**. 2001. Analysis of relative gene expression data using realtime quantitative PCR and the $2^{-\Delta\Delta CT}$ method. *Methods* **25**(4), 402–408.

- Martre P, Morillon M, Barrieu F, North GB, Nobel PS, Chrispeels MJ. 2002. Plasma membrane aquaporins play a significant role during recovery from water deficit. *Plant Physiology* **130**(4), 2101–2110.
- Mayr S, Schmid P, Laur J, Rosner S, Charra-Vaskou K, Dämon B, Hacke UG. 2014. Uptake of water via branches helps timberline conifers refill embolized xylem in late winter. *Plant Physiology* 164(4), 1731–40.
- Nardini A, Lo Gullo MA, Salleo S. 2011. Refilling embolized xylem conduits: is it a matter of phloem unloading? *Plant Science* **180**(4), 604–611.
- Nardini A, Luglio J. 2014. Leaf hydraulic capacity and drought vulnerability: possible trade-offs and correlations with climate across three major biomes." *Functional Ecology* in press
- Nardini A, Salleo S, Raimondo F. 2003. Changes in leaf hydraulic conductance correlate with leaf vein embolism in *Cercis siliquastrum* L. *Trees - Structure and Function* 17(6), 529–534.
- **North GB, Martre P, Nobel**. PS 2004. Aquaporins account for variations in hydraulic conductance for metabolically active root regions of *Agave deserti* in wet, dry, and rewetted soil. *Plant, Cell and Environment* **27**(2), 219–228.
- Pavy N, Boyle B, Nelson C, Paule C, Giguère I, Caron S, Parsons LS, Dallaire N, Bedon F, Berube H, Cooke J, Mackay J. 2008. Identification of conserved core xylem gene sets: conifer cDNA microarray development, transcript profiling and computational analyses. *The New Phytologist* 180(4), 766–86.
- Pezeshki SR, Hinckley TM. 1982. The stomatal response of red alder and black cottonwood to changing water status. *Canadian Journal of Forest Research* 12(4), 761–771.
- Postaire O, Tournaire-Roux C, Grondin A, Boursiac Y, Morillon R, Schäffner AR,

Maurel C. 2010. A PIP1 aquaporin contributes to hydrostatic pressure-induced water transport in both the root and rosette of *Arabidopsis*. *Plant Physiology* **152**(3), 1418–30.

- **Pou A, Medrano H, Flexas J, Tyerman SD**. 2012. A putative role for TIP and PIP aquaporins in dynamics of leaf hydraulic and stomatal conductances in grapevine under water stress and re-watering. *Plant Cell Environment*.
- Prado K, Boursiac Y, Tournaire-Roux C, Monneuse J-M, Postaire O, Da Ines O, Schäffner AR, Hem S, Santoni V, Maurel C. 2013. Regulation of Arabidopsis leaf hydraulics involves light-dependent phosphorylation of aquaporins in veins. The Plant Cell 25(3), 1029–39.
- **Prado K, Maurel C**. 2013. Regulation of leaf hydraulics: from molecular to whole plant levels. *Frontiers in Plant Science* **4**, 255.
- **Quigley F, Rosenberg JM, Shachar-Hill Y, Bohnert HJ.** 2002. From genome to function: the Arabidopsis aquaporins. *Genome Biology* **3**(1), research0001.1–research0001.17.
- **Rutledge RG, Stewart D.** 2010. Assessing the performance capabilities of LRE-based assays for absolute quantitative real-time PCR. *PloS One* **5**(3), e9731.
- Sack L, Scoffoni C. 2012. Measurement of leaf hydraulic conductance and stomatal conductance and their responses to irradiance and dehydration using the Evaporative Flux Method (EFM). J Vis Exp. 70, 1–7.
- Sakurai J, Ahamed A, Murai M, Maeshima M, Uemura M. 2008. Tissue and cellspecific localization of rice aquaporins and their water transport activities. *Plant Cell Physiol.* **49** (1), 30–9.
- Sakurai J, Ishikawa F, Yamaguchi T, Uemura M, Maeshima M. 2005. Identification of 33 rice aquaporin genes and analysis of their expression and function. *Plant*

Cell Physiol. **46**(9), 1568–77.

- **Scoffoni C, McKown AD, Rawls M, Sack L**. 2012. Dynamics of leaf hydraulic conductance with water status: quantification and analysis of species differences under steady state. *J Exp Bot.* **63**, 643–58.
- Secchi F, Lovisolo C, Schubert A. 2007. Expression of OePIP2.1 aquaporin gene and water relations of *Olea europaea* twigs during drought stress and recovery. *Ann Appl Biol.* **150**(2), 163–7.
- Secchi F, Zwieniecki M A. 2010. Patterns of PIP gene expression in *Populus trichocarpa* during recovery from xylem embolism suggest a major role for the PIP1 aquaporin subfamily as moderators of refilling process. *Plant Cell Environ*. 33 (8), 1285–97.
- **Secchi F, Zwieniecki M A**. 2013. The physiological response of *Populus tremula* x *alba* leaves to the down-regulation of PIP1 aquaporin gene expression under no water stress. *Front Plant Sci.* **4**, 507.
- **Shatil-Cohen A, Attia Z, Moshelion M**. 2011. Bundle-sheath cell regulation of xylemmesophyll water transport via aquaporins under drought stress: a target of xylem-borne ABA? *Plant J*. **67**(1), 72–80.
- Sparks JP, Black RA. 1999. Regulation of water loss in populations of *Populus trichocarpa*: The role of stomatal control in preventing xylem cavitation. *Tree Physiol.* 19, 453–9.
- **Sperry JS, Hacke UG, Oren R, Comstock JP**. 2002. Water deficits and hydraulic limits to leaf water supply. *Plant, Cell Environ*. **25**(2), 251–63.
- Stiller V, Sperry JS, Lafitte R. 2005. Embolized conduits of rice (*Oryza sativa*, Poaceae) refill despite negative xylem pressure. *Am J Bot.* 92(12), 1970–4.

- **Stiller V, Lafitte HR, Sperry JS**. 2003. Hydraulic properties of rice and the response of gas exchange to water stress. *Plant Physiol*. **132**, 1698–706.
- **Trifilò P, Gascó A, Raimondo F, Nardini A, Salleo S**. 2003. Kinetics of recovery of leaf hydraulic conductance and vein functionality from cavitation-induced embolism in sunflower. *J Exp Bot*. **54**(391), 2323–30.
- **Tyree MT, Sperry JS**. 1988. Do woody plants operate near the point of catastrophic xylem dysfunction caused by dynamic water stress? answers from a model. *Plant Physiol.* **88**, 574–80.
- Vandeleur RK, Mayo G, Shelden MC, Gilliham M, Kaiser BN, Tyerman SD. 2009. The role of plasma membrane intrinsic protein aquaporins in water transport through roots: diurnal and drought stress responses reveal different strategies between isohydric and anisohydric cultivars of grapevine. *Plant Physiol*. 149(1), 445–60
- Wilkins O, Nahal H, Foong J, Provart NJ, Campbell MM. 2009. Expansion and diversification of the *Populus* R2R3-MYB family of transcription factors. *Plant Physiol.* 149(2), 981–93.
- **Yamada S, Bohnert HJ**. 2000. Expression of the PIP aquaporin promoter-MipA from the common ice plant in tobacco. *Plant & Cell Physiology* **41**(6), 719–25.

IV. Exploring *Picea glauca* aquaporins in the context of

needle water uptake and xylem refilling.

I. <u>Introduction</u>

Water in xylem is usually thought to move unidirectionally from the soil to the leaves. However, a growing body of evidence indicates that many plants take up water from leaf and/or bark surfaces, and that this can result in reverse water flow in stem xylem (Burgess and Dawson, 2004).

The uptake of intercepted water on leaf surfaces into leaves (foliar uptake) has been demonstrated in plants from a range of dew and cloud-affected plant communities, including the redwood forest (Burgess and Dawson, 2004; Limm *et al.*, 2009), a mountain pine forest in Tenerife, Spain (Nadezhdina *et al.*, 2010), and tropical cloud forests (Eller *et al.*, 2013; Goldsmith *et al.*, 2013). Dewfall absorption by aerial plant parts has also been reported for the desiccation-tolerant plant *Vellozia flavicans* in the savannas of Brazil (Oliveira *et al.*, 2005).

Many reports of foliar uptake come from studies on conifers. Sparks *et al.* (2001) observed increases in stem water content of *Pinus contorta* during the winter, and offered direct water uptake by stems or foliage as a likely explanation. Water may have originated from melting snow (Sparks *et al.*, 2001). Foliar absorption of intercepted rainfall was observed in *Juniperus monosperma*, a widely distributed dryland species (Breshears *et al.*, 2008). The conclusion that foliar uptake occurred in this species was based on changes in leaf water potential in response to foliar wetting and the use of isotopically labeled water. Moreover, the response to foliar uptake increased with increasing amounts of plant water stress.

Breshears *et al.* (2008) suggested that foliar absorption in *Juniperus monosperma* could play an important role in mitigating water stress and in aiding survival during drought.

Another role for water absorption through the leaves may be to facilitate embolism repair in the xylem of conifers (McCulloh *et al.*, 2011; Mayr *et al.*, 2014) and other plants (Oliveira *et al.*, 2005). If water could be absorbed by leaves, the xylem pressure at the top of tall trees could rise above the pressure predicted on the basis of the height of a tree (McCulloh *et al.*, 2011). Apart from mitigating water stress and potentially facilitating embolism reversal, the reduction in leaf water deficit can also result in improved photosynthesis, stomatal conductance, and growth (Boucher *et al.*, 1995; Simonin *et al.*, 2009; Eller *et al.*, 2013). On the basis of all these findings, it appears that foliar uptake is a relatively widespread and potentially important phenomenon, and that it must be considered in ecophysiological and hydrological models (Breshears *et al.*, 2008; Goldsmith, 2013).

Foliar water uptake may occur when water has coalesced on the leaf surface and the leaf is experiencing a water deficit, that is, when leaves have a more negative water potential than the surrounding atmospheric boundary layer (Goldsmith, 2013). Although more work is required to better understand the anatomical pathways for water entry into the leaf, the available evidence suggests that water is taken up via the cuticle and other leaf structures (Burkhardt *et al.*, 2012; Eller *et al.*, 2013; North *et al.*, 2013). In leafy twigs of *Picea abies*, water was taken up through the bark (Katz

et al., 1989). Fluorescent dye movement suggested that water migrated along the rays and parenchyma cells of the bark and the wood.

In the leaf, water can move through the apoplast or from cell to cell. Where lignified or suberized cell walls are present in the bundle sheath, water has to cross cell membranes. Water movement through cell membranes is facilitated and regulated by aquaporins (AQPs). These channel proteins transport water and other molecules and are found in almost all living organisms. According to Heinen *et al.* (2009), there are three ways by which water exchange across cell membranes is regulated by AQPs: (1) their expression level; (2) their trafficking; and (3) their gating, that is, the opening or closing of channels. Expression is one of the most important methods of AQP regulation, and the study of their expression level and localization is highly relevant to a better understanding of their physiological role (Heinen *et al.*, 2009).

Plant AQPs form a large family of water channel proteins, with 28 members in *Vitis vinifera* (Fouquet *et al.*, 2008), >30 members in *Arabidopsis* and *Oryza sativa*, and >50 members in *Populus trichocarpa* (Maurel *et al.*, 2008; Gupta and Sankararamakrishnan, 2009). Plasma membrane intrinsic proteins (PIPs; with two phylogenic subgroups, PIP1 and PIP2) and tonoplast intrinsic proteins (TIPs) are the most abundant AQPs in the plasma membrane and vacuolar membrane, respectively (Maurel *et al.*, 2008; Gomes *et al.*, 2009). PIPs are thought to represent a major path for cell-to-cell water transport. Their contribution in the cell-to-cell component of root water uptake has been described extensively (Vandeleur *et al.*, 2009; Sakurai-Ishikawa *et al.*, 2011; Laur and Hacke, 2013). Other AQP

112

subfamilies include nodulin-26-like intrinsic membrane proteins (NIPs) and small basic intrinsic proteins (SIPs) (Maurel *et al.*, 2008; Gomes *et al.*, 2009).

The role of AQPs in foliar water uptake has been studied in an epiphytic bromeliad (Ohrui *et al.*, 2007), but little is known about the role of leaf AQPs in the context of foliar uptake in other plant groups. Mayr *et al.* (2014) reported that conifers at the timberline repaired winter embolism in early spring, at a time when the soil was still frozen. Experimental evidence indicated that water (from melting snow) was taken up through needles and/or bark of stems, and that PIPs were present in the needle endodermis during the refilling period in later winter/early spring.

Here, we studied needle water uptake and the role of AQPs in this process under controlled conditions in clonal *Picea glauca* plants. Plants experienced a moderate drought, and were subsequently exposed to high atmospheric humidity without watering the soil. Physiological, anatomical, and molecular parameters were monitored during the experiment. We were particularly interested in linking foliar water uptake with embolism repair. The following hypotheses were tested: (1) needles are able to take up water; (2) AQPs in needles are involved in this process; and (3) foliar uptake can play a role in embolism repair.

An important objective related to our second hypothesis was to obtain a better understanding of the tissue-level localization of leaf AQPs, both during drought treatment and after plants had been transferred to a high-humidity environment. The endodermis-like bundle sheath of Pinaceae is positioned

113

between vascular and photosynthetic tissue, and often contains Casparian strips (Liesche *et al.*, 2011). Analogous to the situation in many roots, the endodermis in conifer needles may therefore play an important role in modifying radial water flow. Consistent with this idea and based on the findings of Mayr *et al.* (2014), we expected to find a high amount of AQP protein in the endodermis, particularly after plants experienced conditions conducive to foliar water uptake.

Although much has been learned about AQP expression and function in a variety of model plants, very little is known about AQPs in conifers, including spruce. To our knowledge, the AQP family in spruce has not been characterized, although the expression pattern of a few aquaporin homologues has been investigated in the seedlings, mature roots and needles of *Picea abies* (Oliviusson *et al.*, 2001; Hakman and Oliviusson, 2002). Therefore, a first step in this study was to comprehensively analyze expressed members of the spruce AQP family in order to identify candidate genes involved in foliar uptake of water.

II. <u>Materials and Methods</u>

a. Plant material and growing conditions

Three-year-old white spruce plants (*Picea glauca* (Moench) Voss, clone EPB-3858) were obtained from the Saint-Modeste Nursery, (Quebec, Canada). Plants were established for 2 months in 3.8-l containers with Sunshine Mix #4 (Sun Gro Horticulture Canada Ltd., Seba Beach, Ab, Canada) under the following conditions:

16h:8 h day:night cycle, 24°C :20°C day:night temperature, c. 50% daytime relative humidity (RH) and photosynthetically active radiation of 350 µmol m⁻² s⁻¹ at plant level. Plants were watered twice a week and fertilized on a weekly basis with 200 ml of 20:20:20 N:P:K fertilizer applied at 0.5 g l⁻¹. One group of plants was well watered (control group); another group of plants was subjected to a drought stress treatment, where water was withheld until the stem water potential (Ψ_{Stem}) was near -3 MPa. This target water potential was associated with c. 20% loss of hydraulic conductivity according to the vulnerability curve (for details, see later). To study the ability of shoots to absorb water and to repair xylem embolism after drought treatment, a subset of drought-stressed plants was placed in a humidified box (c. 100% RH; high-humidity plants). Pots were completely sealed with plastic bags, using tape and parafilm, to prevent water from reaching the soil. The volumetric soil water content was measured using an EC-5 sensor (Decagon Devices, Pullman, WA, USA). The measurements described below were carried out 2 h, 26 h, and 50 h after plants had been placed in the high-humidity box (exposure to high humidity started at 09:00 h). Another subset of drought-stressed plants was rewatered; these plants were not transferred to the high-humidity environment.

b. Relative water content (RWC)

To evaluate the effects of foliar water absorption on the water relations of needles and twigs, we determined the RWC of needles (five needles per plant) and twigs (one twig per plant) from 6 individual plants. The RWC was calculated as (fresh weight – dry weight)/(turgid weight – dry weight). To determine turgid weight, needles and twigs were floated on distilled water for 48 h. Dry weight was determined after drying samples at 70°C for 48 h. RWC measurements were made before (control) and after (dehydrated) overnight drying on the bench top. Bench-dried samples were then transferred to a high-humidity environment (*c.* 100% RH¹) for 16 h (high RH). To prevent water uptake through the part of the needle base, this surface was covered with mineral oil. To assess the role of needles in shoot water uptake, we also measured the RWC of the leaf-less basal part of twigs in control, dehydrated, High-RH conditions. The cut ends of these 3-5-cm-long basal twig segments were covered with parafilm before exposure to high RH.

c. Needle anatomy

An effort was made to study the anatomy and chemical composition of needle tissue as well as possible hydrophilic pathways in needles. Alcian blue (0.5% w/v) was used to stain mucilage, which generally has a high water-binding capacity because of the high concentration of hydroxyl groups (Clifford *et al.*, 2002). Hand-cut needle cross-sections were observed using a light microscope (DM3000, Leica, Wetzlar, Germany) and a digital camera (DFC420C, Leica). Fresh tissue was fixed in FAA (10% formaldehyde, 5% acetic acid, 50% ethanol) under vacuum for 1 h, stored in FAA for 16 h at 4°C and embedded in paraffin as described previously (Almeida-Rodriguez *et al.*, 2011). The periodic acid-Schiff reaction was also used to identify hydrophilic polysaccharide compounds, such as mucilage, glycolipids, and

¹ 100% humidity was achieved by placing humidifiers in a hermetic cabinet. RH was periodically monitored.

glycoproteins (Eller *et al.*, 2013). For detection of lignin, needle cross-sections were stained with 1% (w/v) phloroglucinol in 35% (v/v) HCl. Photographs were taken within 30 min of phloroglucinol-HCl staining.

d. Water potential and stomatal conductance

Water potential was measured after shoots had been sealed in aluminum foil and plastic bags the day before harvesting to ensure water potential equilibration (Begg and Turner, 1970). Stem water potential (Ψ_{Stem}) was measured using a pressure chamber (Model 1000; PMS Instruments, Albany, OR, USA). Stomatal conductance was measured with a steady state porometer (LI-1600, Li-Cor, Lincoln, NE, USA) on at least five plants per group, and normalized by needle surface area (Sigma Scan 5.0, Jandel Scientific, San Rafael, CA, USA).

e. Hydraulic measurements

The percentage loss of hydraulic conductivity (PLC) was measured using a conductivity apparatus (Sperry *et al.*, 1988) as described previously (Plavcova and Hacke, 2012). Segments corresponding to the previous year of growth (2012) were used for hydraulic measurements. Segments were gradually trimmed under water to a final length of 14.2 cm. A vulnerability curve was generated using the centrifuge method, as described previously (Schoonmaker *et al.*, 2010). Curves were fitted with a Weibull function

f. Analysis of spruce aquaporin sequences

Sequence information from the *Picea glauca* EST database of the NCBI (http://www.ncbi.nlm.nih.gov/) was used for BLASTn, and tBLASTn homology searches (Altschul *et al.*, 1997). The sequences of *Arabidopsis thaliana* (Johanson *et al.*, 2001), *Zea mays* (Chaumont *et al.*, 2001) and *Physcomitrella patens* (Danielson and Johanson, 2008) were used as queries. Bioinformatics analyses were conducted using the Mobyle web platform (Néron *et al.*, 2009). EST sequence assembly was performed with CAP3 (Huang and Madan, 1999). Concordance of this de novo assembly with previously published *P. glauca* gene catalog (Rigault *et al.*, 2011) was assessed manually.

The recent publication of the Picea sp. draft genome (Birol et al., 2013; Nystedt *et al.*, 2013) allowed us to assess intron positions; when discovered in the *P*. *abies* 1.0 database, complete coding sequences were included for further analysis (See supplementary Table 4-S2, Fig. 4-S2 & 4-S3). All accession numbers are given in Table 2. Alignment of deduced amino acid sequences (sixpack EMBOSS module; Rice et al.) was generated and edited with Clustal Omega 1.1.0 (Sievers et al., 2011). The quality of the alignment was assessed by its norMD score (Thompson *et al.*, 2001) (see Supplementary Fig. 4-S1). Phylogenetic analyses were performed using a bootstrapping procedure. The resulting trees including 30 complete aquaporin sequences displayed the Figtree using program were (http://tree.bio.ed.ac.uk/software/figtree) (see Fig. 4-3; Supplementary Fig. 4-S2 and 4-S3). Trans-membrane regions were detected using TopPred II 0.01 (Claros and von Heijne, 1994). Aromatic/arginine (ar/R) selectivity filters were identified by manual inspection. Subcellular localizations were predicted using Plant-mPLoc (Chou and Shen, 2010) and WoLF PSORT (Horton *et al.*, 2007). The expression profile of each AQP gene was estimated by tallying the tissue distribution of clustering ESTs in non-normalized libraries (Alba *et al.*, 2004) and using IDEG6 (Romualdi *et al.*, 2003).

g. Gene transcript measurements by quantitative real time PCR

Needles were collected, immediately frozen in liquid nitrogen and stored at -80°C until analyzed. Samples were always collected at the same time of day to minimize any diurnal effect on AQP expression. Total RNA was extracted from needles of 3-4 plants per treatment following the CTAB method of Chang *et al.* (1993) modified by Pavy *et al.* (2008). RNA quality was assessed on an agarose gel and quantified with a spectrophotometer (Nanodrop ND-1000, Thermo Scientific, Wilmington, DE, USA). One microgram of total RNA was treated with Deoxyribonuclease I (Invitrogen, Carlsbad, CA, USA) and used as template for first-strand cDNA synthesis with SuperScript II (Invitrogen) following the manufacturer's instructions. cDNA quality was checked by PCR with intron-spanning actin primers. Putative needle-expressed PIP genes were selected (Table 4-2). Specific primers (Supplementary Table 4-S1a) were designed according to Rutledge and Stewart (2010) using the QuantPrime online tool (Arvidsson *et al.*, 2008). PCR efficiency (E) was determined from a five-

point cDNA serial dilution, according to: E=10[-1/slope]. All selected primer pairs showed correlation coefficients of $R^2 > 0.98$ and primer efficiency values ranging between 1.97 and 2.07. Real-time qPCR was performed on a 7900 HT Fast Real-Time PCR system (Applied Biosystems, Foster City, CA, USA) as described previously (Laur and Hacke, 2013).

h. Gene transcript localization by *in situ* hybridization (ISH)

ISH was performed as described previously (Karlgren et al., 2009), with the following adjustments: Protease K digestion was shortened to 10 min at room temperature (1ng/ml), and a carbethoxylation reaction (0.1% DEPC in PBS, 15 min) was included during pre-hybridization (Braissant and Wahli, 1998). Primers were designed (see Supplementary Table 4-S1b) using the QuantPrime online tool. PCR amplicons were ligated (pCRII vector TOPO cloning kit; Invitrogen, Carlsbad, CA, USA) and sequenced to determine orientation. Riboprobes were generated by in vitro transcription and labeled with digoxigenin using Sp6 and T7 RNA polymerase with the DIG RNA labeling kit (Roche Applied Science, Indianapolis, IN, USA) after 5'overhang linearization of the plasmid with, respectively, EcoR V and BamH I restriction enzymes (Invitrogen). To ensure high specificity and to avoid crosshybridization between gene family members, the hydrolysis step was not performed as probes were approximately 300bp long. Slides were mounted with a synthetic resin (Permount, Fisher Scientific, Ottawa, Canada). Images were taken using a light microscope as described above.

i. Immunolocalization

Samples were fixed in FAA medium (10% formaldehyde, 5% acetic acid, 50% ethanol) under vacuum for 1 h and stored in FAA for 16 h at 4°C. Next, samples were embedded, sectioned, dewaxed, and rehydrated as described before (Almeida-Rodriguez et al., 2011). Before the first immunoreaction, cross sections were incubated for 45 min with blocking solution (BS; 1.5% glycine, 5% (w/v) bovine serum albumin, 0.1% Tween-20 in PBS) following the protocol of Gong *et al.* (2006). Primary antibodies against the 42 N-terminal amino acids of AtPIP1;3 (Kammerloher et al., 1994) and the conserved 10 amino acids of the C-terminal of PIP2 aquaporins (similar to Daniels et al., 1994) were included (see alignment in Supplementary Figure S4). Secondary antibodies were pre-absorbed with plant tissue extract. DyLight 549-conjugated rabbit anti-chicken secondary antibody (Fisher Scientific, Hampton, NH, USA) and HiLyte Fluor 555-conjugated rabbit antimouse secondary antibody (AnaSpec Inc., Fremont, CA, USA) were respectively applied for 2 h at 37°C. Slides were mounted with Permount. Images were taken with a Zeiss LSM 700 confocal microscope (Carl Zeiss, Oberkochen, Germany).

j. Statistical analysis

All statistical analyses were carried out using SigmaPlot 11.0 (Systat, Point Richmond, CA, USA). Differences due to the effect of treatments and growing conditions were analyzed using a one-way ANOVA followed by a Tukey's test. For all

	cDNA clone	Amino	Number of	TMHs	†Tissue	Subcellar	NPA	Ar/R
	accession	acids	clones		specificity	location	motifs	filters
PgPIP1;1	GQ03401_M18	292	52	6	R N S C	РМ	NPA/NPA	FHTR
PgPIP1;2	GQ03610_A06	288	79	6	R N S C	РМ	NPA/NPA	FHTR
PgPIP1;3	GQ02828_J14	285	31	6	S N	РМ	NPA/NPA	FHTR
PgPIP2;1	GQ03111_E12	282	26	6	R N S C	РМ	NPA/NPA	FHTR
PgPIP2;2	GQ02901_B20	282	71	6	R N S C	РМ	NPA/NPA	FHTR
PgPIP2;3	GQ03703_H07	282	3	6	R S	РМ	NPA/NPA	FHTR
PgPIP2;4	GQ0132_J09	282	5	6	R	РМ	NPA/NPA	FHTR
PgPIP2;5	GQ03124_N20	269	5	6	С	РМ	NPA/NPA	FHTR
PgPIP2;6	GQ03705_D15	284	49	6	R N S	РМ	NPA/NPA	FHTR
PgPIP2;7	GQ02905_E13	282	77	6	R S C	РМ	NPA/NPA	FHTR
PgPIP2;8	GQ02902_L14	280	16	6	R N S	РМ	NPA/NPA	FHTR
PgPIP2;9	GQ03002_G07	280	6	6	S	РМ	NPA/NPA	FHTR
PgPIP2;10	GQ03011_G23	275	15	6	R S	T-PM	NPA/NPA	FYTR
PgPIP2;11	GQ03010_E09	275	10	6	S	T-PM	NPA/NPA	FYTR
PgPIP2;12	GQ03001_P18	283	57	6	R S	T-PM	NPA/NPA	FHTR
PgPIP2;13	GQ03216_M18	272	22	6	S	РМ	NPA/NPA	FHTR
PgTIP1;1	GQ0197_E19	253	5	6	R	Т	NPA/NPA	HIAR
PgTIP1;2	GQ03116_D08	253	12	6	R	C-T	NPA/NPA	HIAR
PgTIP1;3	GQ02908_P24	253	11	6	S	C-T	NPA/NPA	HIAR
PgTIP1;4	GQ03501_N03	255	18	6	R N S	C-T	NPA/NPA	HIAR
PgTIP1;5	GQ0206_N10	253	56	6	R S	Т	NPA/NPA	HIAR
PgTIP2;1	GQ03915_M04	250	199	6	R N S C	PM-T	NPA/NPA	HIGR
PgTIP2;2	WS0323_F18	211	3	5	S	Т	NPA/NPA	HIGR
PgTIP4;1	GQ0201_M19	248	9	6-7	R S	Т	NPA/NPA	HIAR
PgTIP4;2	GQ04012_G01	250	1	6-7	S	Т	NPA/NPA	HIAR
	WS02617_N14	115	1	3		Т	NPA/NPA	A R
PgNIP1;1	GQ03122_A02	280	12	6	S	PM	NPA/NPA	WV AR
	GQ03202_N13	195	2	4	S	PM	NPA/NPA	- V A R
PgNIP2;1	GQ03207_J07	296	6	6	N S	PM	NPA/NPA	AIGR
	GQ03237_P23	42	1	0	S	na	/	
PgNIP3;1	GQ03810_B10	294	13	6	S	T-PM	NPA/NPA	AIAR
PgNIP3;2	GQ03701_J12	215	1	6	S	РМ	NPA/NPA	A IGR
PgSIP1;1	GQ03414_P10	238	29	6	R N S C	Т	NPT/NPA	LTP N
	GQ04011_K04	138	4	2	S R	PM-T	NPV/NPA	- K P T

Table 4-1: Features of spruce (*Picea glauca***) major intrinsic proteins (MIPs) cDNA.** Gene names; accession number; length of deduced polypeptides; number of cDNA clones included in the assembly; predicted number of trans-membrane helix domains (TMHs); tissue specificity of ESTs; predicted sub-cellular location (C, cytoplasm; PM, plasma membrane; T, tonoplast; na, not available) and and conserved residues (NPA motifs, Ar/R filters) are summarized. † Tissues used for cDNA library preparation are listed: C, reproductive parts; N, needles; R, roots; S, stems. tests, differences were considered significant at P < 0.05.

3. <u>Results</u>

a. Needle water uptake and anatomy

We first asked whether foliar uptake occurred in *P. glauca*, and whether it had a significant impact on needle water status. The RWC of needles of well-watered control plants was 94.5%; bench-dried needles had a RWC of 65.5% (Table 4-1). After needles were exposed to high humidity for 16 h, their RWC recovered to an intermediate level, indicating that water uptake occurred.

RWC measurements were also performed on twigs. After bench drying, the RWC of twigs dropped significantly, but recovered to control levels after twigs had been exposed to high humidity (Table 4-1). By contrast, a significant recovery of RWC did not occur when needles were detached from twigs after bench drying, indicating that water uptake was facilitated by needles.

To study potential anatomical pathways for water uptake, needle sections were prepared for light microscopy and stained. Alcian blue staining indicated that stomata were associated with mucilages (Fig. 4-1A), which generally comprise a mixture of polysaccharides. A high concentration of hydrophilic carbohydrates was detected in the epidermis, hypodermis and other cell types (Fig. 4-1B), which may have facilitated water retention within the tissues. Phloroglucinol-HCl staining revealed the presence of lignified cell walls in bundle sheath cells (especially in

Experimental treatment	Needle RWC ¹ (%)	Twig RWC^2 (%)
control	94.49 (2.60) ^A	81.31 (1.19) ^A
dehydrated	65.47 (1.44) ^B	73.40 (0.96) ^B
high RH	78.39 (2.23) ^C	82.27 (2.47) ^A
high RH, detached needles	n.a.	77.28 (1.60) ^{AB}

Table 4-2 Relative water content (RWC) of white spruce (Picea glauca) needles.

¹RWC of needles was measured before (control) and after (dehydrated) overnight drying on the bench top. Bench-dried needles were then transferred to a high-humidity environment (c. 100% RH) for 16 h (high RH). na, not applicable.

²RWC of twigs subjected to the same experimental treatment as needles. To assess the importance of foliage on the water absorption of twigs, basal leaf-less segments of dried twigs were exposed to high RH for 16 h (high RH, no needles). The standard error of the mean is given in parentheses. Different letters indicate significant differences between treatments (n = 6; P \leq 0.05).





(a) Section showing a stoma (gc, guard cells) covered by mucilage (m). The section was stained with Alcian blue. (b) A cross-section in which polysaccharides were stained with periodic acid-Schiff reagent. A high polysaccharide content (stained pink) was detected in the cell walls of the epidermis, hypodermis (hy), endodermis (en) and phloem (p) cells. mes, mesophyll; x, xylem. (c) Cross- section stained with phloroglucinol–HCl; lignified cell walls are shown in red. Lignin was detected in radial cell walls of the endodermis, in transfusion tracheids (ttr) and in xylem tracheids. Bars, 20 μm.



Figure 4-2: Confocal laser scanning micrographs showing the localization of aquaporin proteins in *Picea glauca* needle cross- sections.

Images were taken at an identical setting and were color-coded with an intensity look-uptable (LUT; displayed in a), in which black was used to encode background, and blue, green, yellow, red and white to encode increasing signal intensities. (a–f) PIP1 localization in needles; (g–l) PIP2 localization in needles. Cross- sections of well-watered (a, g) and drought- stressed (b, h) plants. (c, i) Controls with no primary antibody indicate minimal background fluorescence. Sections of previously drought-stressed plants were taken 2 h (d, j), 8 h (e, k) and 26 h (f, l) after plants had been transferred to a high- humidity environment. PIP1 labeling was strongest in the endodermis (En) and in phloem (P). Strong PIP2 signals were detected in the phloem (putative Strasburger cells labeled by arrowheads in j and k) and in transfusion parenchyma (asterisks in j–l). No signal was detected in the xylem (X). Bars, 20 µm. radial cell walls), transfusion tracheids, and xylem tracheids (Fig. 4-1C).

b. Distribution of PIP1 and PIP2 aquaporins in needle cross sections

To test the hypothesis that AQPs in needles are involved in foliar uptake, we first examined the detailed localization of PIP1 and PIP2 protein using confocal fluorescence microscopy (Fig. 4-2). In well-watered plants, PIP1s were present in the endodermis and in phloem (Fig. 4-2A). Needle cross sections of droughtstressed plants exhibited minimal labeling (Fig. 4-2B). Controls with no primary antibody showed a very weak or no background signal (Fig. 4-2C).

Needle sections taken as soon as 2 h after the increase in relative humidity exhibited strong immunolabeling of the endodermis (Fig. 4-2D). The labeling intensity for PIP1 protein in endodermis, phloem, and transfusion parenchyma cells peaked after 8 h of exposure to high humidity (Fig. 4-2E). After 26 h at high humidity, PIP1 labeling was still evident in the endodermis, but the intensity of the signal in phloem and transfusion parenchyma was reduced (Fig. 4-2F).

A similar trend was observed for PIP2 (Fig. 4-2G-L), although the distribution of PIP1 and PIP2 proteins showed some interesting differences. Under conditions that would be conducive to foliar water uptake (i.e., exposure to high humidity after a drought treatment), PIP1 labeling was more focused in the endodermis than PIP2 labeling suggesting that PIP1s are involved in regulating water movement across the bundle sheath. PIP2 proteins appeared to be more widely distributed within the central cylinder than PIP1s. While some PIP2 labeling was detected in the endodermis, strong signals were also apparent in the plasma membrane of transfusion parenchyma cells (asterisks in Fig. 4-2J-L) and in the phloem, including in cells that appeared to be Strasburger cells (arrowheads in Fig. 4-2J, K). Labeling also occurred in the mesophyll. PIP2s may therefore facilitate water transport between most, if not all living cells in the central cylinder and mesophyll.

c. Spruce aquaporin family

As a first step in investigating the expression and function of individual AQP genes in spruce, we identified expressed members of the spruce AQP gene family. Information including gene names, accession numbers, length of the deduced polypeptides, and predicted subcellular location is given in Table 4-2. A total of 1,188 ESTs corresponding to putative Major Intrinsic Proteins (MIP) was identified in the NCBI database (http://www.ncbi.nlm.nih.gov/). Based upon sequence overlap, a non-redundant set of 34 contigs was retrieved from the EST assembly (Table 4-2). The 30 putative complete MIP sequences could be grouped into PIP, TIP, NIP, and SIP subfamilies (Fig. 4-3; Supplementary Figure 4-S1).

We also took advantage of the recent sequencing of the *Picea* sp. genome to complete our investigation. Searches of the *Picea abies* 1.0 draft genome at ConGenIE, using the complete set of retrieved *P. glauca* AQPs as well as PpXIPs, PtXIPs, *PpGIP1;1* and *PpHIP1;1* protein sequences, resulted in the identification of



Figure 4-3: Phylogenetic analysis of 30 aquaporins (AQPs) expressed in *Picea glauca*. The phylogeny was inferred using maximum likelihood. Picea glauca AQPs (PgAQPs) are shown in black type; AQPs from Zea mays (ZmAQPs), Arabidopsis thaliana (AtAQPs) and Physcomitrella patens (PpAQPs) are represented by gray type. In P. glauca, four subfamilies can be identified (plasma membrane intrinsic proteins (PIPs), tonoplast intrinsic proteins (TIPs), nodulin-26-like intrinsic membrane proteins (NIPs) and small basic intrinsic proteins (SIPs)). Also note the close relationship between PIP subfamily members. The bar indicates the mean distance of 0.1 changes per amino acid residue.

30 complete homolog sequences for *Picea abies* (for the phylogenetic relations of all *Picea* AQP members, see Fig. 4-3, Supplementary Figure 4-S2 & 4-S3). Sequences corresponding to the XIP, GIP, and HIP subfamilies were not retrieved either in *P. abies* or *P. glauca* genomic databases. Compilation of this data allowed us to systematically name PgAQPs (Table 4-2; Fig. 4-3; Supplementary Fig. 4-S1, 4-S2 & 4-S3). In total, 16 PgPIPs, nine PgTIPs, four PgNIPs and one PgSIP full-length sequences were identified from transcriptomic data. PIP subfamily members were further divided into two subgroups with three PIP1s and 13 PIP2s. All PIP genes shared common sequence features (NPA boxes, ar/R residues), except *PIP2;10* and *PIP2;11* where His (H) was substituted by Tyr (Y), indicating a possible difference in substrate specificity. All of the PIP protein sequences were predicted to localize to the plasma membrane (Table 4-2).

d. Expression of selected aquaporin genes in needles

The tissue specificity for each of the P. glauca AQPs was studied using the EST database. The available 28 EST libraries are an unbiased representation of the tissue-specific transcriptome. Two PIP1 (*PgPIP1;1, PgPIP1;2*) and two PIP2 (*PgPIP2;1*, PgPIP2;2) candidate genes that have been reported to be expressed in needles were selected for analysis.

All of the four genes showed significant changes in expression during the treatments (Fig. 4-4). Of the genes studied here, *PgPIP1;1* and *PgPIP2;2* ranked first in terms of their proportion to the total number of mRNA molecules (Fig. 4-4A, dark

129


Figure 4-4: Aquaporin transcript amounts in needles of well-watered (Control) and drought-stressed (Drought) white spruce (Picea glauca) plants.

Transcript amounts were also measured 2, 26 and 50 h after drought- stressed plants had been transferred to a high-humidity environment. (a) Cumulative aquaporin transcript amounts in needles. Individual genes are labeled with different colors. Among the different transcripts, PgPIP1;1 ranked first in terms of its proportion to the total number of mRNA molecules. (b) Transcript abundance of PgPIP1;1, PgPIP1;2, PgPIP2;1 and PgPIP2;2. Values are means?SE from three biological samples which were tested in triplicate. Significant differences are indicated by unique letters ($P \le 0.05$).



Figure 4-5: *In situ* mRNA hybridization of four aquaporin genes in needle cross-sections of Picea glauca.

(a–d) Negative controls hybridized with digoxigenin (DIG)-labeled sense probes. Sections in (e–h) were hybridized with DIG-labeled antisense PgPIP1;1 (e), PgPIP2;2 (f), PgPIP1;2 (g) and PgPIP2;1 (h) RNA probes. Regions of aquaporin expression are indicated by dark purple staining. PgPIP1;1 and PgPIP2;2 exhibited high expression in the vascular cylinder and in endodermis cells (En). Ph, phloem; Xy, xylem. Bars, 25 μm.

green and dark blue portion of the bars). The drought treatment resulted in more than a 2-fold reduction in the cumulative transcript amount relative to well-watered control plants (Fig. 4-4A). This was mainly driven by reduced expression levels of *PgPIP1;2, PgPIP2;2,* and *PgPIP2;1* (Fig. 4-4B). Transcript levels increased rapidly after plants were exposed to high relative humidity. After only 2 h, the cumulative number of AQP mRNA molecules was equivalent to the level found in well-watered control plants and peaked 26 h after the transfer to high humidity. All four genes contributed this peak in transcript levels after 26 h.

An analysis of the expression patterns of individual genes (Fig. 4-4B) reveals that there were two types of responses. Up-regulation of *PgPIP1;1* and *PgPIP2;2* was detected as soon as 2 h after exposure to high humidity. By contrast, expression levels of *PgPIP1;2* and *PgPIP2;1* remained low 2 h after transfer to high humidity, but increased more than 5-fold (relative to drought levels) 26 h after the transfer to high humidity.

e. Tissue localization of expression

In situ hybridization experiments revealed interesting tissue distribution patterns of expression. *PgPIP1;1* and *PgPIP2;2*, which showed the highest transcript levels among the four genes that were studied (Fig. 4-4), were expressed in phloem and transfusion parenchyma cells (Fig. 4-5E, F). In contrast to *PgPIP2;2*, expression of *PgPIP1;1* was also prominent in endodermis cells. The *PgPIP1;2* signal was constrained to phloem cells (Fig. 4-5G). This specific expression pattern is

consistent with the relatively low transcript level of this particular gene (Fig. 4-4). Expression of *PgPIP2;1* was evident in individual phloem cells and in transfusion parenchyma, but not in the endodermis (Fig. 4-5H).

f. Linking foliar uptake with embolism repair in stems

To test whether foliar uptake can play a role in embolism repair, we measured physiological parameters in plants prior to and during the drought treatment, as well as after plants were moved to a high humidity environment. Well-watered control plants had a ψ_{Stem} of -0.6 ± 0.1 MPa, which was associated with minimal xylem embolism in stems (Fig. 4-6). The drought treatment resulted in a drop of ψ_{Stem} to -2.9 ± 0.1 MPa and 16.1 ± 1.8 % loss of hydraulic conductivity. Consistent with a relatively steep increase in embolism levels at xylem pressures more negative than -2 MPa (Fig. 4-7), the drought treatment was associated with stomatal closure (Fig. 4-6B).

Fig. 4-7 shows a more detailed picture of the refilling dynamics of individual plants; each data point represents an individual plant. The amount of xylem embolism measured in drought-stressed plants (Fig. 4-7, red circles) agreed with predictions derived from the centrifuge-generated vulnerability curve measured on similar plant material. The vulnerability curve indicated that stems experienced 50% loss of hydraulic conductivity (P50) at a xylem pressure of -4.2 MPa (Fig. 4-7 insert). Plants that were rewatered after the drought treatment showed partial or complete recovery from xylem embolism within 2 h and 8 h, respectively (Fig. 4-7,



Figure 4-6: Stem water potential (a), stomatal conductance (b) and xylem embolism (expressed as percentage loss of hydraulic conductivity) (c) in white spruce (*Picea glauca*) saplings.

Plants were grown under well- watered (C) or drought (D) conditions. After drought treatment, plants were kept in a high-humidity environment (without watering the pots) for 26 h (HH 26 h) and 50 h (HH 50 h). Values are means \pm SE (n \geq 5). Significant differences are indicated by unique letters.





Vulnerability curve (solid line) and native values of percentage loss of conductivity plotted against the native xylem pressure for stem segments of plants grown under well-watered (Control) or drought (Drought) conditions. Xylem embolism and xylem pressure were also measured in drought-stressed plants 2 and 8 h after rewatering, and in previously drought-stressed plants that were exposed to a high- humidity environment for 8 h (HH 8 h), 26 h (HH 26 h) and 50 h (HH 50 h). An overview of the complete vulnerability curve and native values of xylem embolism plotted against the native xylem pressure for each group (mean±SE; $n \ge 5$) is shown in the upper right corner of the figure.

grey symbols). Plants that were transferred to the high humidity environment had not repaired embolism after 8 h (Fig. 4-7, HH 8h) but exhibited refilling after 26 h and 50 h (Fig. 4-7, HH 26h and 50h) while xylem pressures were still substantially negative (-2.4 \pm 0.1 and -2.1 \pm 0.1 MPa, respectively).

4. Discussion

The present study was conducted to gain a better understanding of foliar water uptake in *Picea glauca*, a common species in the boreal forest of North America. We explored the potential role of AQPs in foliar uptake, and impacts on xylem refilling. The remarkably complex anatomy of conifer needles (Fig. 4-1; Liesche *et al.*, 2011) and the numerous well-documented cases of needle water uptake (Burgess and Dawson, 2004; Breshears *et al.*, 2008; Limm *et al.*, 2009) make conifer needles an interesting model for the investigation of foliar uptake and potential implications for xylem refilling.

Based on the observed increases in RWC in plants exposed to high humidity, we conclude that drought-stressed needles of *P. glauca* are capable of absorbing water. The occurrence of mucilage and the presence of hydrophilic carbohydrates in the epidermis and hypodermis may facilitate water uptake and water retention by needles. Stomata were at least partially opened at high humidity (Fig. 4-6B), and so water uptake via stomata would seem possible (Berkhardt, 2010). Foliar water uptake and subsequent refilling also occurred in timberline trees in late winter when the soil was still frozen and when trees were still disconnected from soil water (Mayr *et al.*, 2014).

Depending on the water potential gradients, water may refill the plant from two directions (Goldsmith, 2013; his fig. 1b). Our experiment was designed to restrict water uptake to above-ground plant parts. During drought treatment, water was withheld for many days, and so there was sufficient time for soil and plant water potentials to equilibrate. Before the transition to high RH, pots were carefully covered. The soil water content of high-humidity plants remained at the same low level as seen in drought-stressed plants (Supplementary Table 4-S3), indicating that water did not enter the pots. By contrast, soil water content increased quickly when plants were rewatered. Consistent with these data, Fig. 4-7 shows that the recovery of water potentials and hydraulic conductivity was much quicker in plants that were rewatered after the drought treatment than in plants that were transferred to the high-humidity environment without rewatering

Water following a gradient in water potential from the epidermis toward the vascular tissue has to pass the bundle sheath (Fig. 4-1C). Radial cell walls of the bundle sheath were lignified, indicating that water molecules will cross cell membranes. AQPs are likely to play an important role in regulating the hydraulic resistance between vascular and photosynthetic tissue in conifer needles. Immunolocalization and *in situ* hybridization experiments confirmed the presence of AQPs in the endodermis-like bundle sheath of *P. glauca* needles. Although both PIP1 and PIP2 were detected in the bundle sheath, the PIP1 signal was stronger in this cell layer than the PIP2 signal (Fig. 4-2). This was also observed in a study

on Norway spruce (*Picea abies*) trees growing at the timberline (Mayr *et al.* 2014). In agreement with the immunolabeling results, *in situ* hybridization of *PgPIP1;1* antisense probes also showed a strong signal in the endodermis. We therefore suggest that PIP1s, and PgPIP1;1 in particular (Figs. 4-4, 4-5E), play a critical role in mediating water flow through the endodermis.

Figures 4-2 and 4-4 show the down-regulation of AQPs during drought. In leaves of *Arabidopsis*, PIP transcripts were also generally down-regulated in response to drought. The amount of protein was also reduced. Twenty-six hours after rehydration, the expression levels were back at the same level as in control plants (Alexandersson *et al.*, 2005). Consistent with these findings, Shatil-Cohen *et al.* (2011) proposed a role for bundle sheath cells as a stress signal-sensing 'control center' in leaves. According to their model, bundle sheath cells sense stress signals in the xylem sap (presumably abscisic acid) and respond by changing their hydraulic conductivity via the down-regulation of AQP activity. Our data are consistent with this idea. In addition, we show that the effect of drought on AQPs can be reversed by the exposure of leaves to high humidity.

PIP labeling was also detected in transfusion parenchyma and phloem cells. AQPs have been previously found in the leaf phloem of angiosperm species (Fraysse *et al.*, 2005; Hachez *et al.*, 2008) as well as in Picea abies needles (Oliviusson *et al.*, 2001), consistent with a role for AQPs in phloem loading and unloading. In the context of foliar water uptake, radial water flow was likely directed toward vascular tissue including phloem. Subsequently, water could have moved from needles to stems via the phloem. Unloading of water and solutes in stems could have promoted xylem refilling, as has been suggested for angiosperms (Nardini *et al.*, 2011). On the way from needles to stems, water may have also moved in the xylem; negative sap flow as a result of foliar absorption has been described in numerous studies (Burgess and Dawson, 2004; Nadezhdina *et al.*, 2010; Eller *et al.*, 2013; Goldsmith, 2013).

This hypothetical chain of events summarized in Fig. 4-8 provides a theoretical framework that links foliar uptake with AQP function and embolism repair. Regardless of the mechanism, refilling in stem xylem occurred (Figs. 4-6, 4-7), indicating that the uptake of water via needles was physiologically meaningful, and that this water moved from needles to stems. It remains to be tested whether needle water uptake occurs under natural conditions in the boreal forest. Conceivably, foliar water absorption could be beneficial during summer periods when the forest receives small quantities of rain that are not enough to penetrate the soil. Foliar water uptake may also occur on relatively warm days in late winter may be able to absorb water and this could facilitate xylem refilling and offset winter desiccation effects, similar to that which has recently been shown for timberline trees in Austria (Mayr *et al.* 2014).

The amount of xylem embolism during the drought treatment was relatively low although stem water potentials of drought-stressed plants were close to -3 MPa (Fig. 4-6). *P. glauca* stems exhibited no or minimal embolism at water potentials less negative than -2 MPa (Fig. 4-7). The shape of the vulnerability curve and the P50 value measured in this study agree with previously published values for *P. glauca*. Hacke and Jansen (2009) measured a P50 of -4.3 ±0.3 MPa (± SE, n=6), similar to

139



Figure 4-8: Putative chain of events linking needle water uptake to xylem refilling in stems.

Foliar water uptake may occur when a thin film of water has coalesced on the needle surface and the needle is experiencing a water deficit, that is, when the internal leaf tissue has a more negative water potential than the surrounding atmospheric boundary layer. Radial water movement inside the leaf also follows gradients in water potential and is directed from the epidermis towards vascular tissue. The passage of bundle sheath cells involves membrane transport, which is facilitated by aquaporins (AQPs; especially plasma membrane intrinsic proteins 1 (PIP1s)). Water uptake by sieve cells and other phloem cells may also be facilitated by aquaporins (especially PIP2s). Water then flows from needles to stems, where it contributes to embolism repair. Solutes and water are delivered from the phloem to embolized tracheids via rays. In this conceptual model, the direction of water flow is always consistent with gradients in water potential.

the value of -4.6 \pm 0.1 MPa (\pm SE, n=6) reported for sun-exposed trees by Schoonmaker *et al.* (2010).

Water potentials were not continuously monitored throughout the experiment, so it is possible that Ψ_{Stem} increased to less negative values during the night. We therefore do not know whether refilling occurred at substantially negative water potentials as reported by others (Sperry *et al.*, 1994; McCulloh *et al.*, 2011) or whether it was associated with a nocturnal increase in Ψ_{Stem} that was not captured. However, as pots were not watered, it is unlikely that Ψ_{Stem} reached values close to atmospheric pressure, which would be required for a purely physical dissolution of bubbles.

The present study provides the most comprehensive functional and phylogenetic analysis of spruce AQPs so far. The number of AQP genes in spruce is similar to the total number of MIPs reported for *Arabidopsis* (35, Johanson *et al.*, 2001) and maize (33, Chaumont *et al.*, 2001). In *Arabidopsis*, there are 13 PIPs (16 in *P. glauca*), 10 TIPs (nine in *P. glauca*), nine NIPs (four PgNIPs) and three SIPs (one PgSIP). In maize, 14 PIPs, 13 TIPs, five NIPs and three SIPs have been reported (Chaumont *et al.*, 2001). Hence, the distribution between the four major subfamilies is similar in these three species. However, both *Arabidopsis* and maize have more PIP1s than *P. glauca*. Consistent with this finding, Chaumont *et al.* (2001) noted that *ZmPIP1;3* and *ZmPIP1;4* are the result of a very recent gene duplication

In conclusion, we report that needles of drought-stressed *P. glauca* plants absorb water when exposed to high RH. AQPs are present in the bundle sheath, in phloem cells and in transfusion parenchyma of needles. The up-regulation of AQP genes in high RH coincides with embolism repair in stem xylem. Our findings are consistent with the hypothesis that AQPs facilitate radial water movement from the needle epidermis towards the vascular tissue. Water may then move from needles towards stems via phloem and xylem (Fig. 4-8). Refilling in *P. glauca* is apparently not limited to xylem pressures near atmospheric values.

5. <u>Reference</u>

- Alba R, Fei ZJ, Payton P, Liu Y, Moore SL, Debbie P, Cohn J, D'Ascenzo M, Gordon JS, Rose JKC, Martin G, Tanksley SD, Bouzayen M, Jahn MM, Giovannoni J. 2004. ESTs, cDNA microarrays, and gene expression profiling: tools for dissecting plant physiology and development. *Plant Journal* **39**(5), 697-714.
- Almeida-Rodriguez AM, Hacke UG, Laur J. 2011. Influence of evaporative demand on aquaporin expression and root hydraulics in hybrid poplar. *Plant, Cell & Environment* **34**, 1318-1331.
- Altschul SF, Madden TL, Schäffer AA, Zhang J, Zhang Z, Miller W, Lipman DJ. 1997. Gapped BLAST and PSI-BLAST: a new generation of protein database search programs. *Nucleic Acids Research* **25**(17), 3389-3402.
- Arvidsson S, Kwasniewski M, Riano-Pachon D, Mueller-Roeber B. 2008. QuantPrime - a flexible tool for reliable high-throughput primer design for quantitative PCR. *Bmc Bioinformatics* 9(1), 465.
- Begg JE, Turner NC. 1970. Water Potential Gradients in Field Tobacco. Plant

Physiology 46(2), 343

- Birol I, Raymond A, Jackman SD, Pleasance S, Coope R, Taylor GA, Saint Yuen MM, Keeling CI, Brand D, Vandervalk BP, Kirk H, Pandoh P, Moore RA, Zhao YJ, Mungall AJ, Jaquish B, Yanchuk A, Ritland C, Boyle B, Bousquet J, Ritland K, MacKay J, Bohlmann J, Jones SJM. 2013. Assembling the 20 Gb white spruce (Picea glauca) genome from whole-genome shotgun sequencing data. *Bioinformatics* 29(12), 1492-1497.
- Boucher JF, Munson AD, Bernier PY. 1995. Foliar absorption of dew influences shoot water potential and root growth in *Pinus strobus* seedlings. *Tree Physiology* 15(12), 819-823.
- **Braissant O, Wahli W. 1998.** A simplified in situ hybridization protocol using nonradioactively labeled probes to detect abundant and rare mRNAs on tissue sections. *Biochemica* **1**, 10-16.
- Breshears DD, McDowell NG, Goddard KL, Dayem KE, Martens SN, Meyer CW, Brown KM. 2008. Foliar absorption of intercepted rainfall improves woody plant water status most during drought. *Ecology* **89**(1), 41-47.
- Burgess SSO, Dawson TE. 2004. The contribution of fog to the water relations of Sequoia sempervirens (D. Don): foliar uptake and prevention of dehydration. Plant Cell and Environment 27(8), 1023-1034.
- Burkhardt J, Basi S, Pariyar S, Hunsche M. 2012. Stomatal penetration by aqueous solutions – an update involving leaf surface particles. *New Phytologist* **196**(3), 774-787.
- **Chang S, Puryear J, Cairney J.** 1993. A simple and efficient method for isolating RNA from pine trees. *Plant Molecular Biology Reporter* **11**(2), 113-116.

Chaumont F, Barrieu F, Wojcik E, Chrispeels MJ, Jung R. 2001. Aquaporins

constitute a large and highly divergent protein family in maize. *Plant Physiology* **125**(3), 1206-1215.

- **Chou K-C, Shen H-B.** 2010. Plant-mPLoc: A top-down strategy to augment the power for predicting plant protein subcellular localization. *Plos One* **5**(6), e11335.
- **Claros MG, von Heijne G.** 1994. TopPred-II an improved software for membraneprotein structure predictions. *Computer Applications in the Biosciences* **10**(6), 685-686.
- **Clifford SC, Arndt SK, Popp M, Jones HG.** 2002. Mucilages and polysaccharides in *Ziziphus* species (Rhamnaceae): localization, composition and physiological roles during drought-stress. *Journal of Experimental Botany* **53**(366), 131-138.
- **Daniels MJ, Mirkov TE, Chrispeels MJ.** 1994. The plasma membrane of *Arabidopsis thaliana* contains a mercury-insensitive aquaporin that is a homolog of the tonoplast water channel protein TIP. *Plant Physiology* **106**(4), 1325-1333.
- **Danielson J, Johanson U.** 2008. Unexpected complexity of the aquaporin gene family in the moss *Physcomitrella patens*. *BMC Plant Biology* **8**(1), 45.
- **Eller CB, Lima AL, Oliveira RS.** 2013. Foliar uptake of fog water and transport belowground alleviates drought effects in the cloud forest tree species, *Drimys brasiliensis* (Winteraceae). *New Phytologist* **199**(1), 151-162.
- Fouquet R, Léon C, Ollat N, Barrieu F. 2008. Identification of grapevine aquaporins and expression analysis in developing berries. *Plant Cell Reports* 27(9), 1541-1550.
- **Fraysse LC, Wells B, McCann MC, Kjellbom P.** 2005. Specific plasma membrane aquaporins of the PIP1 subfamily are expressed in sieve elements and guard cells. *Biology of the Cell* **97**(7), 519-534.

- **Goldsmith GR.** 2013. Changing directions: the atmosphere–plant–soil continuum. *New Phytologist* **199**(1), 4-6.
- **Goldsmith GR, Matzke NJ, Dawson TE.** 2013. The incidence and implications of clouds for cloud forest plant water relations. *Ecology Letters* **16**(3), 307-314.
- Gomes D, Agasse A, Thiébaud P, Delrot S, Gerós H, Chaumont F. 2009. Aquaporins are multifunctional water and solute transporters highly divergent in living organisms. *Biochimica et Biophysica Acta (BBA) - Biomembranes* **1788**(6), 1213-1228.
- Gong HQ, Peng YB, Zou C, Wang DH, Xu ZH, Bai SN. 2006. A simple treatment to significantly increase signal specificity in immunohistochemistry. *Plant Molecular Biology Reporter* 24(1), 93-101.
- **Gupta AB, Sankararamakrishnan R.** 2009. Genome-wide analysis of major intrinsic proteins in the tree plant *Populus trichocarpa*: Characterization of XIP subfamily of aquaporins from evolutionary perspective. *BMC Plant Biology* **9**.
- Hachez C, Heinen RB, Draye X, Chaumont F. 2008. The expression pattern of plasma membrane aquaporins in maize leaf highlights their role in hydraulic regulation. *Plant Molecular Biology* 68(4-5), 337-353.
- Hacke UG, Jansen S. 2009. Embolism resistance of three boreal conifer species varies with pit structure. *New Phytologist* **182**(3), 675-686.
- Hakman I, Oliviusson P. 2002. High expression of putative aquaporin genes in cells with transporting and nutritive functions during seed development in Norway spruce (*Picea abies*). *Journal of Experimental Botany* 53(369), 639-649.
- Heinen RB, Ye Q, Chaumont Fo. 2009. Role of aquaporins in leaf physiology. *Journal of Experimental Botany* **60**, 2971-2985.

- Horton P, Park KJ, Obayashi T, Fujita N, Harada H, Adams-Collier CJ, Nakai K. 2007. WoLF PSORT: protein localization predictor. *Nucleic Acids Research* **35**, W585-W587.
- Huang XQ, Madan A. 1999. CAP3: A DNA sequence assembly program. *Genome Research* **9**(9), 868-877.
- Johanson U, Karlsson M, Johansson I, Gustavsson S, Sjovall S, Fraysse L, Weig AR, Kjellbom P. 2001. The complete set of genes encoding major intrinsic proteins in arabidopsis provides a framework for a new nomenclature for major intrinsic proteins in plants. *Plant Physiology* **126**(4), 1358-1369.
- **Kammerloher W, Fischer U, Piechottka GP, Schäffner AR.** 1994. Water channels in the plant plasma membrane cloned by immunoselection from a mammalian expression system. *Plant Journal* **6**(2), 187-199.
- **Karlgren A, Carlsson J, Gyllenstrand N, Lagercrantz U, Sundström JF.** 2009. Nonradioactive in situ hybridization protocol applicable for Norway spruce and a range of plant species. *Journal of Visualized Experiments* **26**, 1205.
- Katz C, Oren R, D SE, Milburn JA. 1989. Uptake of water and solutes through twigs of *Picea abies* (L.) Karst. *Trees* 3(1), 33-37.
- Laur J, Hacke UG. 2013. Transpirational demand affects aquaporin expression in poplar roots. *Journal of Experimental Botany* **64**(8), 2283-2293.
- **Liesche J, Martens HJ, Schulz A.** 2011. Symplasmic transport and phloem loading in gymnosperm leaves. *Protoplasma* **248**(1), 181-190.
- Limm EB, Simonin KA, Bothman AG, Dawson TE. 2009. Foliar water uptake: a common water acquisition strategy for plants of the redwood forest. *Oecologia* 161(3), 449-459.

- Maurel C, Verdoucq L, Luu DT, Santoni V. 2008. Plant aquaporins: Membrane channels with multiple integrated functions. *Annual Review of Plant Biology* **59**, 595-624.
- Mayr S, Schmid P, Laur J, Rosner S, Charra-Vaskou K, Daemon B, Hacke UG. 2014. Uptake of water via branches helps timberline conifers refill embolized xylem in late winter. *Plant Physiology* **164**, 114.
- McCulloh KA, Johnson DM, Meinzer FC, Lachenbruch B. 2011. An annual pattern of native embolism in upper branches of four tall conifer species. *American Journal of Botany* 98(6), 1007-1015.
- Nadezhdina N, David TS, David JS, Ferreira MI, Dohnal M, Tesař M, Gartner K, Leitgeb E, Nadezhdin V, Cermak J, Jimenez MS, Morales D. 2010. Trees never rest: the multiple facets of hydraulic redistribution. *Ecohydrology* **3**(4), 431-444.
- Nardini A, Lo Gullo MA, Salleo S. 2011. Refilling embolized xylem conduits: Is it a matter of phloem unloading? *Plant Science* **180**(4), 604-611.
- Néron B, Ménager H, Maufrais C, Joly N, Maupetit J, Letort S, Carrere S, Tuffery P, Letondal C. 2009. Mobyle: a new full web bioinformatics framework. *Bioinformatics* 25(22), 3005-3011.
- North GB, Lynch FH, Maharaj FDR, Phillips CA, Woodside WT. 2013. Leaf hydraulic conductance for a tank bromeliad: axial and radial pathways for moving and conserving water. *Frontiers in Plant Science* **4**.
- Nystedt B, Street NR, Wetterbom A, Zuccolo A, Lin YC, Scofield DG, Vezzi F, Delhomme N, Giacomello S, Alexeyenko A, Vicedomini R, Sahlin K, Sherwood E, Elfstrand M, Gramzow L, Holmberg K, Hallman J, Keech O, Klasson L, Koriabine M, Kucukoglu M, Kaller M, Luthman J, Lysholm F, Niittyla T, Olson A, Rilakovic N, Ritland C, Rossello JA, Sena J, Svensson T,

Talavera-Lopez C, Theissen G, Tuominen H, Vanneste K, Wu ZQ, Zhang B, Zerbe P, Arvestad L, Bhalerao R, Bohlmann J, Bousquet J, Gil RG, Hvidsten TR, de Jong P, MacKay J, Morgante M, Ritland K, Sundberg B, Thompson SL, Van de Peer Y, Andersson B, Nilsson O, Ingvarsson PK, Lundeberg J, Jansson S. 2013. The Norway spruce genome sequence and conifer genome evolution. *Nature* **497**(7451), 579-584.

- **Ohrui T, Nobira H, Sakata Y, Taji T, Yamamoto C, Nishida K, Yamakawa T, Sasuga Y, Yaguchi Y, Takenaga H, Tanaka S.** 2007. Foliar trichome- and aquaporinaided water uptake in a drought-resistant epiphyte *Tillandsia ionantha* Planchon. *Planta* **227**(1), 47-56.
- **Oliveira RS, Dawson TE, Burgess SSO.** 2005. Evidence for direct water absorption by the shoot of the desiccation-tolerant plant *Vellozia flavicans* in the savannas of central Brazil. *Journal of Tropical Ecology* **21**, 585-588.
- **Oliviusson P, Salaj J, Hakman I.** 2001. Expression pattern of transcripts encoding water channel-like proteins in Norway spruce (*Picea abies*). *Plant Molecular Biology* **46**(3), 289-299.
- Pavy N, Boyle B, Nelson C, Paule C, Giguere I, Caron S, Parsons LS, Dallaire N, Bedon F, Berube H, Cooke J, Mackay J. 2008. Identification of conserved core xylem gene sets: conifer cDNA microarray development, transcript profiling and computational analyses. *New Phytologist* 180(4), 766-786.
- **Plavcova L, Hacke UG.** 2012. Phenotypic and developmental plasticity of xylem in hybrid poplar saplings subjected to experimental drought, nitrogen fertilization, and shading. *Journal of Experimental Botany* **63**(18): 6481-6491.
- **Rice P, Bleasby A, Ison J, Uludag M.** 2000. EMBOSS: The European Molecular Biology Open Software Suite. *Trends in Genetics* **16**, 276–277
- **Rigault P, Boyle B, Lepage P, Cooke JEK, Bousquet J, MacKay JJ.** 2011. A white 148

spruce gene catalog for conifer genome analyses. *Plant Physiology* **157**(1), 14-28.

- **Romualdi C, Bortoluzzi S, D'Alessi F, Danieli GA.** 2003. IDEG6: a web tool for detection of differentially expressed genes in multiple tag sampling experiments. *Physiological Genomics* **12**(2), 159-162.
- **Rutledge RG, Stewart D.** 2010. Assessing the performance capabilities of LRE-based assays for absolute quantitative real-time PCR. *Plos One* **5**(3).
- Sakurai-Ishikawa J, Murai-Hatano M, Hayashi H, Ahamed A, Fukushi K, Matsumoto T, Kitagawa Y. 2011. Transpiration from shoots triggers diurnal changes in root aquaporin expression. *Plant Cell and Environment* 34(7), 1150-1163.
- Schoonmaker AL, Hacke UG, Landhausser SM, Lieffers VJ, Tyree MT. 2010. Hydraulic acclimation to shading in boreal conifers of varying shade tolerance. *Plant Cell and Environment* **33**(3), 382-393.
- Sievers F, Wilm A, Dineen D, Gibson TJ, Karplus K, Li WZ, Lopez R, McWilliam H, Remmert M, Soding J, Thompson JD, Higgins DG. 2011. Fast, scalable generation of high-quality protein multiple sequence alignments using Clustal Omega. *Molecular Systems Biology* 7.
- Simonin KA, Santiago LS, Dawson TE. 2009. Fog interception by Sequoia sempervirens (D. Don) crowns decouples physiology from soil water deficit. Plant Cell and Environment 32(7), 882-892.
- Sparks JP, Campbell GS, Black RA. 2001. Water content, hydraulic conductivity, and ice formation in winter stems of *Pinus contorta*: a TDR case study. *Oecologia* 127(4), 468-475.
- Sperry JS, Donnelly JR, Tyree MT. 1988. A method for measuring hydraulic

conductivity and embolism in xylem. *Plant, Cell and Environment* **11**(1), 35-40.

- **Sperry JS, Nichols KL, Sullivan JEM, Eastlack SE.** 1994. Xylem embolism in ringporous, diffuse-porous, and coniferous trees of northern Utah and interior Alaska. *Ecology* **75**(6), 1736-1752.
- Thompson JD, Plewniak F, Ripp R, Thierry JC, Poch O. 2001. Towards a reliable objective function for multiple sequence alignments. *Journal of Molecular Biology* 314(4), 937-951.
- Vandeleur RK, Mayo G, Shelden MC, Gilliham M, Kaiser BN, Tyerman SD. 2009. The role of plasma membrane intrinsic protein aquaporins in water transport through roots: Diurnal and drought stress responses reveal different strategies between isohydric and anisohydric cultivars of grapevine. *Plant Physiology* 149(1), 445-460.

V. General discussion and conclusions

1. Outcomes of this study

The original aim of my thesis was to provide insights into the possible roles of aquaporins in the fine adjustment of spruce and poplar hydraulics to environmental changes (Figure 5-1). The major outcomes of this work are listed below:

- In a hybrid poplar clone (*Populus trichocarpa x deltoides*), root water uptake responds within hours to changes in the above ground environment **(Chapter 2)**. This adjustment is associated with changes in the expression of all tested PIP genes and PIP1 proteins.

- Leaves of *Populus trichocarpa* were sensitive to a moderate drought event; however they recovered within two hours after rewatering **(Chapter 3)**. Leaf hydraulic recovery resulted from aquaporin activity as demonstrated by the use of inhibitors. Several PIP and TIP isoforms were also upregulated at the transcriptional level at the time leaf recovery occurred.

- Foliar water uptake occurred in water-stressed spruce trees (*Picea* sp.) saplings exposed to high relative humidity or melting snow **(Chapter 4)**. Chapter 4 provides the first phylogenetic analysis of the aquaporin family in a conifer species. We observed up-regulation of four PIP genes expressed in the needle vascular bundle by the time xylem refilling occurred downstream in the



Figure 5-1: thesis outcomes.

In Chapter 2, root water uptake of poplar adjusted within hours to the above-ground demand, this adjustment was associated with the upregulation of PIPs isoforms. Leaves of *Populus trichocarpa* are sensitive to a moderate water stress; their fast recovery was associated with the regulation of TIP isoforms (Chapter 3). Chapter 4: foliar water uptake occurred when water-stressed spruce trees were exposed to high RH, it alleviated stem xylem embolism. To assess the role of AQPs in this phenomenon, we provide the first phylogenetic analysis of AQP family in a conifer species. Four PIP isoforms expressed in the vascular bundle were regulated during foliar water uptake.

stem. This phenomenon may be physiologically significant for plants since it provides alternative water source under otherwise unfavourable conditions.

2. <u>Possible applications and perspectives</u>

Taken together, these results illustrate the importance of aquaporins in the dynamic adjustments of trees to their local environment. The general inability of plants to escape from an adverse habitat is even exacerbated for those long living organisms. Water is the most likely limiting resource for plants worldwide and this is to worsen due to global climate change (FAO, 2008). How will trees manage to maintain the integrity of their hydraulic system?

Along the flow path, the cell membranes where AQP proteins are located could act like control centres regulating the transmembrane movement of water in order to constantly maintain an optimum plant- (and organ-) water balance. AQP function could not only be important for dynamic responses to a changing environment, but also during steady-state conditions. The current findings identified a number of aquaporin isoforms involved in different physiological adjustment to environmental changes.

In **Chapter 3**, the upregulation of *PtTIP1;3*, *PtTIP2;2*, *PtTIP4;1* in poplar leaves is concomitant with leaf hydraulic conductance recovery from water stress. In a similar experiment, Pou *et al.* (2009) found an interesting correlation between the expression of a TIP isoform and water-related parameters of grapevine leaves.

Thus, the relatively less-studied TIPs (to date there is 11 TIP-related transgenic studies published but none in a woody plant species) can provide several interesting candidate for regulation of leaf hydraulics in woody plants.

Immunolocalization data from **Chapter 3** localized PIP1 proteins in the mesophyll. The well-studied NtAQP1, a PIP1 isoform, acts like a CO₂ transporter in leaves where its expression modulates the CO₂ mesophyll conductance (Flexas et al, 2006; Uehlein et al., 2003). However, mostly expressed in roots, NtAQP1 is also a water channel protein that regulates root hydraulic conductivity (Siefritz et al., 2002). In **Chapter 2**, the upregulation of *PtPIP1;1*, *PtPIP1;2*, and *PtPIP1;3* in poplar roots is correlated with an increase in water uptake in response to transpirational demand. Also significantly induced in our previous experiment (Almeida-Rodriguez et al., 2011), the three PIP1 isoforms may be good gene candidates for regulation of root hydraulics.

The observations made in **Chapter 4** contribute substantially to our comprehension of a phenomenon that was estimated of little impact until recently. Possibly acting to relieve crown water stress (and subsequent photosynthetic carbon starvation), the influence of foliar water uptake in plant ecophysiology is now of interest for the scientific community and the subject of constant work (most recently by Berry et al., 2014). We identified four *Picea* PIP gene candidates (*PgPIP1;1, PgPIP1;2, PgPIP2;2, PgPIP2;1*) regulated in needles at the time of water absorption from a high humidity environment. We took advantage of published ESTs databases and of the recent sequencing of the *Picea* sp. Genome to investigate for the first time the AQP family in a conifer species.

This study has generated a number of AQP gene candidates in two major tree families. To be integrated in future marker assisted selection or genetic engineering programs, these analyses requires additional efforts that could include the use of field-grown material and/or the generation of OE or KO mutants to fully characterize AQP isoforms.

References

- Aharon, R., Shahak, Y., Wininoger, S., Bendov, R., and Kapulnik, Y. 2003. Overexpression of a plasma membrane aquaporin in transgenic tobacco improves plant vigor under favorable growth conditions but not under drought or salt stress. *Society*, **15**, 439–447.
- Alba R, Fei ZJ, Payton P, Liu Y, Moore SL, Debbie P, Cohn J, D'Ascenzo M, Gordon JS, Rose JKC, Martin G, Tanksley SD, Bouzayen M, Jahn MM, Giovannoni J. 2004. ESTs, cDNA microarrays, and gene expression profiling: tools for dissecting plant physiology and development. *Plant Journal* **39**(5), 697-714.
- Alexandersson E, Fraysse L, Sjövall-Larsen S, Gustavsson S, Fellert M, Karlsson M, Johanson U, Kjellbom P. 2005. Whole Gene Family Expression and Drought Stress Regulation of Aquaporins. *Plant Molecular Biology* 59(3), 469–484.
- Almeida-Rodriguez, A. M., Cooke, J. E. K., Yeh, F., and Zwiazek, J. J. 2010. Functional characterization of drought-responsive aquaporins in *Populus balsamifera* and *Populus simonii×balsamifera* clones with different drought resistance strategies. *Physiol. Plant.*, **140**, 321–33.
- **Almeida-Rodriguez AM, Hacke UG**. 2012. "Cellular Localization of Aquaporin mRNA in Hybrid Poplar Stems." *American Journal of Botany* **99** (7), 1249–54.
- Almeida-Rodriguez, A. M., Hacke, U. G., and Laur, J. 2011. Influence of evaporative demand on aquaporin expression and root hydraulics of hybrid poplar. *Plant. Cell Environ.*, 34, 1318–31.
- Altschul SF, Madden TL, Schäffer AA, Zhang J, Zhang Z, Miller W, Lipman DJ. 1997.

Gapped BLAST and PSI-BLAST: a new generation of protein database search programs. *Nucleic Acids Research* **25**(17), 3389-3402.

- Arend M, Schnitzler JP, Ehlting B, Hansch R, Lange T, Rennenberg H, Himmelbach A, Grill E, Fromm J. 2009. Expression of the *Arabidopsis* mutant abi1 gene alters abscisic acid sensitivity, stomatal development, and growth morphology in gray poplars. *Plant Physiology* 151, 2110-2119.
- Aroca R, Porcel R, Ruiz-Lozano JM. 2012. Regulation of root water uptake under abiotic stress conditions. *Journal of Experimental Botany* **63**, 43-57.
- **Arve LE, Terfa MT, GislerØD HR, Olsen JE, Torre S**. 2013. High relative air humidity and continuous light reduce stomata functionality by affecting the ABA regulation in rose leaves. *Plant, Cell and Environment* **36**, 382–392.
- Arvidsson S, Kwasniewski M, Riano-Pachon DM, Mueller-Roeber B. 2008. QuantPrime - a flexible tool for reliable high-throughput primer design for quantitative PCR. *Bmc Bioinformatics* **9**.
- Ayadi, M., Cavez, D., Miled, N., Chaumont, F., and Masmoudi, K. 2011. Identification and characterization of two plasma membrane aquaporins in durum wheat (*Triticum turgidum* L. subsp. durum) and their role in abiotic stress tolerance. *Plant Physiol. Biochem.*, 49, 1029–39.
- **Bae EK, Lee H, Lee JS, Noh EW**. 2010. Isolation and characterization of osmotic stressinduced genes in poplar cells by suppression subtractive hybridization and cDNA microarray analysis. *Plant Physiology and Biochemistry* **48**, 136-141.
- Baiges I, Schäffner AR, Affenzeller MJ, Mas A. 2002. Plant aquaporins. *Physiologia Plantarum* **115**, 175-182.
- Baker, D. 1989. Water relations. In, Wilkins, M. (ed), Advanced Plant Physiology.

Longman Scientific and Technical, Essex, pp. 297–318.

- Balatinecsz, J. J. and Kretschmann, D. E. 2001. Properties and utilization of poplar wood. In, Dickmann, D., Isebrands, J., Eckenwalder, J., and Richardson, J. (eds), *Poplar culture in North America*. NRC Research Press, National Research Council of Canada, Ottawa, ON, pp. 277–291.
- Bansal, A. and Sankararamakrishnan, R. 2007. Homology modeling of major intrinsic proteins in rice, maize and *Arabidopsis*: comparative analysis of transmembrane helix association and aromatic/arginine selectivity filters. *BMC Struct. Biol.*, 7, 27.
- Barigah TS, Ibrahim T, Bogard A, Faivre-Vuillin B, Lagneau LA, Montpied P, Dreyer E. 2006. Irradiance-induced plasticity in the hydraulic properties of saplings of different temperate broad-leaved forest tree species. *Tree Physiology* 26, 1505-1516.
- Barrieu F, Chaumont F, Chrispeels MJ. 1998. "High Expression of the Tonoplast Aquaporin ZmTIP1 in Epidermal and Conducting Tissues of Maize1." *Plant Physiology* **117**(4), 1153–1163.
 - **Beaulieu**, J. 2003. Genetic variation in tracheid length and relationships with growth and wood traits in eastern white spruce (*Picea glauca*).
- Beebo, A., Thomas, D., Der, C., Sanchez, L., Leborgne-Castel, N., Marty, F., Schoefs,
 B., and Bouhidel, K. 2009. Life with and without AtTIP1;1, an *Arabidopsis* aquaporin preferentially localized in the apposing tonoplasts of adjacent vacuoles. *Plant Mol. Biol.*, **70**, 193–209.
- **Begg JE, Turner NC.** 1970. Water Potential Gradients in Field Tobacco. *Plant Physiology* **46**(2), 343

Birol I, Raymond A, Jackman SD, Pleasance S, Coope R, Taylor GA, Saint Yuen MM,

Keeling CI, Brand D, Vandervalk BP, Kirk H, Pandoh P, Moore RA, Zhao YJ, Mungall AJ, Jaquish B, Yanchuk A, Ritland C, Boyle B, Bousquet J, Ritland K, MacKay J, Bohlmann J, Jones SJM. 2013. Assembling the 20 Gb white spruce (Picea glauca) genome from whole-genome shotgun sequencing data. *Bioinformatics* **29**(12), 1492-1497.

- **Blake TJ, Filho WS**. 1988. Drought tolerance, growth partitioning and vigor in eucalypt seedlings and rooted cuttings. *Tree Physiology* **4**, 325-335.
- Boucher JF, Munson AD, Bernier PY. 1995. Foliar absorption of dew influences shoot water potential and root growth in *Pinus strobus* seedlings. *Tree Physiology* 15(12), 819-823.
- **Braissant O, Wahli W. 1998.** A simplified in situ hybridization protocol using nonradioactively labeled probes to detect abundant and rare mRNAs on tissue sections. *Biochemica* **1**, 10-16.
- Breshears DD, McDowell NG, Goddard KL, Dayem KE, Martens SN, Meyer CW, Brown KM. 2008. Foliar absorption of intercepted rainfall improves woody plant water status most during drought. *Ecology* **89**(1), 41-47.
- **Brodribb TJ, Holbrook NM, Edwards EJ, Gutiérrez MV**. 2003. Relations between stomatal closure, leaf turgor and xylem vulnerability in eight tropical dry forest trees. *Plant, Cell and Environment* **26**, 443–450.
- **Brodribb TJ, Holbrook NM**. 2005. Water stress deforms tracheids peripheral to the leaf vein of a tropical conifer **137**, 1139–1146.
- Brodribb TJ, Holbrook NM. 2004. Stomatal protection against hydraulic failure: a comparison of coexisting ferns and angiosperms. *New Phytologist* 162(3), 663–670.

Burgess SSO, Dawson TE. 2004. The contribution of fog to the water relations of

Sequoia sempervirens (D. Don): foliar uptake and prevention of dehydration. *Plant Cell and Environment* **27**(8), 1023-1034.

- Burkhardt J, Basi S, Pariyar S, Hunsche M. 2012. Stomatal penetration by aqueous solutions – an update involving leaf surface particles. *New Phytologist* **196**(3), 774-787.
- Calvo-Polanco, M., Molina, S., Zamarreño, A. M., García-Mina, J. M., and Aroca, R. 2014. The Symbiosis with the arbuscular mycorrhizal fungus *Rhizophagus irregularis* drives root water transport in flooded tomato plants. *Plant Cell Physiol.*, **55**, 1017–29.
- **Carbrey, J. M. and Agre, P.** 2009. Discovery of the aquaporins and development of the field. In, Beitz, E. (ed), *Aquaporins*. Springer-Verlag, Berlin, Heidelberg, pp. 3–28.
- **Chang S, Puryear J, Cairney J.** 1993. A simple and efficient method for isolating RNA from pine trees. *Plant Molecular Biology Reporter* **11**(2), 113-116.
- Chaumont F, Barrieu F, Wojcik E, Chrispeels MJ, Jung R. 2001. Aquaporins constitute a large and highly divergent protein family in maize. *Plant Physiology* 125(3), 1206-1215.
- **Chaumont, F., Moshelion, M., and Daniels, M. J.** 2005. Regulation of plant aquaporin activity. *Biol. cell under auspices Eur. Cell Biol. Organ.*, **97**, 749–764.
- **Chaumont, F. and Tyerman, S. D.** 2014. Aquaporins: highly regulated channels controlling plant water relations. *Plant Physiol.*, **164**, 1600–1618.
- **Chen, K. and Arora, R.** 2014. Understanding the cellular mechanism of recovery from freeze-thaw injury in spinach: possible role of aquaporins, heat shock proteins, dehydrin and antioxidant system. *Physiol. Plant.*, **150**, 374–87.
- Chitarra W, Balestrini R, Vitali M, Pagliarani C, Perrone I, Schubert A, Lovisolo C.

2014. Gene expression in vessel-associated cells upon xylem embolism repair in *Vitis vinifera* L. petioles. *Planta* **239**, 887–899.

- Christman MA, Sperry JS, Smith DD. 2012. Rare pits, large vessels and extreme vulnerability to cavitation in a ring-porous tree species. *New Phytologist* 193: 713–720.
- **Chou K-C, Shen H-B.** 2010. Plant-mPLoc: A top-down strategy to augment the power for predicting plant protein subcellular localization. *Plos One* **5**(6), e11335.
- Clarkson DT, Carvajal M, Henzler T, Waterhouse RN, Smyth AJ, Cooke DT, Steudle
 E. 2000. Root hydraulic conductance: diurnal aquaporin expression and the effects of nutrient stress. *Journal of Experimental Botany* 51, 61-70.
- **Claros MG, von Heijne G.** 1994. TopPred-II an improved software for membraneprotein structure predictions. *Computer Applications in the Biosciences* **10**(6), 685-686.
- **Clifford SC, Arndt SK, Popp M, Jones HG.** 2002. Mucilages and polysaccharides in *Ziziphus* species (Rhamnaceae): localization, composition and physiological roles during drought-stress. *Journal of Experimental Botany* **53**(366), 131-138.
- **Cohen D, Bogeat-Triboulot MB, Vialet-Chabrand S, Merret R, Courty PE, Moretti S, Bizet F, Guilliot A, Hummel I**. 2013. Developmental and environmental regulation of aquaporin gene expression across *Populus* species: divergence or redundancy? *PloS One* **8**(2), e55506.
- Cui, X.-H., Hao, F.-S., Chen, H., Chen, J., and Wang, X.-C. 2008. Expression of the Vicia faba VfPIP1 gene in Arabidopsis thaliana plants improves their drought resistance. J. Plant Res., 121, 207–14.
- **Daniels MJ, Mirkov TE, Chrispeels MJ.** 1994. The plasma membrane of *Arabidopsis thaliana* contains a mercury-insensitive aquaporin that is a homolog of the

tonoplast water channel protein TIP. *Plant Physiology* **106**(4), 1325–33.

- **Daniels MJ, Chaumont F, Mirkov TE, Chrispeels MJ**. 1996. Characterization of a new vacuolar membrane aquaporin sensitive to mercury at a unique site. *The Plant Cell* **8**, 587–599.
- **Danielson, J. a H. and Johanson, U.** 2008. Unexpected complexity of the aquaporin gene family in the moss *Physcomitrella patens*. *BMC Plant Biol.*, **8**, 45.
- Ding, X., Iwasaki, I., and Kitagawa, Y. 2004. Overexpression of a lily PIP1 gene in tobacco increased the osmotic water permeability of leaf cells. *Plant, Cell Environ.*, 27, 177–186.
- Dixon, H. 1914. Transpiration and the ascent of sap in plants Macmillan, London.
- **Eller CB, Lima AL, Oliveira RS.** 2013. Foliar uptake of fog water and transport belowground alleviates drought effects in the cloud forest tree species, *Drimys brasiliensis* (Winteraceae). *New Phytologist* **199**(1), 151-162.
- **Ferguson, I. B. and Clarkson, D. T.** 1976. Ion uptake in relation to the development of a root hypodermis. *New Phytol.*, **77**, 11–14.
- Fetter, K., Wilder, V. Van, Moshelion, M., Chaumont, F., and Van Wilder, V. 2004. Interactions between plasma membrane aquaporins modulate their water channel activity. *Plant Cell*, 16, 215–228.
- Flexas, J., Ribas-Carbó, M., Hanson, D. T., Bota, J., Otto, B., Cifre, J., McDowell, N., Medrano, H., and Kaldenhoff, R. 2006. Tobacco aquaporin NtAQP1 is involved in mesophyll conductance to CO2 in vivo. *Plant J.*, 48, 427–39.
- Fouquet R, Léon C, Ollat N, Barrieu F. 2008. Identification of grapevine aquaporins and expression analysis in developing berries. *Plant Cell Reports* 27(9), 1541– 50.

- **Fraysse, L. C., Wells, B., McCann, M. C., and Kjellbom, P.** 2005. Specific plasma membrane aquaporins of the PIP1 subfamily are expressed in sieve elements and guard cells. *Biol. Cell*, **97**, 519–34.
- **Froger, a, Tallur, B., Thomas, D., and Delamarche, C.** 1998. Prediction of functional residues in water channels and related proteins. *Protein Sci.*, **7**, 1458–68.
- Galmés J, Pou A, Alsina MM, Tomàs M, Medrano H, Flexas J. 2007. Aquaporin expression in response to different water stress intensities and recovery in Richter-110 (*Vitis* sp.): relationship with ecophysiological status. *Planta* 226 (3), 671–81.
- **Goldsmith GR.** 2013. Changing directions: the atmosphere–plant–soil continuum. *New Phytologist* **199**(1), 4-6.
- **Goldsmith GR, Matzke NJ, Dawson TE.** 2013. The incidence and implications of clouds for cloud forest plant water relations. *Ecology Letters* **16**(3), 307-314.
- Gomes D, Agasse A, Thiébaud P, Delrot S, Gerós H, Chaumont F. 2009. Aquaporins are multifunctional water and solute transporters highly divergent in living organisms. *Biochimica et Biophysica Acta (BBA) - Biomembranes* **1788**, 1213-1228.
- Gonen, T. and Walz, T. 2006. The structure of aquaporins. *Q. Rev. Biophys.*, **39**, 361–396.
- Gong HQ, Peng YB, Zou C, Wang DH, Xu ZH, Bai SN. 2006. A simple treatment to significantly increase signal specificity in im munohistochemistry. *Plant Molecular Biology Reporter* **24**, 93–101.
- Guo, L., Wang, Z. Y., Lin, H., Cui, W. E., Chen, J., Liu, M., Chen, Z. L., Qu, L. J., and Gu,H. 2006. Expression and functional analysis of the rice plasma-membrane

intrinsic protein gene family. Cell Res., 16, 277–86.

- **Gupta, A. B. and Sankararamakrishnan, R.** 2009. Genome-wide analysis of major intrinsic proteins in the tree plant *Populus trichocarpa*: characterization of XIP subfamily of aquaporins from evolutionary perspective. *BMC Plant Biol.*, **9**, 134.
- Gustavsson, S., Lebrun, A., and Norde, K. 2005. A novel plant major intrinsic protein in *Physcomitrella patens* most similar to bacterial glycerol channels 1. 139, 287–295.
- Hachez C, Heinen RB, Draye X, Chaumont F. 2008. The expression pattern of plasma membrane aquaporins in maize leaf highlights their role in hydraulic regulation. *Plant Molecular Biology* 68(4-5), 337-353.Hachez, C., Moshelion, M., Zelazny, E., Cavez, D., and Chaumont, F. 2006. Localization and quantification of plasma membrane aquaporin expression in maize primary root: a clue to understanding their role as cellular plumbers. *Plant Mol. Biol.*, 62, 305–23.
- Hacke UG, Jacobsen AL, Brandon Pratt R, Maurel C, Lachenbruch B, Zwiazek J. 2012. New research on plant-water relations examines the molecular, structural, and physiological mechanisms of plant responses to their environment. *New Phytologist* **196**, 345-348.
- Hacke UG, Jansen S. 2009. Embolism resistance of three boreal conifer species varies with pit structure. *New Phytologist* **182**(3), 675-686.
- Hacke U, Sauter JJ. 1995. Vulnerability of xylem to embolism in relation to leaf water potential and stomatal conductance in *Fagus sylvatica* f. *purpurea* and *Populus balsamifera*. *Journal of Experimental Botany* 46, 1177-1183.
- Hacke UG, Sperry JS, Ewers BE, Ellsworth DS, Schäfer KVR, Oren R. 2000. Influence of soil porosity on water use in *Pinus taeda*. *Oecologia* **124**(4), 495–505.

- Hakman I, Oliviusson P. 2002. High expression of putative aquaporin genes in cells with transporting and nutritive functions during seed development in Norway spruce (*Picea abies*). *Journal of Experimental Botany* 53(369), 639-649.
- **Hales, S.** 1727. Vegetable staticks: or an account of some statical experiments on the sap in vegetables, etc. W. and J. Innys and T. Woodward, London.
- Hanba, Y. T., Shibasaka, M., Hayashi, Y., Hayakawa, T., Kasamo, K., Terashima, I., and Katsuhara, M. 2004. Overexpression of the barley aquaporin HvPIP2;1 increases internal CO₂ conductance and CO₂ assimilation in the leaves of transgenic rice plants. *Plant Cell Physiol.*, 45, 521–9.
- Harvengt, P., Vlerick, A., Fuks, B., Wattiez, R., Ruysschaert, J. M., and Homble, F. 2000. Lentil seed aquaporins form a hetero-oligomer which is phosphorylated by a Mg²⁺-dependent and Ca²⁺-regulated kinase. *Biochem. J.*, **190**, 183–190.
- Hedfalk K, Tornroth-Horsefield S, Nyblom M, Johanson U, Kjellbom P, Neutze R. 2006. Aquaporin gating. *Current Opinion in Structural Biology* **16**, 447-456.
- Heinen RB, Ye Q, Chaumont F. 2009. Role of aquaporins in leaf physiology. *Journal of Experimental Botany* **60**, 2971–2985.
- Henzler T, Waterhouse RN, Smyth AJ, Carvajal M, Cooke DT, Schaffner AR, Steudle E, Clarkson DT. 1999. Diurnal variations in hydraulic conductivity and root pressure can be correlated with the expression of putative aquaporins in the roots of *Lotus japonicus*. *Planta* **210**, 50-60.
- Hill AE, Shachar-Hill B, Shachar-Hill Y. 2004. What are aquaporins for? *Journal of Membrane Biology* **197**, 1-32.
- Hinckley, T. M., Brooks, J. R., Cermák, J., Ceulemans, R., Kucera, J., Meinzer, F. C., and Roberts, D. a. 1994. Water flux in a hybrid poplar stand. *Tree Physiol.*, 14,
1005–1018.

- Horton P, Park KJ, Obayashi T, Fujita N, Harada H, Adams-Collier CJ, Nakai K. 2007. WoLF PSORT: protein localization predictor. *Nucleic Acids Research* **35**, W585-W587.
- Hove, R. M. and Bhave, M. 2011. Plant aquaporins with non-aqua functions: deciphering the signature sequences. *Plant Mol. Biol.*, **75**, 413–30.
- Hsiao, T. C. and Xu, L. K. 2000. Sensitivity of growth of roots versus leaves to water stress: biophysical analysis and relation to water transport. *J. Exp. Bot.*, 51, 1595–616.
- Hu, W., Yuan, Q., Wang, Y., Cai, R., Deng, X., Wang, J., Zhou, S., Chen, M., Chen, L., Huang, C., et al. 2012. Overexpression of a wheat aquaporin gene, TaAQP8, enhances salt stress tolerance in transgenic tobacco. *Plant Cell Physiol.*, 53, 2127–41.
- Huang XQ, Madan A. 1999. CAP3: A DNA sequence assembly program. *Genome Research* **9**(9), 868-877.
- Jang, H.-Y., Yang, S.-W., Carlson, J. E., Ku, Y.-G., and Ahn, S.-J. 2013. Two aquaporins of *Jatropha* are regulated differentially during drought stress and subsequent recovery. *J. Plant Physiol.*, **170**, 1028–1038.
- Jang, J. Y., Lee, S. H., Rhee, J. Y., Chung, G. C., Ahn, S. J., and Kang, H. 2007. Transgenic *Arabidopsis* and tobacco plants overexpressing an aquaporin respond differently to various abiotic stresses. *Plant Mol. Biol.*, **64**, 621–32.
- Jang, J. Y., Rhee, J. Y., Kim, D. G., Chung, G. C., Lee, J. H., and Kang, H. 2007. Ectopic expression of a foreign aquaporin disrupts the natural expression patterns of endogenous aquaporin genes and alters plant responses to different stress

conditions. *Plant Cell Physiol.*, **48**, 1331–9.

- Javot, H., Lauvergeat, V., Santoni, V., Martin-Laurent, F., Güçlü, J., Vinh, J., Heyes, J., Franck, K. I., Schäffner, A. R., Bouchez, D., et al. Role of a single aquaporin isoform in root water uptake. *Society*, 15, 509–522.
- Javot H, Maurel C. 2002. The role of aquaporins in root water uptake. *Annals of Botany* **90**, 301-313.
- Johanson, U., Karlsson, M., Johansson, I., Gustavsson, S., Sjövall, S., Fraysse, L., Weig, A. R., and Kjellbom, P. 2001. The complete set of genes encoding major intrinsic proteins in *Arabidopsis* provides a framework for a new nomenclature for major intrinsic proteins in plants. *Plant Physiol.*, **126**, 1358–1369.
- Johansson, I., Karlsson, M., Shukla, V. K., Chrispeels, M. J., Larsson, C., and Kjellbom, P. 1998. Water transport activity of the plasma membrane aquaporin PM28A is regulated by phosphorylation. *Plant Cell*, **10**, 451–9.
- **Johansson, I., Larsson, C., Ek, B., and Kjellbom, P.** 1996. The major integral proteins of spinach leaf plasma membranes are putative aquaporins and are phosphorylated in response to Ca²⁺ and apoplastic water potential. *Plant Cell*, **8**, 1181–1191.
- Johansson, T. and Hjelm, B. 2012. Stump and root biomass of poplar stands. *Forests*, **3**, 166–178.
- Johnson DM, McCulloh KA, Meinzer FC, Woodruff DR, Eissenstat DM. 2011. Hydraulic patterns and safety margins, from stem to stomata, in three eastern U.S. tree species. *Tree Physiology* **31**(6), 659–68.
- **Johnson DM, Mcculloh KA, Woodruff DR, Meinzer FC**. 2012. Evidence for xylem embolism as a primary factor in dehydration-induced declines in leaf hydraulic

Conductance. *Plant, Cell and Environment* **35**, 760–769.

- Johnson, K. D. and Chrispeels, M. J. 1992. Tonoplast-bound protein kinase phosphorylates tonoplast intrinsic protein. *Plant Physiol.*, **100**, 1787–95.
- Jones HG, Sutherland R. 1991. Stomatal control of xylem embolism. *Plant Cell and Environment* **14**, 607-612.
- Jones HG, Tardieu F. 1998. Modelling water relations of horticultural crops: a review. *Scientia Horticulturae* **74**, 21-46.
- Jones, A. M., Xuan, Y., Xu, M., Wang, R.-S., Ho, C.-H., Lalonde, S., You, C. H., Sardi, M. I., Parsa, S. A., Smith-Valle, E., et al. 2014. Border control--A membrane-linked interactome of *Arabidopsis*. *Science (80-.).*, 344, 711–716.
- Kaldenhoff, R. and Fischer, M. 2006. Functional aquaporin diversity in plants. *Biochim. Biophys. Acta*, **1758**, 1134–1141.
- Kaldenhoff, R., Grote, K., Zhu, J. J., and Zimmermann, U. 1998. Significance of plasmalemma aquaporins for water-transport in *Arabidopsis thaliana*. *Plant J.*, 14, 121–8.
- Kamaluddin M, Zwiazek JJ. 2004. Effects of root medium pH on water transport in paper birch (*Betula papyrifera*) seedlings in relation to root temperature and abscisic acid treatments. *Tree Physiology* 24, 1173-1180.
- **Kammerloher W, Fischer U, Piechottka GP, Schaffner AR**. 1994. Water channels in the plant plasma-membrane cloned by immunoselection from a mammalian expression system. *The Plant Journal* **6**, 187–199.
- **Karlgren A, Carlsson J, Gyllenstrand N, Lagercrantz U, Sundström JF.** 2009. Nonradioactive in situ hybridization protocol applicable for Norway spruce and a range of plant species. *Journal of Visualized Experiments* **26**, 1205.

- Katsuhara, M., Koshio, K., Shibasaka, M., Hayashi, Y., Hayakawa, T., and Kasamo,
 K. 2003. Over-expression of a barley aquaporin increased the shoot/root ratio and raised salt sensitivity in transgenic rice plants. *Plant Cell Physiol.*, 44, 1378–83.
- **Katz C, Oren R, D SE, Milburn JA.** 1989. Uptake of water and solutes through twigs of *Picea abies* (L.) Karst. *Trees* **3**(1), 33-37.
- Kawase, M., Hanba, Y. T., and Katsuhara, M. 2013. The photosynthetic response of tobacco plants overexpressing ice plant aquaporin McMIPB to a soil water deficit and high vapor pressure deficit. *J. Plant Res.*, **126**, 517–27.
- Kelly, G., Sade, N., Attia, Z., Secchi, F., Zwieniecki, M., Holbrook, N. M., Levi, A., Alchanatis, V., Moshelion, M., and Granot, D. 2014. Relationship between hexokinase and the aquaporin PIP1 in the regulation of photosynthesis and plant growth. *PLoS One*, 9, e87888.
- Kirch HH, Vera-estrella R, Golldack D, Quigley F, Michalowski CB, Barkla BJ, Bohnert HJ. 2000. Expression of water channel proteins in Mesembryanthemum crystallinum. Plant Physiology 123, 111–124.
- Kleiner, S. 1999. Water: An essential but overlooked nutrient. *J. Am. Diet. Assoc.*, **99**, 200–206.
- Koch, G. W., Sillett, S. C., Jennings, G. M., and Davis, S. D. 2004. The limits to tree height. *Nature*, 428, 851–4.
- Kong, Y. and Ma, J. 2001. Dynamic mechanisms of the membrane water channel aquaporin-1 (AQP1). *Proc. Natl. Acad. Sci. U. S. A.*, **98**, 14345–9.
- **Kozlowski, T. T. and Pallardy, S. G.** 1997. The woody plant body. In, Kozlowski, T. T. and Pallardy, S. G. (eds), *Physiology of woody plants*. Academic Press, San Diego.

- **Larson PR, Isebrands JG**. 1971. The plastochron index as applied to developmental studies of cottonwood. *Canadian Journal of Forest Research* **1**(1), 1–11.
- Laur, J. and Hacke, U. G. 2013. Transpirational demand affects aquaporin expression in poplar roots. *J. Exp. Bot.*, **64**, 2283–93.
- Laur, J. and Hacke, U. G. 2014. Exploring *Picea glauca* aquaporins in the context of needle water uptake and xylem refilling. *New Phytol.*
- Lee, H. K., Cho, S. K., Son, O., Xu, Z., Hwang, I., and Kim, W. T. 2009. Drought stressinduced Rma1H1, a RING membrane-anchor E3 ubiquitin ligase homolog, regulates aquaporin levels via ubiquitination in transgenic *Arabidopsis* plants. *Plant Cell*, 21, 622–641.
- Lee, S. H., Chung, G. C., Jang, J. Y., Ahn, S. J., and Zwiazek, J. J. 2012. Overexpression of PIP2;5 aquaporin alleviates effects of low root temperature on cell hydraulic conductivity and growth in *Arabidopsis*. *Plant Physiol.*, **159**, 479–88.
- Levin M, Resnick N, Rosianskey Y, Kolotilin I, Wininger S, Lemcoff JH, Cohen S, Galili G, Koltai H, Kapulnik Y. 2009. Transcriptional profiling of *Arabidopsis thaliana* plants' response to low relative humidity suggests a shoot-root communication. *Plant Science* **177**, 450-459.
- Li, D.-D., Ruan, X.-M., Zhang, J., Wu, Y.-J., Wang, X.-L., and Li, X.-B. 2013. Cotton plasma membrane intrinsic protein 2s (PIP2s) selectively interact to regulate their water channel activities and are required for fibre development. *New Phytol.*, **199**, 695–707.
- Li, G., Santoni, V., and Maurel, C. 2013. Plant aquaporins: Roles in plant physiology. *Biochim. Biophys. Acta*.
- Li, G.-W., Zhang, M.-H., Cai, W.-M., Sun, W.-N., and Su, W.-A. 2008. Characterization

of OsPIP2;7, a water channel protein in rice. *Plant Cell Physiol.*, **49**, 1851–8.

- Lian, H.-L., Yu, X., Ye, Q., Ding, X., Kitagawa, Y., Kwak, S.-S., Su, W.-A., Tang, Z.-C., and Ding, X.-S. 2004. The role of aquaporin RWC3 in drought avoidance in rice. *Plant Cell Physiol.*, **45**, 481–9.
- **Liesche J, Martens HJ, Schulz A.** 2011. Symplasmic transport and phloem loading in gymnosperm leaves. *Protoplasma* **248**(1), 181-190.
- Limm EB, Simonin KA, Bothman AG, Dawson TE. 2009. Foliar water uptake: a common water acquisition strategy for plants of the redwood forest. *Oecologia* 161(3), 449-459.
- Lin, W., Peng, Y., Li, G., Arora, R., Tang, Z., Su, W., and Cai, W. 2007. Isolation and functional characterization of PgTIP1, a hormone-autotrophic cells-specific tonoplast aquaporin in ginseng. J. Exp. Bot., 58, 947–56.
- Liu, C., Fukumoto, T., Matsumoto, T., Gena, P., Frascaria, D., Kaneko, T., Katsuhara, M., Zhong, S., Sun, X., Zhu, Y., et al. 2013. Aquaporin OsPIP1;1 promotes rice salt resistance and seed germination. *Plant Physiol. Biochem.*, 63, 151–8.
- Liu, Y., Liu, M., Li, X., Cao, B., and Ma, X. 2014. Identification of Differentially Expressed genes in leaf of *Reaumuria soongorica* under PEG-induced drought stress by digital gene expression profiling. *PLoS One*, **9**, e94277.
- **Livak KJ, Schmittgen TD**. 2001. Analysis of relative gene expression data using realtime quantitative PCR and the $2^{-\Delta\Delta CT}$ method. *Methods* **25**(4), 402–408.
- Lo Gullo MA, Nardini A, Salleo S, Tyree MT. 1998. Changes in root hydraulic conductance (K_R) of *Olea oleaster* seedlings following drought stress and irrigation. *New Phytologist* **140**, 25-31.

- Lopez D, Bronner G, Brunel N, Auguin D, Bourgerie S, Brignolas F, Carpin S, Tournaire-Roux C, Maurel C, Fumanal B, Martin F, Sakr S, Label P, Julien JL, Gousset-Dupont A, Venisse JS. 2012. Insights into *Populus* XIP aquaporins: evolutionary expansion, protein functionality, and environmental regulation. *Journal of Experimental Botany*.
- Lopez F, Bousser A, Sissoëff I, Gaspar M, Lachaise B, Hoarau J, Mahé A. 2003. Diurnal regulation of water transport and aquaporin gene expression in maize roots: contribution of PIP2 proteins. *Plant and Cell Physiology* 44, 1384-1395.Ma, N., Xue, J., Li, Y., Liu, X., Dai, F., Jia, W., Luo, Y., and Gao, J. 2008. Rh-PIP2;1, a rose aquaporin gene, is involved in ethylene-regulated petal expansion. *Plant Physiol.*, 148, 894–907.
- Ma, S., Quist, T. M., Ulanov, A., Joly, R., and Bohnert, H. J. 2004. Loss of TIP1;1 aquaporin in *Arabidopsis* leads to cell and plant death. *Plant J.*, **40**, 845–59.
- Macey, R. I. 1984. Transport of water and urea in red blood cells. *Am. J. Physiol.*, **246**, C195–203.
- Marjanović, Z., Uwe, N., and Hampp, R. 2005. Mycorrhiza formation enhances adaptive response of hybrid poplar to drought. *Ann. N. Y. Acad. Sci.*, **1048**, 496–9.
- Martre P, Morillon M, Barrieu F, North GB, Nobel PS, Chrispeels MJ. 2002. Plasma membrane aquaporins play a significant role during recovery from water deficit. *Plant Physiology* **130**(4), 2101–2110.
- Matsumoto, T., Lian, H.-L., Su, W.-A., Tanaka, D., Liu, C. W., Iwasaki, I., and Kitagawa, Y. 2009. Role of the aquaporin PIP1 subfamily in the chilling tolerance of rice. *Plant Cell Physiol.*, **50**, 216–29.
- Maurel, C. 1997. Aquaporins and water permeability of plant membranes. Annu. Rev.

Plant Physiol. Plant Mol. Biol., **48**, 399–429.

- Maurel, C. 2007. Plant aquaporins: novel functions and regulation properties. *FEBS Lett.*, **581**, 2227–36.
- Maurel, C., Kado, R. T., Guern, J., and Chrispeels, M. J. 1995. Phosphorylation regulates the water channel activity of the seed specific aquaporin a-TIP. *EMBO J.*, 14, 3028–3035.
- Maurel, C., Verdoucq, L., Luu, D.-T., and Santoni, V. 2008. Plant aquaporins: membrane channels with multiple integrated functions. *Annu. Rev. Plant Biol.*, 59, 595–624.
- Mayr, S., Schmid, P., Laur, J., Rosner, S., Charra-Vaskou, K., Dämon, B., and Hacke,
 U. G. 2014. Uptake of water via branches helps timberline conifers refill embolized xylem in late winter. *Plant Physiol.*, 164, 1731–40.
- McCulloh KA, Johnson DM, Meinzer FC, Lachenbruch B. 2011. An annual pattern of native embolism in upper branches of four tall conifer species. *American Journal of Botany* 98(6), 1007-1015.
- McElrone AJ, Bichler J, Pockman WT, Addington RN, Linder CR, Jackson RB. 2007. Aquaporin-mediated changes in hydraulic conductivity of deep tree roots accessed via caves. *Plant Cell and Environment* **30**, 1411-1421
- **Mengel, K.** 1978. Principles of plant nutritrion Institute, S. I. P. (ed) International Potash Institute.
- **Moreshet, S. and Huck, M.** 1991. Dynamics of water permeability. In, Waisel, Y., Eshel, A., and Kafkafi, U. (eds), *Plant Roots: the hidden half*. Marcel Dekker, New York, NY, pp. 605–626.
- Murata, a, Gallese, V., Luppino, G., Kaseda, M., and Sakata, H. 2000. Selectivity for

the shape, size, and orientation of objects for grasping in neurons of monkey parietal area AIP. *J. Neurophysiol.*, **83**, 2580–601.

- Murata, K., Mitsuoka, K., Hirai, T., Walz, T., Agre, P., Heymann, J. B., Engel, a, and Fujiyoshi, Y. 2000. Structural determinants of water permeation through aquaporin-1. *Nature*, 407, 599–605.
- **Murphy, R.** 2000. Some compartmental models of the root: steady-state behavior. *J. Theor. Biol.*, **207**, 557–76.
- Nadezhdina N, David TS, David JS, Ferreira MI, Dohnal M, Tesař M, Gartner K, Leitgeb E, Nadezhdin V, Cermak J, Jimenez MS, Morales D. 2010. Trees never rest: the multiple facets of hydraulic redistribution. *Ecohydrology* **3**(4), 431-444.
- Nardini A, Lo Gullo MA, Salleo S. 2011. Refilling embolized xylem conduits: is it a matter of phloem unloading? *Plant Science* **180**(4), 604–611.
- Nardini A, Luglio J. 2014. Leaf hydraulic capacity and drought vulnerability: possible trade-offs and correlations with climate across three major biomes." *Functional Ecology* in press
- Nardini A, Salleo S, Raimondo F. 2003. Changes in leaf hydraulic conductance correlate with leaf vein embolism in *Cercis siliquastrum* L. *Trees - Structure and Function* 17(6), 529–534.
- Néron B, Ménager H, Maufrais C, Joly N, Maupetit J, Letort S, Carrere S, Tuffery P, Letondal C. 2009. Mobyle: a new full web bioinformatics framework. *Bioinformatics* 25(22), 3005-3011.
- North GB, Lynch FH, Maharaj FDR, Phillips CA, Woodside WT. 2013. Leaf hydraulic conductance for a tank bromeliad: axial and radial pathways for moving and

conserving water. Frontiers in Plant Science 4.

- **North GB, Martre P, Nobel**. PS 2004. Aquaporins account for variations in hydraulic conductance for metabolically active root regions of *Agave deserti* in wet, dry, and rewetted soil. *Plant, Cell and Environment* **27**(2), 219–228.
- **Nejad AR, van Meeteren U**. 2007. The role of abscisic acid in disturbed stomatal response characteristics of *Tradescantia virginiana* during growth at high relative air humidity. *Journal of Experimental Botany* **58**, 627-636.
- Nystedt B, Street NR, Wetterbom A, Zuccolo A, Lin YC, Scofield DG, Vezzi F, Delhomme N, Giacomello S, Alexeyenko A, Vicedomini R, Sahlin K, Sherwood E, Elfstrand M, Gramzow L, Holmberg K, Hallman J, Keech O, Klasson L, Koriabine M, Kucukoglu M, Kaller M, Luthman J, Lysholm F, Niittyla T, Olson A, Rilakovic N, Ritland C, Rossello JA, Sena J, Svensson T, Talavera-Lopez C, Theissen G, Tuominen H, Vanneste K, Wu ZQ, Zhang B, Zerbe P, Arvestad L, Bhalerao R, Bohlmann J, Bousquet J, Gil RG, Hvidsten TR, de Jong P, MacKay J, Morgante M, Ritland K, Sundberg B, Thompson SL, Van de Peer Y, Andersson B, Nilsson O, Ingvarsson PK, Lundeberg J, Jansson S. 2013. The Norway spruce genome sequence and conifer genome evolution. *Nature* 497(7451), 579-584.
- **Ohrui T, Nobira H, Sakata Y, Taji T, Yamamoto C, Nishida K, Yamakawa T, Sasuga Y, Yaguchi Y, Takenaga H, Tanaka S.** 2007. Foliar trichome- and aquaporinaided water uptake in a drought-resistant epiphyte *Tillandsia ionantha* Planchon. *Planta* **227**(1), 47-56.
- **Okubo-Kurihara, E., Sano, T., Higaki, T., Kutsuna, N., and Hasezawa, S.** 2009. Acceleration of vacuolar regeneration and cell growth by overexpression of an aquaporin NtTIP1;1 in tobacco BY-2 cells. *Plant Cell Physiol.*, **50**, 151–60.

Oliveira RS, Dawson TE, Burgess SSO. 2005. Evidence for direct water absorption by

the shoot of the desiccation-tolerant plant *Vellozia flavicans* in the savannas of central Brazil. *Journal of Tropical Ecology* **21**, 585-588.

- Oliviusson P, Salaj J, Hakman I. 2001. Expression pattern of transcripts encoding water channel-like proteins in Norway spruce (*Picea abies*). *Plant Molecular Biology* **46**(3), 289-299.
- Park, W., Scheffler, B. E., Bauer, P. J., and Campbell, B. T. 2010. Identification of the family of aquaporin genes and their expression in upland cotton (*Gossypium hirsutum* L.). *BMC Plant Biol.*, **10**, 142.
- Pavy N, Boyle B, Nelson C, Paule C, Giguère I, Caron S, Parsons LS, Dallaire N, Bedon F, Berube H, Cooke J, Mackay J. 2008. Identification of conserved core xylem gene sets: conifer cDNA microarray development, transcript profiling and computational analyses. *The New Phytologist* 180(4), 766–86.
- Peng, Y., Arora, R., Li, G., Wang, X., and Fessehaie, A. 2008. *Rhododendron catawbiense* plasma membrane intrinsic proteins are aquaporins, and their over-expression compromises constitutive freezing tolerance and cold acclimation ability of transgenic *Arabidopsis* plants. *Plant. Cell Environ.*, **31**, 1275–89.
- **Peng, Y., Lin, W., Cai, W., and Arora, R.** 2007. Overexpression of a *Panax ginseng* tonoplast aquaporin alters salt tolerance, drought tolerance and cold acclimation ability in transgenic *Arabidopsis* plants. *Planta*, **226**, 729–40.
- Perrone, I., Pagliarani, C., Lovisolo, C., Chitarra, W., Roman, F., and Schubert, A. 2012. Recovery from water stress affects grape leaf petiole transcriptome. *Planta*, 235, 1383–96.
- **Perumalla, C. J. and Peterson, C. a.** 1986. Deposition of Casparian bands and suberin lamellae in the exodermis and endodermis of young corn and onion roots. *Can.*

J. Bot., **64**, 1873–1878.

- **Peterson, C. A.** 1988. Exodermal Casparian bands : their significance for ion uptake by roots. *Physiol. Plant.*, **72**, 204–208.
- Pezeshki SR, Hinckley TM. 1982. The stomatal response of red alder and black cottonwood to changing water status. *Canadian Journal of Forest Research* 12(4), 761–771.
- **Plavcova L, Hacke UG**. 2012. Phenotypic and developmental plasticity of xylem in hybrid poplar saplings subjected to experimental drought, nitrogen fertilization, and shading. *Journal of Experimental Botany* **63**, 6481–6491
- Postaire, O., Tournaire-Roux, C., Grondin, A., Boursiac, Y., Morillon, R., Schäffner,
 A. R., and Maurel, C. 2010. A PIP1 aquaporin contributes to hydrostatic pressure-induced water transport in both the root and rosette of *Arabidopsis*. *Plant Physiol.*, 152, 1418–1430.
- **Pou A, Medrano H, Flexas J, Tyerman SD**. 2012. A putative role for TIP and PIP aquaporins in dynamics of leaf hydraulic and stomatal conductances in grapevine under water stress and re-watering. *Plant Cell Environment*.
- Prado, K., Boursiac, Y., Tournaire-Roux, C., Monneuse, J.-M., Postaire, O., Da Ines, O., Schäffner, A. R., Hem, S., Santoni, V., and Maurel, C. 2013. Regulation of *Arabidopsis* leaf hydraulics involves light-dependent phosphorylation of aquaporins in veins. *Plant Cell*, 25, 1029–39.
- **Prado K, Maurel C**. 2013. Regulation of leaf hydraulics: from molecular to whole plant levels. *Frontiers in Plant Science* **4**, 255.
- Prak, S., Hem, S., Boudet, J., Viennois, G., Sommerer, N., Rossignol, M., Maurel, C., and Santoni, V. 2008. Multiple phosphorylations in the C-terminal tail of plant plasma membrane aquaporins: role in subcellular trafficking of AtPIP2;1 in

response to salt stress. Mol. Cell. proteomics MCP, 7, 1019–1030.

- Preston, G. M., Carroll, T. P., Guggino, W. B., and Agre, P. 1992. Appearance of water channels in *Xenopus* oocytes expressing red cell CHIP28 protein. *Science*, 256, 385–7.
- **Quigley F, Rosenberg JM, Shachar-Hill Y, Bohnert HJ.** 2002. From genome to function: the Arabidopsis aquaporins. *Genome Biology* **3**(1), research0001.1–research0001.17.
- Reisen, D., Leborgne-Castel, N., Ozalp, C., Chaumont, F., and Marty, F. 2003. Expression of a cauliflower tonoplast aquaporin tagged with GFP in tobacco suspension cells correlates with an increase in cell size. *Plant Mol. Biol.*, **52**, 387–400.
- **Rice P, Bleasby A, Ison J, Uludag M.** 2000. EMBOSS: The European Molecular Biology Open Software Suite. *Trends in Genetics* **16**, 276–277
- **Rigault P, Boyle B, Lepage P, Cooke JEK, Bousquet J, MacKay JJ.** 2011. A white spruce gene catalog for conifer genome analyses. *Plant Physiology* **157**(1), 14-28.
- **Romualdi C, Bortoluzzi S, D'Alessi F, Danieli GA.** 2003. IDEG6: a web tool for detection of differentially expressed genes in multiple tag sampling experiments. *Physiological Genomics* **12**(2), 159-162.
- **Rutledge RG**. 2011. A Java program for LRE-based real-time qPCR that enables largescale absolute quantification. *Plos One* **6**.
- **Rutledge RG, Stewart D**. 2008. A kinetic-based sigmoidal model for the polymerase chain reaction and its application to high-capacity absolute quantitative real-time PCR. *Bmc Biotechnology* **8**.

- **Rutledge RG, Stewart D**. 2010. Assessing the Performance Capabilities of LRE-Based Assays for Absolute Quantitative Real-Time PCR. *Plos One* **5**.
- **Sack L, Scoffoni C.** 2012. Measurement of leaf hydraulic conductance and stomatal conductance and their responses to irradiance and dehydration using the Evaporative Flux Method (EFM). *J Vis Exp.* **70**, 1–7.
- Sade, N., Gallé, A., Flexas, J., Lerner, S., Peleg, G., Yaaran, A., and Moshelion, M. 2014. Differential tissue-specific expression of NtAQP1 in *Arabidopsis thaliana* reveals a role for this protein in stomatal and mesophyll conductance of CO₂ under standard and salt-stress conditions. *Planta*, 239, 357–66.
- Sade, N., Gebretsadik, M., Seligmann, R., Schwartz, A., Wallach, R., and Moshelion,
 M. 2010. The role of tobacco Aquaporin1 in improving water use efficiency, hydraulic conductivity, and yield production under salt stress. *Plant Physiol.*, 152, 245–54.
- Sade, N., Vinocur, B. J., Diber, A., Shatil, A., Ronen, G., Nissan, H., Wallach, R., Karchi, H., and Moshelion, M. 2009. Improving plant stress tolerance and yield production: is the tonoplast aquaporin SITIP2;2 a key to isohydric to anisohydric conversion? *New Phytol.*, **181**, 651–61.
- Sakurai J, Ahamed A, Murai M, Maeshima M, Uemura M. 2008. Tissue and cellspecific localization of rice aquaporins and their water transport activities. *Plant Cell Physiol.* **49** (1), 30–9.
- Sakurai, J., Ishikawa, F., Yamaguchi, T., Uemura, M., and Maeshima, M. 2005. Identification of 33 rice aquaporin genes and analysis of their expression and function. *Plant Cell Physiol.*, 46, 1568–77.
- Sakurai-Ishikawa, J., Murai-Hatano, M., Hayashi, H., Ahamed, A., Fukushi, K., Matsumoto, T., and Kitagawa, Y. 2011. Transpiration from shoots triggers

diurnal changes in root aquaporin expression. *Plant. Cell Environ.*, **34**, 1150–63.

- Santoni, V., Verdoucq, L., Sommerer, N., Vinh, J., Pflieger, D., and Maurel, C. 2006. Methylation of aquaporins in plant plasma membrane. *Biochem. J.*, **400**, 189– 197.
- Schindelin J, Arganda-Carreras I, Frise E, Kaynig V, Longair M, Pietzsch T, Preibisch S, Rueden C, Saalfeld S, Schmid B, Tinevez J-Y, White DJ, Hartenstein V, Eliceiri K, Tomancak P, Cardona A. 2012. Fiji: an open-source platform for biological-image analysis. *Nature Methods* 9, 676-682
- Schoonmaker AL, Hacke UG, Landhausser SM, Lieffers VJ, Tyree MT. 2010. Hydraulic acclimation to shading in boreal conifers of varying shade tolerance. *Plant Cell and Environment* **33**(3), 382-393.
- Schreiber, S. G., Hamann, A., Hacke, U. G., and Thomas, B. R. 2013. Sixteen years of winter stress: an assessment of cold hardiness, growth performance and survival of hybrid poplar clones at a boreal planting site. *Plant. Cell Environ.*, 36, 419–28.
- Schultz, H. R. 2003. Differences in hydraulic architecture account for near- isohydric and anisohydric behaviour of two field-grown *Vitis vinifera* L . cultivars during drought. 1393–1405.
- Schüssler, M. D., Alexandersson, E., Bienert, G. P., Kichey, T., Laursen, K. H., Johanson, U., Kjellbom, P., Schjoerring, J. K., and Jahn, T. P. 2008. The effects of the loss of TIP1;1 and TIP1;2 aquaporins in *Arabidopsis* thaliana. *Plant J.*, 56, 756–67.
- **Scoffoni C, McKown AD, Rawls M, Sack L**. 2012. Dynamics of leaf hydraulic conductance with water status: quantification and analysis of species differences under steady state. *J Exp Bot.* **63**, 643–58.

- Secchi F, Lovisolo C, Schubert A. 2007. Expression of OePIP2.1 aquaporin gene and water relations of *Olea europaea* twigs during drought stress and recovery. *Ann Appl Biol.* **150**(2), 163–7.
- Secchi, F., MacIver, B., Zeidel, M. L., and Zwieniecki, M. A. 2009. Functional analysis of putative genes encoding the PIP2 water channel subfamily in *Populus trichocarpa*. *Tree Physiol.*, **29**, 1467–77.
- Secchi, F. and Zwieniecki, M.A. 2014. Down-regulation of plasma intrinsic protein1 aquaporin in poplar trees Is detrimental to recovery from embolism. *Plant Physiol.*, **164**, 1789–1799.
- Secchi, F. and Zwieniecki, M. A. 2010. Patterns of PIP gene expression in *Populus trichocarpa* during recovery from xylem embolism suggest a major role for the PIP1 aquaporin subfamily as moderators of refilling process. *Plant. Cell Environ.*, 33, 1285–97.
- **Secchi, F. and Zwieniecki, M. A.** 2013. The physiological response of *Populus tremula* x *alba* leaves to the down-regulation of PIP1 aquaporin gene expression under no water stress. *Front. Plant Sci.*, **4**, 507.
- **Shatil-Cohen A, Attia Z, Moshelion M**. 2011. Bundle-sheath cell regulation of xylemmesophyll water transport via aquaporins under drought stress: a target of xylem-borne ABA? *Plant J*. **67**(1), 72–80.
- Siefritz, F., Tyree, M. T., Lovisolo, C., Schubert, A., and Kaldenhoff, R. 2002. PIP1 plasma membrane aquaporins in tobacco. *Plant Cell*, **14**, 869–876.
- Sievers F, Wilm A, Dineen D, Gibson TJ, Karplus K, Li WZ, Lopez R, McWilliam H, Remmert M, Soding J, Thompson JD, Higgins DG. 2011. Fast, scalable generation of high-quality protein multiple sequence alignments using Clustal Omega. *Molecular Systems Biology* 7.

- Simonin KA, Santiago LS, Dawson TE. 2009. Fog interception by Sequoia sempervirens (D. Don) crowns decouples physiology from soil water deficit. Plant Cell and Environment 32(7), 882-892.
- Smith, B. L. and Agre, P. 1991. Erythrocyte Mr 28,000 transmembrane protein exists as a multisubunit oligomer similar to channel proteins. *J. Biol. Chem.*, 266, 6407–6415.
- Sparks JP, Black RA. 1999. Regulation of water loss in populations of *Populus trichocarpa*: The role of stomatal control in preventing xylem cavitation. *Tree Physiol.* 19, 453–9.
- Sparks JP, Campbell GS, Black RA. 2001. Water content, hydraulic conductivity, and ice formation in winter stems of *Pinus contorta*: a TDR case study. *Oecologia* 127(4), 468-475.
- **Sperry JS, Donnelly JR, Tyree MT.** 1988. A method for measuring hydraulic conductivity and embolism in xylem. *Plant, Cell and Environment* **11**(1), 35-40.
- **Sperry JS, Hacke UG, Oren R, Comstock JP**. 2002. Water deficits and hydraulic limits to leaf water supply. *Plant, Cell Environ*. **25**(2), 251–63.
- **Sperry JS, Nichols KL, Sullivan JEM, Eastlack SE.** 1994. Xylem embolism in ringporous, diffuse-porous, and coniferous trees of northern Utah and interior Alaska. *Ecology* **75**(6), 1736-1752.
- Sperry JS, Pockman WT. 1993. Limitation of transpiration by hydraulic conductance and xylem cavitation in *Betula occidentalis*. *Plant, Cell and Environment* 16, 279-287.
- Sreedharan, S., Shekhawat, U. K. S., and Ganapathi, T. R. 2013. Transgenic banana plants overexpressing a native plasma membrane aquaporin MusaPIP1;2 display high tolerance levels to different abiotic stresses. *Plant Biotechnol. J.*, **11**,

- **Steudle, E. and Frensch, J.** 1996. Water transport in plants: role of the apoplast. *Plant Soil*, **187**, 67–79.
- **Stiller V, Lafitte HR, Sperry JS**. 2003. Hydraulic properties of rice and the response of gas exchange to water stress. *Plant Physiol*. **132**, 1698–706.
- Stiller, V., Sperry, J. S., and Lafitte, R. 2005. Embolized conduits of rice (*Oryza sativa*, Poaceae) refill despite negative xylem pressure. *Am. J. Bot.*, **92**, 1970–1974.
- Suga, S., Murai, M., Kuwagata, T., and Maeshima, M. 2003. Differences in aquaporin levels among cell types of radish and measurement of osmotic water permeability of individual protoplasts. *Plant Cell Physiol.*, 44, 277–86.
- Sui, H., Han, B. G., Lee, J. K., Walian, P., and Jap, B. K. 2001. Structural basis of waterspecific transport through the AQP1 water channel. *Nature*, **414**, 872–8.
- Thompson JD, Plewniak F, Ripp R, Thierry JC, Poch O. 2001. Towards a reliable objective function for multiple sequence alignments. *Journal of Molecular Biology* 314(4), 937-951.
- Törnroth-Horsefield, S., Wang, Y., Hedfalk, K., Johanson, U., Karlsson, M., Tajkhorshid, E., Neutze, R., and Kjellbom, P. 2006. Structural mechanism of plant aquaporin gating. *Nature*, 439, 688–694.
- Tournaire-Roux, C., Sutka, M., Javot, H., Gout, E., Gerbeau, P., Luu, D.-T. T., Bligny,
 R., and Maurel, C. 2003. Cytosolic pH regulates root water transport during anoic stress through gating of aquaporins. *Nature*, 425, 393–397.
- **Trifilò, P., Gascó, A., Raimondo, F., Nardini, A., and Salleo, S.** 2003. Kinetics of recovery of leaf hydraulic conductance and vein functionality from cavitation-induced embolism in sunflower. *J. Exp. Bot.*, **54**, 2323–30.

- Tsuchihira, A., Hanba, Y. T., Kato, N., Doi, T., Kawazu, T., and Maeshima, M. 2010. Effect of overexpression of radish plasma membrane aquaporins on water-use efficiency, photosynthesis and growth of *Eucalyptus* trees. *Tree Physiol.*, **30**, 417–30.
- **Tyree, M. T.** 1997. The Cohesion-Tension theory of sap ascent : current controversies. *J. Exp. Bot.*, **48**, 1753–1765.
- **Tyree MT, Sperry JS**. 1988. Do woody plants operate near the point of catastrophic xylem dysfunction caused by dynamic water stress? answers from a model. *Plant Physiol.* **88**, 574–80.
- **Tyree, M. T. and Sperry, J. S.** 1989. Vulnerability of xylem to cavitation and embolism. *Annu. Rev. Plant Physiol. Plant Mol. Biol.*, **40**, 19–36.
- **Tyree MT, Velez V, Dalling JW**. 1998. Growth dynamics of root and shoot hydraulic conductance in seedlings of five neotropical tree species: Scaling to show possible adaptation to differing light regimes. *Oecologia* **114**, 293-298.
- **Uehlein, N., Lovisolo, C., Siefritz, F., and Kaldenhoff, R.** 2003. The tobacco aquaporin NtAQP1 is a membrane CO₂ pore with physiological functions. *Nature*, **425**, 734–7.
- **Uehlein, N., Sperling, H., Heckwolf, M., and Kaldenhoff, R.** 2012. The *Arabidopsis* aquaporin PIP1;2 rules cellular CO₂ uptake. *Plant. Cell Environ.*, **35**, 1077–83.
- Vandeleur RK, Mayo G, Shelden MC, Gilliham M, Kaiser BN, Tyerman SD. 2009. The role of plasma membrane intrinsic protein aquaporins in water transport through roots: Diurnal and drought stress responses reveal different strategies between isohydric and anisohydric cultivars of grapevine. *Plant Physiology* 149, 445-460.
- Vera-estrella, R., Barkla, B. J., Bohnert, H. J., and Pantoja, O. 2004. Novel regulation

of aquaporins during osmotic stress. **135**, 2318–2329.

- Wang, L.-L., Chen, A.-P., Zhong, N.-Q., Liu, N., Wu, X.-M., Wang, F., Yang, C.-L., Romero, M. F., and Xia, G.-X. 2014. The *Thellungiella salsuginea* tonoplast aquaporin TsTIP1;2 functions in protection against multiple abiotic stresses. *Plant Cell Physiol.*, 55, 148–61.
- Wang, X., Li, Y., Ji, W., Bai, X., Cai, H., Zhu, D., Sun, X.-L., Chen, L.-J., and Zhu, Y.-M. 2011. A novel *Glycine soja* tonoplast intrinsic protein gene responds to abiotic stress and depresses salt and dehydration tolerance in transgenic *Arabidopsis thaliana*. J. Plant Physiol., 168, 1241–8.
- Wayne, R. and Tazawa, M. 1990. Nature of the water channels in the internodal cells of *Nitellopsis. J. Membrane Biol.* **39**, 31–39.
- Wilkins O, Nahal H, Foong J, Provart NJ, Campbell MM. 2009. Expansion and diversification of the *Populus* R2R3-MYB family of transcription factors. *Plant Physiology* 149, 981-993.
- Wu, W., Peng, X., and Wang, D. 2009. Isolation of a plasmalemma aquaporin encoding gene StPIP1 from *Solanum tuberosum* L. and its expression in transgenic tobacco. *Agric. Sci. China*, 8, 1174–1186.
- Wudick, M. M., Luu, D.-T., and Maurel, C. 2009. A look inside: localization patterns and functions of intracellular plant aquaporins. *New Phytol.*, **184**, 289–302.
- Xu, C., Wang, M., Zhou, L., Quan, T., and Xia, G. 2013. Heterologous expression of the wheat aquaporin gene TaTIP2;2 compromises the abiotic stress tolerance of *Arabidopsis thaliana*. *PLoS One*, 8, e79618.
- Xu, Y., Hu, W., Liu, J., Zhang, J., Jia, C., Miao, H., Xu, B., and Jin, Z. 2014. A banana aquaporin gene, MaPIP1;1, is involved in tolerance to drought and salt stresses.

BMC Plant Biol., **14**, 59.

- **Yamada S, Bohnert HJ**. 2000. Expression of the PIP aquaporin promoter-MipA from the common ice plant in tobacco. *Plant & Cell Physiology* **41**(6), 719–25.
- Yu, Q., Hu, Y., Li, J., Wu, Q., and Lin, Z. 2005. Sense and antisense expression of plasma membrane aquaporin BnPIP1 from *Brassica napus* in tobacco and its effects on plant drought resistance. *Plant Sci.*, 169, 647–656.
- Zelazny, E., Borst, J. W., Muylaert, M., Batoko, H., Hemminga, M. a, and Chaumont,
 F. 2007. FRET imaging in living maize cells reveals that plasma membrane aquaporins interact to regulate their subcellular localization. *Proc. Natl. Acad. Sci. U. S. A.*, 104, 12359–64.
- **Zhang, J., Li, D., Zou, D., Luo, F., Wang, X., Zheng, Y., and Li, X.** 2013. A cotton gene encoding a plasma membrane aquaporin is involved in seedling development and in response to drought stress. 104–114.
- Zhang, N., Yang, J., Wang, Z., Wen, Y., Wang, J., He, W., Liu, B., Si, H., and Wang, D. 2014. Identification of novel and conserved microRNAs related to drought stress in potato by deep sequencing. *PLoS One*, **9**, e95489.
- Zhang, Y., Wang, Z., Chai, T., Wen, Z., and Zhang, H. 2008. Indian mustard aquaporin improves drought and heavy-metal resistance in tobacco. *Mol. Biotechnol.*, 40, 280–92.
- Zhou, S., Hu, W., Deng, X., Ma, Z., Chen, L., Huang, C., Wang, C., Wang, J., He, Y., Yang, G., et al. 2012. Overexpression of the wheat aquaporin gene, TaAQP7, enhances drought tolerance in transgenic tobacco. *PLoS One*, 7, e52439.

Zimmermann, M. 1983. Xylem structure and the ascent of sap Springer-Verlag.

Appendices



Figure 2-S1: Phylogenetic relationships of plasma membrane intrinsic proteins (PIPs) in *Arabidopsis thaliana, Oryza sativa* **and** *Populus trichocarpa*. The phylogenetic tree was constructed using Genomics Workbench version 5.5 (CLC Bio, Cambridge, MA, USA) and the Unweighted Pair Group Method with Arithmetic Mean (UPGMA) method. The tree was visualized by FigTree (tree.bio.ed.ac.uk/software/figtree/). The scale bar represents the number of amino acid substitutions per site.



Figure 2-S2: Effect of step changes in light and humidity on transpiration rate (*E***). (A) Transpiration rate of control plants ('Light control'). (B) Transpiration rate of shaded plants ('Shade'), of plants removed from shade after 4 h ('Light increase, 4h'), and of plants removed from shade after 28 h ('Light increase, 28h'). (C)** Transpiration rate of plants grown at high relative humidity (RH) after a step change in RH. Transpiration was measured 5 minutes ('RH decrease, 5 min'), 4 h ('RH decrease, 4h'), and 28 h ('RH decrease, 28h') after the decrease in humidity. Data shows means + SE; n = 5 plants. Significant differences are indicated by unique letters (P < 0.05).

Table 2-S1: Summary of PIP expression patterns. The poplar gene names follow the nomenclature of Gupta and Sankararamakrishnan (2009). Findings from a previous experiment (Almeida-Rodriguez et al. 2011) are summarized as: * for differentially expressed genes; *nd* for non- differentially expressed genes; blank spaces indicate genes that were not investigated. The *Populus* eFP browser (Wilkins et al. 2009) was used to check the tissue specificity of *PIPs* as well as putative regulation by light in seedlings. Relative transcript abundance of a particular gene is indicated as a fold change ratio between the tissue specific probe signal normalized to the control signal (value=1) as indicated in the eFP Browser. Grey background highlights the genes used in this present study.

	P. trichocarpa gei	ne name	Almeida-R <i>et al.</i> (2	odriguez 2011)	Poplar eFP Browser - Wilkins <i>et al.</i> (2009)									
		ie	Seed	dlings										
Gene name	Phytozome v2.0	Affymetrix probe ID	Acclimation	Xylem	Dark grown	+3h light								
PtPIP1;1	POPTR_0010s19930	PtpAffx.7686.1.S1_a_at	*		0.24	1.16	0.25	1.15	1.04					
PtPIP1;2	POPTR_0008s06580	Ptp.4455.1.S1_s_at	*	*	0.09	2.06	0.14	1.4	1.87					
PtPIP1;3	POPTR_0003s12870	PtpAffx.12342.2.S1_s_at			0.13	0.87	1.89	0.74 0.65						
PtPIP1;4	POPTR_0006s09920	PtpAffx.54577.1.S1_at	*	*	0.13	1.26	2.09	0.52	0.84					
PtPIP1;5	POPTR_0016s12070	PtpAffx.2848.1.S1_a_at	*		0.13	0.8	1.87	0.12	0.24					
PtPIP2;1	POPTR_0009s13890	PtpAffx.5465.1.A1_x_at		*	0.18	1.18	1.58	1.13	0.93					
PtPIP2;2	POPTR_0004s18240	PtpAffx.5465.2.A1_x_at	nd	nd	0.05	1.13	4.1	1.05	0.58					
PtPIP2;3	POPTR_0010s22950	Ptp.1588.1.S1_s_at	*	*	0.05	0.9	4.42	0.83	0.52					
PtPIP2;4	POPTR_0008s03950	PtpAffx.249.108.A1_x_at	*	*	0.2	0.96	0.11	1.04	1.29					
PtPIP2;5	POPTR_0006s12980	PtpAffx.7681.3.A1_x_at		*	0.28	12.52	1.68	7.25	6.88					
PtPIP2;7	POPTR_0016s09090	Ptp.139.1.S1_at	nd	nd	0.03	12.46	3.31	0.85	2.96					
PtPIP2;8	POPTR_0009s01940	PtpAffx.5992.1.S1_at			0.02	10.31	1.46	1.19	1.25					
PtPIP2;9	POPTR_0005s11110	PtpAffx.221954.1.S1_at			0.28	0.04	0.03	1.21	1.1					
PtPIP2;10	POPTR_0005s11100	PtpAffx.221953.1.S1_s_at		*	0.08	0.26	0.09	4.85 1.38						

Table 2-S2: Primer sequences used for the gene expression study. Primers were designed based on *Populus trichocarpa* reference gene sequences. Primer sequences of the selected candidate genes are represented as well as the specific amplicon length.

P. trichoc	<i>carpa</i> gene Name		Amplicons	
Gene name	Phytozome v2.0	Forward Primer (5' \rightarrow 3')	Reverse Primer (5´→3´)	Length (bp)
PtPIP1;1	POPTR_0010s19930	TGCAGAGTTCATGGCCACCTTC	TCGTGTCCTTAAACACGCCCATC	74
PtPIP1;2	POPTR_0008s06580	TGGCCTTGGTGCTGAGATTGTC	GCACTACGCTTGGCATCAGTTG	78
PtPIP1;3	POPTR_0003s12870	AACTGGCATTAACCCGGCAAGG	AATGGGCCAACCCAGAAGATCCAG	96
PtPIP2;3	POPTR_0010s22950	AGTCTGGGAGCCGCTGTTATCTAC	GGGTCCAACCCAGAAGATCCAATG	72
PtPIP2;4	POPTR_0008s03950	GTCATTCAGGAGCAACCCGAATGTC	CCATCATGCACGCACAAGCACTC	81
PtPIP2;5	POPTR_0006s12980	TGTGTTGGCACCACTTCCCATC	GTCATCCCATGCCTTGTCTTCGT	139

Table 3-S1: Primer sequences used in the qRT-PCR assays. Primers were designed based on *Populus trichocarpa* reference genes sequences. Primers sequences of the selected candidate genes (grey) are represented as well as the specific amplicon lenght.

		Am	plicons	
		Forward Primer $(5' \rightarrow 3')$	Reverse Primer $(5' \rightarrow 3')$	Length (bp)
PtPIP1;1	POPTR_0010s 19930	TGCAGAGTTCATGGCCACCTTC	TCGTGTCCTTAAACACGCCCATC	74
PtPIP1;2	POPTR_0008s 06580	TGGCCTTGGTGCTGAGATTGTC	GCACTACGCTTGGCATCAGTTG	78
PtPIP1;3	POPTR_0003s 12870	AACTGGCATTAACCCGGCAAGG	AATGGGCCAACCCAGAAGATCCAG	96
PtPIP2;3	POPTR_0010s 22950	AGTCTGGGAGCCGCTGTTATCTAC	GGGTCCAACCCAGAAGATCCAATG	72
PtPIP2;4	POPTR_0008s 03950	GTCATTCAGGAGCAACCCGAATGTC	CCATCATGCACGCACAAGCACTC	81
PtPIP2;5	POPTR_0006s 12980	TGTGTTGGCACCACTTCCCATC	GTCATCCCATGCCTTGTCTTCGT	139
PtTIP1;3	POPTR_0010s 21700.1	TTCAGGATCTGGCATGGCTTTCAAC	CCAGAAGGAGTAGTCGAAGCATTG TCG	60
PtTIP1;5	POPTR_0016s 10780.1	TCCACTGTCGCTTGCTTGCTTC	ACAGAGCGAAAGCAGAGGTTTCCA AG	67
PtTIP1;6	POPTR_0006s 12350.1	TCCACTGTCGCTTGCTTGCTTCTC	ACAGAGCGAAAGCAGAGGTTTCCA G	67
PtTIP2;1	POPTR_0001s 18730.1	GCCATGGCTTACAATAAGCTGACAGG TG	GGCACCTACAGAAACTGCAACGAA G	111
PtTIP2;2	POPTR_0003s 04930.1	TGGCTTACAATAAGCTGACAGGTGAT GC	ACCAACAGCAACTGCAACAAAGAG C	104
PtTIP4;1	POPTR_0006s 25620.1	TCAAGTATCTCACCGGAGGATTGGC	CCTTGAAGGTAGTCCATCCCACTTG C	70
ACT	POPTR_0001s 31700	TGGAGGATCTATCCTTGCTTCCCTCAG	TACTCACCCTTGGAAATCCACATCTG C	63
CYCL	(POPTR_0005 s26170	ACCAGGTAAGCAAGCGGTTTGGTC	TCGACCGATTTCCATGGAGTGCAAG	72
TIP4	POPTR_0009s 09620.1	AGAGTCATGCCAAGTTGCTGGTTTC	TCGACCGATTTCCATGGAGTGCAAG	60
UBQ	POPTR_0005s 09940	TCCACCTGTGCAACAAAGGC	CACTCCATCAACTCTAAGCCAGAAT CGC	66

a	antiPIP1	ME-GKEEDVRVGANKFPERQPIGTSAQS-D-KDYKEPPPAPFFEP
-	PtPIP1;1 PtPIP1;2 PtPIP1;3 PtPIP1;4 PtPIP1;5	ME-GKEEDVRLGANKFNERQPLGTAAQSQDDKDYKEPPPAPLFEP ME-GKEEDVRLGANKFNERQPIGTAAQSLDDKDYKEPPPAPLFEP ME-GKEEDVKLGANKFSERQPIGTSAQ-TD-KDYKEAPPAPLFEP MEEG-EEDVKVGANRYGEGQPIGTAAQTQHGKDYTEPPPAPLYQP ME-GREEDVRVGANKYGERQPIGTAAQAQDVKDYTDPPPAPLFEP
b	antiPIP2	KALGSFRSNP
	PtPIP2;1 PtPIP2;2 PtPIP2;3 PtPIP2;4 PtPIP2;5 PtPIP2;7 PtPIP2;8 PtPIP2;9 PtPIP2;10	KALGSFRSHPTN KALGSFRSNP KALGSFRSAQRF KALGSFRSSN KSLGSFRSSPN KALGSFRSNA KALGSFRSNP KSFRALGSFGSQPP
C	antiTIP2	CGDHAPVASS-EF
	PtTIP2;1 PtTIP2;2 PtTIP2;3 PtTIP2;4	CTDHTPLSGDF CTDHSPSSYEF IGSYAPAPVS-ED IGSYTAAPVS-ED

Figure 3-S1: Amino acid multiple sequence alignment of the N-terminal region of the *Arabidopsis thaliana* AtPIP1;3 and the *Populus trichocarpa* PtPIP1s (a); of the conserved the C-terminal region of PIP2s (b) and TIP2s (c). Consensus amino acids are underlined in black.

Table 4-S1. Gene names, cDNA clone accession numbers, genbank accession numbers, *Picea glauca* genome accession numbers, and *Picea abies* homolog genomic accession numbers. Complete genomic sequences are shown in bold.

	cDNA clone accession	GenBank accession number	<i>P. glauca</i> genome accession number	<i>P. abies</i> genome accession number
PgPIP1;1	GQ03401_M18	BT113218.1	ALWZ022680616.1	MA_3650g0010
			ALWZ024883929.1	
PgPIP1;2	GQ03610_A06	BT115139.1	ALWZ026715192.1	MA_10434016g0010
PgPIP1;3	GQ02828_J14	BT105794.1	ALWZ024321598.1	MA_671655g0010
			ALWZ021834942.1	
			ALWZ024890198.1	
			ALWZ024827936.1	
PgPIP2;1	GQ03111_E12	BT107672.1	ALWZ026917578.1	MA_10289712g0010
			ALWZ026087674.1	
			ALWZ023460553.1	
PgPIP2;2	GQ02901_B20	BT105999.1	ALWZ024834522.1	MA_72395g0010
PgPIP2;3	GQ03703_H07	BT115639.1	ALWZ024834523.1	MA_72253g0010
PgPIP2;4	GQ0132_J09	CO478019.2	ALWZ026260114.1	MA_191627g0010
			ALWZ023198434.1	
PgPIP2;5	GQ03124_N20	BT108646.1	ALWZ022229638.1	MA_17793g0010
			ALWZ024541622.1	
PgPIP2;6	GQ03705_D15	BT115731.1	ALWZ026587127.1	MA_11327g0010
			ALWZ023471430.1	
PgPIP2;7	GQ02905_E13	BT106222.1	ALWZ025040153.1	MA_10426681g0010
			ALWZ025040150.1	
			ALWZ025040147.1	
PgPIP2;8	GQ02902_L14	BT106086.1	ALWZ025361399.1	MA_207341g0010
PgPIP2;9	GQ03002_G07	BT106471.1	ALWZ025471513.1	MA_68132g0010
PgPIP2;10	GQ03011_G23	BT106822.1	ALWZ025966231.1	MA_10177437g0010
PgPIP2;11	GQ03010_E09	BT106775.1	ALWZ021792796.1	MA_9821440g0010
PgPIP2;12	GQ03001_P18	BT106446.1	ALWZ023919432.1	MA_93945g0010
PgPIP2;13	GQ03216_M18	BT110135.1	ALWZ021875693.1	MA_10426909g0020
			ALWZ022242989.1	MA_123344g0010

			ALWZ026052548.1	MA_41167g0020
			LWZ023363107.1	MA_629271g0010
PgTIP1;1	GQ0197_E19	BT102589.1	ALWZ024819070.1	MA_10437001g0010
			ALWZ024315453.1	
PgTIP1;2	GQ03116_D08	BT108041.1	ALWZ024535225.1	MA_46360g0010
PgTIP1;3	GQ02908_P24	BT106406.1	ALWZ022961470.1	MA_112061g0010
PgTIP1;4	GQ03501_N03	BT113810.1	ALWZ020567052.1	MA_10437001g0040
PgTIP1;5	GQ0206_N10	BT103114.1	ALWZ025579826.1	MA_175978g0010
PgTIP2;1	GQ03915_M04	BT117884.1	ALWZ022364681.1	MA_18297g0010
PgTIP2;2	WS0323_F18	DR554580.1	ALWZ024905374.1	MA_467865g0010
PgTIP4;1	GQ0201_M19	BT102857.1	ALWZ026620523.1	MA_394947g0010
PgTIP4;2	GQ04012_G01	BT118954.1	ALWZ023733587.1	MA_10426941g0010
	WS02617_N14	DR559801.1		MA_153442g0010
PgNIP1;1	GQ03122_A02	BT108454.1	ALWZ024309972.1	MA_93825g0010
				MA_10990g0010
				MA_9571426g0010
				MA_62314g0010
	GQ03202_N13	BT108940.1	ALWZ020198713.1	MA_470542g0010
PgNIP2;1	GQ03207_J07	BT109358.1	ALWZ021437004.1	MA_10428302g0010
			ALWZ021141575.1	
			ALWZ025258428.1	
	GQ03237_P23	BT111466.1	ALWZ021717141.1	MA_158806g0010
PgNIP3;1	GQ03810_B10	BT116953.1	ALWZ021012731.1	MA_60111g0010
			ALWZ023644073.1	
			ALWZ021905214.1	
PgNIP3;2	GQ03701_J12	BT115558.1	ALWZ021193474.1	MA_158586g0010
				MA_7702134g0010
PgSIP1;1	GQ03414_P10	BT113612.1	ALWZ022969142.1	MA_78511g0010
			ALWZ025225505.1	
			ALWZ024581523.1	
	GQ04011_K04	BT118897.1	ALWZ026845950.1	MA_938669g0010

Table 4-S2. Primer sequences used for the gene expression study.

Primer sequences of the selected candidate genes are shown as well as the specific amplicon lengths for (a) RTqPCR analysis, (b) *in situ* hybridization.

		Amplicons											
	Forward Primer $(5' \rightarrow 3')$ Reverse Primer $(5' \rightarrow 3')$												
(a)													
PgPIP1;1	TGCAACAATTCCCATCACCGGAAC	TGATGGCAGCTCCCAAACTTCGAG	62										
PgPIP1;2	TCCTAGAAACAGCCCAGCGTATCG	ACACATGCGCTAACAGACCTCAGC	66										
PgPIP1;3	TCATCAGCTCATCATCCGAGCCATAC	AACAGCCCAAACGAGAAGAGACTGA	80										
PgPIP2;1	TAGGCAGCAGCTAATGCAGCTCC	GCCACAAACAATCCTGGGATGCC	76										
PgPIP2;2	AGGGTAGCTTCTCTCCGAACCTTGA	AAACATCCATCGCCCTCTCTGACG	76										
PgPIP2;6	CCATGTTCCCGTATTAGCACCTCTGC	CAGTTATAGGGATGGTGGCCAAATGTACC	78										
PgPIP2;8	TGCTGCGATTGCATCAGCCTAC	AACACTGCGGAAAGAACCCAAGG	79										
(b)													
PgPIP1;1	TGCCAGGGACTCTCACGTTCCTCTAC	TCATCTACCACGTAGCCCATACATAA	340										
PgPIP1;2	CATGCGCTAACAGACCTCAGCC	TTCTCAGCCACCGATGCCAAAC	342										
PgPIP2;1	TGATGCCGGTCCCAGTGATAGG	GGAGGTGGAGCTAACTACGTGC	220										
PgPIP2;2	AGCAGCTAACGCAGCTCCAATG	GTGCACCCTGGATACACCAAAGG	309										

195

Table 4-S3. Soil water content measurements.

Soil water content was measured during the experiment using an EC-5 sensor (Decagon Devices, Pullman, WA, USA). Values are the means ± SE from 5 to 6 biological replicates.

Experimental	SWC (%)
treatment	
Control	22.3 ± 1.8
Drought	6.3 ± 1.2
High RH, 2h	5.5 ± 1.4
High RH, 26h	6.0 ± 1.2
High RH, 50h	7.3 ±0.9
Rewatered, 2h	18.2 ± 3.1
Rewatered, 8h	19.9 ± 2.1

Figure 4-S1. Protein sequence alignment of *Picea glauca* MIPs.

Alignment of the predicted amino acid sequences for PgMIPs, PpMIPs, AtMIPs, and ZmMIPs. The NorMD score of the alignement is > 0.68 (<u>Thompson *et al.*</u>, 2001</u>). Shading is indicating the degree of conservation of an amino acid at a position within each monophyletic subfamily. Black lines above sequences are indicative of transmembrane (TMHs) regions. The two NPA motifs are outlined with a red box and the AEF motif with a blue box. Residues determining the ar/R filters are indicated in green.

PpPIP1_1	 - MNQD KDDD
PpPIP1_2	 - MQQD KDDD
PpPIP1_3	 M A D R G D D
AtPIP1_1	 M E G K E E D
AtPIP1_2	 M E G K E E D
AtPIP1_3	 M E G K E E D
AtPIP1_4	 M E G K E E D
AtPIP1_5	 M E G K E E D
ZmPIP1_1	 M E G K E E D
ZmPIP1_2	 M E G K E E D
ZmPIP1_3	 M E G K E E D
ZmPIP1_5	 M E G K E E D
ZmPIP1_6	 MAGGTLQDRSEEED
PgPIP1_1	 M E G K E E D
PgPIP1_2	 M E G K E E D
PgPIP1_3	 M E D
PpPIP2_1	
PpPIP2_2	
PpPIP2_3	
PpPIP2_4	
AtPIP2_1	
AtPIP2_2	
AtPIP2_3	
AtPIP2_4	
AtPIP2_5	
AtPIP2_6	
AtPIP2_7	
AtPIP2_8	
ZmPIP2_1	
ZmPIP2_2	
ZmPIP2_3	
ZmPIP2_4	

ZmPIP2 5	-	 -	-	 -	-	-	-	 		-	-	-	-	-	-	-	-	-	-	-	-	-	 	 -	-	-	-	-	-	 	-	-	-	-	 		-	-	-	 	-	-	-	
ZmPIP2_6	-	 -	-	 -	-	-	-	 		-	-	-	-	-	-	-	-	-	-	-	-		 	 -	-	-	-	-	-	 	-	-	-	-	 		-	-	-	 	-	-	-	
ZmPIP2_7	-	 -	-	 -	-	-	-	 		-	-	-	-	-	-	-	-	-	-	-	-		 	 -	-	-	-	-	-	 	-	-	-	-	 		-	-	-	 	-	-	-	
PgPIP2_1	-	 -	-	 -	-	-	-	 		-	-	-	-	-	-	-	-	-	-	-	-	-	 	 -	-	-	-	-	-	 	-	-	-	-	 		-	-	-	 	-	-	-	
PgPIP2_2	-	 -	-	 -	-	-	-	 		-	-	-	-	-	-	-	-	-	-	-	-	-	 	 -	-	-	-	-	-	 	-	-	-	-	 		-	-	-	 	-	-	-	
PgPIP2_3	-	 -	-	 -	-	-	-	 		-	-	-	-	-	-	-	-	-	-	-	-		 	 -	-	-	-	-	-	 	-	-	-	-	 		-	-	-	 	-	-	-	
PgPIP2_4	-	 -	-	 -	-	-	-	 		-	-	-	-	-	-	-	-	-	-	-	-		 	 -	-	-	-	-	-	 	-	-	-	-	 		-	-	-	 	-	-	-	
PgPIP2_5	-	 -	-	 -	-	-	-	 		-	-	-	-	-	-	-	-	-	-	-	-		 	 -	-	-	-	-	-	 	-	-	-	-	 		-	-	-	 	-	-	-	
PgPIP2_6	-	 -	-	 -	-	-	-	 		-	-	-	-	-	-	-	-	-	-	-	-		 	 -	-	-	-	-	-	 	-	-	-	-	 		-	-	-	 	-	-	-	
PgPIP2_7	-	 -	-	 -	-	-	-	 		-	-	-	-	-	-	-	-	-	-	-	-		 	 -	-	-	-	-	-	 	-	-	-	-	 		-	-	-	 	-	-	-	
PgPIP2_8	-	 -	-	 -	-	-	-	 		-	-	-	-	-	-	-	-	-	-	-	-		 	 -	-	-	-	-	-	 	-	-	-	-	 		-	-	-	 	-	-	-	
PgPIP2_9	-	 -	-	 -	-	-	-	 		-	-	-	-	-	-	-	-	-	-	-	-		 	 -	-	-	-	-	-	 	-	-	-	-	 		-	-	-	 	-	-	-	
PgPIP2_10	-	 -	-	 -	-	-	-	 		-	-	-	-	-	-	-	-	-	-	-	-	-	 	 -	-	-	-	-	-	 	-	-	-	-	 		-	-	-	 	-	-	-	
PgPIP2_11	-	 -	-	 -	-	-	-	 		-	-	-	-	-	-	-	-	-	-	-	-		 	 -	-	-	-	-	-	 	-	-	-	-	 		-	-	-	 	-	-	-	
PgPIP2_12	-	 -	-	 -	-	-	-	 		-	-	-	-	-	-	-	-	-	-	-	-		 	 -	-	-	-	-	-	 	-	-	-	-	 		-	-	-	 	-	-	-	
PgPIP2_13	-	 -	-	 -	-	-	-	 		-	-	-	-	-	-	-	-	-	-	-	-	-	 	 -	-	-	-	-	-	 	-	-	-	-	 		-	-	-	 	-	-	-	
PpPIP3_1	-	 -	-	 -	-	-	-	 	• -	-	-	-	-	-	-	-	-	-	-	-	-		 	 -	-	-	-	-	-	 	-	-	-	-	 	• -	-	-	-	 	-	-	-	
PnTIP6 1	_	 _	_	 	_	_	_	 		_	_	_	_	_	_	_	_	_	_	_	_		 	 _	_	_	_	_	_	 	_	_			 		_	_	_	 	_	_	_	
PnTIP6 2	_	 -	_	 _	_	_	_	 		_	-	_	_	_	_	_	_	_		_	_		 	 _	_	_	_	-	_	 	-	_			 		_	_	_	 	_	-	_	
PpTIP6 3	_	 -	-	 	-	_	_	 		_	-	_	_	_	_	_	_	_	-	_	_		 	 _	_	_	_	-	_	 	_	-	_		 		_	_	_	 	_	-	_	
PpTIP6 4	_	 -	-	 	-	_	_	 		_	-	_	_	_	_	_	_	_	-	_	_		 	 _	_	_	_	-	_	 	_	-	_		 		_	_	_	 	_	-	_	
AtTIP1 1	_	 -	_	 	-	-	_	 		_	-	_	_	_	_	_	_	_		_	_		 	 _	_	_	_	-	_	 	_	_			 		_	_	_	 	_	-	_	
AtTIP1 2	_	 -	_	 	-	-	_	 		_	-	_	_	_	_	_	_	_		_	_		 	 _	_	_	_	-	_	 	_	_			 		_	_	_	 	_	-	_	
AtTIP1 3	-	 -	_	 _	-	-	_	 		_	-	_	_	_	_	_	_	_		_	_		 	 _	_	_	_	-	_	 	-	_			 		_	-	_	 	-	-	_	
AtTIP2 ¹	-	 -	-	 _	-	-	-	 		-	-	_	-	_	_	-	-	_	-	_	-		 	 _	-	-	-	-	_	 	-	-	_		 		_	-	_	 	-	-	_	
AtTIP2 ²	-	 -	-	 -	-	-	-	 		-	-	_	-	_	-	_	-	-		-	-		 	 _	-	_	-	-	-	 	-	-	_		 		-	-	-	 	-	-	-	

$AIIIF2_2$	 	 	-	 -	 -	 -	-	-	 -	-	-	 -	 		 -	 	 • -	-	 	-		 -	 -	 -	 -
AtTIP2_3	 	 	-	 -	 -	 -	-	-	 -	-	-	 -	 	-	 -	 -	 · -	-	 	-	-	 -	 -	 -	 · -
AtTIP3_1	 	 	-	 -	 -	 -	-	-	 -	-	-	 -	 	-	 -	 -	 -	-	 	-	-	 -	 -	 -	
AtTIP3_2	 	 	-	 -	 -	 -	-	-	 -	-	-	 -	 	-	 -	 -	 · -	-	 	-	-	 -	 -	 -	
AtTIP4_1	 	 	-	 -	 -	 -	-	-	 -	-	-	 -	 	-	 -	 -	 · -	-	 	-	-	 -	 -	 -	 · -
AtTIP5_1	 	 	-	 -	 -	 -	-	-	 -	-	-	 -	 	-	 -	 -	 · -	-	 	-	-	 -	 -	 -	
ZmTIP1_1	 	 	-	 -	 -	 -	-	-	 -	-	-	 -	 	-	 -	 -	 · -	-	 	-	-	 -	 -	 -	 · -
ZmTIP1_2	 	 	-	 -	 -	 -	-	-	 -	-	-	 -	 	-	 -	 -	 · -	-	 	-	-	 -	 -	 -	
ZmTIP2_1	 	 	-	 -	 -	 -	-	-	 -	-	-	 -	 	-	 -	 -	 · -	-	 	-	-	 -	 -	 -	
ZmTIP2_2	 	 	-	 -	 -	 -	-	-	 -	-	-	 -	 	-	 -	 -	 	-	 	-	-	 -	 -	 -	 · -

ZmTIP2 3		
ZmTIP3_1		
ZmTIP3 ²		
ZmTIP4_1		
ZmTIP4 2		
ZmTIP4_4		
ZmTIP4 3		
ZmTIP5_1		
PgTIP1_1		
PgTIP1_2		
PgTIP1_3		
PgTIP1_4		
PgTIP1_5		
PgTIP2_1		
PgTIP2_2		
PgTIP4_1		
PgTIP4_2		
PpNIP3_1		
PpNIP5_1		
PpNIP5_2		
PpNIP5_3		
PpNIP6_1		
AtNIP1_1		M A D I
AtNIP1_2		MAEI
AtNIP2_1		M
AtNIP2_2		
AtNIP4_1		M
AtNIP4_2		M
AtNIP5_1	MAP P EAEVG A VMVMAPPTPGTPGTPGTPG	GPLITGMRV
AtNIP6_1		APLFGGFEG
AtNIP7_1		MNG
ZmNIP1_2		M
ZmNIP4_1		MA
ZmNIP5_1	MADDGRRRNVSMDFSVSI P SAAAA S MLVDKENTSDDRIS	I I
PgNIP1_1		MAL

PgNIP2 1	-	 	-	-	-	-	-	-	-	-	-	-	 -	 -	-	-	-	-	-	-		-	-	-	-	-	-	-	-	-		-	 	-	-	-	-	-	-	-	-	-	-	-	-		-	-	-	-	-	-	-	М	D
PgNIP3 ¹	-	 	-	-	-	-	-	-	-	-	-	- 1	 	 -	-	Μ	[T	D	С	Е	Ι)	Ι	Р	S	-	-	-	- /	A 1	P.		 	Q) Т	Р	G	Т	Р	G	- 1	-	-	-	-		А	Р	L	F	G	-	-	V	R
PgNIP3_2	-	 	-	-	-	-	-	-	-	-	-	-	 -	 -	-	-	-	-	-	-	•	-	-	-	-	-	-	-	-	-		-	 	-	-	-	-	-	-	-	-	-	-	-	-	· -	-	-	-	-	-	-	-	-	-
PpSIP1 1	-	 	-	-	-	-	-	-	-	-	-	-	 	 -	-	-	-	-	-	-		-	-	-	-	-	-	-	-	-			 	-	-	-	-	-	-	-	-	-	-	-	-		-	-	-	-	-	-	-	-	-
PpSIP1 ²	-	 	-	-	-	-	-	-	-	-	-	- 1	 	 -	-	-	-	-	-	-		-	-	-	-	-	-	-	-	-			 	-	-	-	-	-	-	-	-	-	-	-	-		-	-	-	-	-	-	-	-	-
AtSIP1 1	-	 	-	-	-	-	-	-	-	-	-	-	 	 -	-	-	-	-	-	-		-	-	-	-	-	-	-	-	-			 	-	-	-	-	-	-	-	-	-	-	-	-		-	-	-	-	-	-	-	-	-
AtSIP1 ²	-	 	-	-	-	-	-	-	-	-	-	-	 	 -	-	-	-	-	-	-		-	-	-	-	-	-	-	-	-			 	-	-	-	-	-	-	-	-	-	-	-	-		-	-	-	-	-	-	-	-	-
ZmSIP1 1	-	 	-	-	-	-	-	-	-	-	-	-	 	 -	-	-	-	-	-	-		-	-	-	-	-	-	-	-	-			 	-	-	-	-	-	-	-	-	-	-	-	-		-	-	-	-	-	-	-	-	-
ZmSIP1 ²	-	 	-	-	-	-	-	-	-	-	-	-	 	 -	-	-	-	-	-	-		-	-	-	-	-	-	-	-	-			 	-	-	-	-	-	-	-	-	-	-	-	-		-	-	-	-	-	-	-	-	-
PgSIP1 1	-	 	-	-	-	-	-	-	-	-	-		 	 -	-	-	-	-	-	-		-	-	-	-	-	-	-	-	-			 	-	-	-	-	-	-	-	-	_	_	-	_		-	-	-	-	-	-	-	-	-
AtSIP2 ¹	-	 	-	-	-	-	-	-	-	-	-		 	 -	-	-	-	-	-	-		-	-	-	-	-	-	-	-	-			 	-	-	-	-	-	-	-	-	-	-	-	-		-	-	-	-	-	-	-	-	-
$ZmSIP\overline{2}$ 1	-	 	-	-	-	-	-	-	-	-	-		 	 -	-	-	-	-	-	-		-	-	-	-	-	-	-	-	-			 	-	-	-	-	-	-	-	-	_	_	-	_		-	-	-	-	-	-	-	-	-

PpPIP1_1	IALGTNKYGI	DRSALGT	HA P	VP	-	- E	KDY	ΓΕΡ	SVT	PF	FD	G S I	FR	RWS	FW	RAG	Ι	A E F	I	ΑT
PpPIP1_2	VALGANKYG	TRSALGT	HAP'	VP	-	- E	K D Y I	REP	SVT	PF	FD	GG	LR	LWS	FW	R A G	Ι	A E F	F /	ΑT
PpPIP1_3	VAVGASRH-1	ERNPLGT	SAQ'	T R	-	- E	КDY	I E P	ASS	ΡF	I D	ΡVΙ	LG	RWS	FW	R A G	Ι	A E F	F /	A S
AtPIP1_1	VRVGANKFP	ERQPIGT	SAQ	- S	-	- D	K D Y I	K E P	PPA	PF	FE	P G I	LS	SWS	FW	R A G	Ι	AEF	Ι	ΛT
AtPIP1_2	VRVGANKFP	ERQPIGT	SAQ	- S	-	- D	K D Y I	K E P	PPA	PL	FE	P G I	LA	SWS	FW	R A G	Ι	AEF	I	ΑT
AtPIP1_3	V R V G A N K F P	ERQPIGT	SAQ	- T	-	- D	K D Y I	K E P	PPA	P F	FE	P G I	LS	SWS	FY	R A G	Ι	AE F	Ι	λT
AtPIP1_4	VRVGANKFP	ERQPIGT	SAQ	ST	-	- D	K D Y I	K E P	PPA	PL	FE	P G I	LS	SWS	FY:	R A G	Ι	AEF	I	ΑT
AtPIP1_5	VNVGANKFP	ERQPIGT	AAQ'	ТЕ	-	- S	K D Y I	K E P	PPA	P F	FE	P G I	LK	SWS	FY	R A G	Ι	AE F	I	λT
ZmPIP1_1	VRLGANKFS	ERHAIGT	AAQ (GT	-	DD	K D Y I	K E P	ΡΡΑ	PL	FE	P G I	LK	SWS	FY	R P G	Ι	AEF	V	ΛT
ZmPIP1_2	VRLGANKFS	ERQPIGT	AAQ (GA	Α	DD	K D Y I	K E P	PPA	PL	FE	P G I	LK	SWS	FY	R A G	Ι	AE F	V	λT
ZmPIP1_3	VRLGANKFS	ERQPIGT	AAQ (GAGAG	D	DD	K D Y I	K E P	ΡΡΑ	PL	FE	P G I	LK	SWS	FY	R A G	Ι	AEF	V	ΛT
ZmPIP1_5	VRLGANRYS	ERQPIGT	AAQ (GT	-	ΕE	K D Y I	K E P	PPA	PL	FE.	A E I	LT	SWS	FY	R A G	Ι	AE F	V	λT
ZmPIP1_6	V R V G V D R F P	ERQPIGT	AAD I	DLG	-	[RDY	S E P	PAA	PL	FE.	A S I	LS	SWS	$F \underline{Y}$	R A G	Ι	AEF	V	ΛT
PgPIP1_1	VKLGADKYS	ERQPLGT	AAQ'	TM	-	- E	K D Y I	K E P	G P A	PL	FE	P G I	FR	SWS	FW	R A G	Ι	AE F	M	λT
PgPIP1_2	VRLGANKYS	ERQPLGT	AAQ'	T R	-	- E	K D Y I	K D S	G P A	PL	FE	P G I	LA	SWS	FW	R A G	Ι	AEF	M	ΛT
PgPIP1_3	V S V G A S K Y S	ERQSLGI	SAQ'	T Q R	-	ES	K D Y I	NEP	G P A	PL	FE	ΡEΙ	LR	SWS	FW	R A G	Ι	AE F	M	λT
PpPIP2_1	1	MAKD - AG	ΓΕ S	G	V	P S	K D Y S	S D P	PPA	A P L	ID.	AA	FG	RWS	FY	R A I	Ι	AE F	V	λT
PpPIP2_2	1	MAKD - VG	VE P	G	F	P S	K D Y ′	ГDР	PPA	P L	ID.	A S I	FG	QWS	FY:	R A V	Ι	AEF	V	ΑT
PpPIP2_3	1	MSKVPVG	VE P	G	F	P G	K D Y A	A D P	PAA	P L	ID.	A S I	FG	QWS	FY	R A I	Ι	AE F	V	A Τ
PpPIP2_4	1	MEKIGIC	ЕЕ Р	K	F	RS	KDY	I D P	PAV	PF	V D	A S I	LR	KWS	FY	RAI	Ι	TEF	IS	3 T
AtPIP2_1	MAKDVE A VPGEG F QTRDYQDPPPAPFIDGAELKKWSFYRAVIAEFVA																			
-----------	---																			
AtPIP2_2	MAKDVE G P E G F Q T R D Y E D P P T P F F D A D E L T K W S L Y R A V I A E F V A T																			
AtPIP2_3	MAKDVE G P DG F QT R DY E D P P T P F F D A E E L T K WS L Y R A V I A E F V A T																			
AtPIP2_4	MAKDLD V NESGP P AARDYKDPPPAPFFDMEEL RKWPLYRAVI AEF VAT																			
AtPIP2 5	MTKEVV G DK-RS F SGKDYQDPPPEPLFDATEL GKWSFYRALI AEF IAT																			
AtPIP2_6	MTKDEL T EE-ES L SG <mark>KDY</mark> LDPPPVKTFEVRELKKWSFYRAVIAEF IA																			
AtPIP2_7	SKEVSE EGKT H HGKDYVDPPPAPLLDMGEL K SWSFYRALI AEF I A																			
AtPIP2_8	MSKEVSE EGR HG <mark>KDY</mark> VDPPPAPLLDMAELKLWSFYRAIIAEFIAT																			
ZmPIP2_1	MGKDDVIES G AGGGE F AA <mark>KDY</mark> TDPPPAPLIDAAELGSWSLYRAVIAEFIA																			
ZmPIP2_2	MGKDDVVQS G AGGGE F AA <mark>KDY</mark> TDPPPAPLVDAAELGSWSLYRAVIAEFIAT																			
ZmPIP2_3	MAKQDIEAS G PEAGE F SA <mark>KDY</mark> TDPPPAPLIDADELTKWSLYRAVIAEFIAT																			
ZmPIP2_4	MAK-DIEAS G PEAGE F SA <mark>KDY</mark> TDPPPAPLIDAEELTQWSLYRAVIAEFIAT																			
ZmPIP2_5	MAK-DIEAA A AHEG KDY S DPPPAPLVDAEEL TKWSLYRAVI AEF VA (
ZmPIP2_6	MGK-EVDVS T LEAGG V RD <mark>R</mark> DYADPPPAPLIDIDELGKWSLYRAVIAEFVA																			
ZmPIP2_7	MAKDVEQ V TEQGE Y SA <mark>KDY</mark> H <mark>DPPPA<u>P</u>LIDPDELTKWSLYRA</mark> AI AEF IA T																			
PgPIP2_1	MTKEERRES EQQG F APKDYTDPPPAALIETSEFKLWSFYRALIAEFVAT																			
PgPIP2_2	MTKEEGKEMEQQG F AP <mark>KDY</mark> T <mark>DPPPASFIDSGEF R LWSFYRALIAEF</mark> IAT																			
PgPIP2_3	MTKEEGKEL EQQG F AP <mark>KDY</mark> TDPPPA <mark>ALID</mark> ANE F KL <mark>WSLYRA</mark> LIAEF IAT																			
PgPIP2_4	MINEEGNEL EKRG I VAKDYTDPPPAALIDINE F KLWSFYRALIAEF IA T																			
PgPIP2_5	F VAKDYTDPPPAALIDTHE F KLWSFYRALIAEF TAT																			
PgPIP2_6	MAKEGGKEM Q EQQQG F VA <mark>KDY</mark> K <mark>DPPPA<u>P</u>LV</mark> D INE F KL <mark>WS</mark> FYRALI AEF IA T																			
PgPIP2_7	MAKEGGKEV EQQG F AA <mark>KDY</mark> KDPPPA <mark>A</mark> LFDVSE F K LWAFYRAI I AEF I A																			
PgPIP2_8	MAKESETDM E P PA <mark>KDY</mark> T <mark>DPPPAPFFH</mark> FR <mark>EFS</mark> LWSFYRALIAEFIA																			
PgPIP2_9	MEME SGE E QTRDYEEHPPAPLLDSLELKLWSFYRAVI AEF VA																			
PgPIP2_10	DYEDHPAPLLDSLELKLWSFYRAVIAEFVA																			
PgPIP2_11	DYEEHPPAPLLDSLELKLWSFYRAVIAEFVA																			
PgPIP2_12	MEA K EAEG I E QA <mark>KD</mark> YR <mark>DP</mark> PPAPLLDSLELKRWSFYRAAI AEF VA																			
PgPIP2_13	FIDRNEFYLWSFYRAIIAEFVA																			
PpPIP3_1																				

PpTIP6 1	 	 	 	-	 	-	-	- MK	IA	F G	 	 - E A	DE	AS	-	- 5	S P D	Α	IKO	GAV	AEF	ISL
PpTIP6 2	 	 	 	-	 	-	-	- MK	VA	FG	 	 - E A		VS	-	- 5	SPD	A	LKO	GAL	AEF	ISL
PpTIP6_3	 	 	 	-	 	-	-	мук	LA	FG	 	 - E S		AS	-	- 5	SPD	A	LKO	GAL	AEF	ISL
PpTIP6 4	 	 	 	-	 	-	-	MVK	VA	F G	 	 - E A	NE	AS	-	- 5	SAD	A	LKO	GA F	AEF	LAL
AtTIP1 1	 	 	 	-	 М -	-	Р	IRN	ΙA	ΙG	 	 - R F	DE	ΑT	· _	- I	RPD	A	LK	A A L	A E F	ΙSΤ

AtTIP1_2	-	· -	-	-	-	-	-	-	-	-	-	-	-	-	-	-	-	-	-	-		-	-	M	-	-]	Р	Т	R	N	Ι	A	Ι	G	G	-	-	-	- `	V (QE	E	V	Y	-	-	Н	Р	N	AI	Ĺ	R A	A	L	A	ΕI	3	I S	T
AtTIP1_3		· -	-	-	-	-	-	-	-	-	-	-	-	-	-	-	-	-	-	-		-	-	M	-	-]	Р	Ι	N	R	Ι	A	I	G	-	-	-	-	- '	ΤI	P (G E	A	S	-	-	R	P	D	A	Ι	R A	A	F	A	ΕI	FI	FS	M
AtTIP2_1	-	· -	-	-	-	-	-	-	-	-	-	-	-	-	-	-	-	-	-	-		-	-	-	-	-	N	M	Α	-	G	V	A	F	G	-	-	-	-	- 1	S I	FΙ) [) S	F	-	-	S	L	Ā	SI	L	R A	Y	L	A	ΕI	3	I S	T
AtTIP2_2	-	· -	-	-	-	-	-	-	-	-	-	-	-	-	-	-	-	-	-	-		-	-	-	-	-		-	Μ	V	K	Ι	Е	Ι	G	-	-	-	-	- 1	S V	1	ЪĽ) S	F	-	-	S	V	А	SI	LΙ	ΚA	Y	L	S	ΕI	3	ΙA	Υ
AtTIP2_3		· -	-	-	-	-	-	-	-	-	-	-	-	-	-	-	-	-	-	-		-	-	-	-	-		-	Μ	V	K	Ι	Е	V	G	-	-	-	-	- 1	S V	/(ΒD) S	F	-	-	S	V	S	SI	ĹΙ	ΚA	Υ	L	S	ΕI	8	I A	Υ
AtTIP3_1		· -	-	-	-	-	-	-	-	-	-	-	-	-	-	-	-	-	-	-		-]	М	A	Т	S	A	A	R	R	A	Y	G	F	G	-	-	-	-	-]	R A	٩I)	A	Т	-	-	Н	P	D	S	Ι	R A	Т	L	A	ΕI	FI	L S	T
AtTIP3_2		· -	-	-	-	-	-	-	-	-	-	-	-	-	-	-	-	-	-	-		-]	М	А	Т	S	I	A	R	R	А	Y	G	F	G	-	-	-	-	-]	R A	٩I)	A	Т	-	-	Н	P	D	S	Ι	R A	Т	L	A	ΕI	FI	L S	Τ
AtTIP4_1	-	· -	-	-	-	-	-	-	-	-	-	-	-	-	-	-	-	-	-	-		-	-	-	-	-		-	Μ	K	K	Ι	Е	L	G	-	-	-	-	-]	HH	IS	S E	A	А	-	-	K	Р	D	C	ΙJ	ΚA	L	Ι	V	ΕI	3	ΙT] T
AtTIP5_1		· -	-	-	-	-	-	-	-	-	-	-	-	-	-	-	-	-	-	-		-	-	-	-	-		-	М	R	R	M	I	Р	Т	S	-	-	-	F	S S	5 k	K F	Q	G	V	L	S	M	N	A I	Ĺ	R C	ΣY	V	S	ΕI	E I	I S	T
ZmTIP1_1		· -	-	-	-	-	-	-	-	-	-	-	-	-	-	-	-	-	-	-		-	-	M	-	-]	Р	Ι	N	R	Ι	A	L	G	-	-	-	-	-	S I	H) E	V	Y	-	-	Н	Р	G	ΑI	ĹΙ	ΚA	A	F	A	ΕI		I S	Τ
ZmTIP1_2	-	· -	-	-	-	-	-	-	-	-	-	-	-	-	-	-	-	-	-	-		-	-	M	-	-]	Р	V	\mathbf{S}	R	Ι	A	V	G	-	-	-	-		A I	P (3 E	L	S	-	-	Н	P	D	Τź	ΑJ	ΚA	A	V	A	ΕI	3	I S	T
ZmTIP2_1		· -	-	-	-	-	-	-	-	-	-	-	-	-	-	-	-	-	-	-		-	-	-	-	-		-	М	V	K	L	A	F	G	-	-	-	-	-	S V	/(3 D) S	F	-	-	S	Α	Т	S	Ił	ΚA	Υ	V	A	ΕI		I A	V T
ZmTIP2_2		· -	-	-	-	-	-	-	-	-	-	-	-	-	-	-	-	-	-	-		-	-	-	-	-		-	Μ	V	K	L	A	F	G	-	-	-	-	- 1	S V	/(GΕ) S	F	-	-	S	V	Т	S	Ιŀ	ΚA	ΔY	V	A	ΕI		I A	١T
ZmTIP2_3		· -	-	-	-	-	-	-	-	-	-	-	-	-	-	-	-	-	-	-		-	-	-	-	-		-	М	V	K	L	A	F	G	-	-	-	-	-	S I	F	S D) S	L	-	-	S	Α	A	SI	LI	K A	Υ	V	A	ΕI		I A	ι T
ZmTIP3_1		· -	-	-	-	-	-	-	-	-	-	-	-	-	-	-	-	М	I S	-		-	Т	G	V	R	. 1	Р	G	R	R	F	Т	V	G	-	-	-	-	-]	R S	S E	E D	A	Т	-	-	Н	P	D	T	I	R A	A	Ι.	S	ΕI		I A	ΥT
ZmTIP3_2	-	• -	-	-	-	-	-	-	-	-	-	-	-	-	-	-	-	М	I S	T	` .	A	Т	G	V	R	. 1	A	G	R	R	F	Т	V	G	-	-	-	-	-]	R S	S I	ED	A	Т	-	-	Н	P	D	T	Ι	R A	A	Ι	S	ΕI		I A	١T
ZmTIP4_1		· -	-	-	-	-	-	-	-	-	-	-	-	-	-	-	-	-	-	-		-	-	-	-	-		-	М	A	K	L	M	N	K	L	V	D	S	F :	Εŀ	ΗI)	Ι	Р	-	-	D	V	G	C	V	R A	٨V	L	A	ΕI	ĹΥ	V L	J T
ZmTIP4_2		· -	-	-	-	-	-	-	-	-	-	-	-	-	-	-	-	-	-	-		-	-	-	-	-		-	M	A	K	L	V	N	K	L	V	D	S	Fl	Dŀ	ΗI)	A	Р	А	Р	D	V	G	C	V I	R A	٨V	L	A	ΕI	Ĺ	V L	J
ZmTIP4_4		· -	-	-	-	-	-	-	-	-	-	-	-	-	-	-	-	-	-	-		-	-	-	-	-		-	M	A	K	F	A	L	G	-	-	-	-	-]	ΗH	ΗF	R	A	S	-	-	D	Α	G	C	V I	R A	۸V	L	А	ΕI	1	ΙL	J
ZmTIP4_3		· -	-	-	-	-	-	-	-	-	-	-	-	-	-	-	-	-	-	-		-	-	-	-	-		-	M	G	K	L	Т	L	G	-	-	-	-	-]	ΗI	2 (G	A	S	-	-	Е	P	D	F_I	F J	R C	Ĵν	L	G	ΕI	l V	V L	J T
ZmTIP5_1		· -	-	-	-	-	-	-	-	-	-	-	-	-	-	-	-	-	-	-		-	-	-	-	-		-	-	-	-	M	A	S	N	Ν	-	-	-	L	L١	VΙ) <u>I</u>	ιK	R	С	F	S	Α	Р	S I	L I	<u> </u>	Y	L	A	ΕI		ΙS	Τ
PgTIP1_1		· -	-	-	-	-	-	-	-	-	-	-	-	-	-	-	-	-	-	-		-	-	M	-	-]	Р	F	R	G	Ι	A	V	G	-	-	-	-	-]	R I	P	E	A	Т	-	-	Н	P	D	A I	LI	K A	A	L	A	E(3	ΙS	Τ
PgTIP1_2		· -	-	-	-	-	-	-	-	-	-	-	-	-	-	-	-	-	-	-		-	-	M	-	-]	Р	F	R	G	L	A	V	G	-	-	-	-	-]	R I	2 /	۱I	V	Ι	-	-	Н	P	D	A I	LI	ΚA	٨V	L	A	E(3	I S	Τ
PgTIP1_3		· -	-	-	-	-	-	-	-	-	-	-	-	-	-	-	-	-	-	-		-	-	M	-	-]	Р	V	R	R	Ι	A	L	G	-	-	-	-	-]	R A	A F	E	A	Т	-	-	Н	P	D	S	IJ	R A	A	L	A	ΕI	FI	FS	T
PgTIP1_4		· -	-	-	-	-	-	-	-	-	-	-	-	-	-	-	-	-	-	-		-	-	M	Χ	Y]	Р	F	Q	R	V	A	V	G	-	-	-	-	-]	R /	٩I) E	Т	Y	-	-	Н	P	D	Τļ	L I	ΧA	A	L	A	ΕI		I S	Х
PgTIP1_5		· -	-	-	-	-	-	-	-	-	-	-	-	-	-	-	-	-	-	-		-	-	M	-	-]	Р	F	R	G	V	A	Ι	G	-	-	-	-	-]	R I	? E	E	V	Т	-	-	Н	Р	Т	A I	LΙ	ΚA	A	L	A	ΕI	1	I S	Τ
PgTIP2_1		· -	-	-	-	-	-	-	-	-	-	-	-	-	-	-	-	-	-	-		-	-	-	-	-	N	Μ	A	L	G	V	A	F	G	-	-	-	-	-]	R I	FI) E	A	F	-	-	G	L	D	G]	FΙ	K S	γ	L	A	ΕI		I S	Τ
PgTIP2_2		· -	-	-	-	-	-	-	-	-	-	-	-	-	-	-	-	-	-	-		-	-	-	-	-		-	-	-	-	-	-	-	-	-	-	-	-	-				-	-	-	-	-	-	-		-		·	-	-	- ·	- [-		· _
PgTIP4_1		· -	-	-	-	-	-	-	-	-	-	-	-	-	-	-	-	-	-	-		-	-	-	-	-		-	M	A	K	Ι	A	L	G	-	-	-	-	-]	DI	RI		A	А	-	-	R	Р	D	C	V I	RA	V	F	А	ΕI	_ [1 C	L L
PgTIP4_2	-	· -	-	-	-	-	-	-	-	-	-	-	-	-	-	-	-	-	-	-		-	-	-	-	-		-	M	V	K	Ι	A	V	G	-	-	-	-	-]	R۷	V I	E	Â	Т	-	-	Q	А	D	S	IJ	RA	Т	V	A	ΕI	_ V	V C	C T

PpNIP3_1	PVVSPPNISL	T KFA	TEL	I G T
PpNIP5_1		QLV	AE I	IST
PpNIP5_2		STQLI	AEV	IST
PpNIP5 3		- AQLV	AEV	IST

PpNIP6_1									-	-			-						-			-		-		-		-	-		- G	AEL	ΙΑV
AtNIP1_1	SGNG	YGN	N A F	ι Ε	ΕV	VM	٧N	I L K	D	ЕV	VΕ	ΗQ	Q	ΕM	ΕD	II	ΗN	PR	P :	LΚ	ΚQ	D	S L	L	S V	'S	VP	• F	L (QK	LΙ	AE F	LGT
AtNIP1_2	SGNG	- G I) A F	۲D	GA	VV	٧N	I L K	E	ΕI	D E	Q Q	Q	QQ	QA	Ιŀ	ΗK	Р-	- 1	LΚ	ΚQ	D	S L	L	S I	S	VP	• F	L (QK	LΜ	ΑEV	LGT
AtNIP2_1	DDIS	VSK	(SN	ΙH	GN	VV	VΙ	N I	Κ	A	S S	LΑ	D	ΤS	LP	SN	١K		-	- H	E S	S	S P	Р	LL	. S	VE	ΗF	L (QK	LL	ΑEL	VGT
AtNIP2_2									-	-			-						-			-		-		-			-				
AtNIP4_1	SSHS	DEI	EE	ΕE	QI	S R	ΙE	EKC	γK	GI	ΚD	C Q	G	G -					-	ΙE	ΤV	Ί	СТ	S	P S	I	VC	CL	Τ(QK	LΙ	ΑEΜ	I G T
AtNIP4_2	TSHG	ΕEI	EI) E	QI	S R	ΙE	EKC	γN	CI	ΚD	S Q	G	G -					- 1	ΜE	ΤA	Ι (C S	S	P S	I	VC	CL	Τ(QK	LΙ	ΑEΜ	I G T
AtNIP5_1	DSMS	FDF	IRK	K P	ТР			RC	K	C]	LP	VM	G	SΤ	WC	ίQΗ	ΗD	ТC	F	Т-		-]	D F	Р	S P	D	VS	ΓL	Т	K	LG	AE F	VGT
AtNIP6_1	KRNG	H N C	3 R Y	ΥT	ΡK	S L	LK	s s c	K	C]	FS	V D	Ν	- E	WA	LI	ΞD	G R	L	ΡP	VΤ	C	S L	Р	P P	'N	VS	5 L	Y	K	LG	AE F	VGT
AtNIP7_1	EARS	RVV	/ D () E	AG	S T	P S	STL	R	D	ЕD	ΗP	S	RQ	R L	, F (- ĩ		-			C	LP	Y	DΙ	D	LN	I P	L	Ι	VM	AE L	VGT
ZmNIP1_2	AGGG	DHS	5 Q 1	ΓN	GG	ΗV	DQ) R A	L	Εl	ΕG	R K	Е	Е-					F.	A D	QG	ΥC	A A	Μ	V V	'S	VP	• F	Ι (QK	ΙI	AE I	FGT
ZmNIP4_1	AAST	ΤSΗ	R T N	N S	R V	ΝY	S١	IE I	Η	DI	L S	ΤV	Q	S G	S V	V I	Р Т	LF	Y	P -	DK	S	ΙA	D	ΙF	P	ΡH	ΗL	GI	ΚK	VΙ	SEV	VAT
ZmNIP5_1	IPHS	RSI	P S N	V K	ΙL	ΡL	G F	F Q E	I S	P 1	R P		-						-			V	S A	Κ	Rν	ΥA	LA	۱L	ΤJ	ΚK	VA	ΑEL	LGT
PgNIP1_1	DNMP	EQE	ENV	/ N	ΑV	R N	ΙE	ΕEC	R	II	ΕS	ΗV	Y	Τ-					-	- E	RΤ	C]	R S	F	LP	S	VΊ	F	V (QK	VV	AE I	I <u>G</u> T
PgNIP2_1	DESS	YSC	ĮLΝ	/ N	ΙS	G E	ΕI	ΕĽ) E	Εı	A G	N V	Κ	ΕG	S L	, F Y	ΥK	ΚD	K (QC	P N	G	СМ	D	FΛ	7 P	АΊ	Ľ	L	QK	ΙΤ	AE I	I S T
PgNIP3_1	VDKG	S S C	G K F	ι Τ	L L	QG	C١	IS C	L	SN	МE	ΑW	А	ΕE	R M	1L S	5 D		-			L	ΡA	Α	LP	S	A S	ΓL	ΑJ	ΚK	VΙ	AE F	I <u>G</u> T
PgNIP3_2									-	-			-						-			-		-		-			-				T
																																	•
D GIDA 4																							Ŧ							D 11			
PpSIP1_1									-	-			-						-		- N	lG	- L	A		-			-	K K	AV	ADA	SIT
PpSIP1_2									-	-			-						-		- N	lG	- L	A		-			-	R K	ΑV		SIT
AtSIP1_1									-	-			-						-		MN	lG	- V	L		-		-	-	K S	AI	GDM	LMT
AtSIP1_2									-	-			-						-		- N	S	- A	V		-		-	-	KS	AL	GDM	V I T
ZmSIP1_1									-	-			-						-	- M	AN	1G /	ΑT	V		-		-	-	R A	AΑ	ADA	$\nabla \nabla T$
																			_	- M			L? A										
ZmSIP1_2									-	-			-						-	- 111	AN		с А -	L		-		-		ĸΑ	AΑ	ADA	VVII
ZmSIP1_2 PgSIP1_1			· - ·	· -				·	-	-			-						-		- N	1G 1G	са - I	V		-		· -	- 1	K A K L	AA AI	ada GDA	V V T A I T
ZmSIP1_2 PgSIP1_1 AtSIP2_1	 		· - ·	 		 		·	-	-			-						-		- M - M	1G 1G 1G	са - I 	V -		-	 R I	-	-] - (K A K L G L	AA AI VV	ADA GDA TDL	VVI AIT VLS

			H2	
DpDID1 1				GIS
PpPIP1_1 PpPIP1_2	LLFLYIT-IQIVMOHKKS	$\begin{array}{c} \mathbf{A} \mathbf{D} \mathbf{P} \mathbf{-} \mathbf{-} \mathbf{-} \mathbf{-} \mathbf{-} \mathbf{C} \mathbf{L} \mathbf{G} \\ \mathbf{U} \mathbf{T} \mathbf{D} \mathbf{P} \mathbf{-} \mathbf{-} \mathbf{-} \mathbf{-} \mathbf{C} \mathbf{L} \mathbf{G} \end{array}$	VGIQGIAWA F GGM-IFALVICIAC	GIS
PpPIP1 3	FLFLYIT-VOTVMGHNR-	G DA CAG	VGIOGIAWA FGGM-IFTLVYCTA	GIS
AtPIP1 1	FLFLYIT - V L TVMGVKRS	P N MCAS	V G I <mark>Q</mark> G I AWA F G G M - I F A L V Y C T A G	GIS
AtPIP1_2	F L F L Y I T - V L T V M G V K R S	P N MCA S	VGI <mark>Q</mark> GIAWAFGGM-IFALVYCTAG	GIS

AtPIP1_3	FLFLYIT -	V L T V M G V K	R A P N	M	CASVGIQGIAWA	FGGM-1	I F A L V Y C T A G I S
AtPIP1_4	FLFLYIT -	V L T V M G V K	R A P N	M	CASVGIQGIAWA	FGGM-1	I F <mark>A</mark> L V Y C T A G I S
AtPIP1_5	FLFLYVT-	V L T VMGVK	R APN	M	CASVGIQGIAWA	FGGM-1	I F <mark>A</mark> L V Y C T A G I S
ZmPIP1_1	FLFLYIS -	I L TVMGV S	K S T S	K	C A T V G I Q G I A W S	FGGM-1	I L A LVY C T A G I S
ZmPIP1_2	FLFLYIT-	I L T V M G V S	K S T S	K	C A T V G I Q G I A W S	FGGM-1	I F A L V Y C T A G I S
ZmPIP1_3	FLFLYIT -	V L TVMGVS	K S T S	K	C A T V G I Q G I A W S	FGGM-1	I F <mark>A</mark> L V Y C T A G I S
ZmPIP1_5	FLFLYIS-	I L TVMGVS	K S S S	K	C A T V G I Q G I A W S	F G G M - 1	I F A L V Y C T A G I S
ZmPIP1_6	FLFLYVT-	V L TVMGVS	K S P S	K	C G T V G I Q G I A W A	F G G M - 1	I F A LVY C T A G V S
PgPIP1_1	FLFLYIT-	I L T V M G V K	R S D NG S D G	V C	Γ G S V G I Q G I A W A	F G G M - 1	I F C L V Y C T A G I S
PgPIP1_2	FLFLYIT -	I L T V M G V K	R S D D	V C '	Γ G S V G I Q G I A W A	FGGM-1	I F <mark>C</mark> L V Y C T A G I S
PgPIP1_3	FLFLYVT -	I L T V M G V K	R S P S	M	C Q S V G I Q G I A W S	F G G M - 1	I F <mark>A L V Y C T A G I S</mark>
PpPIP2_1	LLFLYIT-	I S T V I G A S	R	NAG	CAGVGLLGIAWA	FGGM-1	I F VLVYCTAGVS
PpPIP2_2	LLFLYIT -	I A TVIGAV	R	NAG	CDGVGLLGIAWA	FGGM-1	I F V L V Y C T A G I S
PpPIP2_3	LLFLYIT -	I A T V I G A S	R	NAG	CAGVGTLGIAWA	FGGM-1	I F V L V Y C T A G I S
PpPIP2_4	LLFLYIA -	I G TVVGAS	R	NAD	CAGVGILGIAWA	FGGM-1	I F <u>V</u> LVY C T A G I S
AtPIP2_1	LLFLYIT -	V L T V I G Y K	$I \ Q \ S \ D \ T \ D \ A \ G$	G V D	CGGVGILGIAWA	FGGM-1	I F I LVYCTAGIS
AtPIP2_2	LLFLY <u>I</u> T -	V L T V I G Y K	IQ S DTKAG	G V D	CGGVGILGIAWA	FGGM-1	I F I LVYCTAGIS
AtPIP2_3	LLFLY <mark>V</mark> T -	V L T V I G Y K	IQ S DTKAG	G V D	CGGVGILGIAWA	FGGM-1	I F I LVY C T A G I S
AtPIP2_4	LLFLYVS -	I L T V I G Y K	AQ T DATAG	G V D	$C\underline{G}GVG\underline{I}LGIAWA$	FGGM-1	I F <u>V</u> L V Y C T A G I S
AtPIP2_5	LLFLYVT -	I M T V I G Y K	$S \ Q \ T \ D \ P \ A \ L \ N$	P D Q	C T G V G V L G I A W A	FGGM-1	I F I LVYCTAGIS
AtPIP2_6	LLFLYVT -	V L T V I G F K	<u>S</u> Q T D I N A G	G G A	CASVGLLGISWA	FGGM-1	I F I LVY C T A G I S
AtPIP2_7	LLFLYVT -	V A T V I GHK	K Q T G	P	CDGVGLLGIAWA	FGGM-1	I F V L V Y C T A G I S
AtPIP2_8	LLFLYVT -	V A T V I G H K	NQ T G	P	CGGVGLLGIAWA	FGGM-1	I F V L V Y C T A G I S
ZmPIP2_1	LLFLY <u>I</u> T -	V A T V I G Y K	HQ T DASAS	G A D A A	CGGVG <mark>V</mark> LGIAWA	FGGM-1	I F V L V Y C T A G I S
ZmPIP2_2	LLFLYVT -	V A T V I G Y K	HQ T DASAS	G AGADAA	CGGVG <mark>V</mark> LGIAWA	FGGM-1	I F <u>V</u> L V Y C T A G I S
ZmPIP2_3	LLFLYIT -	V A T V I G Y K	HQ T DAAAS	G P D A A	CGGVGILGIAWA	FGGM-1	I F I LVY C T A G I S
ZmPIP2_4	LLFLYIT -	V A T V I G Y K	HQ T DASAS	G P D A A	CGGVG <u>I</u> LGIAWA	FGGM-1	I F I LVY C T A G I S
ZmPIP2_5	LLFLYIT -	V A T V I G Y K	HQ T DAAAS	G P D A A	$C \underline{G} G V G \underline{V} L G I A W A$	FGGM-1	I F I LVY C T A G V S
ZmPIP2_6	LLFLYIT -	V A T <u>V</u> I G Y K	HQ T DASAS	G P D A A	C S G V G I L G I A W A	FGGM-1	I F I LVY C T A G I S
ZmPIP2_7	LLFLYIT -	VLTIGYK	RQ S DTKIP	G N T E	CDGVGILGIAWA	FGGM-1	I F I LVY C T A G I S
PgPIP2_1	LLFLYIT -	I A TVIGHS		R T S T N	CGSVGVLGIAWS	FGGM-1	I F V L V Y C T A G I S
PgPIP2_2	LLFLYIT -	I A TVIGHS		R T S T N	CGSVGVLGIAWS	FGGM-1	I F V L V Y C T A G I S
PgPIP2_3	LLFLYIT -	I A TVIGHS		R T S A D	CGSVGVLGIAWS	FGGM-1	I F V L V Y C T A G I S
PgPIP2_4	LLFLYIT-	I A TVIGHS		R T L T K	CGSVGVLGIAWS	FGGM-1	I F V L V Y C T A G I S
PgPIP2_5	LLFLYIT-	I A TVIGHS		R T L A D	CGSVGVQGIAWA	FGGM-1	I F V L V Y C T A G <mark>V</mark> S
PgPIP2_6	LLFLYIT-	I A TVIGHS		R N K A D	C G S V G V L G I A W S	$\mathbf{F} \mathbf{G} \mathbf{G} \mathbf{M} - \mathbf{I}$	I F V L V Y C T A G I S
PgPIP2 7	LLFLYIT -	V A T V I G H K		RNOAA	CGSVGLLGIAWA	FGGV-1	IFVLVYCTAGIS

PgPIP2_8	LLFLYIT	- V A	ТVІ	GΗK		-		 	-	- I	RΤ	Q	AN	CG	S V	GV	L (ΓE	AW	'A	F C	GG	- N	Ι	FΛ	νL	VY	СΊ	ΓA	GΙ	S
PgPIP2_9	LLFLYIT	- M T	ΤVV	E N K	Q -	-		 	-		- S	K	GΤ	CG	GV	GL	L	GΕ	AW	S	FC	GN	- N	Ι	FΝ	ľĽ	VY	CJ	S	GΙ	S
PgPIP2_10	LLFLYIT	- M T	ΤVV	E N K	Q -	-		 	-		- S	K	GΤ	CG	GV	GL	L (GΕ	AW	A	F C	GG	- N	Ι	FΛ	/LY	VY	CJ	S	GΙ	S
PgPIP2_11	LLFLYIT	- M T	ΤVV	E N K	Q -	-		 	-		- S	K	GΤ	CG	GV	GL	L	GΕ	AW	A	FC	GN	- N	Ι	FΝ	ľĽ	VY	CJ	S	GΙ	S
PgPIP2_12	LLFLYIT	- L T	ΤVV	ENN	R -	-		 	-		- N	K	VN	CS	GV	GL	L (GΕ	AW	A	F C	GG	- N	Ι	FΛ	/LY	VY	CJ	S	GΙ	S
PgPIP2_13	LLFLY <mark>V</mark> T	- I A	ΤVΙ	GN A	NQ	-		 	-			K	ΚP	CG	GV	GΤ	L (GΙ	AW	S	F C	GG	- N	Ι	FΛ	/LY	VY	СΊ	ΓA	GV	Í S
PpPIP3_1	LLFLYVS	- L T	TLM	G T T	RΙ	F	G -	 · -	-			-		- G	S V	GL	I	ΕT	AW	A	FC	GGN	- N	Ι	ΕI	L	٧Y	СΊ	ΓA	GI	S

H2

PpTIP6 1	FLFVFIG	- V G S VMA	YEKI	ΗVG		-	 	- D	LD	AAGI	LLM	ΙA	ΙA	HGL	A -	ΙA	VL	/ A A	ТА	NI	S
PpTIP6_2	FLFVFIG	- V G S VM S	YEKI	ΗVG		-	 	- D	LΕ	AGGI	LLI	ΙA	ΙA	HGL	A -	ΙA	IL	/A A	ТА	NI	S
PpTIP6_3	FLFVFIG	- V G S VM S	YEKI	ΗVG		-	 	- D	LΕ	AG <mark>G</mark> I	LLM	ΙA	ΙA	HGL	A -	ΙA	ΙL	/AA	ТА	NI	S
PpTIP6_4	FLFVFIG	- VGSVMS	YEKI	H AG		-	 	- D]	MD	A <mark>A</mark> GI	LV	ΙA	ΙA	HGL	A -	ΙA	VL	VS A	ТА	NI	S
AtTIP1_1	LIFVVAG	- S G S GMA	FNKL	ΤEΝ		-	 	GA	ΤТ	P S G I	LVA	AA	VA	H A F	G -	LF	VA	VS V	GA	NI	S
AtTIP1_2	LIFVFAG	- S G S G I A	FNKI	T D N		-	 	GΑ	ΤТ	PSGI	LVA	AA	LA	H A F	G -	LF	VAY	VS V	G A	NI	S
AtTIP1_3	VIFVFAG	- Q G S GMA	YGKL	ΤGD		-	 	GP.	ΑT	PAGI	LVA	A S	LS	H A F	A -	LF	VAV	VS V	G A	NV	S
AtTIP2_1	LLFVFAG	- V G S A I A	Y A K L	T S D		-	 	AA	LD	T P <mark>G I</mark>	LVA	ΙA	V C	H G F	A -	LF	VAV	/A I	GA	N I	S
AtTIP2_2	LLFVFAG	- V G S A L A	FAKL	T S D		-	 	AA	L D	PAGI	LVA	VA	VA	ΗAF	A -	LF	VG	VS I	AA	N I	S
AtTIP2_3	L <u>L</u> F V F A <u>G</u>	- V G S A V A	FAKL	T S D		-	 	GA	L D	P <u>A</u> GI	L <u>V</u> A	ΙA	ΙA	H A F	A -	LF	VG	VS I	AA	NI	S
AtTIP3_1	FVFVAA	- E G S I L S	L D K L	Y WE	H A A	Н	 - A	GT	ΝT	P G G I	LIL	VA	LA	H A F	A -	LF	ΑA	VS A	AI	ΝV	S
AtTIP3_2	FVFVGAG	- EGSILA	LDKL	Y WD	T A A	Н	 - T	GT	ΝT	P <mark>G </mark> G I	LVL	VA	LA	ΗAL	A -	LF	A A	V S A	AI	ΝV	S
AtTIP4_1	FLFVFAG	- V G S A M A	TDSL	V		-	 	- G	ΝT	LVGI	LFA	VA	VA	H A F	V -	VA	VM]	I S A	G -	ΗI	S
AtTIP5_1	FFFVLAA	- V G S VM S	SRKL	M A G		-	 - D	VS	G P	FGV	LIP	- A	ΙA	NAL	A -	LS	S S	YY I	SW	/NV	S
ZmTIP1_1	LIFVFAG	- Q G S GMA	FSKL	T G G		-	 	G P	ΤТ	PAGI	LIA	AA	VA	H A F	A -	LF	VA	VS V	G A	N I	S
ZmTIP1_2	LIFVFAG	- S G S GMA	FSKL	T D G		-	 	GA.	ΑT	PAGI	LIA	A S	LA	ΗAL	A -	LF	VAV	VS V	G A	N I	S
ZmTIP2_1	LLFVFAG	- VGSAIA	YGQL	ΤNG		-	 	GA	L D	PAGI	LVA	ΙA	ΙA	ΗAL	A -	LF	VG	VS V	A A	N I	S
ZmTIP2_2	LLFVFAG	- V G S A I A	FGQL	T NG		-	 	GA	L D	PAGI	LVA	ΙA	VA	HAL	A -	LF	VG	VS V	A A	NT	S
ZmTIP2_3	LLFVFAG	- V G S A I A	YSQL	ΤKG		-	 	GA	L D	P <u>A</u> GI	LVA	ΙA	ΙA	ΗAF	Α-	LF	VG	VS M	I A <mark>A</mark>	N I	S
ZmTIP3_1	A I F V F A A	- EGSVLS	L G <mark>K</mark> M	ΥHD		-	 	- M	SΤ	A G <mark>G I</mark>	LVA	VA	LA	ΗAL	A -	LΑ	VA	/A V	A V	7 N I	S
ZmTIP3_2	AIFVFAA	- EGSVLS	L G <mark>K</mark> M	ΥHD	Н Ѕ Т	-	 	- I	SΤ	A G <mark>G I</mark>	LVA	VA	LA	ΗAL	G -	LΑ	VAV	/A V	' A V	$^{\prime}$ N V	S
ZmTIP4_1	FLFVFTG	- V S A AMA	AGSD	GKP	G	-	 	DA	M P 1	M <mark>A</mark> TI	LAA	VA	ΙA	ΗAL	A -	AG	VL	/ T A	GF	HV	S
ZmTIP4_2	FLFVFTG	- V S A S MA	AGAG	GKP	G	-	 	EA	M P 1	M <mark>A</mark> T I	LAA	VA	ΙA	ΗAL	A -	AG	VL	/ T A	GF	HV	S
ZmTIP4_4	FLFVFAG	- V G S A M A	T G K L	A GG	G	-	 	GD	ΤV	V G -	L T A	VA	LA	ΗTL	V -	VA	VM	VS A	GL	ΗV	S
ZmTIP4_3	FLFVFIG	- VGAAMT	DG	A T T	K	-	 	GS	ΤA	GGD	LTA	VA	LG	QAL	V -	VA	VI/	<u>\</u> T <u>A</u>	GF	HI	S
ZmTIP5_1	FLFVFTA	- VGSAIS	ARML	ТР		-	 - D	VΤ	SS	A G P	LVA	ΤA	VA	Q A F	G -	LF	AA	ΖLΙ	AA	DV	S

PgTIP1_1	LIFVFAG-	- E G S GMA	FDKL T	ND-	 -	 	AS 7	ΓТ	P A G	LVA	VA	LA	A H A	L G	r –	LΓ	/ A \	ΖA	VG	ΑN	IS
PgTIP1_2	LIFVFAG-	- E G S GMA	FAKIT	S N -	 -	 	AS 7	ΓТ	P A G	LVA	LA	LA		GL G	ř –	LFV	/ A \	/A	V S	ΑN	I I S
PgTIP1_3	LIFVFAG-	- E G S VMA	YAKLT	GG-	 -	 	DS 7	ΓТ	P S G	LVA	VA	LA	HA	LG	ř –	LFV	/ A \	/A	VΑ	ΙN	I I S
PgTIP1_4	LIFVFAG-	- E G S V I A	FAKL S	XD-	 -	 	GS 7	ΓТ	P A X	LVA	ΕA	LA		βΙA	-	LF	[X]	/A	VΑ	S N	I I S
PgTIP1_5	LIFVFAG-	E G S G M A	FAKLT	S D -	 -	 	AS 7	ΓТ	PAG	LVA	VA	LA		GLG	r –	LF	/ A \	/A	V G	ΑN	I I S
PgTIP2_1	LLFVFAG-	V G S AMA	YD <mark>KL T</mark>	SS -	 -	 	AAI	LD	P A G	LVG	ΥA	VC	C H C	F A	-	LFV	/ A \	ΙA	ΙA	ΑN	I I S
PgTIP2_2		MA`	Y D K L T	S D -	 -	 	A S I	LS	P A G	LVG	VG	VA		GLA	-	LFV	/ A \	/S	ΙA	ΑN	I I S
PgTIP4_1	FLFVFAG -	V G S A MA	$M \in \overline{Q}M S$	- V P	 -	 	AK S	S P	- A G	LTV	V A	LA	H A	Υ		VF	۱M آ	[S]	A G	FN	I I S
PgTIP4_2	FLFVFAG-	VGSALT	VDKL S	ESS	 -	 	AL.	ΓР	GAG	LVI	IA	LΊ	T <mark>H</mark> T	FA	-	VY	۱M	/S	A G	F H	IS

H2

PpNIP3_1	FVLIFAA	- T A T P I VN	ЕКТК	GS	 	 VTLL	GNAA T	AGLA	- IMIV	IFAT	GHIS
PpNIP5_1	FILVFTG	- C G A VMVN	EISN	GK	 	 VTSV	GVSLA	FGLV	- V T I M	IYAV	G H I S
PpNIP5_2	FILVFMG	- C G A A M V N	VISN	GK	 	 VTPV	GISLS	FGLV	- V T I M	ΙΥΑV	GHVS
PpNIP5_3	FILVFTG	- C G A VM VN	AISN	GK	 	 VTPV	GISLV	FGLV	- I T I M	IYAV	GHIS
PpNIP6_1	FLVMFSS	- C G T A I AN	KKA N	GN	 	 LNLL	G F <mark>A</mark> T A	G G L S	- <mark>V M</mark> MM	VFAV	GNIS
AtNIP1_1	YFLVFTG	- C A S V V V N	MQN D	NV	 	 VTLPO	GIAIV	WGLT	- IMVL	IYSL	GHIS
AtNIP1_2	YFLIFAG	- C A A V A V N	TQHD	KA	 	 VTLP	GIAIV	WGL T	- <mark>V</mark> MVL	VYSL	G H I S
AtNIP2_1	YYL I FAG	- C A A I A VN	AQHN	HV	 	 VTLV	GIAVV	WGIV	- IMVL	VYCL	GHLS
AtNIP2_2	<u> </u>	- <u></u>		<u>-</u>	 	 <u> </u>	<u> </u>	- <u></u> -	- <u></u>		
AtNIP4_1	YFIVFSG	- C G V V V V N	VLY G	GT	 	 ITFP	GICVT	WGLI	- VMVM	IYST	GHIS
AtNIP4_2	YFIIFSG	- <u>C G V V V V N</u>	VLYG	GT	 	 I T F P C	<u>G I C V T</u>	WGLI	- VMVM	IYST	GHIS
AtNIP5_1	FILIFTA	- T A G P I VN	QKYD	GA	 	 ETLI	G N <mark>A</mark> A C	A G L A	-VMII	I L <u>-</u> S	GHIS
AtNIP6_1	LILIFAG	- T A T A I VN	QKTD	GA	 	 ETLI	GCAA S	AGLA	- VM I V	I - S T	GHIS
AtNIP7_1	FILMFSV	- C G V I S S T	QLSG	GH	 	 VGLLI	EYAVT	A G L S	- <u>V V </u> V V	VYSI	GHIS
ZmNIP1_2	YFLMFAG	- C G A V T I N	ASKN	GQ	 	 I T F P	GVAIV	WGLA	- VMVM	VYAV	GHIS
ZmNIP4_1	FLLVFVT	- C G A A S I Y	GEDN	<u>R</u>	 	 ISQL	GQ <u>S</u> VA	GGLI	- V T V M	IYAT	<u>G H I</u> S
ZmNIP5_1	FLVFTV	- <u>L S</u> A L I TN	EAH G	GA	 	 $L \underline{G} V L$	G V <mark>a</mark> V a	G G T A	- <u>V V </u> V V	VSSI	FHVS
PgNIP1_1	FFLIFIG	- C G S <u>V</u> V I D	ΚΚΤΝ	GS	 	 I T H L (GVSIV	W G L A	-VMII	IYSI	GHIS
PgNIP2_1	FILVFVT	- CGSSILD	HRS P	<u>Q</u> L	 	 VSEL	G <u>S</u> V A	SGLI	- VMVM	IYSV	GHIS
PgNIP3_1	FILIFAG	- T A T A I VN	QKTD	GS	 	 VSLL	G L <mark>A</mark> A S	GGLA	- I M I V	ILST	GHIS
PgNIP3_2	FILIFAG	- T S T A I VD	EKTG	GK	 	 VTLIO	GKAA S	SGLG	- I T I V	ILST	GHIS

H2

PpSIP1_1	FLWV FAM AS	SLGAVSTS	IAPSLGLDG	- PGKGKMYIVFSI	V S F L - I	F F F S F L G Q A L G
PpSIP1_2	FLWVFAMAS	SLGAASTA	IASSLGLDG	- PGKTKMYIVFA	V S F L - V	FFFSFLGHALG
AtSIP1_1	FSWVVLSAT	Γ F G I Q T A A	I I S A G D F Q A	- I TWAPLVILTSI	I F V Y - V	S I F T V I F G
AtSIP1_2	FLWVILSAT	ΓF <mark>G</mark> IQTA A	IVSAVG FHG	- I TWAPLVISTLV	/ V F V S - I S	S I FTV I G N V L G
ZmSIP1_1	FLWVLCASA	ALGASTAA	VTSYLGVQE	GAGHYALLVTTS	L S V L - L	FTFDLLCGALG
ZmSIP1_2	FLWVLCVST	TLGASTTA	VTSYLRLQG	VHFALLVTVS	LSVL-L	F V F N I L C D A L G
PgSIP1_1	FLWVFGASC	CLGAGTS I	IASNLGVQG	P M T L L I T T S I	LFLL-V	F L F S F L G Q VMG
AtSIP2_1	FMWIWAGVI	LV - NILV	$\overline{H}G\overline{V}L\overline{G}$ F \overline{S}	RTDPSGEIVRYLH	FSIIS-M	F I FAY L Q Q A T K
ZmSIP2_1	AAWVCAGALVKI	LLVY	- G G L G L G	GR PEAEAVKVS	S L S L V Y M	F L FAWL E A A S G

PpPIP1 1	GGH I NPA	V	T F G	LFLA	RKVSL	Ν	RAL	FYM	IMQC	LGA	MCG	A E I	VK	GFQ	PN.	- F	Y Q I	EQ <mark>GG</mark>
PpPIP1 2	GGH I NPA	V	T F G	LFLA	RKVSL	Ν	RAL	YYM	IMQC	LGA	MAG	AG I	VK	GFQ	ΡD・	F	Y Q A	A Q G G
PpPIP1_3	GGH I NPA	V	T F G	LFLA	RKVTF	Р	R T V	LYI	VCQC	LGA	ICG	A G A	VK	GFQ	ΡD・	F	YQS	S V G G
AtPIP1 1	GGH I NPA	V	T F G	LFLA	RKL - L	Т	RAL	ΥΥI	VMQC	LGA	ΙCG	A G V	VK	GFQ	ΡK·	Q	ΥQ́Α	A L <mark>GG</mark>
AtPIP1 ²	GGH I NPA	V	T F G	LFLA	RKL-L	Т	RAV	YYY I	V M Q C	LGA	ΙCG	A G V	VK	GFQ	ΡK・	Q	ΥQ́Α	A L <mark>GG</mark>
AtPIP1_3	GGH I NPA	V	T F G	LFLA	RKL-L	Т	RAV	FYI	V M Q C	LGA	ICG	AG V	VK	GFQ	ΡN・	P	ΥQΊ	Г L <mark>GG</mark>
AtPIP1_4	GGH I NPA	V	T F G	LFLA	RK - SL	Т	RAV	FYM	I MQC	LGA	ICG	AG V	VK	GFQ	ΡT・	P	Y Q T	Г L <mark>GG</mark>
AtPIP1_5	GGH I NPA	V	T F G	LFLA	RK - SL	Т	RAL	FYI	V M Q C	LGA	ICG	A G V	VK	GFQ	$P\overline{G}$	L	Y Q 1	ΓN <mark>GG</mark>
ZmPIP1_1	G - H I NPA	V	T F G	LFLA	RKLSL	Т	RAV	FYI	I MQC	LGA	ICG	R <mark>G</mark> V	VK	GFQ	QG·	L	Y M C	G N <mark>G G</mark>
ZmPIP1_2	GGH I NPA	V	T F G	LFLA	RKLSL	Т	RAL	FYI	I MQC	LGA	V C G	A <mark>G</mark> V	V K (G F Q	QG·	L	YM (G N <mark>G G</mark>
ZmPIP1_3	GGH I NPA	V	T F G	LFLA	RKLSL	Т	RA I	FΥΙ	I M Q C	LGA	ICG	AG V	V K (GFQ	QG·	L	Y M C	G N <mark>G G</mark>
ZmPIP1_5	GGH I NPA	V	T F G	L <u>F</u> L A	RKLSL	Т	RAL	FYM	V M <mark>Q C</mark>	LGA	I C G	AG V	VK	<u>G</u> F <u>Q</u>	$E G \cdot$	L	Y M C	G A <mark>G G</mark>
ZmPIP1_6	GGH I NPA	V	T F G	LLLA	RKLSL	Т	R A V	YYYV	V M <mark>Q C</mark>	LGA	V C G	AG V	V K	A F G	S A	L	YES	S A <mark>gg</mark>
PgPIP1_1	GGH I NPA	V	T F G	LFLA	RKLSL	Р	R A V	FYM	V C Q C	LGA	ICG	AG V	VK	G F M	ES.	E	Y Q N	1 D <mark>G G</mark>
PgPIP1_2	GGH I NPA	AV	T F G	LFLA	RKLSL	Р	RAV	FYM	ICQC	LGA	I C G	AG V	V K (G F M	ES.	E	YEN	1 D <mark>G G</mark>
PgPIP1_3	GGH I NPA	V	T F G	L <u>FL</u> A	rk <u>v</u> s l	Р	R T V	FYM	I C Q C	LGA	MCG	AG V	VK	GMQ	ΚG・	M	ΥEV	/ E <mark>GG</mark>
PpPIP2_1	GGH I NPA	AV	T F G	LLMA	RKISL	Р	R A L	TYM	IAQC	LGA	I C G	A G I	AK	G F Q	ΤA・	F	Y M F	R Y <mark>G G</mark>
PpPIP2_2	GGH I NPA	AV	T F G	LLLA	RKISL	Р	R A L	AYM	IAQC	LGA	I C G	A G I	V K (G F Q	ΤA	F	Y M F	R Y <mark>G G</mark>
PpPIP2_3	GGH I NPA	AV	T F G	LLLA	RKISL	Р	RAL	AYM	IAQC	LGA	I C G	A G I	. V K (G F Q	QS	F	Y M T	Г Y <mark>GG</mark>
PpPIP2_4	GGH I NPA	AV	T F G	LLLA	RKISL	Т	R S L	AYM	V A Q C	LGA	I C G	A G I	. V K	e f Q	ΗS	F	Y M I) H <mark>G G</mark>
AtPIP2_1	GGH I NPA	V	T F G	LFLA	RKVSL	Р	R A L	LII	- A Q C	LGA	ICG	V G F	VK.	A F Q	SS.	Y	ΥTF	R Y <mark>G G</mark>
AtPIP2_2	GGH I NPA	V	T F G	LFLA	RKVSL	Ι	R A V	ĽĽM	- A Q C	LGA	ICG	V G F	VK.	A F Q	SS.	Y	Y D F	R Y <mark>G G</mark>
AtPIP2_3	GGH I NPA	V	T <u>F</u> G	LFLA	RKVSL	Ι	RAV	' L <u>Y M</u>	- A Q C	LGA	ICG	V G F	VK.	A F Q	SS.	H	YVN	∛Y <mark>GG</mark>
AtPIP2_4	GGH I NPA	V	TVG	LFLA	RKVSL	V	R T V	LIV	- A Q C	LGA	ΙCG	CGF	VK	A F Q	SS.	Y	ΥTF	R Y <mark>G G</mark>
AtPIP2 5	GGH I NPA	V	T F G	LLLA	RKVTL	V	RAV	'MY V	- <u>A</u> OC	LGA	ICG	VAI	, V K J	A F O	SA ·	Y	FΤF	X Y G G

AtPIP2_6	GGH I NPA V	/ T	FGLFLA	SKVSL	V R.	AVSY	- V A	QCLO	GATC	GV	GΓ	V K V	FQ	S T -	- Y	Y N I	R Y C	i G
AtPIP2_7	GGH I NPA V	/ T	FGLFLA	RKVS L	V R	ALGY	ΜΙΑ	QCLO	G - I C (GV	GF	V K A	F M	КΤ-	- P	Y N 7	ΓL	6 G
AtPIP2 8	GGH I NPA V	7 T	FGLFLA	RKVS L	P R	AVAY	MVA	QCLC	GA - C	GV	GL	V K A	FMI	МТ-	- P Y	Y K I	R L C	ЪG
$ZmPIP\overline{2}$ 1	GGH I NPA V	7 T	FGLFLA	RKVS L	V R	ALLY	ΙVΑ	QCLC	GAICO	GV	GLY	V K A	FQ	S A -	- Y I	FDF	R Y C	ЪG
ZmPIP2_2	GGH I NPA V	/ T	FGLFLA	RKVS L	V R	ALLY	ΜVΑ	QCLC	GAVC	GV	GLY	V K A	FQ	S A -	- Y I	FDF	R Y (ЪG
$ZmPIP2_3$	GGH I NPA V	/ T	FGLFLA	RKVSL	V R	ALLY	ΙΙΑ	QCLC	GAIC	GV	GLY	V K G	FQ	S A -	- Y	Y V I	RY	6 G
ZmPIP2_4	GGH I NPA V	/ T	FGLFLA	R K V S L	V R	ALLY	ΙΙΑ	QCLO	GAIC (GV	GLY	VKG	FQ	S A -	- Y	Y V I	R Y (ЪG
ZmPIP2_5	GGH I NPA V	/ <mark>T</mark>	FGLFLA	RKVSL	V R.	ALLY	ΙVΑ	QCLO	GAIC	GV	GLY	V K G	FQ	S A -	- F [Y V F	R Y (i G
ZmPIP2_6	GGH I NPA V	/ <mark>T</mark>	FGLFLA	RKVSL	V R.	ALLY	MAA	QSLO	GAIC	GV	A L	V K G	FQ	S <u>G</u> -	- F [Y A I	R Y (i G
ZmPIP2_7	GGH I NPA V	/ T	FGLFLG	RKVSL	V R	ALLY	ΜΙΑ	QCAC	GAICO	ĜΑ	GL	AKG	FQ	K S -	- F [Y N I	R Y (i G
PgPIP2_1	GGH I NPA V	/ T	FGLFLA	RKVSL	P R.	AILY	ΜΙΑ	QCLO	GAICO	GΤ	GLY	V K A	FQ	K S -	- F [Y D I	R Y (i G
PgPIP2_2	GGH I NPA V	/ T	FGLFLA	RKVSL	P R.	AILY	ΜΙΑ	QCLO	GAICO	GΤ	GLY	V K A	FQ	K S -	- F [YD(QN	i G
PgPIP2_3	GGH I NPA V	/ T	FGLFLA	RKV <u>S</u> L	P R.	AILY	ΜΙΑ	QCLO	GAICO	ĜΑ	GLY	V K A	FQ	K S -	- F [Y D I	R Y (i G
PgPIP2_4	GGH I NPA V	/ T	FGLLLA	KKVTL	P R.	AILY	MVA	QCLO	GAICO	GΤ	<u>G</u> L '	V K A	FQ	K S -	- F	Y D F	K Y (i G
PgPIP2_5	GGH I NPA V	/ T	FGLFLA	RKVSL	P R.	AILY	ΜΙΑ	QCLO	GAICO	G T 1	RL	V K A	LQ	NS-	- P	Y D F	K Y (i G
PgPIP2_6	GGH I NPA V	/ T	FGLFLA	RKVS L	P R.	AVMY	ΜΙΑ	QCLO	GAICO	ĜΑ	GLY	V K A	FQ	К <u>Р</u> -	- Y	Y D I	R Y (i G
PgPIP2_7	GGH I NPA V	/ T	FGLFLA	RKVS L	P R.	AVLY	MVA	QCLC	GAICO	GC	GLY	V K A	FQ	KS-	- Y	YD(QYC	i G
PgPIP2_8	GGH <u>I</u> NPAN	/ T	$F\underline{G}LFLA$	RKVS L	P R.	AVLY	ΜΙΑ	QCLO	GA <u>I</u> C	GV	<u>G</u> L '	VKA	FQ	K S -	- Y	Y D F	K Y (i G
PgPIP2_9	GGHV NPAV	/ T	F <mark>AL</mark> FLA	RKVS L	P R	AVLY	ΙVΑ	QCLC	GALCO	GΤΔ	A L Y	V <u>K</u> G	ΙQ	GS-	- F [YA S	S N C	i G
PgPIP2_10	GGHV NPAV	/ T	F <mark>G</mark> MFLA	RKVS L	P R	AVLY	VVA	QCLC	GAVC	GΤΔ	A L Y	V R G	ΙQ	GS-	- F [YA S	S N C	i G
PgPIP2_11	GGHV NPAV	/ T	FALFL A	RKVS L	P R.	AVLY	VVA	QCLO	GAVC	GΤΔ	A L	V <u>K</u> G	ΙQ	GS-	- F [Y A S	S N C	i G
PgPIP2_12	GGHV NPAV	7 T	FALFLA	RKV <u>S</u> L	PR.	AVLY	ΙVΑ	QCLC	GALCO	GΤΔ	A L	VRG	ΙQ	GS-	- F	Y A S	SΤC	i G
PgPIP2_13	GGH I NPA V	7 T	FGLFVA	RKVTL	N R	AVFY	ΙVΑ	QCLC	GAVC	GΑ	GΜ	VKA	LQ	K N -	- Y	YS /	A G C	i G
PpPIP3 1	GGHINPA V	7 Τ	FGLFLA	OOVTL	P R	ASAY	ΙVΑ	OCLO	AIV	ΗA /	AI	ARG	\mathbf{VO}	EGG	- E 🛛	YR S	SFA	S

PpTIP6_1	GGHVNPAV	S L <mark>G L</mark> A L A G K I	TIIRLY	V L Y W V A Q L L G A V	/ A G A W V L K A V T T	G E D V A R H A
PpTIP6_2	GGHVNPAV	S L G L A L A G K I	TIIRLV	V L Y W I A Q L L G A V	AGAWVLKIVT	Г <mark>G</mark> Е D L A R <mark>H</mark> A
PpTIP6_3	GGHVNPAV	S L G L A L A G K I	TVIRLV	V L Y W V A Q L L	AGAWV LKMVTT	Г <mark>G</mark> Е D V A R <mark>H</mark> A
PpTIP6_4	GGHINPAV	SLGLALAGKI	TVIRLV	V L Y W I A Q L L G A	A A G A W V L K I V T T	Г <mark>G</mark> Е D V A R <mark>H</mark> A
AtTIP1_1	GGHVNPAV	TFGAFIGGNI	TLLRG	I LYWIAQLLG <mark>S</mark>	V <mark>A C L I L K F A T C</mark>	6 <mark>G</mark> A V P - A F G
AtTIP1_2	GGHVNPAV	TFGVLLGGNI	TLLRG	I LYWIAQLLG <mark>S</mark> V	A A C F L L S F A T C	<u> </u>
AtTIP1_3	GGHVNPAV	TFGAFIGGNI	TLLRA	I <u>L</u> YWIAQLLGA	V V A C <u>L</u> L L K V S T C	GG E T A <u>-</u> A <u>F</u> S
AtTIP2_1	GGHVNPAV	T <u>F</u> GLAVGGQI	TVITGV	/ F Y W I A Q <u>L</u> L G S <u>T</u>	TAACFLLKYVTC	6G L A - P T H S
AtTIP2_2	GGHL NPAV	T L G L A V G G N I	TVITGI	F F Y W I A Q C L G S I	I V A C L L L V F V T N	V G Е S - Р Т Н G
AtTIP2 3	GGHLNPAV	TLGLAIGGNI	TL I TGI	FFYWIAOCLGS	VACLLLVFVTN	J G K S - P T H G

AtTIP3_1	GGHV NPA	V	- TFGALV	G G R V T A	I RAIYYW]	IAQLLGAILA	AC-LLRLTT	$\mathbf{M}\mathbf{G}$ M R P V G F R
AtTIP3_2	GGHV NPA	V	- TFAALI	G G R I S V	I RAIYYWV	AQLIGAILA	AC-LLRLATN	NG L R P V G F H
AtTIP4_1	GGHL NPA	V	TLGLLL	G G H I S V	F R A F L YW 1	IDQLLASSA	ACFLLSYLT	GGMGTPVH-
AtTIP5_1	GGH <mark>V</mark> NPA	V	TFAMAV	A G R I S V	P TAMFYW7	Γ S Q M I A S V M A	ACLVLK - VTV	VE QHVPIVK
ZmTIP1_1	GGHV NPA	V	TFGAFV	GGNITL	FRGLLYW	AQLLGSTVA	ACFLLRFST	G G Q A T <u>G</u> T F G
ZmTIP1_2	GGHV NPA	V	- TFGAFV	G G N I S L 1	L KALV <mark>YW</mark> V	AQLLG <mark>S</mark> VVA	ACLLLKIATO	GG AALGAFS
ZmTIP2_1	GGHL NPA	V	TFGLAV	G G H I T I I	LTGVFYWV	AQLLGATVA	ACLLLGFVT	HG KAIPTHA
ZmTIP2_2	GGHL NPA	V	- T F G L A V	G G H I T V I	L T G L F <mark>Y W</mark> V	/	ACLLL <mark>RFV</mark> TH	HG KAIPTHG
ZmTIP2_3	GGHL NPA	V	T F G L A V	G G H I T I I	L T G I <mark>L YW</mark> V	AQLLGASVA	ACFLLQYVTH	IG QAIPTHG
ZmTIP3_1	GGHV NPA	V	- T F G A L V	GGRVSL	V RAVLYWV	AQLLGAVA	T L L L R L A T C	GG MRPPGFA
ZmTIP3_2	GGHV NPA	V	- TFGALV	GGRVSL	V RAVLYWA	A Q L L G A V A A	T L L L R L A T C	GG ARPPGFA
ZmTIP4_1	GGHL NPA	V	- TVGLMV	R GHITK 1	L RAVLYVA	A Q L L A S S A A	ACVLLRFLSC	GG MVT PVHA
ZmTIP4_2	GGHL NPA	V	TVGILV	RGHITK	L RALLYVA	A Q L L A S S L A	ACILLRYLS	GG MVTPVHA
ZmTIP4_4	GGHI NPA	V	TLGLAA	T G R I T L	F R S A L Y V A	A Q L L <mark>G</mark> S T L A	ACLLLAFLAV	A D - S G V P V H A
ZmTIP4_3	GGHV NPA	V	- TLSLAV	G G H V T L	FRSSLYIA	A <mark>AQMLAS</mark> SA <mark>A</mark>	ACFLLRWLTC	GGLATPVHA
ZmTIP5_1	GGHV NPA	V	- TFAYAI	G G R I G V	P <u>S</u> AM <u>F</u> YWA	A S Q L <u>L</u> G A T F A	ACLSLNLFSA	AG EEVPTTR
PgTIP1_1	GGHV NPA	V	- TFGAFV	G G H I T L I	L RGI <u>L</u> YWI	FAQLIGATVA	ACLLLKFTC	G G L S T S A F <u>S</u>
PgTIP1_2	GGHV NPA	V	TFGALV	G G H L T L 1	L RGI <u>v</u> ywi	L A Q L I G A T V A	A <u>C</u> L L L K F T T <u>C</u>	<u>G</u> G L S T S A F A
PgTIP1_3	GGHV NPA	V	- TFGALM	G G H I S I I	L RGI <mark>LYW</mark> I	AQLLGAVVA	A <u>S L L L K F T T</u> I	NG RSTSPFA
PgTIP1_4	GGHV NPA	V	- TFGALV	G G H I T X	V RGIXYWI	I A Q M L G A T V X	KCGLLKXTT	KG MSIGVFS
PgTIP1_5	GGHV NPA	V	TFGALV	G G H I T L 1	L <mark>R</mark> G I <u>L</u> YW I	I A Q L I G A T V A	A C L L L <mark>K Y T</mark> T ($\mathbf{G}\mathbf{G} - \mathbf{L}\mathbf{S}\mathbf{T}\mathbf{S}\mathbf{A}\mathbf{F}\mathbf{S}$
PgTIP2_1	GGHV NPA	V	T F G L V L	G G Q I T V I	L <u>k</u> gifywi	I A Q L <mark>V</mark> G A I V A	A C L L L <mark>K F V</mark> T (GG L T T P T H N
PgTIP2_2	GGH <u>V</u> NPA	V	T F G L A L	G G H I T L 1	L RGVFYWI	I A Q L L <mark>G A</mark> I V A	ACLLLKFTC	GGLTTPIHS
PgTIP4_1	GGHL NPA	V	- TLGLAV	GGHITL	IRSLLYWI	I A Q L L A S V L A	ACFLLNFLTO	GG LATPVHT
PgTIP4_2	GGHL NPA	V	- TLGLAV	GGHITL	LRSILYWI	IAQLLGSTLA	ACFLLEFITO	GG MG I P V H T

	_		_																										
PpNIP3_1	GAHV	N P A	Ι-	-	 ΓI	A F	A S	L	RH	I F I	P W	V	QVP	FΥ	ΙA	ΑQ	VL	GS	ΙA	A S I	Т	LΚ	GΙ	FΗ					- P Y
PpNIP5_1	GAHM	N P A	V -	-	 TL	A F	ΑV	А	RH	IFI	P W	Т	QVP	LΥ	A A	ΑQ	CΙ	G S	ΙΤ	ASI	Μ	LR	WΙ	LH					- P A
PpNIP5_2	GAHM	N P A	V -	-	 TL	A F	ΑV	А	ΚH	IF S	SW	S	QVP	LΥ	ΙA	ΑQ	СS	GA	FΤ	A S I	L	LR	WΙ	LΗ					- P A
PpNIP5_3	GAHM	N P A	V -	-	 TL	A F	ΑI	А	Κŀ	IFI	P W	Т	Q V P	ΜY	I V	ΑQ	CG	GS	V F	A S I	EL	LR	WΙ	LH					- P A
PpNIP6_1	GAHL	N P A	V -	-	 TL	A F	A S	Κ	ΚN	1 F 1	ΡL	Q	LVP	ΙY	LΙ	ΑQ	F L	GA	LL	A A (ΞI	LQ	ΑV	TG					D
AtNIP1_1	GAH I	N P A	V -	-	 ΠI	A F	A S	С	GF	R F I		Κ	Q V P	ΑY	VΙ	SQ	VΙ	G S	ΤL	A A A	Υ	LR	LL	FG	L D)HD	V C	S C	G K H
AtNIP1_2	GAH F	N P A	V -	-	 ΤI	A F	A S	С	GF	RFI	P -	L	K V P	ΑY	VΙ	SQ	VΙ	G S	ΤL	A A A	Υ	LR	L L	FG	L D	QD	V C	S C	ЗКН
AtNIP2_1	- A H F	N P A	V -	-	 TL	A L	A S	S	QF	R F I	PL	Ν	QVP	ΑY	Τ-	VQ	VΙ	G S	ΤL	ASA	Υ	LR	LL	FD	LN	IND	V C	SH	ККН
AtNIP2_2				-	 			-		· - ·		-]	MM	СА	A R	NT.	M S	S S	5

AtNIP4 1	GAHF	N P A	V -	 - T	VΤ	FA	Ι	F	R R	FΡV	ΝH	C	QVP	LΥ	I G	ΑQ	Α-	GS	LL	A S	LΤ	LR	LM	1 F K		 	_ \	νтр
AtNIP4_2	GAHF	N P A '	V -	 - T	VΤ	FÆ	١V	F	R R	FΡV	VΥ	C	QVP	LΥ	I G	ΑQ	Τ-	GS	L L	A S	LΤ	LR	LM	IF N		 	- 1	νтр
AtNIP5_1	GAHL	N P S I	L -	 - T	IA	F /	A	L	RΗ	FPV	ΝA	H	IV P	ΑY	ΙA	ΑQ	V S	AS	I C	AS	FΑ	LΚ	GV	F H		 	- ·	- P F
AtNIP6_1	GAHL	N P A '	V -	 - T	ΙA	F /	A	L	ΚH	FPV	ΝK	ŀ	IV P	VΥ	I G	ΑQ	VM	IA S	V S	AA	FΑ	LΚ	AV	F E		 	- ·	- P T
AtNIP7_1	GAHL	N P S	I -	 - T	ΙA	FA	١V	F	GG	FPV	V S	Ç	QVP	LΥ	- I	ΑQ	ΤL	GA	ΤA	ΑT	LV	GV	SV	Y G		 		- V N
$ZmNIP1_2$	GAHF	N P A '	V -	 - T	LA	F /	Υ	S	GR	FΡV	V R	Ç	QLP	ΑY	V L	ΑQ	ΜL	GA	ΥT L	AS	GΤ	LR	LM	IFG		 	- (ЗRН
ZmNIP4_1	GAHM	N P A '	V -	 - T	LS	F /	A C	F	RΗ	FPV	ΝI	Ç	$Q \overline{V} P$	FΥ	WA	ΑQ	FΤ	GA	MC	AA	FV	LΚ	AV	LH		 		- P I
ZmNIP5_1	GGHV	N P A '	V -	 - S	VA	M	١V	F	GH	[L P]	P A	H	ΗLΑ	LΥ	A A	ΑQ	LL	GS	VA	AS	FV	AK	A L	ΥA	G-	 - P	' A 1	۱L L
PgNIP1_1	GAHL	N P A '	V -	 - T	LA	F /	A	V	R R	FΡV	ΝT	Ç	QVP	ΑY	ΙG	ΑQ	VF	AA	ΙC	AG	FV	LR	LΜ	í F G		 	- ·	- D V
PgNIP2_1	GAHM	N P A '	V -	 - T	ΙA	FA	Υ	V	RΗ	FPV	ΝK	C	QVP	ΡY	ΙT	ΑQ	LG	GS	ΙA	AC	FΑ	LR	VМ	I <mark>L</mark> K		 		- A V
PgNIP3_1	GAHV	N P S 1	L -	 - T	LA	F /	A	L	RQ	FPV	ΝI	Ç	QVP	ΑY	MG	ΑQ	VL	GS	ΙC	AS	FΤ	LΚ	LI	FΗ		 	- ·	- P F
PgNIP3_2	GAHA	N P S I	L -	 - T	ΙA	FA	A	F	RΥ	FPV	ΝA	. (QVP	FΥ	LΑ	ΑQ	VL	GS	S I S	AA	FΑ	LΚ	GΙ	FΝ		 		- P F

PpSIP1_1	GASWNPT T	IVAFSFAGVSN	NDDL F TLGVRL	PAQMVGAVGGAL T IV	WEVMPKKYKHTLGG-
PpSIP1_2	GASWNPT A	IVAFSYAGV SN	NDDLFTLGV <mark>R</mark> L	PAQMVGAVGGALA II	L E V M P K K Y K H M L G G -
AtSIP1_1	SASF NPT G	SAAFYVAG V PC	GDTLFSLAIRL	PAQAIGAAGGALA IN	MEFIPEKYKHMIGG-
AtSIP1_2	GASFNPCG	NAAFYTAG V S S	S D S L F S L A I R S	PAQAIGAAGGAITIN	MEMIPEKYKTRIGGK
ZmSIP1_1	GASFNPTD	FAASYAAG L DS	S P S L F S V A L R F	PAQA <mark>A</mark> GAVGGALA IS	SELMPAQYKHTLAG-
ZmSIP1_2	GASFNPTG	VAAFYAAG V T S	SPSL F SIALRI	PAQA <mark>A</mark> GAVGGALAIS	SELMPAQYRHMLGG-
PgSIP1_1	GATWNPT A	SAAAFALGVGN	NDNL I <mark>S</mark> msirf	PAQA <mark>A</mark> GAVGGALA IN	MELMPASYKHMLGG -
AtSIP2_1	GGLYNPL TA	A L A <mark>A</mark> G V S <mark>G G</mark> F S	S S F I F S V F V R I	PVEVIGSILAVKHI	I H V F P E I G K G
ZmSIP2_1	GASYNPL TY	V L A <mark>AA</mark> L A S H <mark>G</mark> G P A	AVYL F TAFARI	PAQVIGAVLGVKLI	2 V T F P N V G K G

				_	
PpPIP1_1	- GSNSVAHGY1	TKGDGLGAE I	IV-GT F VLVYTVFSAT	`D <mark>A</mark> KR <mark>N</mark> ARD S H V	P V L A P L
PpPIP1_2	- GANAVNHGY 1	T <mark>KG</mark> DGLGAE I	IV-GT F VLVYTVFSAT	DAKR SARD S HV	P V L A P L
PpPIP1_3	- GANTVAHGY 1	T <mark>KG</mark> DGLGAE I	IV-GT F VLVYTVFSAT	DAKRNARD S HV	P L L A P L
AtPIP1_1	- GANTVAHGY 1	TKGSGLGAE I	I I - GT F VLVYTVFSAT	DAKRNARD S HV	P I L A P L
AtPIP1_2	- GANTIAHGY 1	T <mark>KGSGLG</mark> AE I	II-GT F VLVYTVFSAT	`D <mark>AKRN</mark> ARD S HV	P I L A P L
AtPIP1_3	- GANTVAHGY 1	TKGSGLGAE I	II-GT F VLVYTVFSAT	DAKR SARD S HV	P I L A P L
AtPIP1_4	- GANTVAHGY 1	T <mark>KGSGLG</mark> AE I	II-GT F VLVYTVFSAT	`D <mark>AKRS</mark> ARDSHV	P V W T P L L V P I L A P L
AtPIP1_5	- GANVVAHGY 1	TKGSGLGAE I	IV-GT F VLVYTVFSAT	DAKR SARD S HV	P I L A P L
$ZmPIP1_1$	- RRNVVAPGY 1	TKGDGLGAE I	IV-GT F ILVYTVFSAT	DAKR <mark>R</mark> ARD S HV	P I L A P L
ZmPIP1 2	- GANVVAPGY 1	TKGDGLGAE I	IV-GT F ILVYTVFSAT	DAKRNARD S H V	P I L A P L

ZmPIP1 3	-	GAN	VV	/ A	P G	Y	ΤK	ζG	DG	L	GA	ι E	I	V -	GΤ	F	Ι	LV	/ Y	ΤV	ΥF	S A	TI	DA	K R	N	A R I	D S	Η	V -	 	 	ΡI	LA	A P L
$ZmPIP1_5$	-	GAN	AV	N	P G	Y	ΤK	ζG	DG	L	GA	ι E		V -	GΤ	F	V	Ľ١	/ Y	ΤV	F F	S A	TI	DA	K R	S	A R I	D S	Η	V -	 	 	ΡI	LΑ	A P L
ZmPIP1_6	-	GAN	AV	S I	P G	Y	ΤK	ζG	DG	L	GA	ι E	V	V -	GΤ	F	V	LV	/ Y	ΤV	F F	S A	TI	DA	K R	Т	A R I	D S	Η	V -	 	 	ΡA	LΑ	A P L
PgPIP1_1	-	GAN	VV	A A	P G	Y	ΤK	ζG	DG	L	GA	ι E	I	V -	GΤ	F	V	LV	/ Y	ΤV	F 'F	S A	TI	DA	K R	S	AR I	D S	Η	V -	 	 	ΡL	LA	A P L
PgPIP1_2	-	GAN	SV	/ A	ΗG	Y	ΤK	ζG	DG	L	GA	ι E		V -	GΤ	F	V	LV	/ Y	ΤV	F F	S A	TI	DA	K R	S	A R I	D S	Η	V -	 	 	ΡM	LA	A P L
PgPIP1_3	-	GAN	LV	/ A	ΗG	Y	SK	ζG	DG	L	GA	ι E		V -	GΤ	F	V	LV	/ Y	ΤV	F F	S A	TI	DA	K R	S	A R I	DP	Η	V -	 	 	ΡV	LΑ	A P L
PpPIP2_1	-	GAN	SV	A A	LG	Y	ST	G	ΤG	L	AA	ι E	ΙĪ	Ι-	GΤ	F	V	LV	/ Y	ΤV	F F	S A	TI) P	K R	N	A R I	D S	Η	V -	 	 	ΡV	LΑ	A P L
PpPIP2_2	-	GAN	SV	ΛA	AG	Y	S I	G	ΤG	L	AA	ι E	ΕI	Ι-	GΤ	F	V	LV	/ Y	ΤV	ΥF	S A	TI) P	K R	N	AR I	D S	Η	V -	 	 	ΡV	LΑ	A P L
PpPIP2_3	-	GAN	ΑV	/N	AG	Y	GI	G	ΤG	L	AA	ι E	ΕI	Ι-	GΤ	F	V	LV	/ Y	ΤV	ΥF	S A	TI) P	K R	N	AR I	D S	Η	V -	 	 	ΡV	LΑ	A P L
PpPIP2_4	-	G A N	AV	/ A	P G	Υ	SΤ	G	ΤG	L	AA	K E	Ι	Ι-	GΤ	F	V	LN	ΛF	ΤV	ΥF	S A	TI) P	K R	K	A R I	DS	Η	V -	 	 ·	ΡV	LA	A P L
AtPIP2_1	-	G A N	S L	. A]	DG	Υ	SΤ	G	ΤG	L	AA	K E	Ι	Ι-	GΤ	F	V	LV	/ Y	ΤV	ΥF	S A	TI) P	K R	S	A R I	DS	Η	V -	 	 ·	ΡV	LA	A P L
AtPIP2_2	-	G A N	S L	. A]	DG	Y	ΝT	G	ΤG	L	AA	K E	Ι	Ι-	GΤ	F	V	LV	/ Y	ΤV	′ F	S A	TI) P	K R	N	AR I	DS	Η	V -	 	 	ΡV	LΑ	A P L
AtPIP2_3	-	GAN	FL	. A]	DG	Y	N <u>T</u>	G	ΤG	L	AA	V E	ΕI	Ι-	GΤ	F	V	LV	/ Y	ΤV	′ F	S A	TI) P	K R	N	AR	D S	Η	V -	 	 ·	ΡV	LΑ	A P L
AtPIP2_4	-	GAN	ΕL	[A]	DG	Y	NK	G	ΤG	L	GA	V E	ΕI	Ι-	GΤ	F	V	LV	/ Y	ΤV	′ F	S A	TI) P	K R	N	AR	D S	Η	V -	 	 ·	ΡV	LΑ	A P L
AtPIP2_5	-	GAN	GL	. S 1	DG	Υ	S I	G	ΤG	V	AA	K E	ΕI	Ι-	GΤ	F	V	LV	/ Y	ΤV	′ F	S A	TI) P	K R	S	AR	D S	H	V -	 	 ·	ΡV	LA	A P L
AtPIP2_6	-	GAN	ML	<u>S</u>	DG	Y	N V	/G	VG	V	GA	K E	ΕI	Ι-	GΤ	F	V	LV	/ Y	ΤV	′ F	S A	TI) P	K R	N	AR I	D S	Η	I -	 	 ·	ΡV	LΑ	A P L
AtPIP2_7	-	GAN	ΤV	/ A	DG	Υ	S K	G	ΤA	L	GA	K E	ΕI	Ι-	GΤ	F	V	LV	/ Y	ΤV	′ F	S A	TI) P	K R	S	AR I	D S	Η	I -	 	 ·	ΡV	LΑ	A P L
AtPIP2_8	-	G A N	ΤV	$^{\prime}A$	DG	Y	S T	G	ΤA	L	GA	V E	Ι	Ι-	GΤ	F	V	LV	/ Y	ΤV	′ F	S A	TI) P	K R	S 2	AR	D S	Η	V -	 	 ·	ΡV	LΑ	A P L
ZmPIP2_1	-	G A N	S L	A	S G	Y	S R	RG	ΤG	L	GA	V E	ΙI	Ι-	GΤ	F	V	LV	/ Y	ΤV	′ F	S A	TI) P	K R	N	AR	D S	Η	V -	 	 ·	ΡV	LΑ	A P L
ZmPIP2_2	-	G A N	S L	A	S G	Y	S R	RG	AG	L	GA	V E	l I	<u>V</u> -	GΤ	F	V	LV	/ Y	ΤV	′ F	S A	TI) P	K R	N	AR	D S	Η	V -	 	 ·	ΡV	LΑ	A P L
ZmPIP2_3	-	GAN	ΕL	. S 1	DG	Y	S K	G	ΤG	L	AA	K E	Ι	Ι-	GΤ	F	V	LV	/ Y	ΤV	'F	S A	TI) P	K R	S	AR I	D S	Η	V -	 	 ·	ΡV	LΑ	A P L
ZmPIP2_4	-	GAN	ΕL	_ S]	DG	Υ	S K	G	ΤG	L	AA	V E	ΕI	Ι-	GΤ	F	V	LV	/ Y	ΤV	′ F	S A	TI) P	ΚR	S 4	AR	D S	H	V -	 	 ·	ΡV	LΑ	A P L
ZmPIP2_5	-	GAN	ΕL	_ S _	AG	Υ	S K	G	ΤG	L	AA	V E	ΕI	Ι-	GΤ	F	V	LV	/ Y	ΤV	′ F	S A	TI) P	ΚR	N	AR	D S	H	V -	 	 ·	ΡV	LΑ	A P L
ZmPIP2_6	-	G <u>A</u> N	ΕV	S I	AG	Y	S T	G	ΤG	L	AA	K E	ΕI	Ι-	GΤ	F	V	LV	/ Y	ΤV	′ F	S A	TI) P	K R	N	AR	D S	Η	V -	 	 	ΡV	LΑ	A P L
ZmPIP2_7	-	GVN	ΤV	7 S I	DG	Y	NK	G	ΤA	L	GA	K E	ΕI	Ι-	GΤ	F	V	LV	/ Y	ΤV	′ F	S A	TI) P	K R	N	AR	D S	Η	V -	 	 	ΡV	LΑ	A P L
PgPIP2_1	-	GAN	ΥV	/H]	ΗG	Y	ΤK	G	VG	L	AA	ι E	E I	I -	GΤ	F	V	L	/ Y	ΤV	F	S A		D P	KR	S 2	AR	DS	Η	V -	 	 	ΡV	LA	APL
PgPIP2_2	-	GAN	FΝ	Η.	ΡG	Y	ΤK	G	VG	L	AA	ι E		1 -	GΊ	F	V		/ Y	ΤV	F	S A) P	K R	S 4	A R	D S	H	V -	 	 	ΡV	LA	APL
PgPIP2_3	-	GAN	FΝ	H.	ΡG	Y	ΤK	G	VG	L	AA	ι E		1 -	GΊ	F	V	L	/ Y	ΤV	F	S A) P	KR	S 4	A R I	D S	H	V -	 	 	ΡV	LA	APL
PgPIP2_4	-	GAN	FΝ	H.	ΡG	Y	ΤK	G	VG	L	AA	ι E		1 -	GΊ	F	V	L	/ Y	ΤV	F	S A) P	KR	S 4	A R I	D S	H	V -	 	 	ΡV	LA	APL
PgPIP2_5	-	GAN	ΥV	H	QG	Y	ΤK	G	AG	L	GA	\ E		1 -	GΊ	F	V	L	/ Y	ΤV	F	S A) P	KR	S /	A R	DS	H	V -	 	 	ΡV	LA	APL
PgPIP2_6	-	GAN	VV	Α.	HG	Y	ΤK	G	VG	L	AA	ι E		- 1	GΊ	F	V	L	/ Y	ΤV	F	S A	TI) P	KR	S /	A R	DS	H	V -	 	 	ΡV	LA	A P L
PgPIP2_7	-	GAN	SV	Α	HG	Y	ΤK	G	٧G	L	SA	ι E		l -	GΊ	F	V	L\	/ Y	ΤV	F	S A	TI) P	KR	N	AR	DS	H	V -	 	 ·	ΡV	LA	A P L
PgPIP2_8	-	GAN	VV	(\mathbf{A})	YG	Y	ΤK	G	V <u>G</u>	L	AA	ι Ε		-	GΊ	F	1	Ľ	/ Y	ΤV	F	S A	TI) P	KR	S /	AR	DS	H	V -	 	 ·	ΡV	LA	A P L
PgPIP2_9	-	GSN	SV	S	۲G	Y	SK	G	TA	L	LA	K E		1 -	GΊ	F	V	L	7 Y	ΤV	F	S A	TI) P	KR	Κ	A R	DS	H	V -	 	 ·	ΡV	LA	APL
PgPIP2_10	-	GSN	SV	S	۲G	Y	SK	G	SA	L	LA	K E		1 -	GΊ	F	V	L\	/ Y	ΤV	F	S A	TI) P	KR	K	A R	DS	H	V -	 	 ·	ΡV	LA	NPL
PgPIP2_11	-	GSN	SV	S.	٢G	Y	SK	G	SA	L	LA	K E		1 -	GΊ	F	V	L	7 Y	ΤV	F	SΑ	T I	ЭP	KR	Κ	A R	D S	Η	V -	 	 ·	ΡV	LA	APL
PgPIP2_12	- 1	G S N	SV	S .	AG	Y	SK	G	S A	L	LA	ι.		1 -	GΊ	F	V	L	7 Y	ΤV	F	SΑ		ЭP	ΚR	N	AR I	DS	H	1 -	 	 ·	ΡV	LA	A P L

PgPIP2_13 PpPIP3_1	- GANT NAVNG	V K E G V Q P G	YAS YNI	SET I <mark>G</mark> Q	ALA ALA	A E A E	IA- IM-	G T G T	F F	V L V V L	V Y 1 L Y 1	VF VL	CA SA	Г D Р Г D Р	K S T R	N A K A	RD RD	S Н S Н	V - V -	·	-			PAI PVI	. A P . A P	L
1 _			_		_																		-			
PpTIP6_1		I G A N I	M T C	GFS	AML	M E	ΙVΙ	- T	F	ΤLΝ	<u>M</u> F V	V F	ΑTΑ	A V D	P N	ΚG	ΤV				-			GVI	A P	L
PpTIP6_2		I G A <mark>G</mark> I	M T I	$\Gamma W S$	A <u>T</u> L	ME	ΙVΙ	- T	F	TL	V F V	V F	ΑTΑ	A V D	P K	ΚG	ΤV				-			GVI	I A P	L
PpTIP6_3		I G V <mark>G</mark> I	M S F	PMS	AVL	ME	ΙVΙ	- T	F	TL	V F V	V F	ΑTΑ	A V D	P K	ΚG	ΤV				-			GVI	I A P	L
PpTIP6_4	[]	I G V G I	M T F	PWS	AVL	ME	AVI	- T	F	TL	VFV	VF	ΑTΑ	A V D	P K	KG	ΤV				-			GVI	I A P	L
AtTIP1_1	I	SAG	VGV	/ L N	A F V	FE	I VN	1 - T	F	GL	VYT	ΥY	ΑTΑ	A I D	P K	NG	SL				-			GΤΙ	I A P	Ι
AtTIP1_2	I	SAG	V G S	SLN.	ALV	FE	I VN	1 - T	F	GL	VYT	ΥY	ΑTΑ	A V D	P K	NG	S L				-			G T I	I A P	Ι
AtTIP1_3	[SYG	V T F	PWN.	A V V	FE	I VN	1 - T	F	GL	VYT	ΥY	ΑTΑ	A V D	P K	KG	DI				-			GI	I A P	L
AtTIP2_1	\	V A A G	LGS	S I E	G V V	ME	ΙΙΙ	T	F	A L	VYT	ΥY	ΑTΑ	A A D	P K	ΚG	SL				-			G T I	A P	L
AtTIP2_2	\	V A A G	L G A	A I E	G V V	ME	IVV	/ - T	F	A L Y	VYT	ΥY	ΑTΑ	AD	P K	ΚG	SL				-			G T I	I A P	Ι
AtTIP2_3	1	V S AG	L G A	A V E	G V V	ME	IV	/ - T	F	A L	V Y <u>1</u>	ΥY	A T A	A D	P K	KG	SL				-			<u>GT</u>	I A P	Ι
AtTIP3_1	[ASG	V G A	A V N	GLV	LE	ΙΙΙ	- T	F	GL	VYV	VY	STI	ID	РK	RG	S L				-			GII	I A P	L
AtTIP3_2	1	V A S G	V S E	ELH	GLL	ME	ΙΙΙ	- T	F	AL	VYV	VY	S T A	A I D	ΡK	RG	SI				-			GII	I A P	L
AtTIP4_1	[ASG	V S Y	ζΤQ	GII	WE	ΙΙΙ	- <u>T</u>	F	SLI	LFI	` V <u>Y</u>	AT 1	IVD	ΡK	KG	SLI	D -			-			- G F	F G P	L
AtTIP5_1]	IAGE	M T C	GFG	A S V	LE	GVI	- <u>A</u>	F	VL	VYT	V F	TAS	5 D -	- P	R - 1	R G				-]	L P	LAV	/ G P	Ι
ZmTIP1_1	i	_ T - G	V S V	WE.	A L V	LE	IVN	1 - T	F	GL	VYI	ΥY	A T A	A V D	P K	ΚG	SL				-			GTI	I A P	Ι
ZmTIP1_2	[SAG	V G A	AMN	A V V	LE	MVN	1 - T	F	GL	VYT	ΥY	ΑTΑ	A V D	ΡK	KG	DL				-			GVI	I A P	Ι
ZmTIP2_1	\	V A G -	I S E	ELE	G V V	FE	VVI	- T	F	AL	VYT	ΥY	A T A	AD	P K	ΚG	SL				-			G T I	I A P	Ι
ZmTIP2_2	\	∨SG <mark>G</mark>	TTE	ELE	G V V	FΕ	I V I	T	F	AL	VYT	ΥY	ΑTΑ	AAD	ΡK	ΚG	SL				-			GΤΙ	I A P	Ι
ZmTIP2_3		V S G -	I S E	ELE	GVV	ME	IVI	- T	F	AL	VYI	'VY	A T A	A D	P K	ΚG	SL				-			GΤΙ	I A P	Μ
ZmTIP3_1	i	LASG	VGE	DWH	AVL	LE	AVN	1 - T	F	GLN	MYA	YY	AT	/ I D	P K	RG	ΗV				-			GTI	I A P	L
ZmTIP3_2		LASG	VGE) G H	AVL	LE	A V N	1 - T	F	GF	V Y A	YY	A T V	/VD	P K	R G	ΗL				-			G T I	I <u>A</u> P	L
ZmTIP4_1		GRG	ISF	РMQ	GLV	ME	VIL	T	F	SLI	LFV	′ T Y	AM		P -	RS	QV				-			RA	I G P	L
ZmTIP4_2		GAG	IRI	PMQ	GLV	ME	VIL	- <u>T</u>	F	SLI	LFV	T Y	AM.		P -	RS	QV				-		,	RT	G P	L
ZmTIP4_4		GAG	VGA	A L R	GVL	ME	AVI	T	F	SLI	LFA	VY	AT	/VD	P -	R R	ΑV				-			GGN	1 G P	L
ZmTIP4_3	[AEG	V G F	PLQ	G V V	AB	AVI	7 - T	F	SLI	LFV	ΊΥ	ΑT.	L D	P -	RK		P -			-			GA -	GP	L
ZmTIP5_1]	IAVAI	M T C	F G	GAV	LE	GVI	T	F	LL	VYT	' V H	VV(J E R	EP	RS.	RG (G D	GK	CR -	-	E F	AA	T A I	l GA	Ľ
PgTIP1_1		LSSG	VGV	/ G N	AVV	FE	I V N	1 - T	F	GL	VYT	V Y	A T A	AID	P K	KG	SL				-			GT	I A P	Ι
PgTIP1_2		SSG	VGV	/ G N	A L V	FE	I V N	1 - T	F	GL	VYT	'VY	A T A	A I D	P N	KG	SL				-			G T I	I A P	Т
PgTIP1_3	N	V S S G	VGS	SWN	AVV	LE	I VN	1 - T	F	GL	VΥΊ	VΥ	ΑTΑ	A I D	ΑK	RG	SL				-			GΤΙ	A P	L
PgTIP1_4	2	x s s g	VGV	/ X N	ΑXΫ	FΕ	I V N	1 - T	F	GL	XXX	VY	A T A	A I X	P N	RG	ΓL				-		,	XTI	I A P	Ι
PgTIP1_5	[SSG	VGV	/GN	ΑLV	FE	I V N	1 - T	F	GL	VYI	ΥY	ΑTΑ	A I D	ΡK	ΚG	ΤL				-			GΤΙ	I A P	Ι
PgTIP2_1	\	V A AG	M S T	ΓΙΕ	GVV	ME	ΙVΙ	- T	F	AL	VΥΊ	V Y	ΑTΑ	AD	ΡK	ΚG	SL				-			GΤΙ	A P	Ι

PgTIP2_2	<u>V</u> A	SGMS	T G E <mark>G V</mark>	VM E	IVI.	- T F 4	A L <u>V Y</u> T	VYAT	AADPK	KGDL				C	GTIAPI	
PgTIP4_1	L S	SGMT	Y F Q <mark>G V</mark>	ΙMΕ	IVL ·	- T F	SLLFT	VYAT	AVDPK	KKGS V	G -			I	T - A P L	l
PgTIP4 2	LA	GG T G	YIEGV	VM E	MVL.	- T F	SLLFT	ΥΥΑΤ	V V D P K	RGSM	G -			V	<u>L</u> MAPL	
0 _	_	_			_											•
		'			_									_		1
PpNIP3_1	MHGGVTL	PQGA	YWPSF	LLE	FΙΙ·	- S F 1	NLMFV	ITAV	ATDTF	RA				- V C	GELAGI	
PpNIP5_1	AYEGATL	PTGS	DVQSF	LLE	IVI	- T F	ILMFV	I A A V	STDTF	RA				• - C C	GELAGI	l
PpNIP5_2	ASEGATL	PAGS	DFQSF	LIE	ΙVΙ	- T F	ILMFV	I A A V	ATDTF	RA				C C	GELAGI	
PpNIP5_3	ASEGATI	PAGS	D I Q S F	LLE	IVI	T F	I L <u>M</u> FV	V A A V	ATDTF	RA				- R C	GEL <u>A</u> GI	
PpNIP6_1	ΤΕVΑLΤV	PFAS	Y A Q A F	V V E	LLL.	- G F 1	NLLFV	ATAV	STGSS	SN				- N C	GELSGI	
AtNIP1_1	DVFIGSS	PVGS	D L QA F	ТМЕ	FIV ·	TF	YLMF I	ISGV	ATDNF	R A K L N	IG	ГКСС	C - N I	IQIC	GELAGL	l
AtNIP1 2	DVFVG T L	PSGS	N L <mark>Q S F</mark>	VIE	FII.	TF	YLMFV	ISGV	ATDNF	RA				- I C	GELAGL	l
$AtNIP2^{1}$	DVFLGSS	PSGS	DLQAF	VM E	FII ·	- T G 1	FLMLV	VCAV	TTTK	<u>Т</u> Т				E	EELEGL	l
AtNIP2_2	G S S	PSGS	DLQAF	VM E	FII.	- T G 1	FLMLV	VCAV	TTTK	ТТ				E	EELEGL	l
AtNIP41	EAFFGTT	PADS	PARAL	V A E	ΙΙΙ	- S F	LLMFV	ISGV	ATDNF	RA				- V C	BELAGI	l
AtNIP4_2	KAFFGTT	PTDS	SGOAL	VAE	III.	- S F	LMFV	ISGV	ATDSF	RA				- T C	GELAGI	
AtNIP5 1	MSGGVTI	PSVS	LGOAF	ALE	FII.	T F	ILLFV	VTAV	ATDTF	RA				- V C	GELAGI	
AtNIP6 1	MSGGVTV	PTVG	LSOAF	ALE	FII.	- S F]	NLMFV	VTAV	ATDTF	RA				- V C	GELAGI	
AtNIP7 1	ADIMATK	PALS	C V S A F	FVE	LIA	- T S	IVVFL	ASAL	HCDFV	/0				- L C	NLTGF	
ZmNIP1 2	EHEPGTL	PTGS	EVOSL	VIE	IIT.	- T F	YLMFV	ISGV	ATDNE	À				- I C	ELAGL	l
ZmNIP4_1	AVIGTTT	PSGP	HWHAL	LIE	IVV	TFI	NMM F V	TCAV	ATDSE	A				- V C	FELAGI	l
$ZmNIP5_1$	GPTVATV	PSVG	ASHAF	WV F	ΓΓT.	TF	VVIFV	VTAL						V K	FMVAV	l
$P_{\sigma}NIP1$ 1		PSGS		VIE	I F V	TE	IMEV								E L A GM	
$P_{\sigma}NIP2$ 1	SNTGITT	PSGT			$\frac{1}{V}$ $\frac{1}{V}$ $\frac{1}{V}$ $\frac{1}{V}$	SE	VIMEV	TSAV							SELAGI	i
$P_{\sigma}NIP3 = 1$	MSGGVTI	PSGS	VGOAE				V L M F V	VTAV							SELAGI	
$1 \text{ givin } 5_1$ $D_{\alpha} \text{NID2} = 2$	MGGGVTV		VGOAF													
rginir5_2		1903	IUQAI	SLE	L I I .		N L IVI F V	V I A V	AIDII	(A				- • •	JELAUI	l
PpSIP1 1	P K	LKV P	LETGV	AA E	TIL	TF	ΓΙΤΙΙ	VMWA	ILRGH	RN				K	ISRTF	l
PpSIP1_2	PK	LKVP	LOTGV	I A E	AIL	TF	Г ІТ ІЛ	VMWA	MLRGI	PRN				К	MAKTE	l
AtSIP1_1	P S	LOV -	VHTGA	I A E	TIL	- S F (GITFA	VLLI	TLRGE	$\mathbf{R}\mathbf{R}$				I	LAKTE	l
AtSIP1 2	PS	OFG-	AHNGA	ISE	VVL	- S F	SVTFI	VLLI	ILRGE	$\mathbf{R}\mathbf{K}$. I	LAKTE	l
ZmSIP1_1	PS		PHTGA	LAE	GVL		VITLT	VLWV	IVKGE	RN				V		ľ
ZmSIP1_2			PHTGA	GAE	LVI	TE		VLLL	IVKGI	RN				P	I I K T W	ŗ
$P\sigma$ SIP1 1			IHRGA	IAE	GVI	TE	I S F M		IMKGI	KS				9	FWKSW	ŗ
$\Lambda + SID2 1$			IHHG		GII	TE		SMGL	TRKUI	GS = -				u	F M K T W	ŗ
AUSIF 2_1	P K		1 11 11 0 -					SMOL		03				г	T IVI IX I VV	1

ZmSIP2_1	A R L S V G A H H G A L A E G L A - T F M V V M V S V T L K K K E M K S	5 F F M <mark>K T</mark> W
----------	---	----------------------------

		H5	LE ₁	LE_2					
PpPIP1 1	PIGFAVFL	VHLATIPIT	G T G I NP	PARSI	LGAAVVFI	NKONNAW.	ADHWIFW	IGPMLG	AALAAAY
PpPIP1 2	PIGFAVFL	VHLATIPIT	G T G I NP	PARSI	LGAATIYI	NTÒHNAW	ADHWIFW	VGPFIG/	AALAAAY
PpPIP1_3	PIGFAVFL	VHLATIPIT	G T S I NP	PARSI		N - RDOAWI	N D H W I F W	VGPILG	ΑΤΙΑΑΜΥ
AtPIP1 1	PIGFAVFL	VHLATIPIT	G T G I NP	PARSI	LGAAIIY	N - KDĤSWI	D D H W V F W	VGPFIGA	AALAALY
AtPIP1 2	PIGFAVFL	VHLATIPIT	G T G I NP	PARSI	LGAAIIFI	N - KDNAWI	DDHWVFW	VGPFIGA	AALAALY
AtPIP1_3	PIGFAVFL	VHLATIPIT	G T G I NP	PARSI	LGAAIIYI	N - KDHAWI	DDHW IFW	VGPFIGA	AALAALY
AtPIP1_4	PIGFAVFL	VHLATIPIT	G T G I NP	PARSI	LGAAIIYI	N - KDHSWI	DDHWIFW	VGPFIGA	AALAALY
AtPIP1_5	PIGFAVFL	V H L A T I P I T	G T G I NP	PARSI	LGAAIIYI	N - KDHAWI	DD - WIFW	VGPFIG4	AALAALY
ZmPIP1 1	PIGFAVFL	VHLATMGIT	G T G I NP	PARSI	LGAAVIYI	N - QHHAW	A D H W I F W	VGPFIGA	ΑΑΙΑΑΙΥ
ZmPIP1_2	PIGFAVFL	V H L A T I P I T	G T G I NP	PARSI	LGAAIIYI	N - R D H A WI	N D H W I F W	VGPFIG4	ΑΑΙΑΑΙΥ
ZmPIP1_3	PIGFAVFL	V H L A T I P I T	G T G I NP	PARSI	LGAAIIYI	N - RDHAW	S D H W I F W	VGPFIG4	ΑΑΙΑΑΙΥ
ZmPIP1_5	PIGFAVFL	V H L A T I P I T	G T G I NP	PARSI	LGAAIVYI	N - R S H A WI	N D H W I F W	VGPFIGA	AALAAIY
ZmPIP1_6	PIGFAVFL	VHLATIPIT	G T G I NP	PARSI	LGAAIIYI	D - N P H G WI	H G H W I F W	VGPF <mark>A</mark> GA	A A L A A <mark>V</mark> Y
PgPIP1_1	PIGFAVFL	VHLATIPIT	G T G I NP	PARSI	LGAAIIYI	N - RDHAWI	DD <mark>M</mark> WIFW	VGPFIGA	A <u>A</u> LAAFY
PgPIP1_2	PIGFAVFL	VHLATIPIT	G T G I NP	PARSI	LGAAIIYI	N - K S H A WI	DD <u>H</u> WIFW	VGP <u>F</u> LGA	AGLAAFY
PgPIP1_3	PIGFAVFL	V H L A T I P I T	G T G I NP	PARSI	LGVAIIY	D - R S <u>H</u> A WI	D D <mark>Q</mark> W I F W	VGPLVGA	AALAAIY
PpPIP2_1	PIGFAVFM	IV H L A T I P I T	G T G I NP	PARSI	FGAAVIYI	N - R S K P WI	<u>D</u> D H W I <u>F</u> W	VGPF <mark>L</mark> GA	A A L A A <mark>S</mark> Y
PpPIP2_2	PIGFAVFM	IV H L A T I P I T	G T G I NP	PARSI	FGAAVIYI	N - R S K P WI	NDHWIYW	VGPF <mark>L</mark> GA	A A L A A <mark>A</mark> Y
PpPIP2_3	PIGFAVFM	IV H L A T I P I T	G T G I NP	PARSI	FGAAVI <u>Y</u> 1	N - R S K P WI	DDHWIFW	VGPF <mark>V</mark> GA	A A L A A <mark>A</mark> Y
PpPIP2_4	PIGFAVFV	V H C A T I P I T	G T G I NP	PARSI	FGAAVIF1	N - R S K S WI	DDHWIFW	VGPFLGA	A A <u>L</u> A A <mark>A</mark> Y
AtPIP2_1	PIGFAVFM	IV H L A T I P I T	G T G I NP	PARSI	FGAAVIYI	N - K S K P WI	DDHWIFW	VGPI-GA	A A I A A F Y
AtPIP2_2	PIGFAVFM	IV H L A T I P I T	G T G I NP	PARSI	F G A A V I <u>Y</u> 1	N - K S K P WI	DDHWIFW	VGPF-I	A A I A A F Y
AtPIP2_3	PIGFAVFM	IV H L A T I P I T	G T G I NP	PARSI	FGAAVIF1	N - K S K P WI	D D <u>H</u> W I F W	VGPF-I	ATIAAFY
AtPIP2_4	PIGFAVFM	IV H L A T I P I T	G T G I NP	PARSI	<u>F G A A V</u> I Y 1	N - <u>N</u> E K A WI	D <mark>D Q</mark> W I F W	VGPI-GA	A A A A A F Y
AtPIP2_5	PIGFAVFI	VHLATIPIT	G T G I NP	PARSI	GAAIIYI	N - KDKAWI	D <u>H</u> HWIFW	VGPF-GA	A A I A A F Y
AtPIP2_6	P I G F <mark>S</mark> V F M	IV H L A T I P I T	G T G I NP	PARSI	FGAAVIYI	N - NQKAWI	DD <mark>QW</mark> IFW	VGPF-GA	AAIAAFY
AtPIP2_7	PIGFAVFM	IV H L A T I P I T	G T G I NP	PARSI	FGAAVIYI	N - N E K A WI	DDQGIFW	VGPF <mark>L</mark> GA	A L A A A - Y
AtPIP2_8	PIGFAVFM	IV H L A T I P I T	G T G I NP	PARSI	F G A A V I Y I	N - <u>N</u> E K A W I	DDHWIFW	VGPFVGA	ALAAAAY
ZmPIP2_1	PIGFAVFM	IV H L A T I P V T	G T G I NP	PARSI	LGAAVIYI	N - K D <mark>K</mark> P W I	DDHWIFW	VGPLVGA	A A I A A F Y
ZmPIP2_2	PIGFAVFM	IV H L A T I P V T	G T G I NP	PARSI	GAAVVYI	N - K D <mark>K</mark> P W I	DD <u>H</u> WIFW	VGPLLGA	A A I A A F Y
ZmPIP2_3	PIGFAVFM	IV H LATIPIT	G T G I NP	PARS	GAAVIYI	N - KDKAWI	DDQWIFW	VGPLIGA	AAIAAAY
ZmPIP2_4	PIGFAVFM	IV H LATIPIT	G T G I NP	PARS	GAAVIYI	N - KDKAWI	DDQWIFW	VGPLIGA	ΑΑΙΑΑΥ
ZmPIP2_5	PIGFAVFM	IV H LATIPIT	G T G I NP	PARSI	GAAVIYI	N - NDKAWI	DDHWIFW	VGPFIGA	ΑΑΙΑΑΥ

ZmPIP2_6	PIGFAVFMVHLATIPITG T GINPA R SLGAAVVYN - NSKAWSDQWIFWVGPF	IGAAIAALY
ZmPIP2_7	PIGFAVFMVHLATIPVTG T GINPA R SFGPAVIFN - NDKAWDDQWIYWVGPF	VGAAVAAIY
PgPIP2_1	PIGFAVFMVHLATIPITG T GINPA R SFGAAVIYG-HKQSWDDHWIFWVGPF	AGAALAAAY
PgPIP2_2	PIGFAVFMVHLATIPITG T GINPA R SFGAAVIY <mark>G-HKQS</mark> WDDHWIFWVGPF	I GAALAAAY
PgPIP2_3	PIGFAVFMVHLATIPITG T GINPA R SFGAAVIYG-HKQSWDDHWIFWVGPF	VGAALAA <mark>A</mark> Y
PgPIP2_4	PIGFAVFMVHLATIPITG T GINPA R SFGAAVIYG-HKQSWDDHWIFWVGPF	V <mark>GAALAA</mark> AY
PgPIP2_5	PIGFAVFMVHLATIPITG T GINPA R SFGTAVISG QSWNDQWIFWIGPF	VGAALAA <mark>T</mark> Y
PgPIP2_6	PIGFAVFMVHLATIPITG T GINPA R SFGAAVIYG-HKHSWDDQWIFWVGPM	V <mark>GAAA</mark> AAAAY
PgPIP2_7	PIGFAVFMVHLATVPITGT GINPA R SFGAAVIYG-HQKIWDEHWIFWVGPF	LGAAGAAAY
PgPIP2_8	PIGFAVFIVHLGTIPITG T GINPA R SFGAAVIYG-HQKAWDDQWIFWVGPF	IGAAIASAY
PgPIP2_9	PIGFAVFLVHLATIPITG T GINPA R SFGPAVIYG-HEKSWDDLWIFWVGPL	I GAAV AAAY
PgPIP2_10	PIGFAVFLVYLATNSITG T GINPA R SFGPAVIYG - HKKPRDDLWIFWVGPL	IGAAVATVY
PgPIP2_11	PIGFAVFSIY LATNSITG T GI NPA R SFGPAVIYG - HKKSRDDL WIFWIGPL	IGAAVATAY
PgPIP2_12	PIGFAVFLVHLATIPITG T SINPA R SFGPAVIYG-HKKSWDDLWIFWVGPL	VGAAIAAAY
PgPIP2_13	AVGFTVFMVHLATIPITGTGINPARSFGAAVIYG-HKKSWNDHWIFWVGPL	IGATIAAAF
PpPIP3 1	PIGFAIFVVHLATIPITG T GINPA R SLGAAWIFWVGPI	VGSTCAAIY

 LE_2

 LE_1

H5

PpTIP6 1	AIGFTVLAOIFVGAPFSGA SI	M N P G	R SFGPAVVAW DFKNHWVYWVGPLVGAALAAL	Ι
PpTIP6 2	AIGFTVLAQ I FVGAPFSG A SI	MNPG	R SFGPAVVAW DFTNHWVYWVGPFIGAALAAL	Ι
PpTIP6_3	AIGFTVLAQ I FVGAPFSGA SI	MNPG	R SFGPAVIAM DFTNHWVYWVGPFIGAALAAV	I
PpTIP6_4	AIGFTVLAQ I FVGAPFSG A SI	M N P G	R SFGPALVAM DFTNHWVYWVGPFIGAALAAL	Ι
AtTIP1_1	AIGFIVGANILAGG <mark>A</mark> FSGASI	M N P A	V A F G P A V V S W T W T N H W V Y W A G P L V G G G I A G L	Ι
AtTIP1_2	AIGFIVGANI LAGGAFSGA SI	M N P A	V A F G P A V V S W T W T N H W V Y W A G P L I G G G L A G I	Ι
AtTIP1_3	AIGLIVGANILVGGAFDG <u>A</u> SI	M N P A	V S F G P A V V S W I W T N H W V Y W V G P F I G A A I A A I	V
AtTIP2_1	AIGLIVGANILAAGPFSG G SI	M N P A	R SFGPAVAAG DFSGHWVYWVGPLIGGGLAGL	Ι
AtTIP2_2	AIGFIVGANILA <mark>A</mark> GPFSG <mark>G</mark> SI	M N P A	R SFGPAVVSG DFSQIWIYWVGPLVGGALAGL	Ι
AtTIP2_3	AIG <u>F</u> IVGANILAAGPFSGGSI	M N P A	R SFGPAVVSG DLSQIWIYWVGPLVGGALAGL	Ι
AtTIP3_1	AIGL IVGAN I LVGGPFSG A SI	M N P A	R AFGPALVGWRWHDHWIYWVGPFIGSALAAL	Ι
AtTIP3_2	AIGLIVGANILVGGPFDGASI	M N P A	R AFGPALVGW RWSNHWIYWVGPFIGGALAAL	Ι
AtTIP4_1	LTGFVVGANILAGGAFSGASI	M N P A	R SFGPALVSG NWTDHWVYWVGPLIGG <u>G</u> LAGF	Ι
AtTIP5_1	F I G F V A G A N V L A A G P F S G G S I	M N P A	C A F G S A M V Y G S F K N Q A V Y W V G P L L G G A T A A L	V
ZmTIP1_1	AIGFIVGANILVGGAFDGASI	M N P A	V S F G P A L V S W E W G Y Q W V Y W V G P L I G G G L A G V	Ι
ZmTIP1_2	AIGFIVGANILA <u>G</u> GAFDG <u>A</u> SI	M N P A	V S F G P A V V T G V W E N H W V Y W V G P L A G A A I A A L	V
ZmTIP2_1	AIGFIVGANILA <mark>A</mark> GPFSG <mark>G</mark> SI	M N P A	R SFGPAVAAG DFAGNWVYWVGPLVGGGLAGL	V
ZmTIP2_2	AIGFIVGANILAAGPFSG G SI	M N P A	R SFGPAVAAA DFAGNWVYWVGPLIGGGLAGL	V

ZmTIP2_3	AIGFIVGAN	I L A <mark>A</mark> G P F S G G	SMNPA I	R SFGPAVA	AG N I	F A G N W V Y	WV G P L <mark>V</mark> GG G L A G L V
ZmTIP3_1	AVGFLLGAN	V L A G G P F D G A	GM NPA	R V F G P A L V	\overline{GW} R	VRH <mark>H</mark> WVY	WLGPFLGAGLAGLV
ZmTIP3_2	AVGFLLGAN	I <mark>V</mark> LAGGPF <mark>D</mark> G A	GMNPA I	R V F G P A L V	/GW R	W <mark>RH</mark> HWVY	WLGPFLGAGLAGLV
ZmTIP4_1	LTGLIVGAN	N S LAGGNFTG A	SMNPA I	R S F G P A L A	TG D	WTNHWVY	W I G P L L G G P L A G F V
ZmTIP4_2	LTGL IVGAN	N S LAGG <mark>n</mark> F T G A	SMNPA I	R SFGPA <mark>M</mark> A	TG V	WTNHWVY	W I G P L L G G S L A G F V
ZmTIP4_4	L V G L V V G A N	V LAGGPFSG A	SMNPA I	R SFGPALV	' A G V	W <mark>AD</mark> HWVY	WVGPLIGGPLAGLV
ZmTIP4_3	LTGLLVGAN	N S VAGAAL SG A	SMNPA I	R SFGPAVA	SG V	VTHHWVY	WVGPLAGGPLAVLV
ZmTIP5_1	AVGLTQGAF	V LAAGALTG A	SMNPA I	R SFGPA <mark>V</mark> V	′ S G H I	FKNQAVY	WAGPMVGAAVAALV
PgTIP1_1	C I G F I V G A N	I LAGG <mark>a</mark> fd <mark>g</mark> a	SMNPA I	R AFGPALV	′ S W T W	VENHWIY	WVGPL <mark>L</mark> GGGLAGVI
PgTIP1_2	C I G F I V G A N	I I LAGG <mark>a</mark> fd <mark>g a</mark>	SMNPA I	R A F G P A L V	′ S W S W	VENHWIY	WVGPL <mark>L</mark> GGALAGVV
PgTIP1_3	AIGFIVGAN	I LAGG <mark>a</mark> fd <mark>g</mark> a	SMNPA I	R AFGPALV	′ S G K	WRY <mark>HWI</mark> Y	WVGPLIGGGFAGLL
PgTIP1_4	C X G F I V X A N	I I LAGG <mark>a</mark> fd <mark>g a</mark>	XMNPA I	R A F G P A L V	′ S W T W	VKXHWIF	XIGXXIGGGLAGAV
PgTIP1_5	C I G F I V G A N	I I LAGG <mark>a</mark> fd <mark>g a</mark>	SMNPA I	R A F G P A L V	′ S W T W	VENHWIY	WVGPL <mark>L</mark> GGGLAGVI
PgTIP2_1	AIGFIVGAN	I L A <mark>A</mark> G P F S G G	SMNPA I	R SFGPA <mark>V</mark> V	′ S G D I	FTNNWVY	WVGPL <mark>V</mark> GGGLAG <mark>A</mark> V
PgTIP2_2	AIGFIVGAN	VILA <mark>A</mark> GPFSG <mark>G</mark>	SMNPA I	R SFGPA <mark>V</mark> V	′ S G D I	F T D N <mark>W V Y</mark>	WVGPL <mark>I</mark> GGGLAGIV
PgTIP4_1	C V G L V V G A N	I LAGGPFSG A	SMNPA I	R SFGPALV	7 T G I V	VKDHWVY	WVGPLVGGGLAGFV
PgTIP4 2	C V A L V V G A N	I I <mark>M</mark> aggpfsg a	SMNPA I	R SFGPAFV	/MW E	WRDHWVY	WVGPLVGGGLAGAL

	Н5	LE_1	LE ₂
PpNIP3 1	AVGACVMMN IMIAGS	TSGASMNP	V R T L G P A I A V N N Y K G I W L Y M L G P V L G M L A G A T A
PpNIP5_1	AVGSAVALNA LMAGS	ISGA SMNP	A R SLGPATASG NYHSLWVYMAGPTIGALMGMLT
PpNIP5_2	A I G S A V A L N A L M A G P	ISGA SMNP	A R SLGPAIASG NYSSIWVYLVGPIIGSVMGMLA
PpNIP5_3	AVGSCVALNALMAGP	ISGA SMNP	A R SLGPAVASG NYRSIWVYIAGPIIGALVGILA
PpNIP6_1	AIGATIILNVLLAGP	VSGA SMNP	M R SLGPAIVAN KYDAIWIYIIAPPVGALAGTWT
AtNIP1_1	A I G S T V L L N V L I A A P	VSSA SMNP	G R SLGPALV - G CYKG <u>I</u> WIYLVAPTLGAIAGAWV
AtNIP1_2	AVGSTVLLNVIIAGP	VSGASMNP	G R SLGPAMVYS CYRGLWIYIVSP - IGAVSGAWV
AtNIP2_1	I I GATVTLNV I F <u>A</u> GE	VSGASMNP.	A R S I G P A L V W G C Y K G I W I Y L L A P T L G A V S - A L I
AtNIP2_2	I I G A T V T L N V I F V G E '	VSGASMNP.	A R SIGPALVWG CYKGIWIYLLAPTLGAVSRALI
AtNIP4_1	AVGMT IMVNVFVAGP	ISGASMNP	A R SLGPALVMG VYKHIWVYIVGPVLGVISGGFV
AtNIP4_2	AVGMTIILNVFVAGP	ISGASMNP	A <u>R SLGPA</u> I <u>V</u> MG RYK <u>G</u> IWVYIVGPFV <u>GIF</u> AGGFV
AtNIP5_1	AVGATV <mark>M</mark> LN I LVAGP	S T <mark>G</mark> G S M N P	V R T L <u>G</u> P - V A S G N Y R S L W V Y L V A P T L GA I S G A A V
AtNIP6_1	AVGATVMLN I L I AGP	ATSA SMNP	V R TL - PAIAAN NYRAIWVYLTAPILGALIGAGT
AtNIP7_1	V I G T V I S L G V L I T G P	ISGGSMNP	A R SLGPAVVAW D F E D L W I YMTAPVIGA I I G V L T
ZmNIP1_2	AVGAT ILLNVLIAGP	VSG <u>A</u> SMNP	A R SVGPALVSG EYTSIWVYVVGPVVGAVAGAWA
ZmNIP4_1	AVGSAVCITSIFAGP	VSGGSMNP	A R T L A P A V A S N V F T G L W I Y F L G P V I G T L S G A W V
ZmNIP5_1	GAGAAVMMSALISGE	STGA SMNP	A R TLGTAIATG TYTK I W V YMVA P P LGA I A G C G A

PgNIP1_1	AVGAT I TMN VAISGPI	SGA SMNPA	R T I G S A V A G N ·	- KYTSIWIYMVAPVLGAIIGAMS
PgNIP2_1	AVG SMVM I S S I FAGP I	SGGSMNPA	R SLGPAIVSN	- NYKAIWVYLVGPIAGTVMGACS
PgNIP3_1	AVGATVMLN I LIAGSN	SGA SMNPV	R TLGPAIAAG ·	- NYKGIWIYLLAPVVGALCGAAG
PgNIP3_2	AVGATVMLN I L I AGSN	SGGSMNPV	R TLGPAVAAG	- NYKA I WVY I VAP I SGA L L G A G A

	Н5	LE_1	LE_2		
PpSIP1 1	ΙΙΙGΑΤΙΑL VΙΑ	GGAYTG PAMNPA	A N A F G W A F V S N -	KHTSWEHF AVYW	AGPMIGTICAVLT
PpSIP1_2	I I I G A T I A L V T A	GGAYTG P AMNPA	A N A F G W A F V S N -	QHTSWDHFAVYW	AGPMIGT I FAVWA
AtSIP1_1	LLALATISFVVA	GSKYTG P AMNPA	A I AFGWAYMYS -	SHNTWDH I Y VYW	ISSFVGALSAALL
AtSIP1_2	LLALATVSVFVV	GSKFTR P FMNPA	A I AFGWAYIYK -	SHNTWDHF Y VYW	I S S Y TGA I L S AML
$ZmSIP1_1$	LLSTSIVSVILA	GAEYTG P SMNPA	A N AFGWAYVNN -	WHNTWEQLYVYW	I C P F I GAMLAGWI
ZmSIP1_2	MISICTLCLVLS	GAAYTG P SM NPA	A N AFGWAYVNN -	RHNTWEQFY VYW	I C P F I GA I L A A W I
PgSIP1_1	M I S L V T I I L V L A	GSGYTG PSMNPA	A N AFGWAYVNN -	RHNTWEQLY VYW	I T P F I G S I L A A W I
AtSIP2_1	IGSLAKLTLHIL	GSDLTG G C <mark>M</mark> NPA	A A VMGWAYARG -	EHITKEHLLVYW	L G P V K A T L L A V W F
ZmSIP2_1	ITSIWKNTIHLL	SSDI <mark>TG</mark> GIMNPA	A S AFAWAYARG -	DHTTFDHLLVYW	LAPLQATLLGVWA

PpPIP1 1	HTLV1	I R A	L	 -	-	-	 -	Ρŀ	FF	2	- K	K R	R V	- 1	-	-	-			-	-		 -	-	 -	-	 	-	-	 	-	 	
PpPIP1 2	HTLVI	I R A	L	 -	-	-	 -	Ρŀ	FF	ł	- K	K R	k V	-	-	-	-			-	-		 -	-	 -	-	 	-	-	 	-	 	
PpPIP1 3	HTLVI	I R A	Ι	 -	-	-	 -	Ρŀ	F S	5	AN	N R	R A	-	-	-	-			-	-		 -	-	 -	-	 	-	-	 	-	 	
AtPIP1_1	HVVV I	I R A	Ι	 -	-	-	 -	Ρŀ	F	<u> </u>	S F	R S	5 -	-	-	-	-			-	-		 -	-	 -	-	 	-	-	 	-	 	
AtPIP1_2	HVIV]	I R A	Ι	 -	-	-	 -	Ρŀ	F	Č.	S F	R S	5 -	-	-	-	-			-	-		 -	-	 -	-	 	-	-	 	-	 	
AtPIP1_3	HQLVI	I R A	Ι	 -	-	-	 -	Ρŀ	F	Č.	S F	R S	5 -	-	-	-	-			-	-		 -	-	 -	-	 	-	-	 	-	 	
AtPIP1_4	HQIVI	I R A	Ι	 -	-	-	 -	ΡI	F	ζ.	S K	K S	5 -	-	-	-	-			-	-		 -	-	 -	-	 · -	-	-	 	-	 	
AtPIP1_5	HQIV1	I R A	Ι	 -	-	-	 -	Ρŀ	F	<u> </u>	S K	KΤ] -	-	-	-	-			-	-		 -	-	 -	-	 	-	-	 	-	 	
ZmPIP1_1	HQV I I	I R A	Ι	 -	-	-	 -	Ρŀ	F	K	S F	R S	5 -	-	-	-	-			-	-		 -	-	 -	-	 · -	-	-	 	-	 	
ZmPIP1_2	HQV I I	I R A	Ι	 -	-	-	 -	Ρŀ	F	K	S F	R S	5 -	-	-	-	-			-	-		 -	-	 -	-	 · -	-	-	 	-	 	
ZmPIP1_3	HQV I I	I R A	Ι	 -	-	-	 -	Ρŀ	F	K	S F	R S	5 -	-	-	-	-			-	-		 -	-	 -	-	 · -	-	-	 	-	 	
ZmPIP1_5	HVV I]	I R A	L	 -	-	-	 -	Ρŀ	F	K	S F	R D) -	-	-	-	-			-	-		 -	-	 -	-	 · -	-	-	 	-	 	
ZmPIP1_6	HQVVI	LRA	Ι	 -	-	-	 -	Ρŀ	F	K	S S	S A	ΥH	Y	-	-	-			-	-		 -	-	 -	-	 · -	-	-	 	-	 	
PgPIP1_1	HVII]	I R A	Ι	 -	-	-	 -	Ρŀ	F	ζ /	ΤF	R S	5 -	-	-	-	-			-	-		 -	-	 -	-	 · -	-	-	 	-	 	
PgPIP1_2	HQM I I	I R A	Ι	 -	-	-	 -	Ρŀ	F	K	S F	R S	5 -	-	-	-	-			-	-		 -	-	 -	-	 · -	-	-	 	-	 	
PgPIP1_3	HQLII	I R A	Ι	 -	-	-	 -	Ρŀ	F	C I	S F	R S	5 -	-	-	-	-			-	-		 -	-	 -	-	 · -	-	-	 	-	 	
PpPIP2_1	HQY I I	LRA	А	 -	-	-	 -	Ρŀ	F	<u> </u>		· S	5 L	G	S	F	R	S	A P	S	Η	V -	 -	-	 -	-	 	-	-	 	-	 	
PpPIP2_2	HQYVI	LRA	G	 -	-	-	 -	Ρŀ	F	<u> </u>		- S	L	G	S	F	R	S /	A P	S	Η	I-	 -	-	 -	-	 · -	-	-	 	-	 	

PpPIP2_3	HQYVLRA	G	 PFK	Q L	GSH	RS	A P S R	V		 	 	
PpPIP2_4	HQYILRA	N	 ΡΙK	S M	R S F	GN	G S N H	Т		 	 	
AtPIP2 1	HQFVLRA	S	 G S K	S L	G S F	RS	AANV			 	 	
AtPIP2_2	HQFVLRA	S	 G S K	S L	GSE	RS	AANV			 	 	
AtPIP2 3	HQFVLRA	S	 GS K	S L	G S F	RS	AANV			 	 	
AtPIP2_4	HQFILRA	A	 A I K	A L	GSE	$F \mathbf{G} \mathbf{S}$	FGSF	RSF	A	 	 	
AtPIP2_5	HQFVLRA	G	 A I K	A L	GSE	RS	Q P H V			 	 	
AtPIP2_6	HQFVLRA	G	 AM K	A Y	GSV	/ R S (QLHE	L H A		 	 	
AtPIP2_7	HQYILRA	S	 A I K	A L	GSI	F R S 1	NATN			 	 	
AtPIP2_8	HQYILRA	A	 A I K	L	A S F	F R S 1	NPTN			 	 	
ZmPIP2_1	HQYILRA	G	 A I K	A L	GSI	F R S 1	NA			 	 	
ZmPIP2_2	HQYILRA	G	 A I K	A L	G S F	F R S 1	NA			 	 	
ZmPIP2_3	HQYVLRA	S	 A T K	L	GSY	(R S 1	NA			 	 	
ZmPIP2_4	HQYVLRA	S	 A T K	L	GSY	$(\mathbf{R} \mathbf{S})$	NA			 	 	
ZmPIP2_5	HQYVLRA	S	 A A K	L	G S S	SAS	FSR-			 	 	
ZmPIP2_6	HQIVLRA	S	 AR <u>G</u>	Y	GSF	FRSI	NA			 	 	
ZmPIP2_7	HQYILRG	S	 A I K	A L	GSF	FRSI	NA			 	 	
PgPIP2_1	HQYILRA	A	 A I K	A L	GSF	FRSI	NANV			 	 	
PgPIP2_2	HQYILRA	A	 A I K	A L	GSF	FRSI	N P H V			 	 	
PgPIP2_3	HQYILRA	A	 AV K	A L	GSY	(R S I	NVDV			 	 	
PgPIP2_4	HQYILRA	A	 A I K	A L	GSI	FRSI	NANV			 	 	
PgPIP2_5	HRYILRA	S	 A I K	ALAL	GSI	FRSI	NSNV			 	 	
PgPIP2_6	HQH I L R A	T	 A I K	A L	GSF	FRSI	NPQV			 	 	
PgPIP2_7	HQYILRA	G	 A I K	A L	GSF	FRSI	NPHV			 	 	
PgPIP2_8	HQYILRA	G	 AM K	A L	GSI	F R S	V P S M	N		 	 	
PgPIP2_9	HQYVLRA	G	 GF G	LKSL	G S I	RSI	H P T S	A T -		 	 	
PgPIP2_10	HRYLLRA	G	 AF G	SKNL	GSI	$L \mathbf{R} \mathbf{S}$	H P A S	A I -		 	 	
PgPIP2_11	HRYLLRA	G	 AF G	SKNL	GSI	$_{\rm R}$ S (Q P A S	A I -		 	 	
PgPIP2_12	HQYVLRA	G	 GL G	LKSL	R S F	$\mathbf{F} \mathbf{R} \mathbf{S}$	Q P T S	LAI		 	 	
PgPIP2_13	HKYVIRA	T	 LK P	H S	GEH	INH	V			 	 	
PpPIP3_1	Y T Y V L K A	A	 S L R	FRSL	Y E -	·				 	 	

PpTIP6_1	YDGVFISPAPPAGHQPVPTEF
PpTIP6_2	YDGVFMSPA APEGHQPVPTEF
PpTIP6_3	YDGVFISPS PPAGHQAIPSDF

PpTIP6 4	YDGVFISPS PPPG HHAIPS DF	
AtTIP1 1	$Y \in V \in I \cap V$	
AtTIP1 ²	$\mathbf{Y}\mathbf{D}\mathbf{F}\mathbf{V}\mathbf{F}\mathbf{I}\mathbf{D}$	
AtTIP1_3	$\mathbf{Y}\mathbf{D}\mathbf{T}\mathbf{I}\mathbf{F}\mathbf{I}\mathbf{G}$	
AtTIP21	YGNVFMGSSEHVPLASADF	
AtTIP2 ²	YGDVFIG	
AtTIP2_3	YGDVFIG	
AtTIP3 ¹	YEYMVIPTEPPTHHHGVHQPLAPEDY	
AtTIP3 ²	$Y \in Y M I I P S V N \in P P H S T H O P L A P E D Y$	
AtTIP41	YENVLIDRP $HVPVADDEQPLLN$	
AtTIP5 ¹	YDN V V V P V E D D R G S S T G D A I G	
ZmTIP1 1	YELLFISHTHEQLPSTDY	
ZmTIP1 ²	$\mathbf{Y}\mathbf{D}\mathbf{I}\mathbf{I}\mathbf{F}\mathbf{I}\mathbf{G}$ QR- $\mathbf{P}\mathbf{H}\mathbf{Q}\mathbf{Q}\mathbf{L}\mathbf{P}\mathbf{T}\mathbf{T}\mathbf{A}\mathbf{A}\mathbf{D}\mathbf{Y}$	
ZmTIP2 ¹	YGDVFIGGSYQQVADQDYA	
ZmTIP2 ²	YGDVFIGGSYQQVADQDYA	
$ZmTIP2_3$	YGDVFIA	
ZmTIP3_1	YEYLVIPSADAAVPHAHQPLAPEDY	
ZmTIP3_2	YEYLLIPPAD-AVPHT HQPLA PEDY	
ZmTIP4_1	YESLFLVQK M HEPLL N GEV	
ZmTIP4_2	YESLFMVNK T HEPLL N GDI	
ZmTIP4_4	YDGLFMAQG G HEPLP R DDTDF	
ZmTIP4_3	$\mathbf{Y} \in \mathbf{C} \mathbf{C} \mathbf{F} \mathbf{M} \mathbf{A} \mathbf{A} \mathbf{A} \mathbf{P} \mathbf{-} \mathbf{-} \mathbf{-} \mathbf{T} \mathbf{H} \mathbf{D} \mathbf{L} \mathbf{L} \mathbf{P} \mathbf{Q} \mathbf{Q} \mathbf{D} \mathbf{P} \mathbf{-} \mathbf{-} \mathbf{-} \mathbf{-} \mathbf{-} \mathbf{-} \mathbf{-} \mathbf{T} \mathbf{H} \mathbf{D} \mathbf{C} \mathbf{T} \mathbf{H} \mathbf{D} \mathbf{D} \mathbf{L} \mathbf{L} \mathbf{P} \mathbf{Q} \mathbf{Q} \mathbf{D} \mathbf{P} \mathbf{-} \mathbf{-} \mathbf{-} \mathbf{-} \mathbf{-} \mathbf{-} \mathbf{-} -$	
ZmTIP5_1	YQIMACPSVT - GNVE AVVV	
PgTIP1_1	YELFMISPEPTHEPLPSNVY	
PgTIP1_2	YELLMIAPEPT HEPLPAHDH	
PgTIP1_3	$\mathbf{Y} \in \mathbf{W} \mathbf{L} \mathbf{M} \mathbf{V} \mathbf{P} \mathbf{S} \in \mathbf{P} \mathbf{L} \mathbf{H} \mathbf{Q} \mathbf{P} \mathbf{L} \mathbf{Q} \mathbf{P} \mathbf{E} \mathbf{D} \mathbf{Y}$	
PgTIP1_4	FEXX <mark>FI</mark> EXRPX <u>X</u> XRLPTSEI	
PgTIP1_5	$\mathbf{YELFMIS} \mathbf{NEPTHERLSS} \mathbf{EDY}$	
PgTIP2_1	YGDVFIGSHSHAPLS-QDY	
PgTIP2_2	YGGIFIGD DLHVPLPVSDF	
PgTIP4_1	YENIFIYET HTPLPDVEF	
PgTIP4_2	YENFFIRT YEPLT V CQ	
DeNID2 1		
PPNIP3_1	TIAVKLKE-EDPPKLPVKVFHK	
PpNIP5_1	YNCIRLPNQAMQCACNKPAKSFRR	

PpNIP5_2 PpNIP5_3 PpNIP6_1	YNCIRLPDKQM YNCIRLPDTEA HTMLQI	QCTCDKA P KS QC DKP A KN	S F H R N S I - 	
AtNIP1_1 AtNIP1_2	YNTVRYTDK PL YNMVRYTDK PL	R E I T K S G S F I R E I T K S G S F I R E F G K T G S G S F I	L K - T L K - T	V R I G S T
AtNIP2_1 AtNIP2_2 AtNIP4_1	HKML PSIQNAE HKML PSIPNAE	PEFSKTGS SH PKFSKT - SSH PELTKSASEL	HKRV HKRV	S DL PL S S S K T
AtNIP4_1 AtNIP4_2 AtNIP5_1	YNFMRFT-KPL YTGVKLNDSVT	RELTKSA S FI RELTKSA S FI DPPRPVR S FI	LRSV. RR	A QKDNASKSDG
AtNIP6_1	YTIVKLPE-ED	EAPKERR S FI	RR	
AtNIP7_1	YRSISKTRPCP	SPVSPSV S SI	LLR-	
ZmNIP1_2	YNL I RFTNK PL	REITKST SFI	LKST	S RMN SAASA
ZmNIP4_1	YTY I RFEEAPA	AKDTQRL SSI	FKLR	
ZmNIP5_1 PgNIP1_1 PgNIP2_1	YHVLK YNMIRLTDKPV YSIIRITDKPI	RELTKSG <mark>SF</mark> I	LKSQ	R SSRSGSI
PgNIP3_1	YTVVRLKG-ED	NQGRPTRSFI	R R	
PgNIP3_2	YTLIRLKPD	PE-RSVRSFI	R R	
PpSIP1_1	FNLIFGRHQVK	GQAT K K SI	KAKK	T KKPGSEGQAAKSKGLKKE S TGNAGDKMKAS
PpSIP1_2	F N L L F G P H S Q A	T Q A S D S K K L I	KANK	A K K S G S E G E S A K D K K R G E G L S E N A A G K V K A S
AtSIP1_1	F R S I F P P P R P Q	K K I	KQKK	A
AtSIP1_2	F R I I F P A P P L V	QKI	K <mark>Q</mark> K K .	A
ZmSIP1_1	F R V V F L P P A P K		K T K K .	
ZmSIP1_2	F R A M F L T P P P K	PI	K <mark>A</mark> KK	A
PgSIP1_1	L R - L I S P P G S S	KI	K <mark>E</mark> KK	
AtSIP2_1	FKVVFKP-LTE	EQ EKP K A	KSE -	· · · · · · · · · · · · · · · · · · ·
ZmSIP2_1	VTFFTKPKKIK	EQKVDEN K I	KKE -	



Figure 4-S2. Neighbor-joining phylogeny of *Picea glauca* MIP proteins.

An unrooted neighbour-joining tree showing the phylogenetic relationship of the complete set of different MIP sequences from *Picea sp.* in black and representative MIPs from *A. thaliana* (At), *Z. mays* (Zm), *P. patens* (Pp) and *P. trichocarpa* (Pt) in gray. Seven subfamilies are present, but note that the XIP, HIP and GIP subfamilies have not been found in *Picea sp.* The bar indicates the mean distance of 0.1 changes per amino acid residue.



Figure 4-S3. UPGMA phylogeny of *Picea glauca* MIP proteins.

An unrooted UPGMA tree showing the phylogenetic relationship of the complete set of different MIP sequences from *Picea sp.* in black and representative MIPs from *A. thaliana* (At), *Z. mays* (Zm), *P. patens* (Pp) and *P. trichocarpa* (Pt) in gray. Seven subfamilies are present, but note that the XIP, HIP and GIP subfamilies have not been found in *Picea sp.* The bar indicates the mean distance of 0.1 changes per amino acid residue.

a an	ntiPIP1	MEGKEEDVRVGANKFPERQPIGTSAQSDKDYKEPPPAPFFEP
Po Po Po	gPIP1;1 gPIP1;2 gPIP1;3	MEGKEEDVKLGADKYSERQPLGTAAQTMEKDYKEPGPAPLFEP MEGKEEDVRLGANKYSERQPLGTAAQTREKDYKDSGPAPLFEP MEDVSVGASKYSERQSLGISAQTQRESKDYNEPGPAPLFEP
b ar	ntiPIP2	KALGSFRSNP
Po Po Po Po Po Po Po Po Po Po Po Po	<pre>gPIP2;1 gPIP2;2 gPIP2;3 gPIP2;4 gPIP2;5 gPIP2;6 gPIP2;7 gPIP2;7 gPIP2;8 gPIP2;9 gPIP2;10 gPIP2;11 rPIP2:12</pre>	KALGSFRSNA KALGSFRSNP KALGSFRSNA KALALGSFRSNS KALGSFRSNP KALGSFRSNP KALGSFRSVP KSLGSLRSHP KNLGSLRSHP KNLGSLRSQP KSLRSFRSOP
Pg	gPIP2;13	<u>K</u>

Figure 4-S4. Amino acid multiple sequence alignment of the N-terminal region of *Arabidopsis thaliana* AtPIP1;3 and the *Picea glauca* PgPIP1s (a) and of the highly conserved 10 amino acids of the C-terminal region of PIP2s (b). Consensus amino acids are underlined in black.